
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor B Garden Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor R J Wells
Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 12 June 2018

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 12 June 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 20 March 2018 (Pages 1 - 12)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. Policy Overview Committee Terms of Reference and Protocol 
(Pages 13 - 32)

SD (IS)

This report presents to Members the current Policy Overview 
Committee Terms of Reference and Protocol.

6. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 33 - 36)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 May 2018 to 30 September 2018.

8. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 20 March 2018 (Pages 37 - 40)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 20 March 2018.

9. Pharmacy Services (Pages 41 - 104) SD (IS)
To receive a briefing on the services that can be provided by 
pharmacies.

10. Update on Government Consultation on the draft Clean Air 
Strategy 2018 (Pages 105 - 214)

SD (IS)

11. Illegal Dumping and Special Collections of Bulky Waste (Pages 
215 - 218)

SD (ES)



To advise Members of the background and current policies regarding 
the removal of illegal dumping, bulky waste collection and 
enforcement measures taken against offenders.

12. Corporate Plan 2017- 20:  Key Actions and Performance 
Indicators Monitoring Reports (Pages 219 - 236)

SD (IS)

This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan 
key actions and performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2017-18.

13. Policy Overview Committee Annual Report 2017 - 2018 (Pages 
237 - 272)

SD (IS)

To consider the work carried out by the Policy Overview Committee 
during the 2017 – 2018 municipal year.

14. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 273 - 276) SD (IS)
This reports sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s work plan.



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 20 
March 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor R Lees
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds (Substitute for Councillor R M Currans)

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor D Page
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Gerard Sammon – Interim Chief Executive, Dartford 
and Gravesham NHS Trust

Mike Gilbert – Company Secretary and Assistant 
Accountable Officer, Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)
Mark Aplin – Planning Policy Manager
Andrew Simpson – Policy Planner

36. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S H Brown, R M 
Currans, B Garden, M B Kelly, D Page, Mrs R F Storey and R J Wells.

An apology for lateness was received from Councillor R Lees.

37. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

2

38. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 12 
December 2017 be confirmed.

39. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

40. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

41. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 15 February 2018 
to 30 June 2018, be noted.

42. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017.

Health funding

The Chairman advised that, having consulted with the Committee’s guests, Mr 
Gilbert and Mr Sammon, he proposed that a further letter highlighting the 
Committee’s continued concern with the inadequate level of funding being 
provided to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 
be prepared and sent to the Secretary of State for Health. Members endorsed 
this proposal.

GP referral letters

Reference was made to the charge that some GP practices apply when asked 
to provide a referral letter for Fairfield Leisure Centre’s Health and Wellness 
classes and the Vice-Chairman noted how her efforts to get these charges 
removed had not been universally successful.

Members thought it to be unfair for some GP practices to impose a charge 
where others did not and agreed that this be added as an item for further 
consideration at the Committee’s next meeting. Members wished to know 
which GP practices were still applying charges, the amounts being charged, 
and their justification for continuing to doing so.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

3

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 12 December 2017 be noted.

2. That a further letter highlighting the Committee’s continued concern 
with the inadequate level of funding being made available to Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group be prepared 
and sent to the Secretary of State for Health.

3. That an item relating to the charge that some GP practices apply when 
asked to supply a referral letter for Fairfield Leisure Centre’s Health 
and Wellness classes be added to the June 2018 meeting agenda.

43. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST AND DARTFORD 
GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

The Chairman welcomed Gerard Sammon, Interim Chief Executive Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS Trust, and Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant 
Accountable Officer for NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (DGS CCG), to the meeting and advised that it had 
been decided to consider items 7, Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, and 8, 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, together 
because of the overlapping health related responsibilities of both 
organisations.

Mr Gilbert then gave a presentation and noted how it had been a challenging 
year for the CCG and that the £13.5 million 2016/17 year end deficit, which 
was less than the deficit that he had forecast when he had last visited in 
March 2017, had resulted in the CCG being put under Directions and Special 
Measures. He then noted how a robust Financial Recovery Plan had been put 
in place in order to reduce future deficits and said that the deficit for 2017/18 
was predicted to be in the region of £11 million. He then referred to 
improvements that had been made to the delivery of constitutional standards 
of care and clinical services and highlighted the progress that had been made 
in relation to the treatment of cancer and the diagnosis of dementia as 
examples. He also noted the pressures that had been faced both in Kent and 
throughout the country during the difficult winter and the fact that the delivery 
of health related services had continued. He then referred to the good 
progress that had been made on new models of care that were linked to the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and noted the work that was 
being carried out with Dartford Borough Council to establish a new Health and 
Wellbeing hub in the Town Centre and a Health Education and Innovation 
Quarter at Ebbsfleet. He also spoke about CCG related changes in Kent and 
said that he was not aware of any plans to merge CCGs together.

Mr Gilbert then referred to growth and said that the population for the DGS 
area had grown to 265,000, which was 5,000 more than last year, and that 
this was expected to rise by a further 57,000 (or 60,000 if planned 
development in Swanley is included) over the next 15 years. He said that 
although the population had grown by 2% per annum since 2014/15 the 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

4

funding that the CCG received had only grown by 1% per annum, which had 
led to the deficits that had been experienced since 2014/15, which was when 
the CCG had last been in surplus. He said that options to address the deficit 
and develop new local models of care were being discussed with partners and 
social care providers and noted that the CCG continued to lobby for an 
increase in funding. He also noted that, although savings had already been 
made by implementing efficiency improvements, there had been no impact on 
patient care, or a need to close any services. He said there were still many 
difficult decisions that needed to be made but hoped that the CCG would be 
taken out of Special Measures at the end of the current financial year, 
although he noted that this would require the CCG to show to NHS England 
that it had tightened up its processes and management strategy, and had 
plans in place to make further savings.

Mr Gilbert then focused on performance and referred to the waiting time 
standards for diagnostic, elective, cancer and psychological therapy and the 
good results that were begin achieved by Darent Valley Hospital when 
compared with hospitals being managed by other Trusts. He also noted the 
improvements that had been made in relation to diabetes detection and 
management following the move to involve local GPs in the process, and the 
continued progress that was being made to diagnose cancer at an earlier 
stage and reduce smoking levels in the area. He then referred to the 
pressures that were being placed on those that provide A&E and ambulance 
services and noted how hospital occupancy levels due to delayed discharge 
had improved, but said that there were still issues that needed addressing. He 
referred explicitly to difficulties relating to the provision of domiciliary care and 
the associated problem of staff recruitment and retention, and also highlighted 
the closure of care homes as cause for further concern. He then again 
referred to the cover that had been provided during the recent bad weather 
and the outstanding service that clinicians and ambulance workers had 
delivered during this difficult time.

Mr Gilbert then highlighted the problems associated with GP recruitment and 
noted how 20 out of the 140 in the DGS area had retired or resigned in the 
last year. He also noted how there tended to be only one application received 
for each advertised vacancy, whereas in the past 20 to 30 applications had 
been received. He said that GPs continued to be attracted to London and now 
prefer to be in a salaried position rather than operate their own partnership. 
He also noted how health staff liked to work at the best hospitals and said that 
the intention to establish a new health hub in Dartford Town Centre and a 
Health Education and Innovation Quarter at Ebbsfleet, which would provide 
diagnostic and research opportunities, may help to attract more health 
professionals into the area. The good relationship that the CCG has with their 
stakeholders was highlighted as a success, as was the intention to provide 
specialist stroke care facilities at three locations across Kent and Medway.

Mr Gilbert then referred to the STP and noted the need for the CCG to 
continue to work with partners on an integration agenda and said that the 
future commissioning and delivery model focused on provider alliances 
(including GPs) at a local level, with a single strategic commissioner covering 
the county. He also again confirmed that there were no plans to merge CCGs 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

5

in Kent but said that 6 of the 8 CCGs had agreed to work under a single Chief 
Executive which would enable them to share services such as HR support 
and communications, but maintain their management of areas such as GP 
and district nurse provision locally. He then noted how the number of GPs 
within the CCG needed to increase in order to cope with patient demand and 
explained how GP Federations were being established between practices 
which allowed them to align their services and support each other. It would 
also allow them to provide wider access to specialised services, such as 
wound care, and extend their opening hours. He said that they were aiming to 
provide 8am to 8pm opening in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area, 
and also encourage Saturday surgeries, to assist those who were finding it 
difficult to make an appointment.
 
Mr Sammon then provided an update from Darent Valley Hospital’s 
perspective and noted how this winter had been particularly difficult for the 
hospital. He then referred to the STP and said that the hospital continued to 
strengthen its core services and worked to ensure that the high volume of 
patients that make use of the 24x7 emergency care service continue to be 
treated in a timely way. As part of this he noted how GPs and Advanced 
Nurse Practitioners were being used to treat those with less serious injuries 
and conditions and said that they had also established an Ambulatory 
Emergency Care Unit, which operated for 14 hours a day 7 days a week and 
allowed patients to receive streamlined diagnosis and treatment on the same 
day before being sent home with ongoing clinical care, and requiring no 
hospital admission. He also noted how the number of A&E treatment cubicles 
and inpatient bed capacity had both had been increased to help ensure that 
there are enough resources available to treat those with the most serious 
conditions.

Mr Sammon then referred to elective care, where day cases are seen for 
routine planned operations, and said that emergency care had impacted their 
ability to carry out elective procedures and that they were running very near to 
the 18 week waiting threshold that had been specified for the maximum 
waiting time between GP referral and treatment. He noted how they were 
continuing to focus on ways to address this as it was recognised how 
important it was for patients to receive treatment in a timely manner.

Mr Sammon then highlighted the success of the hospital’s maternity unit 
which was delivering, on average, 15 new lives into the world each day. He 
also noted how they worked in partnership with other organisations to ensure 
that core services are delivered in the most efficient way and gave as an 
example the integration of the pathology department with the service that is 
provided by Medway Foundation Trust.

Mr Sammon then described how, by working with hospitals such as Guy’s and 
St Thomas’, they were able to bring world class expertise into the hospital to 
enable patients to be treated locally, and gave radiology and vascular surgery 
as examples. He also noted how partnership working with Moorfields Eye 
Hospital meant that it was now possible to provide cataract surgery at Darent 
Valley. He then went on to describe the concept of a ‘hospital with no walls’, 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

6

and the ability to provide a service that would deliver hospital care locally, 
which resulted in there being no need for a patient to attend the hospital.

With respect to population growth and the resulting pressure on hospital 
services Mr Sammon said that bids for capital funding which would enable the 
hospital to be expanded had been made to the Department of Health and that 
different models were being explored to cope with the increasing demand. He 
also said that, with respect to the maternity service, more space would 
definitely be required unless a way of increasing the number of home births 
could be found. He also specifically referred to the hospital’s A&E department 
and said that any expansion in this area would require capital funding and 
welcomed the support that was being provided by Dartford Borough Council.

Mr Sammon then referred to the consultation that was taking place to decide 
where three new 24/7 hyper acute stroke units that had been proposed for 
Kent and Medway should be located and said that Darent Valley had been 
included in three of the five options being considered. He hoped that an option 
that included Darent Valley would be chosen so that the hospital could work 
with other hospitals to deliver the new service in a strategically sound way.

Mr Sammon then referred to the collapse of Carillion and said that the 
hospital’s operation had initially been put at risk because Carillion used to 
supply the hospital’s cleaning, portering and catering service. He said that, 
following confirmation that staff would continue to be paid, the situation was 
stabilised and staff had been happy to continue working in the hospital. He 
said that a commercial offer had been made for the contract and that it was 
anticipated that the new provider would be in place by the 1st May.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert and Mr Sammon for their updates and, on 
behalf of the Committee, wished to extend thanks to all those who had gone 
beyond the call of duty to ensure that essential health care services had 
continued to operate during the period of bad winter weather.

The Chairman then asked whether more detail could be provided on the 
impact that the collapse of Carillion would have on the hospital’s PFI 
arrangement. In response Mr Sammon reassured Members that the Trust 
would not be required to pay any more for their cleaning, portering and 
catering services but noted that the collapse of Carillion, who had built the 
hospital, meant that the PFI provider would no longer be able call on Carillion 
to address any building faults that are found. He noted how the risks 
associated with this situation would be borne by The Hospital Company and 
said that the Trust would continue to make PFI payments as before. He then 
commented on how the hospital had been well maintained and said that its 
good condition, as well as providing a good environment for patients and staff, 
made it attractive to those service providers who were willing to pay in order 
that their services may be delivered locally (e.g. Moorfields hospital). He also 
noted that, due to the PFI arrangement, the hospital would remain as a fixed 
asset in Dartford for many years to come.

The Chairman also asked whether the facilities at Elm Court were still being 
used as a rehabilitation resource by the hospital. In reply Mr Sammon 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

7

confirmed that, even though the whole facility had been sold to another 
operator, the hospital’s leasing arrangement remained in place and the facility 
was still being used to provide rehabilitation services. Mr Gilbert then added 
that use of this facility was being kept under review as it was felt that more 
benefit may be delivered if the facility were used in a different way.

In response to a question on the impact that the difficult winter had had on 
patient care and waiting times Mr Sammon replied that the national target for 
emergency care defined that a minimum of 95% of patients attending an A&E 
department should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of 
their arrival, and that between April 2017 and February 2018 the hospital had 
achieved 90.2%. He then referred specifically to January and February 2018 
where the figure had dropped to between 80% and 85% and noted how it had  
dropped to as low as 75% during the worst of the snowy weather and during 
the following week. He also referred to the impact that the bad weather had 
had on the hospital’s ability to transfer patients and said that, whereas the 
number of people occupying a bed in the hospital when they didn’t need to 
had been in single figures before Christmas, this had risen to 30 during the 
period of snowy weather because the whole system had slowed down and 
those providing community services had been struggling to cope. He also 
noted how the ‘111’ and ambulance services had also been stretched during 
this period. Mr Gilbert then described his experiences and said that although 
GP surgeries were fairly quiet during the week of the snow, the week after 
had been particularly busy to make up for it. He also noted how most health 
services had declared a ‘black alert’ during the week of the snow, which is the 
highest that can be declared, because of the operational pressures and 
challenges being faced.

Members noted and welcomed the appointment of a Roald Dahl paediatric 
epilepsy/neurology specialist nurse at Darent Valley Hospital and also 
congratulated the hospital on the appointment of two Darzi Fellows. Mr 
Sammon said that the Darzi Fellows would bring valuable clinical skills and 
knowledge into the hospital and were allowing new approaches to advanced 
care planning to be explored. He also explained how the appointment of the 
Roald Dahl charity funded nurse had come about through work that was being 
carried out with the Evelina London Children's Hospital and said that they 
were also about to agree a case with Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation 
Trust to employ a specialist doctor for epilepsy to work in the local community.

In response to a question on the working terms and conditions that would be 
put in place for those who had previously been employed by Carillion Mr 
Sammon replied that, as TUPE wouldn’t apply in this situation, it would be up 
to the PFI company to define any new terms and conditions, and that he 
would be strongly recommending that they remain the same.

Members referred to the hospital staffing issues that had been raised and 
discussed at previous meetings and asked whether recruitment continued to 
be an area of concern. In response Mr Sammon advised that the impact of 
Brexit had not been significant and that staffing levels were being maintained. 
He also noted how staff surveys had shown high levels of satisfaction from 
those working at Darent Valley. He said that the hospital would continue to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

8

work hard to engage staff and would continue to carry out recruitment 
exercises both in this country and overseas. He also noted how the 
establishment of a new medical learning facility at Ebbsfleet would help 
staffing in the future as many of those who train locally tend to stay and work 
locally once they have completed their training.

In response to questions relating to the CCG’s deficit Mr Gilbert confirmed 
that, as their funding was only currently being increased by 1% a year, the 2% 
year on year population growth would result in a deficit increase of £3.4m 
each year, and that if additional funding is not made available, or further 
efficiency savings found, it could continue to grow towards the previously 
predicted figure of £42m over the next few years.

Mr Gilbert then described the impact that being placed under Special 
Measures had had on the CCG and said that it meant that no senior staffing 
appointments or strategic decisions could be made without the involvement 
and agreement of NHS England. He said management of the CCG was being 
kept under tight control and that the restrictions would remain in place until 
confidence in the management team had been restored. With respect to the 
appointment of a single Chief Executive, who would assume responsibility for 
a number of Kent CCGs, Mr Gilbert said that this was just the first stage of a 
larger transition which would lead to more integration and help build trust 
between the individual agencies.

Members made reference to the large developments that were taking place in 
and around the Borough and asked whether plans were being put in place to 
provide the additional GP, pharmacy and hospital capacity that would be 
required to support the increasing population. Mr Gilbert replied that the local 
population was already growing, with a predicted increase of 57,000 over the 
next 15 years, and confirmed that, although models of care could be changed 
to address some of the increase, additional GPs, community service workers 
and hospital capacity would be required. He then noted the intention to 
develop health and wellbeing hubs in the area and said that the increased use 
of Gravesend Community Hospital to address clinical needs was being 
proposed. He also said that additional capital funding would be required to 
allow the hospital at Darent Valley to be expanded in order that patient 
demand may be met.

In relation to the deficit levels that were being experienced by the CCG Mr 
Gilbert said that firstly they had resulted from the failure to provide sufficient 
increased funding to address the 2% year on year population growth, and 
secondly that more people were making use of the services that were being 
made available. He then referred to efficiency savings that were being made 
relating to the management of medication and said that patients were being 
asked to review their repeat prescriptions and only collect those that were 
actually needed. He also said they were making savings by reviewing the 
medicine brands being used and discouraging GPs from prescribing 
paracetamol, emollients and aspirin when they are cheaply available in 
supermarkets. He also noted how savings were being made by referring those 
patients with orthopaedic needs to someone who can help them manage their 
condition, such as a physiotherapist, rather than making use of the 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

9

specialised service that is provided by Darent Valley hospital. He then 
confirmed that the deficit will continue to be difficult to reduce as long as 
insufficient funding is being made available to address the needs of an 
increasing population.

In response to a question relating to the discharge of hospital patients at 
weekends Mr Sammon advised that the hospital provides the same level of 
service 7 days a week and that discharges continue throughout the weekend.

The Vice-Chairman referred to a meeting that she had attended in Bexley 
relating to the public consultation on proposals to establish three new 24/7 
hyper acute stroke units in Kent and Medway and asked whether there were 
plans to hold a similar meeting in Dartford. Mr Gerrard agreed that the 
requirement for a meeting in the Dartford area had been proposed and said 
that, if a meeting was arranged, he would forward on the date and location for 
distribution to Members.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert and Mr Sammon for attending and invited 
them to return in a year’s time to provide a further update for Members.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be thanked for attending the meeting 
and responding to Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be noted.

3. That Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be invited back to provide a further 
update to the Committee at their March 2019 meeting.

44. DARTFORD BOROUGH PARKING OVERVIEW 

This report outlined the current situation with regards to parking requirements 
and standards in the Borough as defined in the Parking Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). It also considered how these standards are 
applied throughout the Borough across recent developments.

The Policy Planner introduced the report and noted that, in addition to the 
areas covered by the SPD, a large range of non-planning related 
circumstances could also influence parking demand and supply. He then 
described how the SPD had been adopted as a planning guidance document 
in April 2012 and was being used to help inform decisions where planning 
proposals have been put to the Council. He said that the SPD outlined the 
amount of parking to be provided, as well as addressing associated design 
and management issues and was used when determining planning 
applications.

The Policy Planner then advised that, as the SPD had only been adopted in 
2012, and due to the recession causing a low number of applications around 
this time, the impact of the standards on new developments had been delayed 
but was now being seen in those that had been granted planning permission 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

10

post April 2012. He also confirmed that he expected that the Council’s parking 
standards would continue to be implemented in the Borough by the Council 
and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC).

The Policy Planner then noted how recent developments had addressed 
parking needs in a more sensitive way and said that there was a need to 
provide higher levels of parking in developments outside of the Town Centre. 
He also noted how personal behaviours and preferences, available public 
transport links, available public parking provision, and the existing built 
environment could influence parking patterns.

The Policy Planner then described how development monitoring and 
consultation would take place, which would consider the key transport, social 
and environmental priorities for the future, as work towards a new version of 
the Local Plan is progressed. He said that this could bring to light both local 
issues, such as continued implementation of standards across the whole 
Borough, and new wider trends, such as the potential decline in car 
ownership, and the impact of the rise of electric vehicles and driverless cars, 
which could influence parking requirements in the future.

Members thanked the officers for their thorough and well presented report and 
made reference to a presentation that had been given by representatives from 
EDC some time ago, which, it was said, had implied that a parking space ratio 
of 0.5 per house was to be used and that this had been based on a Dartford 
Borough Council policy. The Planning Policy Manager and Policy Planner 
both said that they were unsure where the figure of 0.5 had come from and 
confirmed that EDC had been following the policies specified in the SPD and 
had already delivered 1.61 parking spaces per house at Eastern Quarry and 
1.95 parking spaces per house at Ebbsfleet Green. Members were reassured 
by this and said that they did not wish to see Ebbsfleet development residents 
raising parking issues similar to those that that had been raised by residents 
living in Ingress Park and The Bridge.

Reference was then made to levels of car ownership and the evidence base 
that had been used when deciding how many parking places should be 
allocated for each dwelling. In response the Planning Policy Manager replied 
that relevant information is gathered from various sources, and gave Census 
data as an example, but said that information that used to be made available 
by the Highways Agency and Kent County Council had diminished over time 
which was making it more difficult to assess parking requirements. He also 
noted how broad changes in lifestyle and the introduction of new technologies 
can influence parking space demand and said that their impact would 
continue to be monitored. In response to a further question he noted how the 
Principal Transport Planner role had been transferred to the planning team 
and confirmed that his knowledge of local parking issues and concerns were 
also being used when parking requirements were being assessed.

In response to a question on whether by-laws could be used as a way of 
controlling the anti-social parking of campervans, caravans and boats the 
Planning Policy Manager replied that this was not an area he was familiar 
with, but added that, although the SPD didn’t include requirements for the 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

11

parking of campervans, caravans and boats it did include specific 
requirements relating to the parking of vans.

Members then asked if parking availability is considered when existing 
buildings (e.g. public houses) are redeveloped for residential use. The 
Planning Policy Manager replied that some conversions were allowed to take 
place without full planning control, which can cause parking related problems 
as many old pubs are found in built up areas with existing parking pressures. 
He said the SPD would be applied and hoped that any surplus garden space, 
or existing parking areas, would be retained and used to provide parking for 
those moving into the converted building.

RESOLVED:

1. That the monitoring of the compliance of parking provision with agreed 
standards in new developments be noted.

2. That the continued monitoring of the use and performance of parking 
provision in new developments and emerging trends be noted.

45. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

This report described the progress being made with latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18.

The Chairman referred to the two indicators that were showing an ‘alert’ 
status and noted that the target for the ‘number of fly-tipping incidents’ needed 
to be revised following a change to the way that incidents are counted. He 
also noted how the figure that had been reported for the ‘percentage of 
repairs completed in time’ was continuing to improve.

The date that had been recorded for the granting of planning consent for the 
development at Lowfield Street was also questioned and the Chairman asked 
that this be checked.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports, attached at Appendices A and B to the report, be 
noted.

2. That date that had been recorded for the granting of planning consent 
for the development at Lowfield Street be checked.

46. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

As a significant number of items were due to be considered at the 
Committee’s June 2018 meeting, and as the introduction of further welfare 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

12

reform had been delayed, the Chairman, with the Committee’s agreement, 
asked that the next Welfare Reform Update report be moved to the 
September 2018 meeting.

The Chairman then asked, with the Committee’s agreement, that a 
representative from Virgin Care Services be invited to the September 2018 
meeting to update Members on the health services that they provide.

The Chairman also confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during the consideration of previous agenda items:

 GP referral letters – June 2018
 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust – March 2019
 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group – 

March 2019

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions and changes above, 
be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.55 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE AND 
PROTOCOL

1. Summary

1.1 This report advises Members of the Terms of Reference for the Policy Overview 
Committee, which were agreed at the Annual Meeting of the Council on 9 May 
2018. The report also presents the Policy Overview Committee’s Protocol, 
which describes the procedures that must be followed for the Committee to 
operate effectively.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Terms of Reference for the Policy Overview Committee, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be noted.

2.2 That the Protocol for the Policy Overview Committee, attached at Appendix B 
to the report, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The General Assembly of the Council, at its Annual Meeting on 9 May 
2018, agreed the Terms of Reference for the Policy Overview 
Committee.

3.2. The Terms of Reference describe the Committee’s areas of 
responsibility and the Protocol document describes the procedures that 
must be followed for the Committee to operate effectively.

3.3. The current Terms of Reference and Protocol are presented, at 
Appendix A and Appendix B to the report respectively, for Members’ 
information. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The overview and scrutiny process increases local democratic accountability 
and visibility of key local public services and partners.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Terms of Reference
Appendix B – Policy Overview Committee Protocol

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services / 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. The Overview Function

(1) Without prejudice to the role and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
etc, to review general policies of the Council and to recommend accordingly to 
the Cabinet on future policy options.

(2) To seek views from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view 
of the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

(3) To hold policy reviews and make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the 
GAC in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.

(4) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to assist the Cabinet and/or the 
GAC in the development of future policies and strategies.

(5) Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek 
input from Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, Dartford Borough 
Residents’ Forum, other interested stakeholders and organisations and by 
drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

(6) To gather information and make recommendations in accordance with the 
Committee’s Protocol to the Cabinet and/or the GAC before policy is 
implemented as part of the framework for accountable, transparent decision-
making.

(7) To carry out reviews of non-Council matters and as part of the community 
planning process, consult with partner organisations where appropriate and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to matters which are not the direct 
responsibility of the GAC, but which nevertheless affect the economic, 
environmental and social well-being of the Borough.

(8) To consider and investigate broad policy issues and make reports and 
recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in accordance with the 
Committee’s Protocol. 

(9) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to provide advice to the Cabinet 
and/or the GAC on major issues before final decisions are made.

(10) To receive the views and recommendations of area/joint committees or forums as 
part of any review which impacts on the Borough.



(11) To be consulted/receive referrals by the GAC and/or the Cabinet about issues 
falling within the remit of the Committee, example Cabinet requesting an enquiry 
into a particular issue.

(12) To approve an annual overview work programme in accordance with Standing 
Order 58(8) including the programme of any subcommittee appointed by the 
Committee to ensure that there is efficient use of the Committee’s (sub-
committee’s) time and that potential for duplication of effort is minimised.

(13) To review the Cabinet’s forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to review.

(14) To carry out reviews of how certain decisions have affected a particular 
community or area by taking advice from area committees or forums and other 
community groups and representatives.

2. Service Delivery

To consider new approaches to service delivery and recommend to the Cabinet 
demanding performance targets for services, so as to deliver continuous 
improvements which reflect both national and local considerations including;

(a) Challenging why and how a service is being provided;

(b) Securing comparison with the performance of others across a range of 
relevant indicators, taking into account the views of both service users and 
potential suppliers;

(c) Consulting local taxpayers, service users, partners and the wider business 
community in the setting up of new performance targets;

(d) Considering fair competition as a means of securing efficient and effective 
services

(e) To make recommendation(s) to the Cabinet on suitable performance 
information/indicators.

3. Overview of Health Functions

To review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

4. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters 
connected/associated with the functions of the Committee in accordance with the 
consultation procedure.



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO1 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the overview role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 

Terms of Reference To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the 
ultimate aim of improving the delivery of services to local people. 

To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough. 

To review the impact of decisions and policy. 

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the
Council (the GAC);

(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time.

Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 

Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully. 

Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the

Strategic and Policy Framework;
 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the
Council;

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively)
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by

APPENDIX B



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO2 

name; 

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or
unnecessarily repetitive review activities.

Membership Committee membership may include no more than one Cabinet member. 

The Overview Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview functions relating
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions. 

1.What may be
reviewed

1.1 Council policy development and budgetary framework [on the request of 
the GAC or Cabinet]; 

1.2 local improvement targets (other than crime and disorder);  

1.3 decisions/actions of key local public service providers; 

1.4 performance of the Council  in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

1.5 any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford, by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.); 

1.6 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough. 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of reviewing decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the review of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council;

� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on
the Council;

� through the Chairman of the Committee. one item only for any other
Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served
basis’.



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO3 

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for review purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These seven 
items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
review of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets, health service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the review of seven items in total, per Committee 
meeting. 

 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day
on which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participants to appear before the Committee will
be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day
before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e.
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding
bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

A.4 Where the Committee wish to review an item for the purposes of examining 
the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post implementation, 
drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future date.  

NB: The focus of the review in such circumstances will be concerned with 
the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee. 

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up. 

A.6 Although the Policy Overview Committee and Scrutiny Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Policy Overview 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs.  

B. Requests for
information
B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 

notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background
information, research, data, statistics, etc.;



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO4 

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely
topics to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the
purposes of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will as 
appropriate, notify the Managing Director and link officer of the partner 
organisation.  Where the request for information relates to a Cabinet 
decision/action, the Managing Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be 
notified accordingly.  

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).   

B.4 Information will be depersonalised or redacted, unless the identification of 
an individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee 
to properly exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the 
Data Protection Act 1998.   

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 

B.7 

B.8 

B.9 

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972, as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 

To facilitate the overview process, a partner authority (as defined in 
Chapter 1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 (as amended)) is under a duty to pro-actively provide 
information to the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).   



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO5 

C. Health Service 
Review 
 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local Healthwatch 
contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
C.1 The Committee may review any matter relating to the planning, provision 

and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

C.2 When reviewing the planning, provision and operation of the health service, 
the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013) and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 
relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 
 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 
C.3 

 

 

 

C.4 

 

 

 

 

C.5 

 

 

The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
 
Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this 
Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member or 
employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 
 
The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 
 
Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO6 

C.6 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

C.7 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section C.5 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

C.8 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 

  
D. Participants  
D.1 The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 

review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided 
as to the nature and scope of the review: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

 Health Service review 
 
A representative or employee of the Responsible Person may be required 
to attend Committee meetings to give evidence, make representations 
and/or answer questions in accordance with section C.4 of this Protocol. 
 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO7 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors 
to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 
 

 

 

 

D.5A 

 

Councillors who are not members of the Committee  
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee. 
 
 
Lead Members 
 
Subject to sections D.7(a) and S.6 of this Protocol, Lead Members may be 
requested (but cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 

D.6 

 

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of a 
participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly. 
 

 
D.7 Participation Rules 

 
(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 

participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
 
 (b) Subject to para.(a) of this section D.7 and section S.6 of this Protocol, 

any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee and with 
the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions 
or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio. 

(c) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

(d) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman (or nominee in 
the Shadow Chairman’s absence) (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a 
named Cabinet member/Lead Member(s) and Council Officer(s), and 
representative of a Responsible Person, or relevant body as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding 
bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

(e)  Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
 investigation will not be called as participants. 

(f) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(g) and 
(h) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO8 

their particular issues. 

(g) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

(h) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not 
be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 
inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions. 

(i) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

(j) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

  
 (k) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

 (l) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
 

  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet etc. 

 
 NB: As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for 
Officers to be politically neutral. 

 
  



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO9 

E. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A of this Protocol, any 
Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 21A(1) 
Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  

F. The duty to have  
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

F.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it.  

 

F.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

F.3 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Overview Report and/or recommendations in accordance with section 
C.5 of this Protocol. 
 

  

G. Regulatory bodies 
 

 

G.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 
development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

G.2 The Committee will not review individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Review of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions. 
 

G.3 Review of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

  



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO10

H. Work programme 
 

H.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

H.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

H.3 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

H.4 
The Committee will respond as soon as its work programme permits to 
requests from the GAC and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Such requests/referrals may include a policy review study 
before the Cabinet formulates its policies for submission to the GAC for 
approval.  Reviews on the grounds of priority or emergency (example an 
announcement during the course of the municipal year or government 
policy or other initiative requiring early attention) may also be the subject of 
a referral from the GAC and/or the Cabinet. 
 

H.5 
In referring items for consideration by the Committee, the GAC and/or the 
Cabinet will identify the philosophy/reasoning behind the referral and will 
endeavour to provide the Committee with all relevant information on the 
subject matter under review. 
 

J. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

J.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups. 
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights.  
These persons will be regarded as invitees only and will not count for the 
purposes of establishing a quorum. 
 

J.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Responsible Person. 

 
J.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 

with the principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including 
the requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

J.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

J.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO11

J.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

   

K. Overview reports  
and/or 
recommendations 

 

K.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the local Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

K.2 The Overview Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the review exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
K.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview Report. 
 

K.4 The Overview Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

K.5 Where the Committee requests a response, the ‘relevant body’ is under an 
obligation to consider the Overview Report and/or recommendations and 
respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably 
possible) of the date of the Overview Report, in accordance with F. of this 
Protocol. 
 

K.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of a ‘relevant body’, attend its 
meeting and present the Overview Report and answer questions. 
 

K.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO12

 
  

K.8 If at all possible, Overview Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Overview Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Overview Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda. 
 

K.9 Only one Overview Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

K.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

K.11 Overview Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

K.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

L. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

M. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

M.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet, Officers and local 
health service bodies i.e. NHS Foundation trust etc.; 

 
  local health service related issues; 

 
  



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO13

  
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Policy Overview Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 
M.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 

the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

M.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

M.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

M.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If an overview/review investigation reveals 
potential disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter 
to the Managing Director. 
 

M.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any overview/review investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be 
necessary to defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings 
have been dispensed with. 
 

M.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

N. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

N.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

N.2 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15. 
 

  



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO14

P. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

P.1. Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups 
will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally 
 

P.2 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated with overview (which is the preserve of the 
Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may contribute to or 
inform the review process. 
 

P.3 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

P.4 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary 
questions if necessary. 
 

P.5 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants.  

 
P.6 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

P.7 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Managing 
Director for comment. 
 

P.8 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director. 
 

  
P.9 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 

to the relevant body i.e. local health service, GAC and/or Cabinet, etc. with 
a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 

P.10 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
Q. Sub-committees  
Q.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 
 

Q.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated with the 
overview function. 
 



November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO15

  
R. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

R.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

R.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

S. Declarations of  
interest 

 

S.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

S.2 Representatives from local health service body, other partners and 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.  
 

S.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

S.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them.  
 

S.5 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules 
detailed in section S.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead 
Members who have been directly involved in policy development, may 
participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.   
 

  

S.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

T. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 
 





15 May 2018 - 30 September 2018

1 of 4

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Strategic Issues Consultation for 
a New Local Plan

To undertake a first consultation for 
a new Local Plan, based on a 
discussion paper on potential 
strategic issues.

Cabinet
24 May 2018

Local Plan Members 
Working Group 
meetings.

Mark Aplin, Planning Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343202
mark.aplin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Stone Lodge Rugby Facility

To consider acceptance of tender 
bids received for the construction of 
the facility.

Cabinet
24 May 2018

Tony Phillips, Heritage, Events 
and Projects Manager
Tel: 01322 343269
tony.phillips@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Report of Delegated Action Taken 
Under Standing Order 38: 
Howbury Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchange

To report a delegated action taken 
under Standing Order 38 relating to 
the resourcing of the Council’s case 
at Public Inquiry.

Cabinet
24 May 2018

Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of 
Regeneration
Tel: 01322 343631
teresa.ryszkowska@dartford.gov.
uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Acacia site - Project Update and 
Tender Approval

Approval of tender returns and 
Capital Budget.

Cabinet
28 Jun 2018

Tony Phillips, Heritage, Events 
and Projects Manager
Tel: 01322 343269
tony.phillips@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
28 Jun 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
28 Jun 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



4 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
26 Jul 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 20 MARCH 2018

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
20 March 2018 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the next 
meeting for a more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 20 
March 2018 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 At their meeting on 20 March 2018 the Chairman, 

having consulted with the Committee’s guests Mr 
Gilbert and Mr Sammon asked, with the Committee’s 
agreement, that a further letter highlighting their 
continued concern with the inadequate level of funding 
being provided to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group be prepared and sent 
to the Secretary of State for Health.

The scope and content of this letter is still being 
agreed.

Adrian Gowan

2 At their meeting on 20 March 2018, during 
consideration of action points from their meeting on 
the 12 December 2017 it was noted that at least one 
GP practice was continuing to charge for the referral 
letter that is required by those who wish to attend the 
Health and Wellbeing classes that are held at Fairfield 
Leisure Centre. Members asked to be provided with a 
list of GP practices that were still applying a charge, 
the amounts being charged, and their justification for 
continuing to do so.

The Vice-Chairman will be providing a verbal update 
to Members on this issue.

Kashmir Powar

3 At the meeting held on 20 March 2018 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received an update from 
representatives from Dartford and Gravesham NHS 

Alan Stoneham



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

Trust and Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group, asked that they be invited to 
return in March 2018 to provide a further update to the 
Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

4 At the meeting held on 20 March 2018, whilst 
considering the Committee’s Work Plan, Members 
agreed that a representative from Virgin Care should 
be invited to address the Committee’s September 
2018 meeting.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

5 At the meeting held on 20 March 2018, whilst 
considering the Committee’s Work Plan, Members 
agreed that the next Welfare Reform Update report 
should be moved from June 2018 to September 2018.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

6 At their meeting on 20 March 2018, during 
consideration of the item which presented the 
Corporate Plan performance indicators, Members 
asked that the date that had been recorded for the 
granting of planning consent for the development at 
Lowfield Street be checked.

Following the meeting Members were advised that the 
Head of Regeneration had confirmed that the date 
recorded in the Appendix to the report had been 
correct.

Teresa Ryszkowska

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrates improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

PHARMACY SERVICES

1. Summary

1.1 To receive a briefing on the services that can be provided by pharmacies.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information provided be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 19 September 2017 the Committee received a 
briefing from Cheryl Clennett, Pharmacy Advisor to Kent Public Health, 
and John O’Sullivan, Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee member, 
on the services that are provided by pharmacies and the ongoing Kent 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) review.

3.2. In order that Members may be kept informed of changes to pharmacy 
services and the outcome of the PNA review, the Chairman invited 
them to return in June 2018 to provide the Committee with a further 
update.

3.3. Cheryl Clennett and John O’Sullivan will therefore be attending this 
meeting to provide the requested update.

3.4. The PNA for Dartford, Gravesend, Swanley and surrounding areas co-
terminus with Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG is attached at 
Appendix A, and a document showing the location of services across 
Kent is attached at Appendix B.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Well-being is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

7. Appendices
          
          Appendix A - The PNA for Dartford, Gravesend, Swanley and 

surrounding areas co-terminus with Dartford, 
Gravesham & Swanley CCG

          Appendix B - Local Service Provision – NHS Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley CCG

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director
(Internal Services)

N/A



1 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

 

 

Kent 

Pharmaceutical 

Needs 

Assessment 
 

 

Dartford, Gravesend,  

Swanley and surrounding areas 

co-terminus with Dartford, 

Gravesham & Swanley CCG 
The accompanying maps etc. in Appendix A should be 

viewed alongside this document 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A



2 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 
 
Introduction ...................................................................................................... 3 

Transport Links ................................................................................................ 8 

Pharmaceutical Services in the area ................................................................ 8 

Healthy Living Pharmacies ............................................................................ 14 

Housing .......................................................................................................... 15 

Kent PNA 2015 – Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area ........................... 16 

Consultation ................................................................................................... 16 

Conclusions and recommendations Kent PNA 2018 DGS area .................... 17 

Document Version Control ............................................................................. 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Introduction 
 

This document has been written as part of the main Kent Pharmaceutical 

Needs Assessment (PNA) to allow judgements to be made using local data. 

This document should be read in conjunction with the main Kent PNA.  

 
 

The area consists of 3 main towns, Dartford, Gravesend and Swanley along 

with the surrounding areas. The area is covered by Dartford Borough Council, 

Gravesham Borough Council and Sevenoaks District Council 

 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS 

CCG) covers patients from 32 practices, with a registered practice population 

of just over 266,000. The CCG area covers the same area as Dartford 

Borough Council and Gravesham Borough Council as well as the Swanley 

area of Sevenoaks District Council 

 

It is important to recognise that patients resident in the CCG area cannot be 

presumed to be registered exclusively with DGS primary care teams. 

Generally though, the vast majority of the residents are registered with 

practices in DGS CCG 

 

 

 



4 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 
 

 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley has a higher percentage of under 4 year 

olds than the national profile but a considerably smaller proportion of those 

aged between 20 and 24. The largest section of the population in the CCG 

area are aged between 40 and 55 years old.  

 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG has a more diverse population in 

terms of ethnicity than other areas in Kent, with 13.0% of the population 

having non-White ethnic background. Among the under 16 age band, there is 

larger ethnic diversity, with 19.8% of people belonging to a black or minority 

ethnic group, compared to 4.3% in the over 65 age category. Asian is the 

most common ethnic minority group, accounting for 7.0% of the population 

 

Detailed maps showing the population density, projected population growth 

and the ethnicity of DGS CCG residents can be found in the supplementary 

information for the area in Appendix A. 

 

Practice data1 shows that out of a practice population of 266,075 there are 

35,157 children aged 0-9 living in the DGS area (13.2%) and 44,959 people 

who are over 65 in the DGS area (16.9%), These age groups are considered 

to be the main users of pharmaceutical services. 

 

 

 

                                            
1 PCIS practice data June 2017 

10% 8% 6% 4% 2% 0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10%

0-4

5-9

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

70-74

75-79

80-84

85-89

90+

Percentage of total population in each age group

A
ge

 B
an

d
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG Males (%) Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG Females (%) Kent Males (%) Kent Females (%)

Source: ONS, prepared by KPHO (LLY), 02/17

2016 resident population in Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG compared to Kent



5 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Care Homes 

There are a number of care homes in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 

area. Patients who are looked after in a care home setting are often high 

users of medicines. However because of the nature of their care, they rarely 

access pharmaceutical services individually, leaving this to be carried out by 

the care home staff. More recently care home organisations do not use local 

pharmacies for this service, favouring the large “hub” or “internet” pharmacies 

which specialise in this type of one-stop service.  Therefore there is not 

considered to be any relationship between the number of care homes and the 

need for local pharmaceutical services.  

 

Mosaic Public Sector definitions 

There are four dominant groups in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG, 
which account for 49.6% of the population:  

Group E: Suburban Stability – “Mature suburban owners living in settled lives 
in mid-range housing” accounts for 11.3%  

Group F: Senior Security - “Elderly people with assets who are enjoying a 
comfortable retirement” accounts for 11.0%  

Group H: Aspiring Homemakers - “Younger households settling down in 
housing priced within their means” accounts for 16.4%  

Group M: Family Basics - “Families with limited resources who have to budget 
to make ends meet" accounts for 10.8% 

Other groups are identified in full in the area Health and Social Care Maps. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

The map below of Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG shows ward 

boundaries as of 2011 

 
Prime electoral wards within Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG area 2011 

 

The map below of Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG shows ward 

boundaries of 2015; ward 2015 boundaries have been used to map the 2015 

population. 

 
 

 



7 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

The most deprived wards in the DGS area are Singlewell, Riverside, 

Northfleet North, Westcourt, Coldharbour and Pelham in Gravesend, 

Joyce Green, Littlebrook, Swanscombe, Princes and Town in Dartford and  

Swanley St Mary’s in the Swanley area. 

 

Average life expectancy (at birth, 2011-2015) is 81.3 years, marginally lower 

than the Kent average of 81.8 years. Local inequalities are demonstrated by 

the 10.5 year gap between the ward with the highest deprivation (Northfleet 

North) and that with the least deprivation (Crockenhill and Well Hill).  

 

  
 

Increases in population are expected across all age bands in Dartford, 

Gravesham and Swanley CCG according to Office for National Statistics 

population projections. The largest increase is anticipated in the 85 and above 

age band, an increase of 22.7%, representing 1,325 additional individuals 

between 2015 and 2020. By 2020, the overall Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley population is estimated to be 268,871. 

 

 

 

 

 



8 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Transport Links 
 
See map on Page 3 
 

The transport links for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG are good; the 

M25 and the Dartford crossing connect the CCG with Essex. Easy access to 

the A2 provides good links to London and the coastal ports.  

Traffic congestion particularly on the M25 from vehicles accessing the 

Dartford Crossing could have a negative impact on health due to higher levels 

of air pollution such as PM10s that are associated with circulatory and 

respiratory disease, noise pollution and accidents.  

Gravesham has always benefited from excellent transport links to the rest of 

the UK and Europe with convenient access to the motorway network, direct 

access to the channel ports, frequent rail services to London and short travel 

times to the South East’s major airports. Javelin trains travel at high speeds 

up to 140mph from London St Pancras International or Stratford International 

to Ebbsfleet International and Ashford International, then go on to call at many 

stations across Kent – including Canterbury, Margate, Ramsgate, Dover and 

the Medway towns. Eurostar trains from London stop at Ebbsfleet 

international providing through service to Brussels and Paris. 

 

Public transport links are good especially if you are close the main towns, 

near to the main roads or near the railway lines. Community Transport 

services are available to residents who are unable to access public transport 

easily. In an NHS Litigation Authority (now called NHS Resolution) ruling 

about a case of access and choice of pharmaceutical services, a travel 

distance of six miles by car or public transport was considered reasonable in 

rural areas. 

 

More information is available in the KMPHO Health and Social Care Maps- 

DGS CCG found at  

https://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/46127/Overview-DGS-

CCG.pdf 

Pharmaceutical Services in the area 
 

There are two ways that patients can access pharmaceutical services within 

the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG area. They are through 

community pharmacies or through a dispensary within a GP practice 

(dispensing practices). 

https://www.southeasternrailway.co.uk/destinations-and-offers/popular-kent-destinations/canterbury
https://www.southeasternrailway.co.uk/destinations-and-offers/popular-kent-destinations/margate
https://www.southeasternrailway.co.uk/destinations-and-offers/popular-kent-destinations/ramsgate
https://www.southeasternrailway.co.uk/destinations-and-offers/popular-kent-destinations/dover
https://www.southeasternrailway.co.uk/destinations-and-offers/popular-kent-destinations/medway
https://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/46127/Overview-DGS-CCG.pdf
https://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/46127/Overview-DGS-CCG.pdf


9 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Appliances can be obtained through both of these methods or through a 

specific appliance contractor. Appliance contractors usually provide a service 

nationally and there are two based in the Kent area. 

 

Patients can also request to have their prescriptions (especially repeat 

prescriptions) sent electronically (EPS) to a pharmacy of their choice, such as 

one close to their work place or near their home. This means that positioning 

a pharmacy next to a GP practice is no longer as important. 

 

Ratio of number of pharmaceutical service (community Pharmacies 

and GP dispensing practices)  providers per 100,000 population 

Locality Number of 

providers 

Practice 

Population 

Ratio/100,000 

population 

NHS Dartford, 

Gravesham and 

Swanley CCG 

60 266,075 22 

Kent   21 

England   23 

 

 

Community Pharmacy 

 

Funding Cuts 

From December 1st 2016 the Department of Health (DH) imposed a reduction 

in the funding for community pharmacy while suggesting that the services 

provided can be improved. This presents a potential risk of community 

pharmacies being forced to cut services which are currently provided for free, 

with consequences for patients and for the local health and social care 

economy. The cuts may result in pharmacies serving the same population 

consolidating and closing down one or more premises and may lead to the 

closure of essential pharmacies in rural and semi-urban areas where over 

90% of their turnover come from essential NHS services. You can find more 

information about the possible effects of the community funding cuts in the 

main Kent PNA document. 

 

There are 52 community pharmacies who are registered on the Kent NHS 

pharmaceutical list as providing the full range of NHS pharmaceutical services 

and located within the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG area (this 

does not include the one appliance contractor). 

 

 

 



10 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG  - Community 

Pharmacies 

Total number of Community Pharmacies providing NHS 

pharmaceutical services 

52 

Number of standard 40 hour pharmacies  47 

Number of 100 hour pharmacies 5 

Number of mail order/internet pharmacies 0 

Number of appliance contractors 1 

Number of pharmacies offering electronic prescription service 

(EPS) 

52 

 

 
A list of all the pharmacies located within Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 

CCG can be found in Appendix B. 

 

Pharmaceutical services from community pharmacies comprise of essential, 

advanced and enhanced services. Explanations of these services can be 

found in the main overarching Kent Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.  

All DGS area pharmacies must provide the Essential services. (For a 

description of essential services please refer to the overarching Kent 

document) 

Maps showing which ones provide the Advanced services of  

Medicine Use reviews (MURs),  

New Medicines Service (NMS)  

NHS Flu Vaccination Service 

Appliance Use Reviews (AURs)  

Stoma Customisation 

can be found in Appendix A.  

NUMSAS (NHS Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service) is currently being 

rolled out across the South of England by NHS England. Currently all the 

pharmacies in DGS offer this service. Patients can only access this service by 

being referred by NHS 111. 

 

Standard 40 hour community pharmacies 

These are pharmacies which are registered as providing at least 40 ‘core’ 

pharmacy hours per week. These hours are usually 8 hours daily, Mon – Fri 

but are agreed at the time of application to join the register.  

Pharmacies cannot change their ‘core’ hours without prior agreement with 

NHS England.  

Many of these pharmacies also provide supplementary opening hours, often 

opening slightly later in the evening and on Saturdays and Sundays. 

Pharmacies can change their supplementary hours if they so desire, as long 

as NHS England receives the statutory 3 months’ notice. 



11 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

100 hour pharmacies 

These are pharmacies which have to be open for a minimum of 100 hours per 

week with the hours being agreed with NHS England.  

 

Mail order/internet pharmacies 

These are pharmacies which provide pharmaceutical services via mail order 

or the internet. They are not accessible to the general public. There are no 

mail order/internet pharmacies based in the Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley area 

 

Essential Small Pharmacy Local Pharmaceutical Services (ESP LPS) 

scheme. 

This scheme finished in March 2015 and the one ESPLPS pharmacy in the 

area has reverted to a standard 40 hour contract.  

 

Opening times 

A review of all opening times was carried out in October 2017 using data 

provided by NHS England, which is available on NHS Choices.  It was 

considered that there is good provision of pharmaceutical services through 

pharmacies and dispensing surgeries for the majority of the day between 8am 

and 6.30pm on Monday – Friday across the area 

Dartford – 20 pharmacies in total 

Services before 8 am (1 pharmacy) and after 6.30pm (9 pharmacies) are 

provided in the Dartford area 

19 pharmacies are open Saturday mornings and 9 pharmacies also provide 

services on Saturday afternoons. 5 pharmacies also provide services on 

Sundays. 

Gravesham – 24 pharmacies in total 

Services before 8 am (2 pharmacies) and after 6.30pm (8 pharmacies) are 

provided in the Gravesham area. 

18 pharmacies are open Saturday mornings and 11 pharmacies also provide 

services on Saturday afternoons. 4 pharmacies also provide services on 

Sundays. 

Swanley – 7 pharmacies in total 

Services before 8 am (2 pharmacies) and after 6.30pm (4 pharmacies) are 

provided in the Swanley area. 

All 7 pharmacies are open Saturday mornings and 5 pharmacies also provide 

services on Saturday afternoons. 2 pharmacies also provide services on 

Sundays. 

 

Out of Hours providers of medical services provide access to urgent medical 

care including urgent medicines when there is not a pharmacy open and the 

need is considered to be urgent.  



12 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Subsequent changes to opening times will be identified in supplementary 

statements which will be published at 3 monthly intervals alongside the PNA 

and the opening times of all pharmacies along with the additional services that 

they offer can be found on NHS Choices.  

http://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search/Pharmacy/LocationSearch/10 

 

Appliance contractors 

Appliance contractors provide appliances only, which are defined in Part IX of 

the Drug Tariff (e.g. ostomy, colostomy appliances) and these often require 

tailoring to meet the need of individual patients. There is one appliance 

contractor located in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG area.  

 

 

Dispensing practices 

 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG – Dispensing practices 

 

Total number of GP surgeries providing 

pharmaceutical services to their patients 

 

7 

 

Total number of sites(including branches)  

providing pharmaceutical services to their 

patients 

 

8 

 

A list of all the dispensing doctors located within Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley CCG can be found in Appendix C 

 

Agreement to changes to provision of pharmaceutical services through 

dispensing surgeries are the responsibility of the local CCG. It has been noted 

that this information is sometimes not passed onto NHS England and 

therefore does not appear in the supplementary statements for the PNA. This 

must be rectified in future PNAs 

 

Provision of pharmaceutical services through dispensing surgeries 

Dispensing practices can provide pharmaceutical services to specific patients 

including the dispensing of medicines and appliances. Many practices have 

developed these services further depending on the needs of their patients  

They can also sign up to the Dispensing Services Quality Scheme (DSQS). 

This is a voluntary scheme which includes DRUMs–Dispensing Review of 

Use of Medicines– (which are similar to MURs in pharmacies), many of the 

essential services, as well as following the same principles of clinical 

governance. 

http://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search/Pharmacy/LocationSearch/10


13 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

For a more detailed explanation of the regulations governing the dispensing of 

pharmaceutical services though a GP surgery please see the overarching 

Kent document Page 18.  

Surgeries must always give these patients the choice of obtaining their 

medicines through the GP dispensary or being allowed to take their 

prescription to a community pharmacy of choice. The majority of dispensing 

surgeries provide dispensing services Monday to Friday during normal 

surgery opening hours. There are no dispensing services listed as being 

provided on a Saturday or Sunday from dispensing surgeries in the DGS 

area. 

 

Pharmaceutical services out of hours 

The Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG area currently has five 100 hour 

pharmacies, two in Swanley, 2 in Gravesham and one in Dartford. These 

provide access to pharmacy services from early in the morning until late at 

night Monday to Saturday and are often open on a Sunday. 

Access to medicines via 100 hour pharmacies is considered to be especially 

important in areas which are deprived, especially if there is a high number of 

children aged 0-9 and/or elderly people over 65 who are living alone with no 

family/carer support. 

Access to medicines outside these times is commissioned from the local out-

of-hours medical services provider, who has available essential and urgently 

needed medicines, as agreed in the National Out of Hours Formulary and are 

supplied where the need for them cannot wait until the 100 hour pharmacy 

opens. 

 

Walk in centres 

There are walk in centres at Gravesham Community Hospital and White 

Horse Surgery which treat minor injuries / ailments. These services are open 

from early in the morning until late in the evening. 

 

Rota services 

NHS England manages a rota service for days when there are no pharmacies 

open at all. This is usually Christmas Day and Easter Sunday but may include 

other Public and Bank holidays if required. 

 

Enhanced services managed by NHS England 

There are no longer any enhanced services managed by NHS England in the 

area. 

 

Public Health services provided through pharmacies 

Many community pharmacies are also commissioned by local authorities to 

provide public health services on a ‘needs’ basis These are not classed as 



14 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

pharmaceutical services as they are provided by other healthcare providers 

as well.  

Examples of these are smoking cessation, NHS Healthchecks substance 

misuse and sexual health. 

For completeness we have included maps showing where these services are 

available and published them alongside the PNA. 

 

CCG services provided through community pharmacies 

These are not necessarily pharmaceutical services and therefore not 

considered as part of the PNA. However for completeness we are including 

maps of such services where the information is available.  

Palliative Care 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG commissions a palliative care service 

through 4 of its community pharmacies 

 

Non NHS and private services 

Pharmacies also provide many other services to the public which are not part 

of NHS pharmaceutical services and therefore not paid for by the NHS or 

Local Authority. These can include blood pressure testing, blood glucose 

testing, cholesterol testing, delivery services, provision of medicines in 

multi-compartment aids, travel medicines and the sale of over the 

counter (OTC) medicines. All of these services may attract an additional 

charge.  

These services will not be included as part of the PNA. 

 

Healthy Living Pharmacies 
 
Please see the main Kent PNA for an explanation of the concept of Healthy 

Living Pharmacies. Becoming accredited as a Healthy Living Pharmacy is not 

mandatory and is not a pharmaceutical service and therefore not considered 

as part of the PNA. 

Currently Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG has 11 community 

pharmacies who have met the accreditation as a Healthy Living Pharmacy 

Level 2.  

The rest of the DGS pharmacies are working towards achieving their HLP 

Level 1 status through Public Health England. An up-to-date list of Level 1 

HLPs can be found here. 

Please see map in Appendix A for details. 

 

 

 

https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-services/registration-healthy-living-pharmacies-level1/register.html


15 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Housing 
 
Like most of Kent, considerable new housing is expected to be built in the 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area over the next 20 years.  

The Planning departments at Dartford Borough Council, Gravesham Borough 

Council and Sevenoaks District Council  were consulted to identify any new 

developments that have or are due to be built since the 2015 PNA. 

 

The Bridge development - Dartford 

This area has developed over the life of the last PNA from a mainly industrial 

site to an area with significant housing as well as the location of the Leigh 

UTC. Over 1300 residential dwellings are expected to be built there by 2021 

In anticipation of this need for pharmaceutical services NHS England have 

recently awarded a contract to a pharmacy which opened late in 2017. 

 

Ebbsfleet Garden City 

A major housing development was identified in 2015 for the Ebbsfleet area, to 

be known as Ebbsfleet Garden City, with up to 15,000 homes initially. It was 

highlighted in the 2015 PNA as possibly needing extra pharmaceutical 

services in the future. This area is marked on a map in Appendix A and the 

development lies across the Dartford/Gravesham Council boundaries. 

Although building has been slow to happen, it has been estimated that nearly 

750 units will be ready for occupation in the area by 2018. This means that it 

has now been identified that there may be need for pharmaceutical services in 

the area within the life of this PNA dependent on the capacity of the 

surrounding pharmacies. There are already over 40 pharmacies servicing the 

population of Dartford and Gravesham and it may be more appropriate to 

invite relocation of one or more of these pharmacies into the Ebbsfleet area 

rather than open yet another contract. 

Paramount Leisure Park now called The London Resort 

This is a major leisure and retail park being proposed for the Swanscombe 

peninsular. The influx of tourists and staff to run this development will affect 

health services. This is still at the planning stage and therefore extra 

pharmaceutical services are not needed here at the moment 

Swanley 

Most of the proposed housing developments in and around Swanley and 

throughout the Darenth Valley area are small and should not have a major 

impact on the current pharmaceutical services.  

 

All areas will be reviewed regularly especially if the house building changes 

the landscape from rural to urban or progresses at a faster rate. 

For future information please consult the latest version of the Local Plan 

which can be found on the relevant district council website. 



16 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Kent PNA 2015 – Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area  
 
As part of this assessment, reference was made to the previous one carried 

out in 2015. http://www.kpho.org.uk/health-intelligence/service-

provision/pharmacy/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments 

 

Within that document it was noted that 

 
Rurality 

All the areas in NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley have now been reviewed and are 

designated as either controlled or not controlled 

 

Pharmacy Contracts 

There has been a slight increase in the provision of pharmaceutical services since 2011. 

The pharmacies serving outlying areas such as West Kingsdown, Higham, Meopham and 

Vigo are considered to be essential to these areas and must be preserved especially where 

the population of these areas are under 10 or over 65 and likely to need more pharmaceutical 

services.  

 

Housing 

The housing developments are still mainly in the planning stage. 

 
In 2015 it was recommended that in the DGS area 

 
The current provision of pharmaceutical services is good and provides the pharmaceutical 

needs of the population on the whole. 

 

The provision of ‘100 hour’ pharmacies needs to be maintained.  

 

The provision of rural/outlying pharmacies needs to be preserved. 

 

The provision of new housing in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area especially 

around Ebbsfleet Garden City needs to be reviewed regularly. 

 
The plans for the proposed theme park on the Swanscombe peninsula must be reviewed 

regularly. 

 

 

Consultation 
 
The consultation ran from 15 November 2017 to 22 January 2018 inclusive. 
All consultation information was held on the consultation directory on 
kent.gov.uk with its own weblink: www.kent.gov.uk/pharmaceuticalneeds 
 
The results of the survey and relevant comments can be found within the 

main Kent overarching folder in Appendices C - F 

 

http://www.kpho.org.uk/health-intelligence/service-provision/pharmacy/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments
http://www.kpho.org.uk/health-intelligence/service-provision/pharmacy/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments
http://www.kent.gov.uk/pharmaceuticalneeds


17 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

Conclusions and recommendations Kent PNA 2018 DGS area  
 
Monday to Friday 

There is good provision of full pharmaceutical services in and around 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley as well in most of the villages such as 

West Kingsdown, Higham, New Ash Green, Longfield, Meopham and Vigo. 

Most of the smaller villages in the area such as Farningham and Eynsford 

have access to pharmaceutical services through their dispensing surgery.  

Saturdays 

There is good provision of pharmaceutical services on Saturdays in and 

around Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley as well in most of the villages such 

as West Kingsdown, Higham, New Ash Green, Longfield, Meopham and Vigo.  

Sundays  

There is good provision of full pharmaceutical services in and around 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley on a Sunday.  

 

Therefore pharmaceutical services are mainly good across the area and we 

do not need any more providers in the area except  

1) A need for pharmaceutical services in the area of Ebbsfleet within the 

life of this PNA. This should be met by relocation of some of the current 

services. 

2) There may be a future need for specialist pharmaceutical service 

provision (specifically for tourists and visitors) in the future within the 

London Resort when this area is developed. 

 

The provision of ‘100 hour’ pharmacies needs to be maintained.  

 

The provision of rural/outlying pharmacies needs to be preserved. 

 

Lack of parking and access for the disabled was a recurring comment by 

responders to the consultation. Therefore any new contract must also 

demonstrate that there is adequate parking available for the business and that 

access for the disabled is available. 

 

Any application must demonstrate that it can improve on the availability of 

services across the specific area without destabilising the current provision. It 

is recommended that if a need is identified, whether foreseen or unforeseen, 

that the current providers are approached to establish whether they can meet 

the need, before a completely new contract is considered.  

 

Permission for any applicant to provide extra pharmaceutical services to this 

area must be carefully considered as to whether it will destabilise the current 

providers, resulting in closures and less pharmaceutical services being 

available at crucial times.  



18 
 

Kent PNA 2018- DGS CCG area Final version  March 2018 

 

 

The area is changing rapidly and as well as consulting this PNA, the PSRC at 

NHS England should carry out a rapid review of any area where there is an 

application, to ensure that the needs of this area have not changed in the 

lifetime of the PNA. This could include review of rural and urban classification 

and should be published alongside the PNA in the supplementary statements. 

 

Document Version Control 
 

Version Date Author(s) Comments 
Draft 1 Oct 2017 Cheryl Clennett 1st draft 

Draft 2 Oct 2017 KMPHO Supplementary maps etc. agreed 

Draft 3 Oct 2017 PNA Steering 
Group 

Agreed amendments made 

Draft 4 Mar 2018 PNA Steering 

Group 

Agreed amendments as a result 

of the consultation responses 

Final 

Version 

Mar 2018 PNA steering 

Group 

Final checks prior to publication 

after approval from HWB 

 



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment –
NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
CCG

Supplementary data and maps
data correct as of March 2018

Final Version
Last updated: March 2018

Produced by
Cheryl Clennett, Consultant Pharmacist
Julian Barlow, Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst
Matthew Pateman, Public Health Analyst
Lauren Liddell-Young, Public Health Information Officer

APPENDIX A

http://www.kpho.org.uk/


Contents

Orientation
Current population
Population density
Population growth
Ethnicity profile
Index of multiple deprivation
Location of pharmaceutical services
Distance rings around community pharmacies
Pharmacies providing medicines use review
Pharmacies providing new medicines service
Pharmacies and appliance contractors providing stoma customisation and appliance use 
reviews
Healthy Living pharmacies
General practices
NHS flu vaccination

2



3

Orientation – Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG



Current population

4

Age band Female Male Persons

0-4 8,702 8,828 17,530

05-09 8,506 8,640 17,146

10-14 7,402 7,829 15,231

15-19 7,182 7,624 14,806

20-24 7,070 6,989 14,059

25-29 9,194 8,477 17,671

30-34 9,225 8,862 18,087

35-39 8,833 8,688 17,521

40-44 8,657 8,480 17,137

45-49 9,618 9,503 19,121

50-54 9,142 9,324 18,466

55-59 7,892 7,850 15,742

60-64 6,702 6,625 13,327

65-69 7,037 6,475 13,512

70-74 5,624 5,050 10,674

75-79 4,433 3,758 8,191

80-84 3,710 2,801 6,511

85-89 2,341 1,582 3,923

90 1,340 648 1,988

All ages 132,610 128,033 260,643

Mid-year estimates for 2016: Dartford, 

Gravesham & Swanley CCG



5

Population density (2015, by ward)



Population growth

6

The chart shows the 
percentage growth of 
Dartford, Gravesham & 
Swanley CCG’s 
projected population 
from 2015 to 2020. 

This uses a baseline of 
2014 population to 
calculate the 
percentage growth 
and is split into 
different age-bandings. 

The table provides the 
total number of the 
different age-bandings 
for the baseline  
population (2014) and 
the projected 
population from 2015 
to 2020.

While population is 
increasing for all age 
bands the greatest 
growth is seen in the 
65 years and over age 
band.

Age Band 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

0-4 17,258 17,270 17,372 17,314 17,425 17,567 17,792

5-19 46,115 46,419 46,943 47,692 48,343 49,052 49,773

20-64 148,436 150,196 151,560 153,082 154,408 155,748 156,981

65 plus 43,444 44,078 44,840 45,435 46,211 46,954 47,667

All ages 255,253 257,963 260,714 263,523 266,387 269,320 272,214

Year



Ethnicity profile

7



Index of multiple deprivation (2015, Kent deciles)

8



Providers of pharmaceutical services

9



Providers of pharmaceutical services: Dartford

10



Providers of pharmaceutical services: Gravesham

11



Providers of pharmaceutical services

12

ID Locality Ward (2011) Trading name Postcode Contract ID Locality Ward (2011) Trading name Postcode Contract

1 Dartford Swanscombe Ackers Chemists DA100HF Min 40 hours 28 Gravesham Higham Lawsat Pharm Ltd ME37AT Min 40 hours

2 Dartford Stone Asda Pharmacy DA99BT Min 40 hours 29 Gravesham Northfleet North Hill Pharmacy DA119EU Min 40 hours

3 Dartford Stone Boots DA99SJ Min 40 hours 30 Gravesham Istead Rise Istead Rise Pharmacy DA139JF Min 40 hours

4 Dartford Town Boots DA11DE Min 40 hours 31 Gravesham Whitehill Kings Pharmacy DA125HY Min 100 hours

5 Dartford Joyce Green Daysol Pharmacy DA15HY Min 40 hours 32 Gravesham Westcourt Lion Pharmacy DA124TY Min 40 hours

6 Dartford
Farningham, Horton 

Kirby & South Darenth
Hobbs Pharmacy DA49AF Min 40 hours 33 Gravesham Riverview Lloyds Pharmacy DA124NG Min 40 hours

7 Dartford
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
Hodgson Pharmacy DA37QA Min 40 hours 34 Gravesham Northfleet South Lloyds Pharmacy DA118BZ Min 40 hours

8 Dartford Stone Homestyle Positive DA99JZ Min 40 hours 35 Gravesham Meopham North Meopham Pharmacy DA130HP Min 40 hours

9 Dartford Joydens Wood Joydens Wood Pharmacy DA27NJ Min 40 hours 36 Gravesham Pelham N B Pharmacy Ltd DA110LJ Min 40 hours

10 Dartford West Hill Lloyds Pharmacy DA12EU Min 100 hours 37 Gravesham Whitehill Nicholson & Keep DA125RT Min 40 hours

11 Dartford
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
Lloyds Pharmacy DA37QD Min 40 hours 38 Gravesham Painters Ash Pender Chemist DA118LG Min 40 hours

12 Dartford West Hill M. D. Moore Pharmacy DA13EN Min 40 hours 39 Gravesham Riverside Pender Pharmacy DA122RE Min 40 hours

13 Dartford Joydens Wood McQueen's Pharmacy DA27WX Min 40 hours 40 Gravesham Singlewell R S Bains DA125DZ Min 40 hours

14 Dartford Town Paydens DA11HP Min 40 hours 41 Gravesham Central Regent Pharmacy DA121AS Min 40 hours

15 Dartford Bean & Darenth S & S Chopra DA28DR Min 40 hours 42 Gravesham Woodlands Singlewell Pharmacy DA117QA Min 40 hours

16 Dartford Town
Lloyds Pharmacy in 

Sainsbury's 
DA12HS Min 40 hours 43 Gravesham Meopham South & Vigo Vigo Pharmacy DA130TD Min 40 hours

17 Dartford Stone Stone Pharmacy DA99DF Min 40 hours 44 Gravesham Northfleet South Williams Chemists DA118BS Min 40 hours

18 Dartford Swanscombe Swan Valley Pharmacy DA100BF Min 40 hours 45 Gravesham
Fawkham & West 

Kingsdown
Lloyds Pharmacy TN156HD Min 40 hours

19 Dartford Brent The Brent Pharmacy DA11YD Min 40 hours 46 Swanley Swanley White Oak Asda Pharmacy BR87UN Min 100 hours

20 Dartford Town Well Pharmacy DA12JP Min 40 hours 47 Swanley Swanley St Mary's Boots BR87TL Min 40 hours

21 Dartford West Hill West Hill Pharmacy DA12EF Min 40 hours 48 Swanley Swanley St Mary's Swanley Pharmacy BR87TQ Min 40 hours

22 Gravesham Pelham Asda Pharmacy DA110DQ Min 100 hours 49 Swanley
Swanley Christchurch & 

Swanley Village
Thales Pharmacy BR88HS Min 100 hours

23 Gravesham Pelham Boots DA110TA Min 40 hours 50 Swanley Swanley St Mary's Well Pharmacy BR87TG Min 40 hours

24 Gravesham Coldharbour Chadwicks Chemist DA117HW Min 40 hours 51 Swanley Hextable Village Pharmacy BR87RB Min 40 hours

25 Gravesham Pelham Darnley Pharmacy DA110HN Min 40 hours 52 Swanley Ash Village Pharmacy DA38JB Min 40 hours

26 Gravesham Woodlands Echo Pharmacy DA125BW Min 40 hours 53 Dartford Joyce Green Delmergate Ltd DA15FP Min 40 hours

27 Gravesham Riverside
Gravesend Medical               

Centre Pharmacy
DA122EN Min 40 hours

Community Pharmacies Community Pharmacies



Providers of pharmaceutical services

13

ID
Practice 

Code
Practice name

Main 

site?

Dispensing 

at site?
Postcode Ward (2011)

1 G82073
Meopham Medical 

Centre
Y Yes DA130AH Meopham North

2 G82088
Devon Road 

Surgery
Y Yes DA49AB Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley

3 G82122
Bean Village 

Surgery
N Yes DA28BS Bean & Darenth

4 G82218
Farningham 

Surgery
Y Yes DA40JU

Farningham, Horton Kirby 

& South Darenth

5 G82221 The New Surgery N Yes DA28BG Bean & Darenth

6 G82710 Bennet Way Y Yes DA27JT Bean & Darenth

7 G82809
Downs Way 

Medical Practice
Y Yes DA139LB Istead Rise

8 G82809
Downs Way 

Medical Practice
N Yes DA123DY

Shorne, Cobham & 

Luddesdown

Dispensing Practices



14

Distance rings (1.6km) around community pharmacies



15

Distance rings (1.6km) around community pharmacies
with rural urban classification (2011)



Controlled localities and distance rings

16

We are unable to update these currently as data is unavailable



Pharmacies providing medicines use review

17



Pharmacies providing medicines use review

18

ID Pharmacy Name Postcode Ward (2011) ID Pharmacy Name Postcode Ward (2011)

1 Ackers Chemists DA100HF Swanscombe 25 Lloyds Pharmacy TN156HD Fawkham & West Kingsdown

2 Asda Pharmacy DA110DQ Pelham 26 M D Moore Pharmacy DA13EN West Hill

3 Asda Pharmacy DA99BT Stone 27 McQueen's Pharmacy DA27WX Joydens Wood

4 Asda Pharmacy BR87UN Swanley White Oak 28 Meopham Pharmacy DA130HP Meopham North

5 Boots DA11DE Town 29 NB Pharmacy Ltd DA110LJ Pelham

6 Boots DA99SJ Stone 30 Paydens Ltd DA11HP Town

7 Boots DA110TA Pelham 31 Pender Pharmacy DA122RE Riverside

8 Boots BR87TL Swanley St Mary's 32 Penders Chemists DA118LG Painters Ash

9 Chadwicks Chemist DA117HW Coldharbour 33 Regent Pharmacy DA121AS Central

10 Darnley Pharmacy DA110HN Pelham 34 RS Bains DA125DZ Singlewell

11 Echo Pharmacy DA125BW Woodlands 35 Singlewell Pharmacy DA117QA Woodlands

12
Gravesend Medical 

Pharmacy Centre
DA122EN Riverside 36 Springate & Harrison Ltd DA11YD Brent

13 Hill Pharmacy DA119EU Northfleet North 37 Stone Pharmacy DA99DF Stone

14 Hobbs Pharmacy DA49AF
Farningham, Horton Kirby & 

South Darenth
38 Swan Valley Pharmacy DA100BF Swanscombe

15 Hodgson Pharmacy DA37QA
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
39 Swanley Pharmacy BR87TQ Swanley St Mary's

16 Istead Rise Pharmacy DA139JF Istead Rise 40 Thales Pharmacy BR88HS
Swanley Christchurch & 

Swanley Village

17 Joydens Wood Pharmacy DA27NJ Joydens Wood 41 Vigo Pharmacy DA130TD Meopham South & Vigo

18 Kings Pharmacy DA125HY Whitehill 42 Village Pharmacy DA38JB Ash

19 Lion Pharmacy DA124TY Westcourt 43 Village Pharmacy BR87RB Hextable

20 Lloyds Pharmacy DA37QD
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
44 Well Dartford DA12JP Town

21 Lloyds Pharmacy DA12EU West Hill 45 Well Swanley BR87TG Swanley St Mary's

22 Lloyds Pharmacy DA12HS Town 46 West Hill Pharmacy DA12EF West Hill

23 Lloyds Pharmacy DA118BZ Northfleet South 47 Williams Chemists DA118BS Northfleet South

24 Lloyds Pharmacy DA124NG Riverview 48 Delmergate Ltd DA15FP Joyce Green

Medicine use review pharmacies Medicine use review pharmacies



Pharmacies providing new medicines service

19



Pharmacies providing new medicines service

20

ID Pharmacy code Trading name Postcode Ward (2011) ID Pharmacy code Trading name Postcode Ward (2011)

1 FH411 Ackers Chemists DA100HF Swanscombe 23 FAV48 Lloyds Pharmacy TN156HD
Fawkham & West 

Kingsdown

2 FEL35 Asda Pharmacy DA99BT Stone 24 FNX28 M D Moore Pharmacy DA13EN West Hill

3 FM106 Asda Pharmacy BR87UN Swanley White Oak 25 FQ405 McQueen's Pharmacy DA27WX Joydens Wood

4 FN522 Boots DA11DE Town 26 FW564 Meopham Pharmacy DA130HP Meopham North

5 FDF72 Boots DA99SJ Stone 27 FX082 Paydens Ltd DA11HP Town

6 FHY96 Boots DA110TA Pelham 28 FPC66 Penders Chemists DA118LG Painters Ash

7 FKV58 Boots BR87TL Swanley St Mary's 29 FRK37 Regent Pharmacy DA121AS Central

8 FQY90 Chadwicks Chemist DA117HW Coldharbour 30 FY771 RS Bains DA125DZ Singlewell

9 FHT34 Darnley Pharmacy DA110HN Pelham 31 FA066 Singlewell Pharmacy DA117QA Woodlands

10 FQ897 Echo Pharmacy DA125BW Woodlands 32 FN266
Springate & Harrison 

Ltd
DA11YD Brent

11 FLJ66
Gravesend Medical 

Pharmacy Centre
DA122EN Riverside 33 FY992 Stone Pharmacy DA99DF Stone

12 FHV64 Hill Pharmacy DA119EU Northfleet North 34 FH692
Swan Valley 

Pharmacy
DA100BF Swanscombe

13 FWR04 Hobbs Pharmacy DA49AF
Farningham, Horton Kirby & 

South Darenth
35 FF547 Swanley Pharmacy BR87TQ Swanley St Mary's

14 FA519 Hodgson Pharmacy DA37QA
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
36 FPW21 Vigo Pharmacy DA130TD

Meopham South & 

Vigo

15 FEH10 Istead Rise Pharmacy DA139JF Istead Rise 37 FX677 Village Pharmacy DA38JB Ash

16 FH758 Kings Pharmacy DA125HY Whitehill 38 FKD21 Village Pharmacy BR87RB Hextable

17 FHA64 Lion Pharmacy DA124TY Westcourt 39 FM185 Well Dartford DA12JP Town

18 FG447 Lloyds Pharmacy DA37QD
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
40 FL923 Well Swanley BR87TG Swanley St Mary's

19 FCJ14 Lloyds Pharmacy DA12EU West Hill 41 FWL74 West Hill Pharmacy DA12EF West Hill

20 FP204 Lloyds Pharmacy DA12HS Town 42 FC312 Williams Chemists DA118BS Northfleet South

21 FTW73 Lloyds Pharmacy DA118BZ Northfleet South 43 FN593 Delmergate Ltd DA15FP Joyce Green

22 FK412 Lloyds Pharmacy DA124NG Riverview

New medicine reviewNew medicine review



21

Pharmacies and appliance contractors providing
stoma customisation and appliance use reviews



Healthy Living pharmacies

22



General practices

23



General practices

24

Key Practice Code Practice Name Postcode Ward (2011) Key Practice Code Practice Name Postcode Ward (2011) Key Practice Code Practice Name Postcode Ward (2011)

1 G82006 Dartford East Health Centre DA11QY Brent 17 G82197 Lamorna Surgery DA125PZ Whitehill 2 G82021 The Shrubbery DA124RX Riverview

2 G82021 The Shrubbery DA118RD Coldharbour 18 G82206 Summerhouse Drive DA52ER Joydens Wood 4 G82032 Pelham Medical Practice DA124JW Westcourt

3 G82028 The Cedars Surgery BR87AH Swanley St Mary's 19 G82212 Pilgrims Way Surgery DA11QY Brent 9 G82067 Old Road West DA125TY Singlewell

4 G82032 Pelham Medical Practice DA110HN Pelham 20 G82218 Braeside Surgery DA40JU
Farningham, Horton 

Kirby & South Darenth
13 G82097 Jubilee Medical Group DA38RH Ash

5 G82044 The Gateway Medical Practice DA118BZ Northfleet South 21 G82221 Elmdene DA99DB Stone 21 G82221 Horns Cross & Bean DA28BG Bean & Darenth

6 G82048 Horsman's Place Surgery DA12JP Town 22 G82225 The Oaks BR87UP Swanley St Mary's 21 G82122 Swanscombe Health DA28BS Bean & Darenth

7 G82056 The Orchard Practice DA12HA West Hill 23 G82639 Maple Practice DA12HA West Hill 21 G82122 Swanscombe Health DA125PZ Whitehill

8 G82062 Parrock Street DA121EN Central 24 G82647 Temple Hill Surgery DA15ND Joyce Green 21 G82122 Swanscombe Health DA99EJ Greenhithe

9 G82067 Old Road West DA110LL Pelham 25 G82648 Rochester Rd Gravesend DA122HU Riverside 24 G82647 West Kingsdown Surgery TN156EJ
Fawkham & West 

Kingsdown

10 G82073 Meopham Medical Centre DA130AH Meopham North 26 G82690 Chalk Surgery DA122NG Chalk 24 G82647 Ivy Bower Surgery DA99NF Greenhithe

11 G82088 Devon Road Surgery DA49AB
Sutton-at-Hone & 

Hawley
27 G82710 Bennett Way Surgery DA27JT Bean & Darenth 25 G82648 Rochester Road DA119NY Northfleet North

12 G82096 The Forge Surgery DA118BZ Northfleet South 28 G82722 Main Road Hextable BR87RB Hextable 27 G82710 Bennett Way Surgery DA27JT Bean & Darenth

13 G82097 Jubilee Medical Group DA37QD
Longfield, New Barn 

& Southfleet
29 G82780 Gravesend Medical Centre DA122EN Riverside 31 G82809 Downs Way Medical Practice DA123DY

Shorne, Cobham & 

Luddesdown

14 G82122 Swanscombe Health DA100BF Swanscombe 30 G82808 Oakfields Health Centre DA125BW Woodlands 31 G82809 Downs Way Medical Practice DA52AE Joydens Wood

15 G82143 Lowfield Medical Centre DA11HP Town 31 G82809 Downs Way Medical Practice DA139LB Istead Rise

16 G82185 Redwood Practice DA12HA West Hill 32 Y02826 White Horse Surgery DA118BZ Northfleet South

33 G82100
Highcliffe Medical Practice 

(part of Medway CCG)
ME37DB Higham

General practices - Main General practices - Main General practices - Branch



NHS flu vaccination

25



NHS flu vaccination

26

Key Pharmacy Name Postcode Ward (2011) Key Pharmacy Name Postcode Ward (2011)

1 Ackers Chemists Ltd DA100HF Swanscombe 23 Lawsat Pharm Ltd ME37AT Higham

2 Asda Stores Ltd DA99BT Stone 24 Ran Pharma Ltd DA119EU Northfleet North

3 Boots UK Ltd DA99SJ Stone 25 Badiani & Co Ltd DA139JF Istead Rise

4 Boots UK Ltd DA11DE Town 26 Janris Ltd DA125HY Whitehill

5 Butt and Hobbs Ltd DA49AF
Farningham, Horton Kirby 

& South Darenth
27 Harshraj Ltd DA124TY Westcourt

6 Hodgson Pharmacy Ltd DA37QA
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
28 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd DA124NG Riverview

7 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd DA12EU West Hill 29 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd DA118BZ Northfleet South

8 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd DA37QD
Longfield, New Barn & 

Southfleet
30 Badiani & Co Ltd DA130HP Meopham North

9 Kanani Pharmacy Ltd DA13EN West Hill 31 N B Pharmacy Ltd DA110LJ Pelham

10 McQueen's Group LLP DA27WX Joydens Wood 32 Badiani & Co Ltd DA118LG Painters Ash

11 Paydens Ltd DA11HP Town 33 Pender Pharmacy Ltd DA122RE Riverside

12 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd DA12HS Town 34 R S Bains Ltd DA125DZ Singlewell

13 J M Patel Ltd DA99DF Stone 35 Regent Pharmacies Ltd DA121AS Central

14 Ackers Chemists Ltd DA100BF Swanscombe 36 Singlewell Pharmacy Ltd DA117QA Woodlands

15 Ackers Chemists Ltd DA11YD Brent 37 Badiani & Co Ltd DA118BS Northfleet South

16
Bestway National 

Chemists Ltd
DA12JP Town 38 Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd TN156HD

Fawkham & West 

Kingsdown

17 Paydens Ltd DA12EF West Hill 39 Asda Pharmacy Ltd BR87UN Swanley White Oak

18 Asda Stores Ltd DA110DQ Pelham 40 Boots UK Ltd BR87TL Swanley St Mary's

19 Boots UK Ltd DA110TA Pelham 41 Wellbrooke Products Ltd BR87TQ Swanley St Mary's

20 Badiani & Co Ltd DA117HW Coldharbour 42 Inngate Ltd BR88HS
Swanley Christchurch & 

Swanley Village

21 Paydens Ltd DA110HN Pelham 43 Bestway National Chemists Ltd BR87TG Swanley St Mary's

22 K K Leung DA125BW Woodlands

NHS flu vaccinations NHS flu vaccinations



Sources and references

Orientation maps
• Source: Base layer available on ArcGIS

Population maps and information
• Sources Office for National Statistics (ONS), 2014 based forecasts used for population protections. All other populations are based on 2016 mid-year 

estimates (MYE)

Ethnicity profiles
• Source: Census 2011 via National Online Manpower Information System (NOMIS)

Index of multiple deprivation
• Source: Department for Communities & Local Government, shows a relative deprivation score

Pharmaceutical services
• Source:  NHS England, data collected for 2016/17 (April 16 to February 17), Healthy Living Pharmacies data collected from KCC (2017)

General practices
• Source: Primary Care Information System (PCIS), correct as of November 2016

27



Locality Trading name Address Postcode Tel No
Weekdays Open 

before 8am

Weekdays Open 

after 6.30pm

Sat opening 

am
Sat opening pm Sun opening

Dartford Ackers Chemists
94 Church Road, Swanscome, 

Kent
DA10 0HF 01322 382300 X X ✓ X X

Dartford Asda Pharmacy
Asda Superstore, Station Road, 

Greenhithe, 
DA9 9BT 01322 374110 X ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dartford Boots 
South Mall, Bluewter Park, 

Greenhithe 
DA9 9SJ 01322 624780 X ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dartford Boots 46-52 High Street, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DE 01322 223664 X X ✓ ✓ ✓

Dartford Daysol Pharmacy 25 Temple Hill Square, Dartford DA1 5HY 01322 224141 X X ✓ X X

Dartford Hobbs Pharmacy
Holmesdale Road, South Darenth, 

Dartford 
DA4 9AF 01322 860019 X X ✓ X X

Dartford Hodgson Pharmacy 59 Station Road,Longfield DA3 7QA 01474 707341 X ✓ ✓ ✓ X

Dartford Homestyle Positive
The Coach House, 1 Hedge Place 

Road, Horns Cross  
DA9 9JZ 0800 393889 X X X X X

Dartford
Joydens Wood 

Pharmacy
2 Birchwood Parade,Wilmington DA2 7NJ 01322 522711 X ✓ ✓ ✓ X

Dartford Lloyds Pharmacy 68-70 West Hill, Dartford DA1 2EC 01322 311753 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dartford Lloyds Pharmacy 18 - 20 Station Road, Longfield DA3 7QD 01474 702205 X X ✓ ✓ X

Dartford M. D. Moore Pharmacy 141 Dartford Road,Dartford DA1 3EN 01322 220863 X X ✓ X X

Dartford McQueen's Pharmacy
Business Unit 3, Maplehurst Close, 

Dartford
DA2 7WX 01322 310862 X X ✓ X X

Dartford Paydens 63 Lowfield Street, Dartford DA1 1HP 01322 220779 X ✓ ✓ X X

Dartford S & S Chopra
Darent Valley Hospital, Darenth 

Wood Road, Darenth, Dartford 
DA2 8DR 01322 227240 X ✓ ✓ X X

Dartford
Lloyds Pharmacy in 

Sainsbury's 

Priory Shopping Centre, Instone 

Road, Dartford
DA1 2HS 01322 223379 X ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dartford Stone Pharmacy
229 London Road, Stone, 

Greenhithe 
DA9 9DF 01322 382063 X X ✓ X X

Dartford Swan Valley Pharmacy
Swanscombe Health Centre, 

Southfleet Road, Swanscombe 
DA10 0BF 01322 313640 X X X X X

Dartford The Brent Pharmacy 15 The Brent, Dartford DA1 1YD 01322 223376 X ✓ ✓ ✓ X

Dartford Well Pharmacy
Horseman's Place Surgery, Instone 

Road, Dartford  
DA1 2JP 01322 227930 X X X X X

Dartford West Hill Pharmacy Cliffside Court , West Hill, Dartford DA1 2EF 01322 276661 X X X X X

Dartford Delmergate Ltd
1 Homberg Place, Telford Square, 

Dartford, Kent
DA1 5FP 01322 875777 X Tues/Thur ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Asda Pharmacy
Asda Superstore, Thames Way, 

Gravesend 
DA11 0DQ 01474 543410 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Gravesham Boots 9 Kempthorne, Gravesend DA11 0TA 01474 352740 X X ✓ ✓ ✓

NHS Dartford Gravesham & Swanley CCG - Community Pharmacies Opening times

APPENDIX B



Gravesham Chadwicks Chemist 16 Lawrence Square, Northfleet DA11 7HW 01474 566560 X X X X X

Gravesham Darnley Pharmacy 17 Pelham Road, Gravesend DA11 0HN 01474 533528 X ✓ X X X

Gravesham Echo Pharmacy
Oakfield Health Centre, Off 

Windsor Road, Gravesend
DA12 5BW 01474 533754 X ✓ X X X

Gravesham
Gravesend Medical  

Centre Pharmacy

Gravesend Medical Centre, 1 New 

Swan Yard, Gravesend 
DA12 2EN 01474 335646 X X X X X

Gravesham Lawsat Pharm Ltd 4 School Lane, Higham, Rochester ME3 7AT 01474 825253 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham Hill Pharmacy
7 The Hill, London Road, 

Northfleet 
DA11 9EU 01474 564615 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham Istead Rise Pharmacy 54 Istead Rise, Gravesend DA13 9JF 01474 833383 X X ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Kings Pharmacy 22 Kitchener Avenue, Gravesend DA12 5HY 01474 359559 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Gravesham Lion Pharmacy
202 Rochester Road, Chalk, 

Gravesend  
DA12 4TY 01474 365168 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham Lloyds Pharmacy
10 The Alma,  Leandar Drive, 

Riverview Park, Gravesend 
DA12 4NG 01474 567948 X ✓ ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Lloyds Pharmacy Vale Road, Northfleet, Gravesend DA11 8BZ 01474 357709 X ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Gravesham Meopham Pharmacy
Wrotham Road, Meopham, 

Gravesend 
DA13 0HP 01474 812144 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham N B Pharmacy Ltd 44 Old Road West, Gravesend DA11 0LJ 01474 352609 X ✓ X X X

Gravesham Nicholson & Keep
1 The Parade,  Valley Drive, 

Gravesend 
DA12 5RT 01474 533047 X X X X X

Gravesham Pender Chemist
29 Dene Holm Road, Painters Ash 

Estate, Northfleet
DA11 8LG 01474 567942 X X ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Pender Pharmacy 2 Milton Road, Gravesend DA12 2RE 01474 323828 X X ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham R S Bains
2 Livingstone Road, Valley Drive, 

Gravesend  
DA12 5DZ 01474 365140 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham Regent Pharmacy
19 - 20  Windmill Street, 

Gravesend 
DA12 1AS 01474 534394 X X ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Singlewell Pharmacy 133 Singlewell Road, Gravesend DA11 7QA 01474 533674 X ✓ ✓ X X

Gravesham Vigo Pharmacy 7 The Bay,  Vigo Village, Meopham DA13 0TD 01732 824135 X X ✓ X X

Gravesham Williams Chemists 120 Vale Road, Northfleet, DA11 8BS 01474 533079 X X ✓ ✓ X

Gravesham Lloyds Pharmacy 36 Hever Road, West Kingsdown TN15 6HD 01474 853109 X X ✓ ✓ X

Swanley Asda Pharmacy 1 Alexander Grove, Swanley, BR8 7UN 01322 661970 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Swanley Boots 32 Swanley Centre, Swanley BR8 7TL 01322 663668 X X ✓ ✓ X

Swanley Swanley Pharmacy 47 Swanley Centre, Swanley BR8 7TQ 01322 662259 X X ✓ ✓ X

Swanley Thales Pharmacy 31 Azalea Drive, Swanley BR8 8HS 01322 664659 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Swanley Well Pharmacy 25 Swanley Centre, Swanley BR8 7TG 01322 663209 X ✓ ✓ X X

Swanley Village Pharmacy 15 Main Road, Hextable BR8 7RB 01322 663021 X ✓ ✓ X X

Swanley Village Pharmacy
2 The Row, New Ash Green, 

Dartford
DA3 8JB 01474 873811 X X ✓ ✓ X



100 Hour pharmacy

Appliance contractor



Practice Name Main site

Dispensing at this 

premises? Post Code

Dr Mounty J P & Partners Y Yes

Meopham Medical 

Centre Wrotham Road Meopham Kent DA13 0AH

Dr Nicolson J A & Partners Y Yes Devon Road Surgery South Darenth Dartford Kent DA4 9AB

Swanscombe Health do not 

dispense from these premises Y No

Swanscombe Health 

Centre Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent DA10 0BF 

Swanscombe Health do not 

dispense from these premises N No Greenhithe Surgery 32 London Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9EJ 

Swanscombe Health N Yes Bean Village Surgery Southfleet Road Bean Kent DA2 8BS 

Dr Fraser J A & Partners Y Yes Farningham Surgery Braeside Gorse Hill Farningham Dartford Kent DA4 0JU

Dr Langley S H & Partner do not 

dispense from these premises Y No Elmdene 273 London Road Horns Cross

Greenhithe 

Kent DA9 9DB 

Dr Langley S H & Partner N Yes The New Surgery Beacon Drive Bean Kent DA2 8BG 

Bennet Way Y Yes Darenth Kent DA2 7JT

Downs Way Medical Practice Y Yes

Downs Way Medical 

Practice Istead Rise Surgery

Worcester Close 

Istead Rise

Gravesend 

Kent DA13 9LB 

Downs Way Medical Practice do 

not dispense from these premises N No

Downs Way Medical 

Practice

Summerhouse 

Surgery

Beaconfield 

Road

Maypole 

Bexley DA5 2AE

Downs Way Medical Practice N Yes

Downs Way Medical 

Practice

Shorne Village 

Surgery

Crown Lane 

Shorne

Gravesend 

Kent DA12 3DY 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG - Dispensing Practices

Address

APPENDIX C





Local Service Provision– NHS 
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG

Location of services across Kent, shown by CCG

Version: 1
Last updated: March 2018

Produced by
Cheryl Clennett, Consultant Pharmacist
Lauren Liddell-Young, Public Health Information Officer

APPENDIX B

http://www.kpho.org.uk/


Contents

Stop smoking services

Needle exchange

Supervised consumption

Emergency hormonal contraception

Health checks

Healthy weight service

Anticoagulation service

2



Stop smoking pharmacies & general practices

3



Pharmacies & other provides providing needle exchange 
services

4



Pharmacies & general practices providing supervised
consumption service

5



Pharmacies providing emergency hormonal 
contraception

6



Pharmacies providing health checks

7



Pharmacies & other providers offering healthy weight 
services

8



Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley’s commissioned 
services

9



Pharmacies providing the anticoagulation service

10



Sources & references

Stop smoking services

• Those pharmacies, general practices and other providers who supply a stop smoking service.

• Source: KCHFT; correct as of March 2017

Needle exchange

• Those pharmacies who supply a needle exchange service

• Source: East Kent Community Drug & Alcohol Service (for East Kent data); correct as of January 2018

• Source: CGL (for West Kent data); correct as of January 2018

Supervised consumption

• Those pharmacies who supply a supervised consumption service

• Source: East Kent Community Drug & Alcohol Service (for East Kent data); correct as of January 2018

• Source: CGL (for West Kent data); correct as of January 2018

Emergency hormonal contraception

• Those pharmacies who supply emergency oral contraception service

• Source: KCHFT; correct as of January 2018

11



Sources & references

Health checks

• Those pharmacies who provide a health check service

• Source: KCHFT; correct as of November 2017

Healthy weight services

• Those pharmacies who provide a healthy weight service

• Source: KCHFT; correct as of March 2017

Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley’s commissioned services

• Those pharmacies who offer a palliative care medicine supply

• Source: Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG; correct as of October 2017

Anticoagulation service

• Those pharmacies who provide the anticoagulation service

• Source: Ashford CCG; correct as of March 2018

12



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
 12 June 2018

GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT CLEAN AIR 
STRATEGY 2018

1. Summary

1.1The Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) are carrying out a 
consultation on its recently published draft Clean Air Strategy 2018 (attached as 
Appendix A to this report).

1.2This report provides a summary of the draft 2018 Strategy for discussion.
2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That Members are asked to note the content of the report and offer comments 
to inform the Council’s response to the DEFRA consultation.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Air pollution from road traffic has been well documented in recent years.  
In July 2017 DEFRA released the ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen 
dioxide concentrations; this plan was discussed at Policy Overview 
Committee in September 2017 and has been subject to legal challenge 
by Client Earth.  In February 2018 the High Court confirmed that the 
measures proposed by this plan were insufficient and has ordered 
DEFRA to make changes.  Of concern to Dartford Borough Council was 
an apparent divergence between NO2 levels predicted by the modelling 
within this plan and those measured by Dartford Borough Council.  It has 
now been determined that these discrepancies have resulted from the 
method of modelling and prediction used which has been found to be in 
accordance with the relevant European directive.  

3.2. The government has now published its draft Clean Air Strategy 2018 for 
consultation. This strategy looks at other sources of air pollution and 
proposes measures to reduce their emissions. The strategy is broken 
down into 10 chapters which are discussed below. Members should note 
that the content of several of the chapters lay outside the technical 
expertise of Council Officers.

3.3. Chapter 1 - Understanding the problem. The aim of the strategy is to 
drive down the national emissions of pollutants, reducing background 
pollution and minimising human exposure to harmful concentrations of 
pollution.

3.4. The government has national emission reduction commitments for five 
damaging air pollutants.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
 12 June 2018

3.5. Particulate matter - Tiny particles can get into the lungs and blood and 
transport around the body. 38% of UK primary PM emissions come from 
the domestic burning of wood and coal, 12% from transport and 13% 
from solvent use and industrial processes. Primary PM2.5 emissions have 
fallen by 78% between 1970 and 2016.

3.6. Ammonia - Agriculture is the dominant source of ammonia which is 
emitted during the storage and spreading of manures slurries and 
fertilisers. Ammonia in the environment can convert into fine particulate 
matter where it can persist for several days and travel a great distance.

3.7. Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) - A group of gases formed during the combustion 
of fossil fuels. The major source of NOx is road transport (34%)

3.8. Sulphur dioxide (SO2) - Emissions of SO2 are primarily from combustion 
of solid and liquid fuels and have reduced markedly with restriction of 
sulphur content of fuels. Domestic coal burning can result in significant 
indoor exposure to SO2.

3.9. Non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs) – A large group of 
organic compounds emitted to air as combustion products, vapour from 
petrol, solvents air fresheners etc. In the atmosphere NMVOCs can react 
with other pollutants to form ground level ozone, which is damaging to 
health and the environment.

3.10. Chapter 2 - Protecting the nation’s health. Air quality is the largest 
environmental health risk in the UK. The strategy states that the 
Government will.

 Progressively cut public exposure to particulate matter

 Half the population living in areas with concentrations of PM 
above World Health Organisation guidelines by 2025.

 Provide personal air quality messaging system to inform the 
public of air quality forecasts.

 Work to improve air quality by helping individuals and 
organisations understand how they could reduce their 
contribution to air pollution.

 Public appraisal tools to enable health impacts of air pollution to 
be considered in every relevant policy decision that is made.

3.11. Chapter 3 - Protecting the Environment - Air pollution has a direct 
impact on the natural environment. Cleaner air will benefit animals and 
habitats and provide a better environment to live in.

3.12. Chapter 4 - Securing clean growth and innovation - the aim is to 
boost productivity by improving air quality, using resources efficiently 
and making the shift to a low carbon economy.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
 12 June 2018

3.13. Chapter 5 - Action to reduce emissions from transport - Emissions 
of nitrogen oxides have fallen by 27% between 2010 and 2016, however 
transport is responsible for 50% of these emissions. 

 Road transport - The government will shortly publish a strategy 
for reducing exhaust emissions from road vehicles. The UK plan 
for talking roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations sets out the 
Governments approach to addressing emissions from road 
transport.  These are not part of this consultation.

 Maritime - It is proposed that all major English ports should 
produce air quality strategies setting out plans to reduce 
emissions.

 Rail - Government plan to reduce emissions from rail and reduce 
passenger exposure to air pollution.

 Aviation - The Government is proposing to review policies on 
aviation and related emissions to improve air quality.

 Reducing emissions by modal shift by removing freight from road, 
encouraging active travel and public transport.

 Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) - reduce emissions for 
example by implementing more stringent standards and in-
service compliance checks etc.  Additional powers to be given to 
local authorities to impose minimum standards where required in 
areas of poor air quality.

3.14. Chapter 6 - Action to reduce emissions at home - Particulate Matter 
from cooking and heating and NMVOCs from various chemicals used in 
the home are the main forms of indoor air pollution. The Governments 
main objective is to raise awareness of the potential impacts. New 
powers are to be given to local authorities under the clean air act to 
improve compliance. 

3.15. Open fires and wood burning stoves have risen in popularity and now 
form an additional form of heating for many households in urban and 
rural areas.  There has also been an increase in the use of biomass 
boilers.  This increase in burning solid fuels is having a significant impact 
on air quality and is the single largest contributor to PM emissions (38%).  

3.16. Currently controls on such appliances are set by the Clean Air Act 1993 
which is enforced by the Environmental Health Team.  The majority of 
the Dartford urban area is within a Smoke Control Area which means 
that only appliances which can burn materially efficiently and cleanly or 
fuels that are smokeless can be used. Outside of these designated areas 
no controls exist unless the smoke causes a nuisance to neighbours

3.17.  The Government proposes to focus on a nationwide strategy which can 
be built upon by individual local authorities.  



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
 12 June 2018

 The Council may be given the power to encourage ‘no burn days’ 
during high pollution episodes.  

 Tougher emission standards will be applied to all new domestic 
stoves from 2022.

 Legislation will be simplified to make sure that only the cleanest 
fuels are available for sale.

 The Sulphur content of fuel will be limited.

 New fuels will be tested to make sure they are appropriate and 
clean 

 

3.18. Chapter 7 - Action to reduce emissions from farming - Key measures 
include covering slurry and manure heaps, using low emission 
techniques for spreading slurries on land such as injection and using 
fertiliser with lower emissions. 

3.19. The Environmental Health Team currently deals with nuisance 
complaints regarding odour from spreading to land of manures and 
fertilisers.  Whilst these activities are taking place they often affect large 
numbers of people often for several days. Improvements in current 
farming practices/ guidance is may reduce particulates and odour which 
occur during spreading resulting in fewer complaints received by the 
service. 

3.20. Chapter 8 - Action to reduce emissions from industry - Industrial 
processes are carefully managed through legislative controls to avoid 
significant impacts on our health and the environment.  These controls 
have led to significant reduction in air pollution. The Environmental 
Health Team in conjunction with the Environment Agency currently 
enforce these regulations and are responsible for ensuring sector 
specific emission limits are adhered to. The strategy aims to improve on 
this current framework by continuing to incorporate best available 
techniques (BAT).

3.21. Chapter 9 - Leadership at all levels - The strategy sets out the 
commitment to cut our national emissions and exposure to emissions by 
making it easier to take action on a local level and playing a leading role 
in international action to improve air quality. 

3.22. Chapter 10 - Progress towards our goals - The UK has signed up to 
the EU National emissions ceilings directive which sets reduction 
commitments for member states. The UK is currently complaint with 
these ceiling values but needs to continue to reduce the total amount of 
air pollution to protect the health of the nation and remain compliant with 
these commitments.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
 12 June 2018

3.23. The consultation asks a series of questions for which a proposed 
response will be presented to Cabinet.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This relates to the corporate plan theme of Environment and Transport.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices: Appendix A – DEFRA draft Clean Air Strategy 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

DEFRA draft Clean Air 
Strategy 2018

June  
2018

James Fox
Scientific Officer

EHP 
Dartford & 
Sevenoaks
Strategic 
External

N/A





Clean Air Strategy 2018





Contents

Foreword from the Secretary of State ........................................1

Executive summary ......................................................................3

1. Understanding the problem .....................................................9

2. Protecting the nation’s health ...............................................20

3. Protecting the environment  ..................................................28

4. Securing clean growth and driving innovation ...................35

5. Action to reduce emissions from transport .........................40

6. Action to reduce emissions at home ....................................50

7. Action to reduce emissions from farming ...........................59

8. Action to reduce emissions from industry ..........................66

9. Leadership at all levels ..........................................................71

10. Progress towards our clean air goals ................................87

Annex A: Clean air strategy consultation questions ..............91



1

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Foreword from 
the Secretary of State

At the most fundamental level, our health and 
prosperity depend on the health of the planet 
on which we live. From the air we breathe to 
the water we drink, the food we eat and the 
energy that powers our homes and businesses, 
we need to protect and sustain the health of 
the natural environment.

Nowhere is this more true than in the case of air 
quality. Air pollution is the top environmental risk 
to human health in the UK, and the fourth greatest 
threat to public health after cancer, heart disease 
and obesity. It makes us more susceptible to 
respiratory infections and other illnesses, and 
the latest research estimates that the actions 
outlined in this document could cut the costs of 
air pollution to society by £1 billion every year by 
2020, rising to £2.5 billion every year from 2030.

This Clean Air Strategy sets out the case for 
action and demonstrates this government’s 
determination to improve our air quality. In some 
cases the goals that we have set are even more 
ambitious than EU requirements because we 
want to do all that we can to reduce people’s 
exposure to toxic pollutants like nitrogen oxides, 
ammonia, particulate matter, non-methane volatile 
organic compounds and sulphur dioxide. 

We often think of air pollution as a problem 
caused by road transport and industrial level 
burning of fossil fuels. These are two of the 
central sources of pollution, but industry and 
government have worked together to remedy 
many of the worst culprits by incentivising clean 
fuels and investing in new technology. 
We have already secured a significant reduction 
in emissions since the 1970s, but now this 
trajectory has slowed. 

Now we need to tackle other sources of air 
pollutants that damage human health and the 
environment. Air pollution can be caused by 
intensive agricultural food production, heating our 
homes or even cleaning with certain solvents. 

We therefore need comprehensive action to 
safeguard our health. 

For example, a recent rise in the popularity of 
wood burning stoves and open fires is making a 
significant contribution to particulate matter - tiny 
particles that get into the lungs and blood and are 
transported around the body becoming lodged 
in the heart, brain and other organs. Like many 
other pollutants, particulate matter can have a 
short term impact over a single, highly polluted 
day or long-term impacts from low-level exposure 
over a long period of time. This strategy sets out 
our aim to reduce particulate matter emissions by 
30% by 2020, and by 46% by 2030.

Ammonia emissions from agriculture are also 
increasing, and the widespread use of volatile 
organic compounds in many everyday cleaning 
and toiletry products poses a serious indoor 
exposure risk. Indeed, Public Health England 
attributed the 2014 smog in London, in part, 
to agricultural ammonia emissions. 

Armed with increased awareness and improved 
scientific measurements, we must tackle these 
problems with a new goal that takes into account 
the World Health Organisations guidelines. 
We plan to set out our ambitions in primary 
legislation, last updated by a Conservative 
government in the Clean Air Act 1993. 
This strategy sets out new enforcement 
powers at a national and local level, across 
all sectors of society.

I am confident that industry, environmental NGOs, 
the health sector and the public will respond 
to this consultation with the constructive and 
challenging responses that ensure government 
does its duty to protect public health and enhance 
the natural environment.



2

We will continue to work with the devolved 
administrations to deliver our international air 
quality commitments. This consultation is focused 
on tackling air pollution in England, but the United 
Kingdom has a shared goal to protect our natural 
heritage. This strategy highlights action being 
taken across the country, not just in England, but 
also in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales.

Leaving the EU marks a new chapter for the 
UK. We have an opportunity to set world-
leading standards on everything from marine 
conservation to clean air strategies, and to set 
a gold standard for environmental protection. 
We will be able to set out a new direction for 
our environment, based on rigorous scientific 
research and underpinned by the legal principles 
that have done so much to improve our 
environment in the past. It is my profound hope 
that we will use the opportunity presented by 
leaving the EU to become a world leader 
in environmental excellence.

Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs



3

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

 

Executive summary
This Clean Air Strategy shows how we will 
tackle all sources of air pollution, making 
our air healthier to breathe, protecting nature 
and boosting the economy. It sets out a wide 
range of actions on which the UK government 
is consulting and also shows how devolved 
administrations intend to make their share of 
emissions reductions. This consultation will 
inform the final Clean Air Strategy and detailed 
National Air Pollution Control Programme, to be 
published by March 2019. It complements three 
other UK government strategies: the Industrial 
Strategy, the Clean Growth Strategy and the 25 
Year Environment Plan. We want to hear from 
all interested parties to help us shape our final 
strategy for publication later this year.

Since the middle of the 20th century we have 
addressed many of the worst impacts of air 
pollution through regulatory frameworks, 
investment by industry in cleaner processes and 
a shift in the fuel mix towards cleaner forms of 
energy. However, exposure to the pollution still 
present in our atmosphere is one the UK’s biggest 
public health challenges, shortening lifespans 
and damaging quality of life for many people. It 
also harms the natural environment, affecting our 
waterways, biodiversity and crop yields.

Clean air is essential for life, health, the 
environment and the economy. Government must 
act to tackle air pollution which shortens lives. We 
have already acted to reduce concentrations of 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2) around roads from cars. 
But vehicles are not the only source of harmful 
emissions. Air pollution is a result of the way 
we currently generate power, heat our homes, 
produce food, manufacture consumer goods and 
power transport. Better, cleaner technologies 
and simple changes in behaviour will tackle the 
pollution that claims lives. 

In the past, the priority was to tackle the biggest 
individual sources of pollution. As these major 
sources of emissions have decreased, the relative 
contribution of smaller and more diffuse sources 
of air pollution, like smaller industrial sites, 
product use, open fires in homes and spreading 
manure on farms, has increased. That requires 
new action. 

We have already adopted ambitious, legally-
binding international targets to reduce 
emissions of five of the most damaging air 
pollutants (fine particulate matter, ammonia, 
nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide, non-methane 
volatile organic compounds) by 2020 and 2030. 
We are now also proposing tough new goals 
to cut public exposure to particulate matter 
pollution, as suggested by the World Health 
Organisation.

This draft Strategy sets out the comprehensive action that is required 
from across all parts of government and society to meet these goals. 
New legislation will create a stronger and more coherent 
framework for action to tackle air pollution. This will be 
underpinned by new England-wide powers to control major sources 
of air pollution, in line with the risk they pose to public health and the 
environment, plus new local powers to take action in areas with an 
air pollution problem. These will support the creation of Clean Air 
Zones to lower emissions from all sources of air pollution, backed 
up with clear enforcement mechanisms.



4

CHAPTER 1 - Understanding the problem

Air pollution comes from many sources. Pollutants 
can travel long distances and combine with each 
other to create different pollutants. Emissions 
from distant and local sources can build up into 
high local concentrations of pollution. The UK has 
set stringent targets to cut emissions by 2020 and 
2030. The goal is to reduce the harm to human 
health from air pollution by half. A robust evidence 
base, backed by the most up to date science is 
essential to help us achieve this.

We are investing £10m in improving our 
modelling, data and analytical tools to give 
a more precise picture of current air quality 
and the impact of policies on it in future.

We will increase transparency by bringing 
local and national monitoring data 
together into a single accessible portal for 
information on air quality monitoring and 
modelling, catalysing public engagement 
through citizen science.

CHAPTER 2 - Protecting the nation’s health 

Air quality is the largest environmental health 
risk in the UK. It shortens lives and contributes 
to chronic illness. Health can be affected both by 
short-term, high-pollution episodes and by long-
term exposure to lower levels of pollution. There 
are small things we can all do that will make a 
big difference to emissions locally and nationally. 
Effective communication of health messages 
about air pollution can save lives and improve 
quality of life for many.  

We will progressively cut public exposure 
to particulate matter pollution as suggested 
by the World Health Organisation. We will 
halve the population living in areas with 
concentrations of fine particulate matter 
above WHO guideline levels (10 µg/m3) by 
2025.

We will provide a personal air quality 
messaging system to inform the public, 
particularly those who are vulnerable to 
air pollution, about the air quality forecast, 
providing clearer information on air 
pollution episodes and accessible health 
advice. 

We will work with media outlets to improve 
public access to the air quality forecast.

We will work to improve air quality by 
helping individuals and organisations 
understand how they could reduce their 
contribution to air pollution, showing how 
this can help them protect their families, 
colleagues and neighbours.

We will publish updated appraisal tools and 
accompanying guidance this summer to 
enable the health impacts of air pollution 
to be considered in every relevant policy 
decision that is made.



5

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

CHAPTER 3 - Protecting the environment

This strategy is a key part of delivering our 
25 Year Environment Plan. Air pollution has direct 
impacts on the natural environment, contributing 
to climate change, reducing crop yields and 
polluting oceans. Cleaner air will directly 
benefit animals and habitats as well as creating 
a better environment for everyone to live, work 
and thrive in. 

We will monitor the impacts of air pollution 
on natural habitats and report annually 
so that we can chart progress as we 
reduce the harm air pollution does to the 
environment.

Later this year we will provide guidance for 
local authorities explaining how cumulative 
impacts of nitrogen deposition on natural 
habitats should be mitigated and assessed 
through the planning system. 

CHAPTER 4 - Securing clean growth and innovation

This strategy contributes to the Government’s 
action on clean growth. Action to clean up 
the air will boost productivity and economic 
growth. We will make the UK a world leader in 
the development, use and export of goods and 
services focused on tackling air pollution.

In partnership with UKRI, we will seek ways 
to support further investment in Clean 
Air innovation to enable the development 
of novel technologies and solutions that 
tackle emissions from industry, vehicles, 
products, combustion and agriculture and 
support both improvements in air quality 
and decarbonisation.  

We will make the UK a world leader in 
goods and services focused on tackling air 
pollution. 

Future energy, heat and industrial policies 
will together improve air quality and 
tackle climate change. Phasing out coal-
fired power stations, improving energy 
efficiency, and shifting to cleaner power 
sources will reduce emissions of air 
pollution as well as carbon. As we phase 
out oil and coal heating, we will ensure this 
transition improves air quality wherever 
possible and cost effective to do so. In 
addition, the government will conduct 
a cross-departmental review into the 
role of biomass in future policy for low 
carbon electricity and heat, focusing on 
the air quality impacts. The proposed way 
forward will be set out in the final Clean Air 
Strategy.

We will minimise the air quality impacts of 
the Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme, for 
example by tackling non-compliance and 
consulting on excluding biomass from the 
RHI if installed in urban areas which are on 
the gas grid. We will work across central 
and local government to put a plan in place. 
In addition, we will consult on making 
coal to biomass conversions ineligible for 
future allocation rounds of the contracts for 
difference scheme.

We are seeking evidence on the uses of 
non-road diesel, mainly in urban areas, 
considering the air quality impacts and 
the potential for market distortion. The 
Treasury has also announced it will review 
how alternative fuel rates line up with rates 
of petrol and diesel ahead of Budget 2018.

We will cut emissions from non-road 
mobile machinery and give local authorities 
tough new powers to control the use of 
such machinery where it is causing an air 
pollution problem.

Green Great Britain Week, starting in 
autumn 2018, will engage the public on 
air quality, alongside climate change, and 
highlight the economic opportunities it 
offers for the UK.



6

CHAPTER 5 - Action to reduce emissions from transport 

Transport is a significant source of emissions 
of air pollution. The immediate air quality 
challenge is to reduce emissions of nitrogen 
oxides in the areas where concentrations of 
these harmful gases currently exceed legal 
limits. The government has already committed 
£3.5bn to tackle poor air quality through cleaner 
road transport and is working closely with local 
authorities and Local Economic Partnerships to 
make progress. Alongside this, the government is 
committed to cutting air pollution from all forms of 
transport. 

In 2018, we will set out our ambitious plans 
to drive down emissions from shipping and 
aviation. 

We will end the sale of new conventional 
petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2040.  
We will position the UK as the best place 
in the world to develop, manufacture and 
use zero exhaust emissions vehicles and, 
during the transition, we will ensure that 
the cleanest conventional vehicles are 
driven on our roads.

We will work with international partners to 
research and develop new standards for 
tyres and brakes to enable us to address 
toxic non-exhaust emissions of micro 
plastics from vehicles which can pollute air 
and water.

New legislation will enable the Transport 
Secretary to compel manufacturers to recall 
vehicles and machinery for any failures 
in their emissions control system, and 
make tampering with an emissions control 
system a legal offence.

We will reduce emissions from rail and 
reduce passenger and worker exposure 
to air pollution. By the autumn, the rail 
industry will produce plans to phase out 
diesel-only trains by 2040. 

All major English ports should produce 
air quality strategies setting out their 
plans to reduce emissions. These plans 
will be reviewed periodically to establish 
if the measures are effective or whether 
government action is required.

We will review policy on aviation-related 
emissions to improve air quality.

CHAPTER 6 - Action to reduce emissions at home

Many people are unaware that emissions in the 
home increase personal exposure to pollutants 
and contribute significantly to our overall national 
emissions. Burning solid fuel in open fires and 
stoves makes up 38% of the UK’s primary 
emissions of fine particulate matter1 (PM2.5). 
Harmful sulphur dioxide (SO2) is emitted by 
coal burned in open fires. Non-methane volatile 
organic compounds (NMVOCs) from a wide 
variety of chemicals that are found in carpets, 
upholstery, paint, cleaning, fragrance, and 
personal care products are another significant 
source of pollution.

We will legislate to prohibit the sale of the 
most polluting fuels.

We will ensure only the cleanest stoves are 
available for sale by 2022.

We will update outmoded legislation on 
‘dark smoke’ from chimneys and underused 
provisions on Smoke Control Areas to 
bring these into the 21st century with more 
flexible, proportionate enforcement powers 
for local government.

The government will work with industry, 
retailers, health experts and consumer 
groups to reduce emissions of NMVOCs 
from consumer products, develop 
options to promote product innovation 
and encourage the use of low emissions 
alternatives.



7

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

CHAPTER 7 - Action to reduce emissions from farming

The agriculture sector accounts for 88%2 of UK 
emissions of ammonia, which is emitted during 
storage and spreading of manures, slurries 
and from application of inorganic fertilisers. 
Ammonia damages sensitive natural habitats and 
contributes to smog in urban areas. Action by 
farmers can make a big difference to ammonia 
emissions. The government is already acting to 
help farmers by funding the necessary equipment. 

We will provide a national code of good 
agricultural practice to control ammonia 
emissions.

We will require and support farmers to 
make investments in the farm infrastructure 
and equipment that will reduce emissions.

A future environmental land management 
system will fund targeted action to protect 
habitats impacted by ammonia.

We will continue to work with the 
agriculture sector to ensure the ammonia 
inventory reflects existing farming practice 
and the latest evidence on emissions.

We will regulate to reduce ammonia 
emissions from farming and are seeking 
views on 3 possible approaches to 
regulation.

CHAPTER 8 - Action to reduce emissions from industry

Industrial processes, including energy generation 
to power our businesses and homes and the 
manufacture of goods and food, can all create 
pollution. For many decades, the UK has been 
at the forefront of reducing industrial pollution, 
and significant progress has already been made. 
We will continue to build on that progress by 
increasing standards to reflect international best 
practice.

We will maintain our longstanding policy 
of continuous improvement in relation to 
industrial emissions, building on existing 
good practice to deliver a stable and 
predictable regulatory environment for 
business as part of a world-leading clean 
green economy. 

We will work with industrial sectors to 
review improvements to date, and to 
explore opportunities to go further through 
a series of sector roadmaps that set 
ambitious standards – moving beyond a 
focus on minimum standards to make UK 
industry world leaders in clean technology 
and secure further emissions reductions. 

We will close the regulatory gap between 
the current Ecodesign and medium 
combustion plant regulations to tackle 
emissions from plants in the 500kW to 
1MW thermal input range. As legislation on 
medium combustion plants and generators 
comes into force, we will consider the case 
for tighter emissions standards on this 
source of emissions.



8

CHAPTER 9 - Leadership at all levels

Emissions from abroad, across the UK and local 
sources all contribute to the pollution that people 
and the environment are exposed to. Effective 
action is needed at all levels to clean up our 
air. This strategy sets out our commitment to 
cut our national emissions to reduce population 
exposure. As part of this we will make it easier 
to take action at local level. Alongside this, the 
UK will continue to play an active, leading role in 
international action to improve air quality. 

To ensure that local action to reduce air 
pollution remains robust and relevant, 
we will transform existing structures to 
increase transparency and back this up 
with stronger statutory powers to tackle 
local air pollution.

Our international air quality commitments 
have been agreed at a UK level. However, 
air quality is a substantially devolved policy 
area. Scotland and Northern Ireland have 
both already produced their own Air Quality 
Strategies and Wales is currently in the 
process of producing one (further details of 
these are set out in Chapter 9). 

The UK government will work in 
partnership with the governments of 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to 
develop a detailed National Air Pollution 
Control Programme as required under the 
National Emissions Ceilings Directive for 
publication in 2019.

We are consulting on a new, independent 
statutory body to hold government to 
account on environmental commitments 
following EU exit. Ensuring that there is 
transparency and accountability in how we 
achieve our clean air ambitions will be a 
priority in this work. 

We will bring forward new clean air 
legislation at the earliest opportunity. This 
will bring long-standing frameworks for 
local and national action on air pollution 
into the 21st century with stronger powers 
and clearer accountability.

CHAPTER 10 - Progress towards our goals

Analysis shows that the actions set out in this 
strategy can meet our ambitious emissions re-
duction targets, if they are implemented with the 
necessary pace and determination.

Consultation

We are consulting here on a draft strategy 
developed by the UK government, setting out how 
we will work towards meeting these ambitious 
reductions in England. The consultation period for 
this strategy runs until 14 August 2018. We look 
forward to input from a wide range of partners 
on the measures set out here and what more is 
possible (See Annex A for details).



9

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

1. Understanding the problem
1.1 Background

Many substances can pollute the air. Some of 
these are very harmful and their sale and use 
is strictly regulated. Others are not immediately 
harmful, but are released in thousands or millions 
of tonnes per year nationally as by-products 
of transport, energy production, chemicals 
manufacture, domestic combustion and farming. 
When released into the air these substances have 
gradual but significant impacts on health and 
the environment. We maintain an award winning 
National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI), 
to keep track of such emissions, which is updated 
annually.

Once released, air pollution is dispersed by the 
weather and can travel significant distances 
within and between countries. Pollutants mix 
and interact in the atmosphere, forming new 
compounds, and can be deposited on land 
and water. For example, UK sulphur dioxide 
emissions from coal burning power stations 
caused considerable “acid rain” damage in 
Scandinavia during the 1970s and 1980s. Dust 
frequently blows into the UK from as far away as 
the Sahara, and UK air quality can be affected by 
distant volcanoes. Pollution episodes in London 
and the southeast often arise when the weather 
transports pollution from continental Europe and 
elsewhere, exacerbating the impacts of our own 
urban pollution. 

-100

-80

-60

-40

-20

0

20

19
70

19
71

19
72

19
73

19
74

19
75

19
76

19
77

19
78

19
79

19
80

19
81

19
82

19
83

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

ch
an

ge
 in

 e
m

is
si

on
s 

ag
ai

ns
t f

irs
t y

ea
r o

f d
at

a 
(%

)

Ammonia NOX NMVOCs SO2 PM2.5

Year

Change in emissions of air pollutants since 1970 (since 1980 for ammonia)3 



10

1.2 Air pollution: emissions, concentrations and exposure

The impact of pollution depends on how much 
is emitted, how harmful it is and how it interacts 
with other substances in the air. It also depends 
on where it is emitted and how sensitive the 
exposed population or environment is.

Vulnerable individuals and sensitive habitats are 
at particular risk. In monitoring and controlling 
pollutants we are concerned with the total 
volumes that are released (our national 
emissions). 

These emissions contribute to local 
concentrations of pollutants, which occur where 
pollutants build up in significant quantities in 
particular locations, for example near busy roads, 
industrial installations or large intensive farming 
operations.

It is exposure to high concentrations of pollutants 
that is most likely to directly result in adverse 
impacts. These impacts are cumulative, so we 
need to think about reducing exposure at all 
stages of life, at home, when travelling, at school 
and at work.

Primary Particulate Matter (PM2.5)

Sulphur dioxide (SO2)

Ammonia (NH3)

Volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs)Nitrogen oxides (NOx)

PM
PMVOC

NOX

SO2

NH3

Emissions from different sources react in
the air to become secondary particulate matter

Types of pollution

Shipping and other
 transport is a major 

source of NOx

People with health 
conditions like asthma and

heart disease are more 
at risk from poor air quality

Non-road mobile machinery
like construction equipment 

is an important source 
of NOx, PM and VOCs

Elderly people are
 particularly at risk

from poor air quality

Young children are at 
risk of life-long health effects

like asthma as a result of
 exposure to air pollution.

Road transport is the biggest source of NOx in
the UK, and is the main source of exposure at the

roadside. It also produces PM, VOCs and SO2

Domestic solid fuel
is the largest source

of PM2.5 in the UK

Household cleaning and
personal care products
are an important source

of VOCs

Industrial processes
are a major source of

PM, NOx,VOCs and SO2

Air pollutants like NOX
and ozone damage

crops and reduce yields

Agriculture is the
main source of

ammonia pollution
Decrease in
biodiversity

This secondary particulate matter is transported a long
way from its source, increasing exposure everywhere

These dots indicate the type of pollutants being emitted

The sources of air pollutants and their effects

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf


11

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Once emitted, pollutants can build up in the 
atmosphere contributing to overall background 
pollution. Background pollution can combine 
with local emissions to create localised high 
concentrations and exposure.

This is illustrated in the charts on page 25.

Ultimately, our emissions contribute to our 
neighbours’ concentrations. The aim of this 
draft strategy is to drive down the national 
emissions of pollutants, reducing background 
pollution, and minimising human exposure to 
harmful concentrations of pollution. 

1.3 What pollutants are we focusing on?

We have statutory obligations to keep concentrations of specified 
pollutants below certain levels4. The only area in which we are 
not currently meeting these limits, in common with many other 
countries in Europe5, is in relation to roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations. We also have national emission reduction 
commitments for overall UK emissions of five damaging air 
pollutants. These are:

 ● fine particulate matter (PM2.5)

 ● ammonia (NH3)

 ● nitrogen oxides (NOX)

 ● sulphur dioxide (SO2)

 ● and non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs)

Our national emissions targets set ambitious reduction goals for 
2010, 2020 and 2030. The UK has met the current targets since 
20116. By comparison, five EU countries (Austria, Germany, 
Hungary, Spain and Sweden) were still in exceedance of their 
2010 ceilings in 20157. The more stringent targets that we have 
set for 2020 and 2030 aim to cut the harm to human health by half. 
This strategy sets out existing policies and a programme of 
new actions that will help us meet these targets. Information 
about the individual pollutants and how they interact is set 
out on the following pages. 

Pollutants with 
ambient air quality 
standards in the UK.

 ● Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) / 
NOX (vegetation)

 ● Particulate Matter (PM10)

 ● Fine Particulate Matter 
(PM2.5)

 ● Ozone (O3)

 ● Sulphur dioxide (SO2)

 ● Benzene

 ● Lead (Pb)

 ● Carbon monoxide (CO)

 ● Benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P)

 ● Nickel (Ni)

 ● Cadmium (Cd)

 ● Arsenic (As)

 ● 1,3-butadiene



12

SOURCES

Use of solvents
& industrial
processes 13%*

38%*

Domestic
wood & coal
burning 

12%*
Road
transport

IMPACTS

Primary Particulate Matter (PM2.5)

These tiny particles from smoke,
soot and dust can get into the... 

bloodlungs

and

PM can be
transported
around
the body

and get
embedded
in organs

those already suffering
from lung and heart
conditions

elderly
people

More likely to be affected are:

and the 
very
young 

pregnant
woman and
their unborn
babies

PM2.5

LIFESPA
N

can shorten
lifespans 

Industrial
combustion 16%*

*p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 to

ta
l P

M
2.

5 e
m

is
si

on
s 

(2
01

6)
 s

ou
rc

e:
 N

A
E

I 2
01

8
P

O
LL

U
TA

N
TS

 T
H

AT
 A

FF
E

C
T

A
IR

 Q
U

A
LI

TY

O
rig

in
al

 d
es

ig
n 

by
 D

ef
ra

 D
ig

ita
l C

om
m

s

Particulate matter is everything in the air that isn’t 
a gas, a suspension of particles which are solid, 
liquid or somewhere in between. It can come 
from natural sources such as pollen, sea spray 
and desert dust, and human made sources such 
as smoke from fires, soot from vehicle exhausts, 
dust from tyres and brakes, as well as emissions 
from industry. Particles emitted directly from these 
sources are called primary PM. Secondary PM 
is formed in the atmosphere through chemical 
reactions between other air pollutant gases such 
as nitrogen oxides (NOX), ammonia (NH3) and 
sulphur dioxide (SO2). Particulates are classified 
according to size, either as PM10 (particles of 
≤10µm (micrometres) diameter) or PM2.5 (particles 
of ≤2.5µm diameter particles which are 200 times 
smaller than a grain of sand). 

The distinction between PM and the other air 
pollutants considered here is somewhat artificial. 
PM is not a single pollutant; it is made up from 
a huge variety of chemical compounds and 
materials. Both PM and the gases that can form 
it travel large distances, so impacts may occur far 
from the original source. Around 15% of UK PM 
comes from naturally occurring sources, up to a 
third from other European countries and around 
half from UK human-made sources.

PM is formed of tiny particles that can get into the 
lungs and blood and be transported around the 
body, lodging in the heart, brain and other organs. 
PM affects health in two ways: by being toxic 
or by providing a surface for transporting toxic 
compounds to where they can do harm. PM can 
have short-term health impacts over a single day 
when concentrations are elevated, and long-term 
impacts from lower-level exposure over the life-
course. Effects are amplified in vulnerable groups 
including young children, the elderly, and those 
suffering from breathing problems like asthma. 
The Department of Health and Social Care’s 
independent Committee on the Medical Effects 
of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) quantified the long-
term impacts of UK PM concentrations in terms of 
mortality as equivalent to 340,000 life years lost8. 

38% of UK primary PM emissions come from 
burning wood and coal in domestic open fires 
and solid fuel stoves9, 12% comes from road 
transport (e.g. fuel related emissions and tyre 
and brake wear)10 and a further 13% comes from 
solvent use and industrial processes11 (e.g. steel 
making, brick making, quarries, construction). 
Between 1970 and 2016 primary PM10 emissions 
fell by 73%, and primary PM2.5 emissions fell by 
78%. However, emissions of PM10 and PM2.5 have 
been relatively stable since 200912. Our aim is 
to reduce emissions of PM2.5 against the 2005 
baseline by 30% by 2020, and 46% by 2030.



13

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Ammonia (NH3)

respiratory disease
cardiovascular and

SOURCES

88%*

Agriculture
(includes anaerobic
digestion)

IMPACTS acidification
of habitats

reducing biodiversity

excessive nitrogen
in habitats 

pH

The effects of ammonium deposition 

NH
3  REACTS     PM

Ammonia reacts in the
atmosphere to produce
particulate matter (PM) 
which has significant
health impacts including:

ammonia emissions can travel long distances
and combine with urban NOx contributing to smogP

O
LL

U
TA

N
TS

 T
H

AT
 A

FF
E

C
T

A
IR

 Q
U

A
LI

TY
*p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 to
ta

l N
H

3 e
m

is
si

on
s 

(2
01

6)
 s

ou
rc

e:
 N

A
E

I 2
01

8 

O
rig

in
al

 d
es

ig
n 

by
 D

ef
ra

 D
ig

ita
l C

om
m

s

0N
 le

ve
ls

Ammonia is a gas that is emitted into the 
atmosphere and then either deposited back 
onto land or converted to secondary PM through 
reactions in the atmosphere. Agriculture is the 
dominant source of NH3 emissions (88% in 
2016). It is emitted during storage and spreading 
of manures, slurries and fertilisers. A further 4% 
of NH3 emissions come from the waste sector. 
Remaining ammonia emissions are from a diffuse 
mix of sources including vehicles, human waste 
and industry13. 

The main concerns resulting from ammonia 
emissions are the contribution to particulate 
matter and the human health effects described 
earlier. Ammonia is converted by mixing with 
nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide, producing 
ammonium compounds that turn into fine 
particulate matter. This PM is transported large 
distances and adds to the suspended background 
levels of particulates in the atmosphere. Public 
Health England attributed the 2014 smog in 
London in part to agricultural ammonia emissions.  

NH3 stays in the atmosphere for just a few hours 
as a gas but this extends to several days when 
converted to PM. In this form it can travel very 
long distances before being removed from the 
atmosphere by rain and snow and deposited to 
land. In this way ammonia can cause significant 
long-term harm to sensitive habitats, depositing 
more nitrogen onto soils and plants, and into 
freshwaters, than they can cope with. This has led 
to significant changes to plant communities, and 
also affects the animal species that depend on 
them. 

Emissions of ammonia fell by 13% between 1980 
and 2015. However, since then there has been 
an increase of 3.2% largely as a result of fertiliser 
use14. Our aim is to reduce emissions of ammonia 
against the 2005 baseline by 8% by 2020 and 
16% by 2030. 



14

Short-term exposure to
high concentrations of
NO2 can cause
inflammation
of the
airways

Exacerbates symptoms
of those already suffering from
lung or heart conditions
shortening lives and reducing
quality of life

high levels of
NOx can change
soil chemistry

and affects
biodiversity in

sensitive habitats

N
O

x 
le

ve
lsSOURCES

34%*
Road 
transport 
Near roadsides 

Energy
generation 22%*

Other
transport 17%*

Nitrogen oxides (NOx)

respiratory
infections
allergens

INCREASES
susceptibility:

y
yy:::::

Domestic
& Industrial
combustion 19%*

P
O

LL
U

TA
N

TS
 T

H
AT

 A
FF

E
C

T
A

IR
 Q

U
A

LI
TY

*p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 to

ta
l N

O
X
 e

m
is

si
on

s 
(2

01
6)

 s
ou

rc
e:

 N
A

E
I 2

01
8

O
rig

in
al

 d
es

ig
n 

by
 D

ef
ra

 D
ig

ita
l C

om
m

s

80%

NOx other
pollutants

REACT
with

ground
level ozone

O3

Nitrogen oxides (NOX) are a group of gases that 
are predominantly formed during the combustion 
of fossil fuels. The majority of NOX emitted as a 
result of combustion is in the form of nitric oxide 
(NO). When NO reacts with other gases present 
in the air, it can form nitrogen dioxide (NO2), 
which is harmful to health. It is also important 
in the important in the formation of ozone. NO 
coverts to NO2 very quickly and vice versa. It is 
therefore usual scientific practice to refer to the 
two gases together as NOX. For reporting and 
measurement purposes, we report “NOX as NO2” 
because of this very fast interconversion. 

The main sources of NOX are road transport 
(34%), energy generation, for example power 
stations and refineries (22%), domestic and 
industrial combustion (19%) and ‘other’ transport 
such as rail and shipping (17%)15. Our aim is to 
reduce emissions of nitrogen oxides against the 
2005 baseline by 55% by 2020, increasing to 
73% by 2030. 

Short-term exposure to concentrations of NO2 can 
cause inflammation of the airways and increase 
susceptibility to respiratory infections and to 
allergens. It exacerbates the symptoms of those 
who are already suffering from lung or heart 
conditions, shortening their lives.



15

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

SOURCES

37%*
Energy
generation

Sulphur dioxide (SO2)

People with
asthma are
particularly
sensitive 

this affects
biodiversity

damages the
environment 

SO2
pollutionIMPACTS

A respiratory
irritant that
can cause

constriction
of the airways

Health effects can
occur very rapidly

Industrial
combustion 22%*

22%*

PO
LL

U
TA

N
TS

 T
H

AT
 A

FF
EC

T
A

IR
 Q

U
A

LI
TY

*p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 to

ta
l S

O
2 e

m
is

si
on

s 
(2

01
6)

 s
ou

rc
e:

 N
AE

I 2
01

8

Domestic
burning

Contributes to
the formation of

ACID RAIN

O
rig

in
al

 d
es

ig
n 

by
 D

ef
ra

 D
ig

ita
l C

om
m

s

Sulphur dioxide is a corrosive, acidic gas which 
is harmful to health and combines with water 
vapour in the atmosphere to produce acid rain. 
SO2 pollution episodes in ambient air are also 
associated with asthma and chronic bronchitis 
and can be a significant component of particulate 
matter. Sulphur in coal played a contributory key 
role in the health impacts of the London smog in 
1952, where estimates of the resulting mortality 
range between 8,000 and 12,000 deaths. SO2 
emissions caused significant harm to forests and 
freshwater habitats in the Northern Hemisphere 
in the 1970s - 80s. Following concerted action to 
reduce SO2 emissions, such episodes no longer 
occur in the UK.

Emissions of SO2 are primarily from combustion 
of solid and liquid fuels and have reduced 
markedly with restrictions on the sulphur content 
of liquid fuels, as well as a shift away from a 
reliance on coal for energy generation. However, 
domestic coal burning can result in significant 
indoor exposure to SO2. Our aim is to reduce 
emissions of sulphur dioxide against the 2005 
baseline by 59% by 2020, increasing to 88% by 
2030.



16

Non-methane volatile organic compounds 
(NMVOCs) are a very large group of organic 
compounds, which differ widely in their chemical 
composition but can display similar behaviour 
in the atmosphere. NMVOCs are emitted to 
air as combustion products, as vapour arising 
from petrol, solvents, air fresheners, cleaning 
products, perfumes and numerous other sources, 
often when products are used at work or in the 
home. The diversity of products and processes 
which emit NMVOCs is huge, covering not only 
industrial processes (22% of emissions), but also 
household products (18%), agriculture (14%), 
domestic burning and transport (5% each)16. 

In the outside atmosphere, NMVOCs react with 
other air pollutants in the presence of sunlight to 
produce ground level ozone (see below). NMVOC 
emissions can also form a significant component 
of indoor air pollution. Indoor reactions are 
different because ultraviolet light, the main driver 
of outdoor reactions, is absorbed by glass. 

However, there are many other reactions which 
they can undergo to form other chemicals. A 
particularly important NMVOC is formaldehyde, 
which can be released from furniture, finishes 
and building materials, such as laminate flooring, 
kitchen cabinets and wood panels, and is also 
formed in chemical reactions in the air between 
other NMVOCs and chemicals generated from 
combustion processes, such as smoking, heating, 
cooking or candle burning. At low concentrations, 
exposure to formaldehyde can cause irritation to 
the eyes and upper airways, and is classified as a 
human carcinogen.

Other sources of NMVOCs include furnishing, 
carpets, and upholstery, products for cleaning 
and polishing, air fresheners, and personal care 
products, for example fragrance, deodorants, 
and hair styling products. Our aim is to reduce 
emissions of NMVOCs against the 2005 baseline 
by 32% by 2020, increasing to 39% by 2030.

SOURCES

Agriculture

22%*
Industrial
processes 

Residential
burning

Transport

14%*

5%*

5%*

18%*
Household
products 

IMPACTS

Non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs)

VOCs
other

pollutants
REACT
with

OOOOO3
ground level

ozone

it affects plant growth

VOCs can form
airborne PM

potential impacts on:

biodiversity & climate change
Ozone can cause inflammation of the
respiratory tract, eyes, nose and throat

*p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 to

ta
l V

O
C

 e
m

is
si

on
s 

(2
01

6)
 s

ou
rc

e:
 N

A
E

I 2
01

8
A

IR
 Q

U
A

LI
TY

P
O

LL
U

TA
N

TS
 T

H
AT

 A
FF

E
C

T

O
rig

in
al

 d
es

ig
n 

by
 D

ef
ra

 D
ig

ita
l C

om
m

s

O3



17

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Ozone (O3)

Some pollutants are not directly emitted but 
formed in the air, such as ozone. Ozone is 
damaging to both human health and the 
environment. It is highly reactive, and will 
react with nitric oxide to form nitrogen dioxide.  
Modelling suggests that, as we reduce NO2 
concentrations in our towns and cities, we will 
need to consider how to address the increasing 
levels of ozone that might result. However, by 

tackling all sources of pollution, we will continue 
to reduce the formation of ozone across the whole 
of the UK. Ozone travels long distances and can 
reach high concentrations far from the original 
sources of pollution. It can cause inflammation 
of the respiratory tract, eyes, nose and throat. 
It can trigger asthma attacks and cause chest 
discomfort whilst breathing. It can also cause 
damage to crops.

1.4 Maintaining a strong evidence base

The atmosphere is a dynamic system in which 
many human-made and natural substances 
interact. To understand the total emissions of air 
pollutants and how these change over time the 
UK government produces and publishes national 
inventories of air pollutants each year, measuring 
and reporting according to agreed international 
guidelines. These inventories go back to 1970 
and provide good evidence of changing trends in 
air pollution. They are drawn from a combination 
of sources, including:

 ● directly measured emissions

 ● data and our understanding of the activities 
that produce air pollution

 ● data and our knowledge of how these 
activities release pollutants to the atmosphere

We have a national air quality monitoring 
network consisting of 28717 sites across the 
UK which measure ambient concentrations of 
various air pollutants. This network is operated 
by the Environment Agency on behalf of the UK 
Government. Near real-time measurements from 
16818 monitoring sites is made available online 
and updated hourly.

It is not possible to monitor the air in every 
location, so modelling enables us to assess air 
quality in locations without monitoring stations. 
This helps us to understand how different 

sources contribute to local air pollution and 
provides a consistent framework for making 
future projections. We model the interaction 
between total emissions and the resulting local 
concentrations in order to better understand 
the impacts of air pollution in terms of human 
exposure to air pollution. We also make 
projections of the levels of emissions we expect 
to see in future, given current trends and 
regulations, looking forwards to 2030 in order to 
plan further action to reduce air pollution.

The Meteorological Office makes daily short-term 
forecasts of air quality. These are produced early 
each morning for the current day and for the 
coming days. These forecasts are compared to 
monitoring information to ensure consistency of 
assessments.

We have a strong commitment to both 
transparency about the methods by which air 
quality assessments are made and the ease 
by which the public, industries, researchers 
and others can access air quality data. The 
National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
website contains detailed information on how 
air quality assessments are made19, with easily 
accessible data on emissions of air pollutants 
available both via a web-based tool and as 
downloadable data files20. 



18

In 2018 the UK won the international award for the most complete inventory at the annual task force 
for emissions inventories and projections (TFEIP) conference in Sofia, Bulgaria, ahead of more than 40 
countries who report emissions data.

The dedicated UK-Air website21 enables everyone 
to:

 ● understand how air quality affects their health 
and the environment22

 ● access data on local concentrations of air 
pollutants, including datasets on air quality 
trends and real-time air quality assessments23

 ● access short-term forecasts for air quality24

 ● explore the network of monitoring sites and 
access information on how these function25

We remain strongly committed to a process of 
continuously improving the evidence base on air 
quality in the UK and to ensuring this evidence 
is accessible and transparent to a wide range 
of audiences from academic experts and school 
children to health professionals and vulnerable 
individuals.

The national monitoring and modelling available 
through UK-AIR is designed to meet our 
international obligations. In addition to this, local 
authorities run their own monitoring networks 
and local models to support them meet their 
legal obligations at the local level. There is also 
increasing interest and opportunity for individuals 
to undertake their own monitoring, using a 
variety of ‘citizen science’ sensor equipment. 
These different data sources require careful 
interpretation due to variability in data quality, 
location and technology type. 

Historically, the national and local data sources 
have been managed and published separately, 
reflecting their different intended uses. This has 
led to a fragmented data landscape which is 
not being used to its full potential. Information 
is needed at all scales because action is 
needed at all scales to address the air pollution 
challenges we face. We will, therefore, increase 
transparency by bringing local and national 
monitoring data together into a single accessible 
portal for information on air quality monitoring 
and modelling, catalysing public engagement and 
encouraging citizen science initiatives.

Working closely with the government’s existing 
Air Quality Expert Group that provides us with 
independent advice, we will develop a wider 
network of inter disciplinary collaborations with 
the research community to further improve 
our understanding of air pollution sources and 
impacts, and to encourage innovative approaches 
to the many technical challenges in making 
significant further improvements to our air quality.

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/


19

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

1.5 Action to improve understanding of the problem and 
its solutions

 ● We are investing £10m in improving our 
modelling, data and analytical tools to give a 
more precise picture of current and future air 
quality and the impact of policies to improve it 
in future.

 ● We will increase transparency by bringing 
local and national monitoring data together 
into a single accessible portal for information 
on air quality monitoring and modelling, 
catalysing public engagement through citizen 
science.

1.6 Questions

 ● Q1. What do you think about the actions put 
forward in the understanding the problem 
chapter? Please provide evidence in support 
of your answer if possible.

 ● Q2. How can we improve the accessibility of 
evidence on air quality, so that it meets the 
wide-ranging needs of the public and other 
interested parties?



20

2. Protecting the nation’s health
2.1 Health evidence

Air pollution is a major public health risk 
ranking alongside cancer, heart disease 
and obesity26. It causes more harm than 
passive smoking. A review by the World Health 
Organization concludes that long-term exposure 
to air pollution reduces life expectancy by 
increasing deaths from lung, heart and circulatory 
conditions. That is why we are taking action to 
accelerate the improvements to air quality that 
will reduce risks to health for current and future 
generations.

There is a compelling case for action to reduce 
public exposure to air pollution in order to save 
lives and improve quality of life for many. 

Conditions caused or exacerbated by air pollution 
include asthma, chronic bronchitis, chronic heart 
disease (CHD), and strokes. These conditions 
significantly reduce quality of life. They also mean 
that people are less able to work and need more 
medical care, resulting in higher social costs and 
burdens to the National Health Service. 

Poor air quality can affect health at all stages of 
life. Those most affected are the young and old. 
In the womb, maternal exposure to air pollution 
can result in low birth weight, premature birth, 
stillbirth or organ damage. In children there is 
evidence of reduced lung capacity, while impacts 
in adulthood can include diabetes, heart disease 
and stroke. In old age, a life-time of exposure to 
air pollution can result in reduced life-expectancy 
and reduced wellbeing at end of life. There is also 
emerging evidence for a link between air pollution 
and an acceleration of the decline in cognitive 
function. 

Public Health England (PHE), the independent 
body responsible for protecting the nation from 
public health hazards, has identified air pollution 
as a top priority for action.

Deprived communities are more likely to 
experience adverse health effects from poor air 
quality because they are more exposed to air 
pollution, for example, by being close to major 
roads27. They are less likely to live close to 
well-maintained green spaces associated with 
lower levels of air pollution, increased physical 
activity, and improved mental wellbeing. However, 
air quality can also be poor in areas that are 
generally considered affluent, such as central 
London. This is reflected by the overall national 
distribution of air pollution with highest average 
levels in South East England and lowest in 
the North of England, Scotland, Wales, and 
Northern Ireland28.



21

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

The government supports a strong and growing 
evidence base on the effects of pollution through 
our two independent expert committees - the 
Department of Health and Social Care’s advisory 
Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants 
(COMEAP) and Defra’s Air Quality Expert Group 
(AQEG) that keep emerging evidence under 
regular review. We work closely with the health 
science community to further our understanding 
of the air quality impacts on the whole life cycle 
from before birth to death and also gain greater 
understanding on emerging areas of research.  
Public Health England is undertaking a feasibility 
study of a system to capture the health impacts 
resulting from air pollution across England.  

Counting the costs of air pollution on health 

In order to target action to tackle air pollution we need to understand the costs of the damage 
caused by emissions and the benefits of intervention. Our economic appraisal tools provide a 
monetary estimate of the health and environmental impact costs of each tonne of air pollutant still 
released into the atmosphere. Up to now, these estimates have mostly focused on the value that 
people place on living longer lives. This is a very important impact, but it’s not the only factor: we 
also know that people have to live with the consequences of conditions brought on by air pollution 
and that emissions reductions could alleviate this day-to-day suffering. In the past, it has not been 
possible to quantify these impacts, but a big research effort is now advancing our understanding of 
these impacts.  It is possible to estimate the impacts of air pollution on various conditions, including 
coronary heart disease, stroke, lung cancer and asthma.

Recent research commissioned by Public Health England has found that the health and social 
care costs of air pollution (PM2.5 and NO2) in England could reach £5.3 billion by 2035. This is a 
cumulative cost for diseases where there is a strong association with air pollution: coronary heart 
disease; stroke; lung cancer; and child asthma.  

When diseases with weaker evidence of association are also added, including chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease; diabetes, low birth weight, lung cancer, and dementia, the costs could reach 
to £18.6 billion by 2035. When all diseases are included, air pollution is expected to cause 2.4 
million new cases of disease in England between now and 2035. PM2.5 alone could be responsible 
for around 350,000 cases of coronary heart disease and 44,000 cases of lung cancer in England 
over that time. Even small changes can make a big difference – just a 1µg/m3 reduction in PM2.5 
concentrations this year could prevent 50,000 new cases of coronary heart disease and 9,000 new 
cases of asthma by 2035.



22

Researching the link between air pollution and cardiovascular disease

British Heart Foundation and the University of Edinburgh

Since 2010, the British Heart Foundation has invested £3.2 million in research into how air 
pollution, especially fine and ultrafine particulate matter, can make existing heart conditions worse 
and increase the likelihood of a heart attack or stroke in vulnerable groups.  

Research by the University of Edinburgh has shown how particulate matter contributes to 
cardiovascular disease. Senior Research Scientist Dr Mark Miller used harmless gold nanoparticles 
to mimic the ultrafine PM found in air pollution. These particles are of a similar size to the 
nanoparticles that are abundant in diesel exhaust. Volunteers breathed in these nanoparticles for 
2 hours, which were then tracked through the body. Within 24 hours, a proportion of nanoparticles 
had crossed from the lungs into the bloodstream, where they were still detectable three months 
later. This demonstrates that the health risk from breathing PM could continue long after exposure.

Dr Miller’s team also tested how the nanoparticles affected patients who were at high risk of 
stroke due to a build-up of fatty plaques inside their arteries. The researchers found that the gold 
nanoparticles accumulated within these plaques. While gold nanoparticles are harmless, if other 
particulates behaved in the same way it is likely that they would promote heart disease. These 
findings are hugely important in suggesting how PM from air pollution may cause heart attack 
or stroke and will help us to shape policies aimed at reducing the risk to people’s cardiovascular 
health.

Effective communication of health messages 
about air pollution can save lives and improve 
quality of life for many. As we build our 
understanding of how poor air quality affects 
health in both the short and long term, it is 
important that we communicate the evidence in a 
transparent and accessible way.

Many of the everyday activities that create air 
pollution also increase personal exposure for 
ourselves and our families. For example, there 
is a common misconception that the air outside a 
car on a busy road is more polluted than inside. 
However, studies in London and other UK and 
European cities show that drivers and passengers 
inside vehicles are exposed to significantly higher 
levels of air pollution than those walking or cycling 
along the same urban routes29. This is because 
cars can suck in emissions from surrounding 
vehicles, particularly those that are immediately 
ahead, and recirculate them within a confined 
space. Walking and cycling, even where there 
is a lot of traffic, exposes people to less air 
pollution than driving. Taking the scenic route and 
walking along quieter roads reduces exposure 
even further. Fewer cars on the road means less 
pollution for everyone.

Similarly, most people think that the air inside 
their home is cleaner than that outside. However, 
this is rarely the case. Levels of air pollutants in 
the home can be significantly higher than those 
outside. For example, NMVOCs and particulates 
accumulate inside the more confined space in 
the home, through the multiple use of cleaning 
products, the installation of new carpets and 
furniture, and especially where wood burning 
stoves or open fires are regularly used. Simple 
actions, like burning cleaner fuels and opening 
windows to ventilate the home can make a big 
difference. There is a need for straightforward, 
practical information so that people can 
reduce their own emissions for the benefit of 
themselves and their neighbours.

2.2 Health information



23

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Children, the elderly and individuals with pre-
existing cardio and respiratory conditions are 
particularly vulnerable to the effects of poor 
air quality, so it is important to provide clear 
and transparent information and air quality 
forecasts. Recent work to better understand 
public perceptions around air quality30 has 
shown strong demand among certain groups 
for more information on air quality, with a third 
of the general public calling for information on 
how to minimise their contribution and the same 
proportion wanting to know more about how to 
protect themselves. 

The government already provides information 
on local and national air quality. A multi-day air 
quality forecast service is available to the public 
on the government’s UK-Air website. It provides 
up-to-date information on air pollution and has 
a postcode search facility to enable information 
to be provided at a local level. We will work with 
media outlets to improve public access to the air 
quality forecast.

The government also provides health advice to 
support vulnerable individuals during episodes 
of poor air quality and we also work closely with 
a network of key health stakeholders to provide 
alerts during high pollution episodes. We will 
improve the quality and accessibility of our air 
quality information, especially for vulnerable 
groups and during high pollution episodes. 

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/


24

All ambitions to reduce average population 
exposure will deliver positive health benefits. 
That is why we have already signed up to 
meet ambitious emissions ceilings by 2020 
and 2030 and why we now want to go further 
by setting a new goal to reduce human 
expose to PM2.5.

The UK sets air quality goals, informed by 
evidence from a range of sources. These 
include the World Health Organisation (WHO) 
2008 guidelines, recognised as the international 
benchmark for setting air quality standards.

The UK’s current objectives on PM2.5 stem from 
EU legislation. We already meet the EU limit 
value of 25 µg/m3 and are on track to meet a 
second stage limit of 20 µg/m3 by 2020. In this we 
are ahead of several European countries who still 
have exceedances of these limits. 

2.3 Providing decision makers with accurate data 

2.4 Leading the way: 
reducing population exposure to PM2.5

The health impacts of poor air quality are 
not currently well represented in the health 
profession’s education and training. So we are 
working with the Medical Royal Colleges and the 
General Medical Council to remedy this.

The government is reviewing current evidence 
to provide recommendations for practical 
interventions to significantly reduce harm from 
air pollution from the wide range of sectors 
covered in this draft strategy. This builds on the 
Defra UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen 
Dioxide Concentrations and the NICE air quality 
and health guidelines31. Additionally, the National 
Institute of Health Research will commission 
further research into action to reduce risks to 
public health from poor air quality.

Central and local government work closely 
together to provide support for local authority 
directors of public health to take action to 
tackle air pollution at local level and to inform 
how planning can avoid creating air pollution 
problems. In March 2017, Defra, PHE and the 
Local Government Association, jointly published 
an updated resource ‘Air Quality: A briefing for 
directors of public health’. It provides information, 
case studies, guidance and communication tools 
for directors of public health and their teams32. 
This is being supported by a rolling programme of 
masterclasses with local health professionals to 
facilitate sharing of good practice and innovation 
on the ground. 



25

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

These images show how particulate matter from across the country can build up in the atmosphere as 
‘background pollution’ and the role that this can play in combination with local sources in areas with a 
pollution challenge.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

E
m

is
si

on
s 

(k
t)

London

Bristol

EastWest

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Em
is

si
on

s 
(k

t)

SouthNorth

London

Nottingham

Leeds

Edinburgh

Inverness

Annual mean PM2.5 north to south transect across the UK for 2016 from PCM model

Annual mean PM2.5 west to east transect across the UK for 2016 from PCM model

Road traffic

Shipping

Domestic sources 
(eg. burning)

PM from nearby 
industrial sources

Urban dust

Rural dust

Other

Distant primary sources

Distant upwind vapours 
(eg. from fuel, solvents, 
natural sources) which 
have reacted to form PM

Distant upwind vapours 
(eg. NOX, SO2, 
ammonia) from power 
stations, shipping, 
farming etc, which 
hasreacted to form PM

Sea salt

Road traffic

Shipping

Domestic sources 
(eg. burning)

PM from nearby 
industrial sources

Urban dust

Rural dust

Other

Distant primary sources

Distant upwind vapours 
(eg. from fuel, solvents, 
natural sources) which 
have reacted to form PM

Distant upwind vapours 
(eg. NOX, SO2, 
ammonia) from power 
stations, shipping, 
farming etc, which 
hasreacted to form PM

Sea salt



26

Like other pollutants, PM can travel large distances and it is a transboundary problem. Sometimes, 
depending on wind direction and other circumstances, up to 50% of the UK’s PM2.5 levels (more in South 
East England than other areas) are from sources outside of the UK (for example, continental Europe). 
This is why co-ordinated international action is required. PM also moves across the UK and emissions 
can build up in the atmosphere, far from the source of emissions. This strategy seeks to drive down 
emissions of PM across the UK and provide stronger powers to tackle it in local areas where there is a 
problem.

 ● We will set a bold new goal to progressively 
cut public exposure to particulate matter 
pollution, as suggested by the World Health 
Organisation. We will reduce PM2.5 levels in 
order to halve the number of people living in 
locations where concentrations of particulate 
matter are above 10 µg/m3 by 2025.

 ● We will back these goals up with a 
comprehensive set of new powers designed 
to enable targeted local action in areas with 
an air pollution problem.

 ● We will review our progress in 2022, and 
we will consider if we should have more 
challenging milestones towards WHO goals; 
the new independent statutory body that 
we are establishing to hold government to 
account on environmental objectives may, 
subject to consultation, have a role in the 
scrutiny of air quality policy and any other 
strategies relating to air quality.

 ● We will develop and deliver a personal air 
quality messaging system to inform the public, 
particularly those who are vulnerable to air 
pollution about the air quality forecast and 
provide clearer information on air pollution 
episodes and health advice.

 ● We will improve the information we provide 
about air pollution, health impacts and the 
simple actions people can take to reduce their 
exposure and improve air quality.  

 ● We plan to publish a new set of appraisal 
tools and accompanying guidance this year to 
enable the health impacts of air pollution to be 
considered in every relevant policy decision 
that is made.

2.5 Actions to reduce people’s exposure to air pollution

The WHO guidelines recommend an ultimate 
goal for concentrations of PM2.5 of 10 µg/m3. 
This is half the current EU limit and the WHO 
recognises that this represents a significant 
challenge. 92% of the global population currently 
live in areas that exceed this goal33. The WHO 
therefore recommend a step-by-step approach to 
achieve progressive reductions. Reflecting this, 
we will set a bold new goal to progressively cut 
public exposure to particulate matter pollution, as 
suggested by the  WHO. We will reduce PM2.5 
levels in order to halve the number of people 
living in locations where concentrations of 
particulate matter are above 10 µg/m3 by 2025.  

To support this we will set detailed interim 
objectives and report publically on our progress. 
We will review our progress in 2022, and 
we will consider if we should have more 
challenging milestones towards WHO goals; 
the new independent statutory body that 
we are establishing to hold government to 
account on environmental objectives may, 
subject to consultation, have a role in the 
scrutiny of air quality policy and any other 

strategies relating to air quality. This will set 
a clear national ambition to drive down human 
exposure to PM2.5 as rapidly as is feasible. 

We will be bold in our ambition but practical in 
our approach, taking account of the different 
levels of challenge in different parts of the country 
(for example in major urban areas, where there 
are concentrations of industrial activity, traffic, 
transport networks and people) and the impact 
of transboundary air pollution which means that 
around one third of the PM in our atmosphere 
comes from abroad. We will back these targets 
up with a comprehensive set of new powers 
designed to enable targeted local action in 
areas with an air pollution problem. 

We will engage with the devolved administrations 
to explore the potential to develop a shared UK-
wide goal, recognising the work that the London 
Mayor and Scottish Government have already 
begun in this area. In achieving these targets, 
we can expect significant long-term reductions in 
acute and chronic diseases associated with air 
pollution.



27

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY
 ● We will work with the NHS, hospitals, 

emergency departments, GPs and local 
authorities to gather better information on 
where, when and how patients report and are 
treated for air quality related health conditions, 
to help evaluate the effectiveness of actions 
to improve air quality. This will help meet the 
recommendations of the recent Chief Medical 
Officer report on air pollution34. 

 ● Q3. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the health chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q4. How can we improve the way we 
communicate with the public about poor air 
quality and what people can do?

2.6 Questions

 ● We will equip health professionals to play 
a stronger role by working with the Medical 
Royal Colleges and the General Medical 
Council to embed air quality into the health 
profession’s education and training. Work with 
local authorities and directors of public health 
to equip and enable them to lead and inform 
local decision-making to improve air quality 
more effectively.



28

3. Protecting the environment

 3.1 Clean air and our environment

Human health and a thriving natural 
environment are concepts that go hand in 
hand and clean air is central to this vision. 
19th century social reformers such as Octavia Hill 
promoted access to natural environments for city 
dwellers through a network of urban parks and 
green belt known as ‘green lungs’. In the 20th 
century the idea of fresh air and exercise became 
synonymous with personal wellbeing. This Clean 
Air Strategy is part of a wider government vision 
for creating and maintaining thriving places where 
people can live, work, bring up families and enjoy 
their free time.  

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the 
Environment sets out the government’s plans to 
secure clean air and water, protect our natural 
heritage, innovate to achieve clean growth and 
increase resource efficiency.  This will provide 
benefits to both our environment and economy, 
and help us to keep our pledge to hand over our 
planet to the next generation in a better condition 
than we inherited it. 

In the past, pollution was sometimes seen as 
a price we had to pay for progress, but that is 
outdated thinking. We now know that clean, 
green and healthy environments in urban 
and rural areas are an essential component 
of progress, not a barrier to economic 
development. We have set out our vision for a 
Green Brexit in which environmental standards 
are not only maintained but enhanced, and 
Chapter 9 of this strategy sets this in the 
context of our leadership role nationally and 
internationally. 

We are consulting on establishing a new world-
leading, independent, statutory body to give the 
environment a voice, championing and upholding 
environmental standards as we leave the 
European Union.

Air pollution has direct impacts on the environment and is a factor in the poor conservation status of 
many of our protected sites. Over time, emissions of air pollutants have had negative impacts in plant 
and animal communities in many habitats. Reducing air pollution will reduce the pressure on natural 
habitats and animals and allow affected areas to start recovering. 

3.2 Impacts and improvements to date

Case study: tackling acid rain

UK sulphur dioxide emissions from coal burning power stations caused considerable “acid rain” 
damage in the UK and Scandinavia during the 1970s and 1980s. Sulphur dioxide (SO2) is emitted 
to air from fossil fuel combustion at power plants and other industrial facilities along with mobile 
sources such as ships.  When deposited from the atmosphere SO2 damages vegetation, soils and 
watercourses. Acid deposition disrupts delicate nutrient balances and when it enters rivers and lakes 
can damage or kill fish, aquatic plants, invertebrates and trees. 

The damage caused by acid rain demonstrated the transboundary nature of air pollution and 
prompted the agreement of the first international and prompted the agreement of the UNECE 
Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution in 1979, which established a common 
framework for transboundary cooperation on air pollution. Since then, significant reductions in 
sulphur emissions have been achieved, partially as a result of moving away from coal as a source 
of energy generation. Nature has slowly begun to recover, with sensitive species returning to large 
areas of the country.  This success story shows us that appropriate action can make real, lasting 
environmental improvements.



29

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

3.3 Effective nitrogen management

Nitrogen is a major component of fertiliser which 
is why it has an important role to play in food 
production. However, when excess atmospheric 
nitrogen spreads into the wider environment it can 
cause problems. Excess nitrogen from farming 
practices can be emitted to the air as ammonia 
(NH3) and re-deposited onto soils and plants, and 
into freshwaters. Road transport and combustion 
are also significant sources, via emissions and 
subsequent deposition of oxides of nitrogen 
(NOX). NOX tends to dominate nitrogen deposition 
in urban areas and near major roads, whereas 
in rural areas NH3 emissions from livestock 
production are the primary contributor. Nitrogen 
pollution can also cause the release of the 
potent greenhouse gas nitrous oxide (N2O) to the 
atmosphere, contributing to climate change. Most 
nitrogen is deposited locally but some goes high 
into the atmosphere and can be transported long 
distances. 

Some plants find reactive nitrogen toxic while 
others are squeezed out by tougher, nitrogen-
loving, species. Most nitrogen-sensitive habitats 
across the UK receive more nitrogen than they 
can tolerate. More than two-thirds of our wild 
flower species, such as harebell and betony, are 
adapted to low-nutrient conditions and cannot 
survive in the overly-fertile conditions created 
by nitrogen deposition. Sensitive habitats have 
become colonised by more robust nitrogen-loving 
plants, such as the common nettle and cow 
parsley, with knock-on effects for other wildlife. 
There is evidence of population declines of 
certain species of butterflies and bees and other 
insects because the sensitive plants on which 
they depend are in decline or in poor condition35 
36. 

The rare Cistus Forager moth is shown on a 
Pyramidal Orchid in Great Orme, Wales. Its 
larvae feed on Common Rockrose – the yellow 
flowers in the background. Both these plants 
require very low levels of nitrogen to grow. 

Photo: Trevor Dines/Plantlife. 



30

The figure below shows that in 2014 63% of the area of sensitive habitat in the UK had more nitrogen 
deposition than it can cope with effectively37. This was a 12% improvement on 1996 levels but has 
shown no further positive change since 2009. Around 80% of Special Areas of Conservation in England 
by area are estimated to receive damaging amounts of atmospheric nitrogen. Once soil quality and the 
balance of species is changed, recovery is slow and costly to achieve.

Exceedance

(kg N ha-1 year-1)

No critical loads

Not exceeded

<-7

7 - 14

14 - 28

>28



31

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Ground level ozone (O3) reduces plant growth, flowering and crop yields, affecting nature, agriculture, 
and horticulture. Damage to crops can include leaf damage that directly affects economic value 
particularly for spinach, lettuce and spring onions. It has been estimated that in a typical year in the UK, 
ozone reduces yields of wheat, potato and oilseed rape by 5%38.

3.4 Ground level ozone (O3) - impacts on the environment

Ozone-induced leaf injury on wheat Photo: ICP Vegetation Programme Coordination Centre, Centre for Ecology & Hydrology

Green-winged Orchid, classified as near-threatened Photo: Natural England/Graham Earl



32

3.5 Particulate matter (PM) - impacts on the environment
The government is investing £200,000 in Much of our focus has been on the reduction 

of emissions from vehicle exhausts but friction 
during driving also generates fine particles from 
brakes, tyres and the road surface. They add 
to the concentrations of PM2.5 and PM10 people 
are exposed to and also have an impact on the 
environment. In particular, abrasion of tyres and 
road paints produce tiny microplastic particles, 
which enter rivers and lakes mainly from road 
run-off and can eventually be deposited into the 
sea. Microplastic particles originate from many 
sources and their generation has increased in 
line with the global production of plastics (1.5m 
tonnes in 1950s to more than 300m tonnes in 
201539).  Studies estimate that micro particles 
from tyres make up 5-10% of microplastics 
deposited in the oceans40, with well documented 
impacts for marine wildlife and the food chain. 

research by the University of Plymouth to improve 
scientific understanding of how tiny particles 
of microplastics from car tyre friction on roads 
make their way into the sea through sewers. This 
Defra-funded research will close current gaps in 
the evidence; looking at how microplastics from a 
variety of sources end up in marine environment 
and what we can do to tackle this problem in the 
future. The government’s independent scientific 
advisory body on air pollution the Air Quality 
Experts Group (AQEG) is also reviewing research 
into how particulates from tyres and brakes 
impact on air quality in order to inform advice to 
government.

Tackling other human-made pollutants

Human activity results in a range of pollution emissions to air and we are continuing to tackle these 
emissions as new evidence emerges. 

Heavy metals accumulate in the environment, especially in lake and marine sediments, and are 
toxic to many species at low concentrations. Airborne lead (Pb) emissions have decreased by 
98%41 since 1990, achieved mainly by phasing out the widespread use of leaded petrol.  

Work is continuing to reduce other pollutants. Levels of airborne nickel (Ni) can exceed health-
based standards in some parts of the UK, particularly in the vicinity of steel processing plants. 
We are working with the regulators and industries to ensure emissions are lowered so that these 
standards are not exceeded. 

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) are toxic, persistent42 and accumulate through food 
chains43, where they can affect animal reproduction, development and immune systems44. PAHs 
are released into the air by the incomplete burning of fuels, particularly solid fuels such as wood 
and coal. One specific PAH, benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) is a common component of combustion 
products and is a known carcinogen. Regulation has helped to decrease emissions of PAHs by 
98% since 199045. However, the use of wood as a domestic fuel has increased markedly over the 
last 20 years, and is calculated to produce 78% of total national BaP emissions46. Government 
action to tackle these emissions is outlined in Chapter 2.



33

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

3.6 Leadership to reduce environmental 
damage by air pollution

The UK has long recognised the importance of 
international coordinated action to reduce the 
environmental damage caused by air pollution.  
In 1987 the UK instigated the International 
Cooperative Programme on Effects of Air 
Pollution on Natural Vegetation and Crops47. This 
programme sets international standards to report 
the impacts of ozone, heavy metals and nitrogen, 
so that progress can be assessed across 
countries over time.  

We also contribute to another of the International 
Cooperative Programmes (ICPs), on Modelling 
and Mapping48. This programme models the 
amount of sulphur dioxide, oxides of nitrogen and 
ammonia deposited on land throughout the UK 
and the concentrations of these pollutants plants 
are exposed to annually. This work defines the 
impacts of air pollution emissions and the effect 
of emissions reductions. These programmes have 
become pivotal to an international requirement 
to report the monitoring of air quality impacts 
on terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems in the 
revised National Emissions Ceiling Directive. The 
first report will be issued in 2018 and will inform 
action to protect the environment.

Case Study: focus on the Sherwood Shared Nitrogen Action Plan 

Natural England’s Shared Nitrogen Action Plan (SNAPS) pilots have been developed by bringing 
together local authorities, NGOs and agricultural and energy sector representatives to encourage 
shared responsibility for restoring habitats whilst maximising local economic benefits.

Sherwood Forest Focus Area has many air pollution sensitive habitats and species across its 11 Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Air pollution sources in the area range from large farms and 
biomass and waste gas plants to main road traffic. 

Local land owners and industries are working to develop innovative solutions to reduce emissions.  
Opportunities to use Countryside Stewardship & Productivity schemes are available to support actions 
such as installation of slurry covers and shelter belts along roadsides and around farmyards, together 
with advice on the impacts of fertiliser use. This will aid the recovery of over 1,500 hectares of SSSI.

Nottinghamshire County Council, Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, Nottinghamshire Wildlife 
Trust and Natural England have regular input on these plans to manage new emission sources to 
minimise the potential effects on protected habitats.

We will continue to work with the research community to make the best use of the available evidence 
and research to understand the mechanisms of ecosystem damage and recovery to underpin 
proportionate and targeted action. Defra is also working in partnership with stakeholders such as 
Plantlife and the National Farmers Union. They help us to understand how to improve farming practice 
and productivity. This has a variety of benefits including reduced greenhouse gas emissions through 
reduced fertiliser wastage and by achieving healthier soils, allowing communities to see other benefits 
such as reduced congestion and the services healthy ecosystems provide.

We are planning comprehensive action to control 
ammonia emissions from agriculture, detailed 
in Chapter 7 of this strategy. These measures 
are expected to protect an additional 200,000 
hectares of natural habitat (an area the size 
of Warwickshire) from excessive nitrogen 
deposition. 

In addition to these regulatory controls we 
are taking action to improve the way that 
cumulative impact of nitrogen deposition on 
natural habitats is controlled. Later this year 
we will provide guidance for local authorities 
explaining how cumulative impacts of nitrogen 
deposition on natural habitats should be mitigated 
and assessed through the planning system. 
Consistent application of this guidance will 
improve protection of important natural habitats 
while providing greater certainty for applicants to 
planning and permitting processes.  



34

3.7 Action to reduce environmental 
damage from air pollution

 ● Our programme of actions to reduce ammonia 
emissions from agriculture is set out in 
Chapter 7.

 ● We will monitor the impacts of air pollution on 
natural habitats and report annually so that we 
can chart progress as we reduce the harm air 
pollution does to the environment.

 ● Later this year we will provide guidance for 
local authorities explaining how cumulative 
impacts of nitrogen deposition on natural 
habitats should be mitigated and assessed 
through the planning system.

Heather, Moss and Lichen are all 
sensitive to excess nitrogen
Photo: Natural England/Peter Wakely

3.8 Questions

 ● Q5. What do you think of the actions put 
forward in the environment chapter? Please 
provide evidence in support of your answer if 
possible.

 ● Q6. What further action do you think should 
be taken to reduce the impact of air pollution 
on the natural environment?  Where possible, 
please include evidence of the potential 
effectiveness of suggestions.



35

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Clean growth means growing our national 
income whilst tackling air pollution, protecting the 
natural environment, and cutting greenhouse gas 
emissions. It is about boosting productivity 
by improving air quality, using resources 
efficiently and making the shift to a low 
carbon economy.

The government is taking action to accelerate 
clean growth on a number of fronts. The Clean 
Growth Strategy49 is our plan for continuing 
to decarbonise the UK economy through the 
2020s. The Clean Growth Strategy sets out the 
government’s commitment to comprehensive 
action on climate change, air quality and the 
environment. A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan 
to Improve the Environment, a sister document 
to the Clean Growth Strategy, provides another 
essential component, setting out our long-term 
plan for nature’s recovery and good health. This 
Clean Air Strategy provides a comprehensive  
part of the picture, setting out actions to improve 
air quality to improve public health, protect the 
environment and boost the economy. 

Cleaner air leads to increased productivity 
through improvements in public health, leading 
to reduced workplace absence, and through the 
creation of an environment that is appealing to 
businesses and the public alike. For example, 
particulate matter, nitrogen dioxide and ozone 
were estimated to be responsible for total 
productivity losses of up to £2.7bn in 201250. 

There are significant opportunities for UK 
industries to become global leaders in clean, 
green technologies. The UK low carbon economy 
has the potential to grow by an estimated 11% 
per year between 2015 and 2030 – four times 
faster than the rest of the economy51 – and 

could deliver between £60 billion and £170 
billion of export sales of goods and services by 
203052. By showing leadership and supporting 
the development of technologies and solutions 
that can clean up our air, we can achieve our air 
quality goals more quickly, as well as increase the 
UK’s competitiveness and opportunities for trade 
as we leave the EU. 

To help realise these opportunities, the 
Industrial Strategy53 announced a Clean Growth 
Grand Challenge, focused on maximising the 
advantages for UK industry from the global 
shift to clean growth. As part of this, we want to 
make the UK a world leader in the goods and 
services focused on tackling air pollution, such as 
abatement technology, monitoring equipment and 
modelling skills.

4. Securing clean growth and
driving innovation

4.1 Clean growth

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf


36

A variety of actions are needed to fill the gap 
between where we are now and what we want 
the quality of our air to be like in 10 years’ time 
and beyond. Many technologies and solutions 
already exist to support the move towards a 
clean economy, for example, electric vehicles, 
increasingly energy-efficient products and 
abatement technologies. However, in some cases 
these readily available technologies and solutions 
to air quality challenges are not yet taken up at 
scale. In these cases, levers such as incentives, 
disincentives, behavioural change and regulation 
may help overcome barriers such as a lack of 
information or awareness, or access to finance. 

Additionally, there are several sources of air 
pollution for which we do not yet have market-
ready solutions available. Innovation can play 
a key role in both the development of novel 
solutions and improvements in the efficiency, 
cost or effectiveness of existing technologies. 
Through discussion with academics, industry and 
NGOs we have identified a number of priority 
areas where innovation funding will support us to 
achieve our air quality goals:

 ● particulate matter emissions from industrial 
combustion, tyre, brake and road wear, 
industrial processes and domestic burning

 ● zero or ultra-low emission heavy goods 
vehicles

 ● volatile organic compounds from industrial 
processes; and product formulation

 ● low and zero-emission options for non-road 
mobile machinery

 ● ammonia emissions from agriculture

A number of these areas can be investigated 
through existing avenues for innovation 
funding, such as the Innovate UK open funding 
competition54 which is open to any business 
sector and allows businesses with disruptive 
innovations in air quality to access grant funding. 
Many of the Industrial Strategy Challenge 

Fund55 programmes also have objectives that 
are beneficial to air quality. In particular, the 
£90m Transforming Food Production and the 
Transforming Construction Industrial Strategy 
Challenge Funds. We encourage innovators to 
pursue these.

UK Research and Innovation has also recently 
announced a £50 million pilot programme of loans 
for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) to be 
delivered over the next two years to the end of 
201956, aiming to increase both the uptake of 
innovative technologies and the availability of 
testing grounds for innovators. The government 
is also taking action in a number of other relevant 
areas, including: 

 ● spending nearly £1.5 billion supporting the 
take-up of ultra-low emission vehicles

 ● investing up to £246 million in the design, 
development and manufacture of electric 
batteries through the Faraday Challenge

 ● supporting new energy technologies, 
including £177 million to further reduce the 
cost of renewables such as offshore wind, 
and £265 million for smart electricity 
systems and storage

The Clean Growth Strategy also announced 
the formation of a Green Finance Taskforce to 
develop ambitious proposals to further accelerate 
investment that supports clean growth. One of 
the key themes in their report Accelerating Green 
Finance57 focuses on how to improve capital 
availability to support the commercialisation of 
innovative clean technologies and solutions. 

However, we still need to do more. In addition,  
in partnership with UKRI, we will seek ways 
to support further investment in Clean 
Air innovation to enable the development 
of novel technologies and solutions that 
tackle emissions from industry, vehicles, 
products, combustion and agriculture and 
support both improvements in air quality and 
decarbonisation. 

4.2 Innovation



37

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Case study:  taking a joined-up approach to innovation

Industrial processes and power generation can contribute to air pollution, global warming and 
land contamination. EarthSave, a project funded by the Energy Catalyst, aims to both reduce 
the environmental impact and increase the performance efficiency of existing coal and anaerobic 
digestion plants, biomass boilers and industrial processes across many energy-intensive sectors. 

The project aims to develop a prototype heat recovery system using a novel ‘wet scrubbing’ 
system. This could provide cooling, power generation and hot water services, whilst reducing air 
pollutants and carbon dioxide emissions.

Members of the research consortium have previously tested the ‘wet scrubbing’ system and found 
it reduced particulate matter emissions by up to 90% and nitrogen oxide emissions by over 80%. 
This is alongside carbon dioxide emission reductions of up to 20% and the production of clean 
water for recycling and use in the wet scrubbing system.

meet before they can claim support under the 
scheme. These air quality requirements set limits 
on the emissions of particulate matter (PM) and 
oxides of nitrogen (NOX). Participants are also 
required to use sustainable fuel that is approved 
for their boiler type. We have recently consulted 
on changing the RHI rules so that applicants will 
need to show they have up to date environmental 
permits before they can be paid. In addition, 
we will minimise the air quality impacts of the 
Renewable Heat Incentive scheme, for example 
by tackling non-compliance and consulting on 
excluding biomass from the RHI if installed in 
urban areas which are on the gas grid. We will 
work across central and local government to put 
a plan in place. In addition, we will consult on 
making coal to biomass conversions ineligible 
for future allocation rounds of the contracts for 
difference scheme.

Future energy, heat and industrial policies will 
together improve air quality and tackle climate 
change. Phasing out coal-fired power stations, 
improving energy efficiency, and shifting to 
cleaner power sources will reduce emissions of 
air pollution, as well as carbon. As we phase out 
oil and coal heating, we will ensure this transition 
improves air quality wherever possible and cost 
effective to do so. In addition, the government 
will conduct a cross-departmental review into the 
role of biomass in future policy for low carbon 
electricity and heat, focusing on the air quality 
impacts. The proposed way forward will be set out 
in the final Clean Air Strategy. 

Many technologies and solutions support 
multiple aspects of clean growth. For example, 
the move towards electric vehicles supports 
both decarbonisation and air quality. However, 
there are some technologies which can create 
tension. For example, biomass burning can 
support decarbonisation but, without appropriate 
abatement, it will increase levels of air pollution, 
unless it involves a switch away from a dirtier 
fuel such as coal. This is particularly problematic 
when the burning takes place in or close to urban 
areas. 

We will realise the opportunities for mitigating 
climate change and improving air quality together.
For example, we will ensure industrial sector 
roadmaps for reducing air pollution are well 
aligned with those for decarbonisation. Where 
tensions exist, we will ensure that a balanced 
approach is taken which supports clean growth as 
a whole. In practice, this means integrating both 
air quality and climate change considerations 
into government policies such as energy and 
agriculture. It also means ensuring that innovation 
funds are focused jointly on air quality and 
decarbonisation wherever appropriate, so that 
we encourage the development of technologies 
and solutions with multiple benefits and avoid 
unintended consequences. 

For example, the Renewable Heat Incentive 
(RHI) is a government subsidy scheme for 
eligible renewable heating technology, including 
biomass. The RHI has air quality requirements 
that participants using biomass are required to 

4.3 Tackling climate change and improving air quality

http://www.government-grants.co.uk/renewable-heat-incentive
http://www.government-grants.co.uk/renewable-heat-incentive


38

Call for evidence on non-road diesel 
duty rebate usage and non-road 
mobile machinery: air quality impact 
and lower emission alternatives

15% of diesel used in the UK is used by non-
road machinery at a reduced rate of tax (less 
than one fifth of the tax for road diesel)58. In 2016 
this accounted for 21% of emissions of nitrogen 
oxides and 7% of fine particulate matter59. 
Non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) is largely 
diesel-powered and can also be a significant 
contributor to hotspots of air pollution in urban 
areas where Clean Air Zones are being put in 
place to discourage the use of the most polluting 
road vehicles.  For example, NRMM makes up 
7% of NOx emissions in London60, the part of the 
UK facing the biggest challenge in reducing NO2 
concentrations. 

Although it is often thought that rebated diesel is 
mainly used in the agricultural sector, 75% of it 
is used across a range of non-farming sectors, 
including rail, shipping, watercraft, stationary 
combustion sources (such as generators 
and boilers), and a range of non-road mobile 
machinery (including construction, mining, and 
airport support vehicles). 

The current non-road diesel tax rebate makes 
diesel a low cost option for running such 
equipment, and this is impacting the market 
for lower emission technologies which are 
now becoming available, such as for transport 
refrigeration, lower emission fuels and 
technologies for heating and power generation. 
The non-road diesel rebate also costs the public 
purse £2.4 billion each year, compared to if duty 
was charged at the main rate. 

The government will review whether the existing 
fuel duty rates for alternatives to petrol and diesel 
are appropriate, ahead of decisions at Budget 
2018. The government has launched a call 
for evidence on non-road mobile machinery 
usage, its impact on air quality, and the 
interaction between the availability of red 
diesel and uptake of cleaner technologies, 
especially in urban areas.  

4.4 Incentives for clean growth

Case study: low emissions refrigeration

Sainsbury’s has become the first company in the world to introduce a refrigerated delivery truck 
cooled by a liquid nitrogen powered engine, which will eliminate all emissions associated with 
refrigeration. Supplied by cooling technology specialists Dearman and its partners, the zero-
emission cooling unit replaces the traditional diesel engine used to chill the vehicle and will 
significantly cut emissions.

Traditionally many refrigerated trucks require two diesel engines, one to power the vehicle and 
one for the refrigeration unit. The new system harnesses the rapid expansion of liquid nitrogen to 
deliver zero-emission power and cooling. Dearman believes that a more sustainable solution for 
refrigeration may soon be widely adopted on Britain’s roads. 

Dearman have said that during the three-month trial, 37kg of nitrogen oxides and 2kg of particulate 
matter were saved with a single truck, compared to a similar diesel system.

David Rivington, Director of special projects at Dearman, said; “There was a clear gap in the 
market for an affordable, zero-emission alternative”. Nick Davies, Head of Logistics for Sainsbury’s, 
said: “As one of Britain’s biggest retailers we really recognise the importance of reducing 
emissions, which is why we’re working hard to cut carbon emissions by 30% between 2005 and 
2020.”



39

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

4.5 Actions to drive clean growth and innovation

 ● We will maximise the advantages for UK 
industry from the global shift to clean growth – 
through leading the world in the development, 
manufacture and use of technologies, 
systems and services that tackle air pollution.

 ● In partnership with UKRI, we will seek 
ways to support further investment in Clean 
Air innovation to enable the development 
of novel technologies and solutions that 
tackle emissions from industry, vehicles, 
products, combustion and agriculture and 
support both improvements in air quality and 
decarbonisation. 

 ● Future energy, heat and industrial policies will 
together improve air quality and tackle climate 
change. Phasing out coal-fired power stations, 
improving energy efficiency, and shifting to 
cleaner power sources will reduce emissions 
of air pollution as well as carbondioxide. As 
we phase out oil and coal heating, we will 
ensure this transition improves air quality 
wherever possible and cost effective to do 
so. In addition, the government will conduct 
a cross-departmental review into the role 
of biomass in future policy for low carbon 
electricity and heat, focusing on the air quality 
impacts. The proposed way forward will be set 
out in the final Clean Air Strategy.

 ● We will minimise the air quality impacts of 
the Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme, for 
example by tackling non-compliance and 
consulting on excluding biomass from the RHI 
if installed in urban areas which are on the 
gas grid. We will work across central and local 
government to put a plan in place. In addition, 
we will consult on making coal to biomass 
conversions ineligible for future allocation 
rounds of the contracts for difference scheme.

 ● We will hold an annual Green Great Britain 
Week, starting in autumn 2018, as announced 
in the Clean Growth Strategy. It will consist of 
events, public engagement and media activity 
focused on climate and air quality issues 
across the UK.

 ● We are seeking evidence on the uses of 
non-road diesel, mainly in urban areas, 
considering the air quality impacts and the 
potential for market distortion. The Treasury 
has also announced it will review how 
alternative fuel rates line up with rates of 
petrol and diesel ahead of Budget 2018.

4.6 Consultation questions

 ● Q.7. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the clean growth and 
innovation chapter? Please provide evidence 
in support of your answer if possible.

 ● Q8. In what areas of the air quality industry is 
there potential for UK leadership?

 ● Q9. In your view, what are the barriers to 
the take-up of existing technologies which 
can help tackle air pollution? How can these 
barriers be overcome?

 ● Q10. In your view, are the priorities identified 
for innovation funding the right ones?



40

5.1 Transport’s importance for clean air

5.2 Setting strategic direction for transport

An efficient transport system is an essential part 
of modern life and a healthy economy. Average 
levels of nitrogen dioxide at the roadside are 
at their lowest level since the government first 
started to collect these statistics. Emissions 
of nitrogen oxides have fallen by almost 27% 
between 2010 and 2016 and are also at their 
lowest level since records began. However 
road transport, shipping, aviation and rail are 
responsible for a significant proportion of air 
pollutant emissions:  50% of nitrogen oxides, 16% 
PM2.5 and 5% of NMVOCs61.

The Clean Growth Strategy published in 2017 
includes measures which will reduce both CO2 
emissions and air pollutant emissions from the 
transport sector by supporting a shift to lower 
emission road vehicles and more active forms of 
travel (walking and cycling) for short journeys; 
and by accelerating the shift of freight from road 
to rail.

Delivering the significant air pollutant emission 
reductions we require demands transformational 
change for our transport network and how we 
use it. The tools and technologies that will help 
achieve this are becoming available. Many deliver 
broader benefits as well as improving air quality, 
such as greater energy security and reduced 
congestion. The Industrial Strategy, published in 
2017, set the ‘Future of Mobility’ Grand Challenge 
for the UK to become a world leader in mobility. 
The Challenge is supported by the £1.7bn 
Transforming Cities Fund which aims to invest 
in new local transport infrastructure to boost 
productivity by improving public and sustainable 
transport connectivity.

5. Action to reduce emissions
from transport

We will shortly publish Road to Zero, our 
strategy for reducing exhaust emissions from 
road vehicles. This, together with the UK 
Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide 
Concentrations, sets out our approach to 
addressing exhaust emissions from road 
transport. These are not part of this consultation.

In this Clean Air Strategy we are also setting 
out ambitious plans to drive down emissions 
in each major transport sector, including the 
announcement of forthcoming strategies for 
shipping and aviation. 

Transport therefore has a key role to play 
in reducing emissions and meeting the 
government’s objectives on the environment 
and public health. Emissions from road transport 
have been in the spotlight because of their impact 
on local air quality, but Government is committed 
to cutting air pollution from all forms of transport. 
In 2017, government published the UK plan for 
tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations 
and is already investing £3.5bn to reduce 
emissions from transport, cleaning up the air. 



41

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

5.3.1 Action to date

Exhaust emissions

Our most immediate air quality challenge is 
to reduce emissions of nitrogen oxides in the 
areas where concentrations of these harmful 
gases currently exceed legal limits. The UK 
Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide 
Concentrations identifies 28 local authorities 
in England that are required to develop local 
plans to address exceedances on their roads in 
the shortest possible time. It also sets out the 
measures that the Mayor is taking forward in 
London. On 23 March 2018, government directed 
an additional 33 local authorities to conduct 
feasibility studies to identify measures that could 
bring forward NO2 concentration compliance 
within the shortest possible time.

We are also laying new Regulations that will 
enhance our existing powers concerning vehicles 
with a prohibited defeat device. We expect to 
have these in place for cars, vans, motorcycles, 
tractors and non-road mobile machinery before 
the summer. 

We will shortly publish Road to Zero, our 
strategy for reducing exhaust emissions from 
road vehicles. This, together with the UK 
Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide 
Concentrations, sets out our approach to 
addressing exhaust emissions from road 
transport. These are not part of this consultation.

5.3 Road transport



42

We are also considering the impact that road 
infrastructure has on air pollution. The Road 
Investment Strategy (RIS) includes a £100m 
designated fund for work to tackle air quality 
concerns associated with existing and new road 
infrastructure. 

The government is committed to driving down 
emissions from ships and reducing the impact 
of emissions from the maritime sector on the 
environment and public health. In 2016, domestic 
shipping (ships that start and end their journey 
in the UK) accounted for 11% of the UK’s total 
domestic NOX emissions, 2% of PM2.5 and 7% of 
SO2

62. In addition, international shipping (ships 
that go to or come from international destinations) 
emissions have a significant impact on air quality 
in the UK due to shipping lanes and engine 
operation while at UK ports. 

5.4.1 Action to date

To date, the UK’s main priority in tackling ship 
emissions has been exerting influence at an 
international level. We have played a leading 
role in negotiating international limits to pollutant 
emissions from shipping, e.g. through the North 
Sea Emissions Control Area (ECA) where a 
sulphur cap of 0.1% was introduced in 2015 (a 
ten-fold reduction from the 1% limit introduced in 

5.3.2 Taking Further Action

Non-exhaust emissions

Particulate emissions from non-exhaust sources 
are a result of the friction required for braking 
and maintaining traction on the road, which 
are essential for road safety. However, these 
particles are harmful to human health and the 
environment – and a source of microplastics in 
our oceans. The proportion of total emissions 
from non-exhaust sources has increased because 
of action to reduce emissions from other sources, 
including vehicle exhaust emission standards. 
We will undertake a call for evidence on tyre and 
brake wear. Building on this, we will work with 
international partners seeking to develop 
new international regulations for particulate 
emissions from tyres and brakes through the 
United Nations Economic Commission for 
Europe.

5.4 Maritime

2010). The International Maritime Organisation 
(IMO) has recently agreed a 0.5% sulphur limit 
for global shipping outside ECAs from 2020, a 
reduction of 3% from the current limit. The IMO 
has also agreed to the introduction of a NOX 
emissions control area for the North Sea from 
2021 which will reduce the limit on NOX emissions 
from new ships operating in this area by around 
three-quarters. 

The UK has been at the forefront of pushing for 
an ambitious strategy to reduce greenhouse 
gases (GHGs) from shipping at the IMO, where 
in April member states committed to phasing 
out GHG emissions from shipping as soon as 
possible in this century and by at least 50% by 
2050. This sends a very clear message that a 
switch to zero emission technologies is now 
imminent, and will deliver benefits for air quality. 



43

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Environment will be a key theme of the Maritime 
2050 Vision. As part of the vision, we will work 
with stakeholders to develop by spring 2019, the 
first UK Clean Maritime Plan setting out a number 
of policies to reduce greenhouse gases and 
pollutant emissions from shipping in parallel, and 
to underpin the long-term vision of zero emissions 
shipping. 

This section focuses on actions to reduce the 
overall impact of shipping emissions on UK air 
quality in the short and medium term. It focuses 
on opportunities to reduce emissions from 
domestic shipping and ports activities. 

We are improving our evidence base to produce 
a comprehensive body of data on emissions from 
all ships operating in UK waters. 



44

Case study 1: the port of London’s green tariff

On the 1st January 2017, the Port of London Authority (PLA) introduced a discount on port charges 
for vessels with lower emissions, where the vessels meet an Environmental Shipping Index (ESI) 
score of 30 or above.

The ESI, developed by the World Ports Climate Initiative (WPCI), ranks ships’ environmental 
performance based on factors including emissions of nitrogen oxide, sulphur oxide, and carbon 
dioxide. It provides a rating for ships that outperform the current International Maritime Organisation 
emission standards. On the Thames, qualifying vessels have the potential to receive a 5% discount 
on Thames Vessel Conservancy Charges. To qualify, a vessel must be registered within the ESI 
scheme and have an ESI score of 30 points or greater. 

PLA has also developed an Air Quality Strategy to address air quality on the tidal Thames. 
This strategy which was published for consultation in December last year, aims to reduce river-
based air pollution on the tidal Thames between Teddington and Southend and will be delivered 
through a five year action plan covering 2018 to 2022. The final version of the PLA AQ Strategy 
will be published in May 2018. Further details on the PLA’s activities on air quality can be found 
on the PLA website.

Case Study 2: Government Support For The Uptake Of Cleaner Fuels/
Technologies Hydrogen-Fuelled Vessels On The Isle Of Man

In 2016, the UK government’s Innovate UK part funded a project led by Cheetah Marine, an Isle 
of Man Company, which built and successfully tested a hydrogen-powered 9.95m catamaran.  
The catamaran was the first marine example of hydrogen internal combustion energy (HICE) 
technology, concluding with a 100km round the island voyage. 

The consortium had 10 partners including ITM Power, specialists in hydrogen production facility, 
IBM, which were developing user interface software for the refuelling process and Arcola who 
produced a schools programme to involve children and raise awareness of hydrogen as a potential 
fuel for the future. The project has sparked significant interest and has highlighted the potential of 
zero emissions technology in the marine industry.

5.4.2. Taking further action on 
shipping

Using the comprehensive evidence base on 
maritime emissions, we will:

 ● By March 2019, consult on options for new 
domestic regulations to reduce pollutant 
emissions from domestic ships. This could 
be through the application of international 
emission standards. 

 ● By March 2019 - we will consult on options 
for extending the current Emissions Control 
Areas (ECAs) in UK waters.

 ● By May 2019, all major English ports should 
produce Air Quality Strategies setting out 
their plans to reduce emissions across the 
port estate including ship and shore activities. 
These plans will be reviewed periodically 
to establish if the measures implemented 
are effective or further government action is 
required. 

 ● By summer 2018, we will introduce a new 
government- led Clean Maritime Council to 
bring together different parts of the maritime 
sector to drive uptake of cleaner technologies 
and greener fuels.

http://www.pla.co.uk/Environment/Air-Quality-and-Green-Tariff


45

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

As part of this, government has also challenged 
the taskforce to set out how the industry will 
meet the ambition of removing all diesel only 
trains by 2040 (encompassing both freight and 
passenger traction). This will be both stretching 
and challenging and will require an embracing of 
new technologies and innovation, including the 
possibilities of alternative fuels such as batteries 
and hydrogen 

We have introduced progressively more stringent 
emission standards to drive down emissions from 
new rail engines since 1999 and have started 
implementation of Stage 5 standards, which will 
be introduced in 2020 and require a reduction in 
PM and NOx emissions of over 90% compared 
with a pre-1999 train. 

We set carbon targets for rail franchises to reduce 
their greenhouse gas emissions which requires 
the replacement of the older diesel trains with 
new trains which are either electric, bi-mode  or 
diesel compliant with more stringent emission 
limits.

Rail transport is generally considered to be 
a cleaner form of transport which makes a 
relatively small contribution to poor air quality (4 
percent of NOX emissions and 1 percent of PM2.5 
emissions63, nationally) with overall emissions 
both less per passenger mile and tonne per km 
for freight when compared to other transport 
modes. It is clear, however, that more can and 
should be done to drive down emissions and 
improve air quality throughout the whole rail 
sector, not least as rail emissions have risen 
overall in absolute terms.  

5.5.1 Action to date

Government has asked the industry to set up 
a taskforce that will look at how to decarbonise 
the rail industry and improve air quality through 
reducing harmful emissions produced by the rail 
industry. The approach of this task force will be 
holistic and examine the industry in the wider 
sense including for example, the impact of taxi 
traffic in and around stations. The industry task 
force will report back in autumn 2018. 

5.5 Rail

Birmingham Midland Metro tram. Photo: DfT



46

Change is already underway

 ● since 2017, the new Bi-Mode Class 800 – 
Intercity Express trains have been replacing 
Class 43 trains, delivering a reduction in 
emissions by complying with latest emission 
standards and by switching to electric mode 
where lines and stations are electrified  

 ● there are examples of lower emission 
alternatives in use on the rail network, for 
example, in Birmingham there are light rail 
and tram alternatives which are helping to 
improve local air quality 

 ● there are also bi-mode rail freight locomotives 
in service, including the new Class 88s which 
provide an environmental benefit as they are 
predominantly designed for electric mode 
but retain the ability to use diesel on non-
electrified lines

 ● after poor air quality issues were identified at 
Birmingham New Street, industry introduced 
measures including reduced idling time to 
reduce air pollution

5.5.2 Taking further action to reduce 
emissions from rail

 ● we are developing the evidence and testing 
alternatives to conventional fuels. In particular 
we are looking at the viability of using 
alternative fuels including hydrogen fuel cells 
through research conducted by the Transport 
Systems Catapult project amongst others. 
This technology is already in use in Germany 
and is being developed for use in the UK 
within the next few years

 ● government will work closely with the 
decarbonisation task force and industry 
throughout 2018 and early 2019 to develop a 
range of measures to tackle decarbonisation 
and air quality within the wider rail industry 
including in stations

 ● we will develop options to reduce emissions 
from freight informed, among other sources, 
by the National Infrastructure Commission’s 
Freight Study

 ● government is sponsoring the independent 
assessment of air quality at a range 
of stations to identify if there is a more 
widespread problem. This assessment will be 
completed in early 2019



47

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Aircraft contribute to air pollution while in the air, 
during take-off and on the ground. The biggest 
domestic impact of aircraft is during take-off 
and landing (1% of total NOX and SO2 national 
emissions64). In addition, airports are large, 
complex sites with a range of emission sources 
and so can be of concern for local air quality. 
They also generate significant land journeys by 
passengers, workers and freight transport. 

5.6.1 Action to date

The government works to improve international 
standards on emissions from aircraft and to 
challenge airports and local authorities (as 
appropriate) to improve local air quality.

The industry is taking action to cut airport-related 
emissions by operating aircraft more efficiently, 
introducing new lower emission technologies and 
practices, reducing vehicle emissions within the 
airport boundary, and improving public transport 
links to airports. 

The government published a call for evidence for 
a new aviation strategy in July 2017 and, building 
on this, will consult on a new Aviation Strategy 
later this year.

5.6.2 Taking further action

 ● Government will consult on an Aviation 
Strategy in 2018 which will include measures 
to improve air quality.

5.6 Aviation



48

5.7 Reducing emissions by modal shift

In addition to the actions for reducing emissions 
from each transport sector identified above, 
modal shift to lower emission modes of travel 
still plays a central role in reducing transport 
emissions. We remain committed to encouraging 
more sustainable modes of transport like cycling, 
walking and public transport, and shifting freight 
from road to rail.

5.7.1 Freight

Over three times as much freight is moved 
by road as by rail and water combined; so we 
recognise that in the short-to-medium term 
it would not be possible for that traffic to be 
accommodated on other modes. Nonetheless, our 
freight mode-shift grants65 help remove in excess 
of 800,000 lorry journeys a year from Britain’s 
roads.

Taking further action to reduce freight emissions, 
we will support industry research:

 ● We will support industry research into rail 
freight emissions and air quality to enable 
better comparisons with HGV emissions, 
to understand how a shift from road to rail 
can best be used to deliver a reduction in 
emissions of air pollutants

 ● developing and deploying cost-effective 
options for shifting more freight from road 
to rail, including low emission rail freight for 
delivery into urban areas with zero emission 
last mile deliveries

5.7.2 Active Travel

Encouraging an increase in cycling and walking 
for short journeys delivers a reduction in traffic 
congestion and emissions from road transport, as 
well as health benefits from more active lifestyles. 
Our Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy 
announced that £1.2 billion will be invested in 
cycling and walking from 2016-21 to double the 
level of cycling by 2025 and to reverse the decline 
in walking. This has included investing £101m 
through the Cycle City Ambition programme to 
improve and expand cycle routes between the city 
centres, local communities, and key employment 
and retail sites in eight cities to get more people 
cycling, as well as £80m to support local projects 
including training and resources to make cycling 
and walking safer and more convenient.  

5.7.3 Public Transport

In 2017, we introduced the Bus Services Act 
which includes a range of measures to improve 
bus services through franchising and better 
partnership working. We have also announced 
the £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund, which 
will drive productivity through improving public 
transport connectivity in some of England’s 
largest cities. It aims to tackle congestion through 
increased public transport in major cities, which 
will have an impact on exhaust and non-exhaust 
emissions. £840m has already been allocated 
to the six mayoral combined authorities on a 
devolved basis and a Call for Proposals for 
access to the remaining £840m of funding was 
launched for non-mayoral city regions on 13 
March 2018. 

Modal shift to rail, particularly on electrified 
lines, can help to reduce road traffic congestion 
and emissions. The Department for Transport 
(DfT) has been working closely with the railway 
industry to reduce their emissions. Franchising 
has encouraged an increase in both the length of 
trains and the frequency of services to encourage 
passengers to travel by rail.



49

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

5.8 Non-Road Mobile Machinery

Non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) covers 
a wide range of machinery which moves or is 
intended to move (whether self-propelled or not) 
and contains a combustion engine.  It includes 
agricultural machinery, construction equipment, 
non-sea faring boats, watercraft and a range 
of industrial equipment such as off road trucks, 
road resurfacing machines, mobile crushers 
and smaller household machinery such as lawn 
mowers and generators.  

The sector is responsible for emissions of 
NOx, PM, SO2 and VOCs.  Emissions of SO2 
are controlled by setting the maximum sulphur 
content of the fuel, with the remaining key 
pollutants being subject to regulations setting the 
maximum emissions levels - which are enforced 
at the point where the engine (or the product 
into which the engine is installed) is placed on 
the market in the UK. As discussed in the Clean 
Growth section above, many types of NRMM are 
eligible to use red diesel, which attracts a lower 
rate of tax than road diesel.

We have already implemented more stringent 
emission standards, which are consistently 
applied across the wide range of engines used in 
NRMM. They will drive a reduction in emissions 
with the turnover of the NRMM fleet – however, 
we need better data to understand how quickly 
emissions will be reduced and what further action 
may be needed.

 ● introduce compliance checks, to ensure 
that the equipment has emissions within a 
specified tolerance of the regulated maximum 
emissions levels enforced when it was placed 
on the market

We have also launched last week a call for 
evidence on the use of NRMM, emissions from 
NRMM, use of red diesel and the availability 
of lower emission options. Informed by the 
responses to the call for evidence, we will take 
further action to reduce emissions from this 
source with options that may include but are not 
limited to:

 ● introducing a requirement for in-service 
compliance checks, to ensure that NRMM 
equipment emissions remain within agreed 
levels for their whole lifetime

 ● introducing controls over in-service 
operations to deter and penalise tampering 
to intentionally reduce the effectiveness of 
emission control devices

 ● establishing of a register of NRMM to 
enable local enforcement including, where 
appropriate, information of retrofitted 
equipment and compliance checks

 ● introducing an emissions labelling scheme 
where it can encourage uptake of lower 
emission equipment

 ● ensuring that emission standards continue 
to reflect what it technically achievable as 
new technologies develop, and drive down 
emissions of new equipment

5.8.1 Taking further action to tackle 
emissions from NRMM

We will, as appropriate for the type of machinery: 

 ● Grant LAs powers to impose minimum 
emission standards where required to tackle 
serious air pollution problems;

5.9 Questions

 ● Q11. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the transport chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q12. Do you feel that the approaches 
proposed for reducing emissions from Non-
Road Mobile Machinery are appropriate or 
not? Why?



50

Up to now the public debate about air pollution 
has been focused on outdoor sources of 
air pollution. In recent years, this has been 
concentrated particularly on emissions from cars 
and other vehicles. One aim of this strategy is 
to raise awareness of the breadth of everyday 
activities that contribute to air pollution. Many 
of these activities take place in and around the 
home. This is important because, alongside 
our strong commitment to meeting our legally 
binding targets to reduce the amount of pollution 
in our atmosphere, the government’s priority is to 
minimise human exposure to air pollution. 

The principal forms of indoor air pollution are 
particulate matter (PM) and Non-Methane Volatile 
Organic Compounds (NMVOCs). PM is produced 
by many forms of cooking and home heating, 
most notably from combustion in open fires and 
stoves. NMVOCs are emitted by a wide variety of 
chemicals that are found in carpets, upholstery, 
paint, cleaning, fragrance, and personal care 
products. Sulphur dioxide (SO2) is emitted by coal 
burned in open fires.

Indoor air pollution both increases personal 
exposure and contributes to our overall national 
emissions as most of these indoor emissions 
end up in the atmosphere. There are simple, 
practical steps that we can all take to reduce our 
exposure such as ensuring homes are adequately 
ventilated, and making informed choices about 
the products we use. 

These indoor emissions can have a significant 
impact for some people and add to everyone’s 
incremental exposure over the life course. 
Studies have found that as much as 90% of the 
day is spent indoors where the levels of some 
air pollutants are often far higher than outside66. 
Awareness of the exposure that takes place in the 
home is currently very low. The government’s 
objective is to raise awareness of the potential 
impacts of air pollution at home and ensure 
that consumers are armed with reliable 
information enabling them to make informed 
choices to protect themselves, their families 
and their neighbours.

6. Action to reduce
emissions at home

6.1 Emissions at home



51

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

6.2 Domestic burning

Open fires and wood-burning stoves have risen 
in popularity over recent years. They are now an 
additional form of heating for many households 
in both urban and rural areas; for a minority they 
may be the sole heat source. In addition, we have 
seen the growth of biomass boilers for home 
heating. This increase in burning solid fuels in 
our homes is having an impact on our air quality 
and now makes up the single largest contributor 
to our national PM emissions at 38%67. This 
compares with industrial combustion (16%) and 
road transport (12%). What people burn and the 
appliance they use will have a significant impact 
on emissions. A recent report by King’s College 
London68, measuring local concentrations, found 
that wood burning accounts for up to 31% of the 
urban derived PM2.5 in London.This change in 
behaviour means that the boundaries of smoke 
control areas (where it is illegal to allow smoke 
emissions from the chimney of your building) 
that were established in the 1950s, no longer 
necessarily align with those areas with high levels 

of domestic burning. Whilst this legislation is still 
helpful to reduce the impact of burning in those 
areas, a more widespread solution is needed.

While emissions from domestic burning and 
other sources have reduced significantly since 
the 1950s, the evidence on the adverse health 
impacts from air pollution has also grown during 
that time, showing that, even at today’s lower 
levels, significant harm can be caused. We are 
more aware of the impacts of indoor air pollution 
and how it can affect people with open fires and 
stoves in their homes. We also have a better 
understanding of how pollution travels through the 
atmosphere, meaning that pollution emitted in one 
area can have an effect far away. It is therefore 
more appropriate to consider a nationwide 
approach to reduce the impact of domestic 
burning on air quality and the health of all citizens. 

6.3 Reducing the impact of domestic burning 

Not all forms of domestic burning are equally 
polluting. The appliance (e.g. stove or fireplace), 
how well it is used and maintained and what fuels 
are burnt in it, all make a big difference to how 
much pollution is produced. Significant air quality 
benefits can be realised through a new efficient 
appliance as compared with an old stove or open 
fire. There are simple steps that households can 

take to limit emissions both indoors and out. 
Using cleaner fuels, in a cleaner appliance which 
is installed by a competent person, knowing 
how to operate it efficiently, and ensuring that 
chimneys are regularly swept, will all make a big 
difference. Defra has developed simple guidance 
for all local authorities to share with residents on 
these simple steps.

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat07/1712041200_171010_open_fires_wood_burning_stoves_FINAL.pdf


52

6.3.1 New powers for local 
government

Smoke control areas are specific areas, 
designated by local councils, where it is illegal 
to allow smoke emissions from the chimney 
of your building. In these areas you can only 
burn authorised fuels or use an appliance (e.g. 
a stove) which has been exempted for use in 
the area. Local authorities have advised that 
awareness of, and compliance with, smoke 
control area legislation is low and that few people 
make the link between domestic burning and air 
pollution. Some local authorities are working to 
raise awareness of smoke control areas and to 
re-assess their boundaries. However, they have 
told us that smoke control areas can be hard to 
enforce. 

That is why in future we will focus on a nationwide 
approach to smoke control which can be built 
upon as appropriate by local authorities. We will 
give local authorities powers to go further in areas 
of high pollution, for example exploring what 
further steps government can take to enable local 
authorities to encourage ‘no burn days’ during 
high-pollution episodes. 

6.3.2 Ensuring only the very 
cleanest stoves can be bought and 
installed

In 2022 new, tougher emissions standards69 will 
come into effect for all new domestic stoves. This 
will raise the standard of appliances across the 
whole country.

These more stringent emission limit requirements 
for solid fuel appliances will need to be coupled 
with a more effective approach to testing. The 
government is consulting with UK industry and 
test houses on an approach that will better reflect 
the way appliances are used in people’s homes. 

6.3.3 Ensuring only the cleanest 
fuels are available for sale

We will simplify and update legislation to 
protect consumers so that only the cleanest 
fuels are available for sale. In January this 
year, government issued a Call for Evidence 
on domestic burning of house coal, smokeless 
coal, manufactured solid fuel and wet wood 
sold in small quantities for immediate use. The 
purpose was to identify appropriate action on 
wood which would enable people who buy wood 
in large quantities and season it at home to 
continue to do so, but to reduce the sale of wood 
that has not been seasoned or dried, which is 
highly polluting when burned. In addition, we 
wished to understand the impact of phasing 
out the sale of the most polluting mineral fuels, 
such as bituminous house coal or high-sulphur 
smokeless fuels. We will be taking the evidence 
and views submitted to develop a final proposal 
for legislative changes, and potential exemptions, 
which will be consulted upon in the summer.

High sulphur content fuels are harmful to human 
health and the environment. They also cause 
damage to stoves and chimneys. At present the 
sulphur content of solid fuels is limited to 2% in 
smoke control areas but not elsewhere. It is hard 
for consumers to identify at point of sale whether 
a product is high sulphur or not. Government 
intends to extend this 2% sulphur limit nationwide 
to ensure that consumers are protected against 
cheaper, dirtier alternatives. 

In addition, new fuels are now entering the market 
made from a variety of wastes and recycled 
products. The government wishes to encourage 
innovation, but it is essential that all products 
are safe to use and that consumers understand 
what they are buying. Government will work with 
industry to identify an appropriate test standard 
for new solid fuels entering the market. 



53

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Responses to our call for evidence 

In response to our Call for Evidence, we received evidence from a wide range of respondents, 
some of whom called for a total ban on domestic burning, primarily due to personal experience of 
nuisance or health impacts. Others felt that there should be no restrictions at all or were concerned 
about the impact on those in fuel poverty. 

Some suggested that more should be done to help inform consumers; many are unaware of the 
impacts of burning waste or cheaper fuels, and some unscrupulous suppliers market wood as 
seasoned, when it is not. Many chimney sweeps highlighted the point that how a stove is used can 
have a significant impact on emissions.

Most wood fuel businesses which responded indicated that they would be able to adjust to any 
proposed regulations on fuel standards. However, most coal businesses felt less able to adjust and 
were concerned about the impact. This feedback will be taken on board and inform policy. We will 
consult carefully on the appropriate phase in periods for wood and coal.

6.3.4 Voluntary industry initiatives 

The stove, fuel and chimney sweep industries have been proactive in recognising the benefits to them 
and their customers from promoting those fuels, stoves and actions which will reduce air quality impacts.  
This is making it easier for consumers to understand the benefits of cleaner fuels, appliances and 
chimneys.

Woodsure’s ‘Ready to Burn’ scheme, backed by government, enables consumers to easily recognise 
which wood is dry, and ready to take home and burn, instead of wood which is wet and must be 
seasoned for up to 2 years prior to burning. This can reduce emissions by 50% and in some cases is 
better value for money.

Case study particulate matter –  
‘Ready to Burn’

Particulate matter (PM) emissions are increasing, which has 
a significant impact on human health. It is widely recognised 
that domestic wood burning is the primary single contributor, 
accounting for 34% of PM2.5 emissions in 201670. 

Defra met fuel industry representatives in January 2017 
to discuss and identify ways to reduce emissions from 
wood fuel.  This led to the wood fuel industry launching the 
‘Ready to Burn’ scheme in September 2017. It aims to raise 
consumer awareness and educate wood-burning stove 
owners about the importance of burning clean, dry, quality 
logs to help reduce air pollution.

The scheme sets a benchmark for logs and other wood 
fuels in the UK to help consumers to identify wood that 
has been carefully chosen and is ‘Ready to Burn’ for the 
benefit of their appliance and the environment. The initiative 
is being led by Woodsure, the UK’s only wood fuel quality 
assurance scheme, and supported by Defra. Suppliers 
signing up to the scheme provide a guarantee that the fuel 
they sell as ‘Ready to Burn’ has a moisture content of 20% 
or less, meaning that it can be burned without the need for 
further drying out. To date, 70% of major UK suppliers have 
signed up to the scheme.

A 1kg freshly cut log can contain 
around a pint of water. Burning off all 
that water takes a lot of energy from 
the fire and creates a lot of smoke!

https://www.readytoburn.org/


54

We are working with industry bodies such as 
HETAS71 and the Stove Industry Alliance72 on a 
dedicated campaign to inform retailers of Ready 
to Burn and Ecodesign Ready, providing free 
point of sale information for consumers and 
technical bulletins for industry and trade. This 
is alongside updated training and work with 
education providers to ensure that stove retailers 
and installers understand their role in educating 
the consumer on the benefits of buying the right 
stove and using an accredited installer, using 
the correct fuels, and ensuring regular servicing/
chimney sweeping. Together, these actions can 
safeguard consumers and will have a big impact 
on the level of emissions from domestic burning.  

The way in which we use our stoves can have 
a big impact on air quality and how long the 
chimney and stove will last. A local professional 
sweep can help consumers get it right, ensuring 
that they get the most from their stoves and 
provide advice on optimum operation. This can 
help save money and avoid chimney fires. It is 
recommended that a chimney is swept twice a 
year. 

The Stove Industry Alliance has introduced its 
Ecodesign Ready brand 
ahead of the implementation 
of the ecodesign provisions 
due to be introduced in 2022. 
This shows consumers which 
stoves are already compliant 
with the key components of 
the new legislation and therefore can have up to 
90% lower emissions than an open fire or old 
stove.

We have worked with chimney sweep 
organisations to provide advice to chimney 
sweeps and householders. They have developed 
an informative website and guide which provides 
clear advice on how to save money and reduce 
pollution by following certain simple rules.

6.4 Biomass boilers 
Around 2% of households burning biomass have 
biomass boilers to heat their homes. In general 
the air quality impacts of these installations are 
much lower than open fires and stoves, although 
they could have local impacts. However, like 
stoves, the emissions can vary depending upon 
the quality of the installation, the fuel used and 
how it is maintained. Government will raise 
awareness of these factors through working with 

industry and developing clear guidance for local 
authorities, regulators and households to reduce 
the air quality impacts from biomass installations. 
In addition, as set out in chapter 4, we are 
committed to reducing the air quality impacts of 
the Renewable Heat Incentive.

https://burnright.co.uk/


55

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

 ● We will work with industry to identify an 
appropriate test standard for new solid fuels 
entering the market.

 ● We will ensure that consumers understand 
what they can do to reduce their impact from 
burning.

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are 
chemicals which evaporate into the air at room 
temperature. They are emitted from many 
sources, including production processes, 
household chemicals, solvent use and different 
kinds of combustion. Non-methane volatile 
organic compounds (NMVOCs) are VOCs with 
the exclusion of methane (natural gas). Methane 
is already subject to emission controls as a 
greenhouse gas, so we have not duplicated these 
in our national emissions ceilings.

Fossil fuels produce NMVOCs either directly as 
products (for example, vapour from petrol) or 
indirectly as by-products (for example, vehicle 
exhaust gas). NMVOCs are also commonly found 
in paints, carpeting, furniture, adhesives, cleaning 
products, personal care products and a range of 
other building and interior materials. If a product 
has a strong smell, there is a good chance it 
contains NMVOCs. 

In the past most NMVOC emissions came 
primarily from larger point sources such as 
refineries and fuel pipelines. However, as these 
have become increasingly well-regulated, the 
scientific community is becoming more aware of 
the significant proportion that arise from diffuse 
sources, such as the use of products in the home. 
Many NMVOCs have low levels of toxicity in 
isolation but may react to form chemicals which 
are much more harmful. 

When products containing NMVOCs are used, 
concentrations within the home can often exceed 
ambient outdoor concentrations, particularly if 
ventilation is poor. How well a home is ventilated 
is down to a mixture of occupant behaviour, the 
ventilation system provided, and the natural 
leakiness of the home. We therefore encourage 
people to regularly ventilate their homes. Indoor 
concentrations of NMVOCs also contribute to the 
overall level of UK NMVOC emissions. 

 ● We will legislate to prohibit sale of the most 
polluting fuels.

 ● We will ensure that only the cleanest stoves 
are available for sale by 2022.

 ● We will give new powers to local authorities to 
take action in areas of high pollution, bringing 
legislation into the 21st century with more 
flexible, proportionate enforcement powers.

6.5 Actions to reduce emissions from domestic burning

6.6 Non-methane volatile organic compounds (NMVOCs)



56

NMVOCs outdoors

Outdoors, NMVOCs react with other pollutants in the air in the presence of sunlight to cause 
ground level ozone and particulates. Ozone can cause short term physical symptoms such 
as inflammation of the mouth, eyes, nose, throat and lungs, in addition to causing damage 
to ecosystems. Industrial NMVOC emissions are subject to a range of controls. By requiring 
producers and users to apply for environmental permits, we limit VOC emissions from a wide range 
of industrial solvent activities, including printing, surface cleaning, vehicle coating, dry cleaning and 
the manufacture of footwear and pharmaceutical products. These set strict emission limits and can 
require reductions in emissions over time. These permits require regulated businesses to use the 
Best Available Techniques as agreed by industry, regulators, health and environmental groups.

VOC emissions into the atmosphere from petrol during storage, distribution to service stations, 
and refuelling of petrol cars at service stations are controlled via the requirement to install petrol 
vapour recovery systems. Since the early 1990s standards on VOC emissions from new cars sold 
in Europe have been in place, requiring the fitting of three-way catalysts to all new petrol cars to 
significantly reduce emissions of CO, NOx and VOCs. A significant reduction of VOC emissions has 
been achieved by systems to collect fuel vapour from petrol pumps as vehicles are refuelled – the 
systems suck up vapours which would otherwise evaporate into the atmosphere. This is why petrol 
stations no longer smell as strongly of fuel as they used to.

The VOC content of paint products is limited through the Paints Regulations to minimise VOC 
emissions during use. There may be opportunities to improve awareness and enforcement of these 
limits, especially in sectors where they are under-recognised.

There is also a range of emerging approaches and alternatives that may reduce VOC emissions 
further over time. These include replacement of solvent-based adhesives with alternatives, 
including solid or reactive adhesives which do not release solvents, or with water-based adhesives 
which generally contain much lower concentrations of VOCs. These will not be suitable for all 
applications, but there is scope for wider take-up.

Abatement techniques are already applied in certain sectors and could potentially be taken up 
more widely. There are also emerging opportunities for switching to low or no VOC alternatives to 
existing products and processes. For example, new agrochemicals products have been developed 
with lower solvent contents. There are also emerging VOC-free dry cleaning options, including wet 
cleaning and CO2, although none of these are yet as effective as the most commonly used solvent, 
perchloroethylene, and they can be more expensive. 



57

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Currently, with the exception of the Paints 
Regulations, there are few provisions limiting the 
VOC content of products used in the home. We 
will improve understanding of exposure to VOCs 
within the home, working with industry, academia 
and health organisations. Recognising the impact 
of high-VOC products, both in the home and 
once ventilated outdoors, we would like a wider 
range of low-VOC alternatives to many household 
products. Many products contain VOCs to enable 
their function, for example, propellant in aerosol 
cans, but many other products contain VOCs as 
an added extra, for example, fragrance in soap. 
The government will work with industry on how 
best to enable consumers to make informed 
choices about what they use in their homes, and 
to switch to low-VOC content products wherever 
possible. Options include the development of a 
voluntary labelling scheme for NMVOC-containing 
products; example mock-ups of these labels are 
given below. 

The science about the impacts of indoor use of 
products containing VOCs is developing rapidly. 
The government will work with industry to take 
account of this emerging evidence base. We 
want to develop voluntary approaches wherever 
possible and will look at regulation where 
necessary.

6.6.1 Reducing exposure to 
NMVOCs at home

Indoors, while NMVOCs do not react with sunlight 
in the same way as they do outdoors, they do 
still react in the air to form other chemicals. For 
example, many fragrances in common household 
and personal care products include limonene 
and alpha pinene (responsible for citrus and 
pine scents). These have a low level of toxicity, 
but once released into the air indoors they can 
react to form new chemicals. These include 
harmful substances such as formaldehyde, a 
well understood secondary product of fragrance 
chemicals.

There are a number of practical ways to reduce 
indoor air pollution from VOCs, which can be as 
simple as switching to lower VOC alternatives, 
such as unperfumed cleaning products, and 
ensuring that homes are well ventilated to avoid 
an accumulation of emissions from multiple 
sources. 

Mock-up of NVMOC product labels – adapted from French labels



58

 ● Q13. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward to reduce the impact 
of domestic combustion? Please provide 
evidence in support of your answer if possible.

 ● Q14. Which of the following measures to 
provide information on a product’s non-
methane volatile organic compound content 
would you find most helpful for informing 
your choice of household and personal care 
products, and please would you briefly explain 
your answer? 

 ● “A B C” label on product packaging (a 
categorised product rating for relevant 
domestic products, similar to other labels 
such as food traffic light labels)

6.6.2 Actions to reduce emissions of 
NMVOCs in the home

 ● We will work with consumer groups, health 
organisations and industry to improve 
awareness of NMVOC build-up in the home, 
and the importance of effective ventilation to 
reduce exposure.

 ● We will work with consumer groups, health 
organisations, industry and retailers to better 
inform consumers about the VOC content 
of everyday products. We will explore a 
range of options including the development 
of a voluntary labelling scheme for NMVOC-
containing products, and assess its potential 
effectiveness.

6.7 Questions

 ● We will work with consumer groups, health 
organisations, industry and retailers to 
promote development of lower VOC-content 
products and to reduce emissions from this 
sector.

 ● information on manufacturer website 

 ● leaflet at the point of sale

 ● inclusion in advertising campaigns

 ● other option 

 ● Q15. What further actions do you think can be 
taken to reduce human exposure from indoor 
air pollution?



59

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Agriculture is at the heart of our rural 
communities, producing high quality food and 
creating and maintaining the beautiful landscapes 
we all enjoy. Farming has a role to play in 
protecting our environment by keeping our air and 
rivers clean, improving our soils, and providing 
habitats for our wildlife. As set out in the 25 Year 
Environment Plan, we will support farmers and 
land managers to provide public goods and 
enable them to meet rules to control pollution.

Ammonia is emitted during storage, land-
spreading and deposition of manures and slurries, 
and from application of inorganic fertilisers. The 
agriculture sector is the main source of ammonia, 
accounting for 88% of UK emissions in 201673. 
Ammonia reacts with nitrogen oxides and sulphur 
dioxide to form secondary particulate matter 
which significantly impacts on human health. Most 
notably, ammonia contributes to smogs in urban 
areas. Ammonia also damages sensitive habitats 
as described in Chapter 3. 

Agriculture also accounts for around 51%74 
of methane emissions and 14%75 of NMVOC 
emissions. These contribute to ozone formation, 
which can cause harm to human health and to 
key agricultural crops and flowering plants as 
detailed in Chapter 3. In a typical year, ozone 
damage is estimated to reduce yields of wheat, 
potato and oilseed rape by around 5%76 in the 
UK. Ozone also damages horticultural crops such 
as spinach, lettuce and spring onions. Many of 
the farm practices that can be used to reduce 
ammonia emissions also reduce emissions of 
NMVOCs. 

The pie charts (right) give a breakdown of 
agricultural ammonia emissions by source. Cattle 
farming, particularly dairy farming, accounts for 
a substantial proportion of ammonia emissions 
whereas extensively grazed livestock, which 
are not housed, make a small contribution to 
ammonia emissions.

7. Action to reduce
emissions from farming

7.1 Agriculture and air quality

Dairy cattle 28% 

Fertiliser
application

23%
Beef cattle 20%

Poultry 15%

Pigs 7% 

Sheep 4%

Sewage sludge application 2%
Horses 1%

Livestock 
housing

27%

Manure 
application 

25%

Fertiliser 
application 

23%

Manure 
storage 
9%

Grazing/
outdoors
8%

Hard standings 7% Sewage sludge application 2%

UK agricultural ammonia emissions (2016)
by livestock and fertiliser category

UK agricultural ammonia emissions (2016)
by management category



60

A number of existing frameworks are in place 
to limit ammonia emissions from agriculture.  
Intensive pig and poultry farms are point sources 
of ammonia emissions and those over a certain 
size are regulated under the Environmental 
Permitting Regulations in England. Operators of 
intensive farms over specified thresholds must 
hold an environmental permit which requires 
adoption of Best Available Techniques for their 
production processes to reduce emissions to 

air, water and land. The use of these techniques 
reduces emissions from these facilities by around 
30%. At present, around 1,260 English pig and 
poultry farms hold permits. The planning regime 
plays an important role in protecting habitats that 
are sensitive to nitrogen deposition from sources 
of ammonia emissions, such as animal houses 
and slurry stores. Policies such as Farming Rules 
for Water, the Nitrates Regulations and measures 
within existing agri-environment and farm advice 
schemes also help to reduce ammonia emissions. 

7.2 Existing regulation and policies 
affecting ammonia emissions

7.3 Reducing Ammonia Emissions  

Key measures to control ammonia 
emissions from farming 

 ● covering slurry and digestate stores and 
manure heaps or using slurry bags

 ● using low emissions techniques for 
spreading slurries and digestate on land 
(for example, by injection, trailing shoe or 
trailing hose)

 ● incorporating manures into soils rapidly 
after spreading (at least within 12 hours)

 ● washing down animal collection points 
soon after use

 ● ensuring that levels of protein in livestock 
diets are well matched to nutritional needs

 ● switching from urea based fertilisers 
to ammonium nitrate, which has lower 
emissions, injecting urea into soil or 
applying it alongside a urease inhibitor 

Farmers can take practical action to reduce 
ammonia emissions. 



61

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

 ● providing grants for research into 
innovative manure management 
techniques and subsidies, and tax 
breaks to support investment in the new 
technologies

 ● establishing farmer networks for knowledge 
transfer and peer-to-peer support

The overall improvement in nutrient 
management in the Netherlands has been 
estimated to cost €500 million annually, but 
resulted in annual societal benefits of €900-
3,700 million, including €150 million in fertiliser 
savings for farmers.  

Denmark

Denmark reduced ammonia emissions by 
40%78 between 1990- and 2016 through 
actions including: 

 ● regulating to ensure manure is applied 
using low-emission spreading equipment 
(band spreaders or injection), and 
spreading in winter is limited to certain 
crops

 ● regulating to ensure slurry stores are 
covered

 ● regulating to ensure solid manure must be 
incorporated into bare soil within 6 hours

 ● permitting most farms, requiring a fertiliser 
plan and adherence to nitrogen application 
limits; small farms do not require a permit, 
but are incentivised to create a fertiliser 
plan by a tax relief on mineral fertiliser

 ● allocating the majority of their EU funded 
rural development programme to tackling 
pollution

 ● setting nitrogen limits at up to 18% below 
the economic optimum level; this was 
raised in 2015 to the economic optimum 
level

 ● limiting the amount of mineral fertiliser 
available for purchase; all purchases are 
recorded automatically on a farm’s online 
fertiliser plan

The sources of ammonia emissions (slurries, 
manures, etc.) also cause nitrate and phosphate 
pollution to our surface waters and groundwaters.  
Across England and Wales, agriculture is 
estimated to account for up to 60% of nitrate 
losses to the water environment, and also 
nationally, 25% phosphate, of 75% sediment 
loadings in rivers, and 80% of nitrate pollution to 
groundwaters. These actions to reduce ammonia 
emissions will help to improve nitrogen use 
efficiency, which can improve water quality and 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Some of 
these practices will also save farmers money on 
inorganic fertilisers. 

Widespread implementation of these kinds of 
measures across the farming sector is expected 
to reduce ammonia emissions in line with our 
2030 targets. In addition to these measures, there 
is a need for specific localised action on ammonia 
to help deliver our nature objectives.

7.3.1 Learning from international 
experience

Action in other European countries has already 
effectively reduced ammonia emissions in this 
way.

Netherlands
The Netherlands reduced ammonia emissions 
by 64% between 1990 to 201677 through 
actions including: 

 ● regulating to ensure manure is applied 
using low-emission spreading equipment

 ● regulating to ensure slurry stores are 
covered

 ● funding for manure banks to supply arable 
farms with excess manure and reduce 
over-application on livestock farms

 ● providing financial support for a voluntary 
industry strategy to develop and install low-
emission animal housing 

 ● regulating to ensure that all new housing 
since 2007 meets low-emission criteria; 
suitable housing is recognised by the 
government through a certification scheme



62

ammonia emissions will be available to farmers in 
high priority water catchment areas through their 
catchment sensitive farming officer by the end of 
the year. 

We are developing a national advisory code of 
good agricultural practice to reduce ammonia 
emissions in collaboration with farming 
organisations, which will be published later this 
year. We will explore whether the code could form 
the basis of a clean air standard within a wider 
gold standard for farmers.

7.3.2 Current action

The government is already acting to help farmers 
to reduce ammonia emissions. The focus of 
action so far has been on enabling farmers to 
invest in the equipment that will help to achieve 
this objective. As a first step, we provided 
practical help for farmers through the Farming 
Ammonia Reduction Grant Scheme which 
funded slurry store covers, and on-farm advice. 
Funding is now available through the Countryside 
Productivity Scheme to help farmers purchase 
manure management equipment including low-
emission spreaders and through the Countryside 
Stewardship Scheme for slurry tank and lagoon 
covers for farmers in priority water catchments.

We are also working with farming organisations to 
increase the uptake of best practice and signpost 
available grant funding for low emissions farm 
equipment and infrastructure through a number 
of routes. We are supporting industry action, led 
by the Campaign for the Farmed Environment 
which has run workshops on reducing ammonia 
emissions and improving nutrient use efficiency 
this spring. We are also delivering a £3m 
programme of support to farmers over the next 
3 years. This will start with demonstration events 
across the country in autumn 2018, showcasing 
low-emission spreading equipment and providing 
advice on other practical mitigation methods, such 
as slurry and manure storage, housing, animal 
feed and fertiliser use. Practical help to reduce 

7.4 Cutting ammonia emissions from farming

More still needs to be done to reduce emissions 
of ammonia in line with our targets. To achieve 
this, we will introduce clear, proportionate 
regulations. We are seeking views on 3 possible 
approaches to regulation (see Section 7.4.2). 
The government has recently consulted on the 
future of agriculture policy in England. In future, 
financial support for the farming sector will be 
focused on delivering improvements to the 
environment, including air quality and protection 
of the habitats impacted by it. For most farmers, 
changing practice to reduce emissions will incur 
some costs. Therefore, we will require and 
support farmers to make investments in the farm 
infrastructure and equipment that will reduce 
emissions.

A future environmental land management system 
will fund targeted action to protect habitats 
impacted by poor air quality. Achievement of our 
2030 air quality targets will reduce the pressure 
of emissions on semi-natural habitats. However, 
despite projected improvements, some vulnerable 
habitats will still be exposed to nitrogen deposition 
and atmospheric levels of ammonia that are 
greater than they can tolerate. Natural England 
is currently examining options to improve the 
effectiveness of incentive schemes for mitigating 
ammonia emissions to air and protecting natural 
ecosystems. In addition, we will commission 
further work to determine how these habitats 
might be protected most effectively through new 
environmental land management schemes. 



63

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

We will task a group of independent specialists 
to make recommendations by November 
2019 on the maximum limits that should be 
applied for (organic and inorganic) fertiliser 
application, taking account of economic efficiency 
and commitments to reduce ammonia and 
greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture and 
to protect sensitive habitats and water bodies.

The advantage of setting limits is that farmers 
would have the freedom to choose how to 
optimise the use of nitrogen to best suit their 
chosen method of production. It may also 
encourage the farming sector and its suppliers to 
develop and adopt innovative approaches.

2. Extension of environmental permitting to 
large dairy farms by 2025 

Ammonia emissions arising from dairy cattle 
accounted for around 28%79 of UK agricultural 
ammonia emissions in 2016. However, emissions 
from the dairy sector are not currently regulated. 
Given their contribution to ammonia emissions 
and other pollutants, there may be a case for 
adopting similar controls for the largest dairy 
farms to those currently applied to intensive 
pig and poultry units under the environmental 
permitting regime. In the UK, around 60% of 
ammonia emissions from dairy farms are from 
farm premises with over 150 cows80.   

This approach would require industry and 
government to agree appropriate emission limits 
and Best Available Techniques for the sector, 
and regulated farms would then be given time 
to implement the proposals. It is proposed that 
the requirements should be implemented on the 
largest dairy farms by 2025.

It is anticipated that other policies would 
be needed, in addition to the extension of 
environmental permitting to large dairy farms, in 
order to meet the ammonia emissions reduction 
targets. 

3. Rules on specific emissions-reducing 
practices

We propose to introduce the following rules 
through regulation: 

 ● a requirement to spread urea-based fertilisers 
in conjunction with urease inhibitors, unless 
applied by injection on appropriate land by 
2020

7.4.1 Improving the evidence base

The UK’s ammonia inventory compares 
favourably to those compiled in other countries 
and UK academics have actively shaped the 
guidance used internationally for compiling 
agricultural emissions inventories. A lot of work is 
being done by farming organisations and advisers 
to improve uptake of best practice to reduce 
ammonia emissions. We will continue to work 
with the agriculture sector to ensure the ammonia 
inventory reflects existing farming practice and 
the latest evidence on emissions.

7.4.2 We will regulate to reduce 
ammonia emissions from farming 

The three approaches proposed below could 
be introduced separately or in combination; we 
welcome views on these. 

1. Introduction of nitrogen (or fertiliser) limits

The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out our 
commitment to work with farmers to improve 
fertiliser use efficiency. The plan states that we 
will “put in place a robust framework to limit inputs 
of nitrogen-rich fertilisers such as manures, 
slurries and chemicals to economically efficient 
levels backed up by clear rules, advice and, 
where appropriate, financial support”. 

Fertiliser recommendations for different crops 
are published by the Agriculture and Horticulture 
Development Board in the fertiliser manual 
(RB209). The recommendations advocate 
application of fertilisers in accordance with the 
economic optimum to the farmer for that crop, 
taking into account both fertiliser price and crop 
prices.

In order to determine nitrogen limits which would 
effectively reduce ammonia emissions to meet 
ammonia targets, it would be necessary to set 
them at a level which reflects the costs of fertiliser 
application to the environment either at the farm, 
local, regional or national level. Given the impact 
of fertilisers (including organic fertilisers such as 
manures and digestates) on water quality and 
on greenhouse gas emissions, we propose that 
the limits should take an integrated approach, 
considering all these impacts. 



64

 ● the requirement for all slurry and digestate 
stores and manure heaps to be covered by 
2027 

This approach provides farmers, farm suppliers 
and farm service providers with certainty about 
the investments and farm practice changes 
needed. Adoption of these measures is likely to 
deliver the majority of the ammonia emissions 
reductions needed to meet emissions reduction 
targets by 2030. 

 ● mandatory design standards for new livestock 
housing by 2022; we propose that the 
standards would be developed in conjunction 
with industry and cover at least poultry, pig 
and dairy housing 

 ● a requirement for all solid manure and 
solid digestate spread to bare land to be 
incorporated rapidly (within 12 hours) by 2022 

 ● a requirement to spread slurries and digestate 
using low-emission spreading equipment 
(trailing shoe or trailing hose or injection) by 
2027 

7.5 Action to reduce emissions from farming

 ● we will provide a national code of good 
agricultural practice to reduce ammonia 
emissions

 ● we will regulate to reduce ammonia emissions 
from farming and are seeking views on 3 
possible approaches to regulation

 ● we propose to require and support farmers to 
make investments in the farm infrastructure 
and equipment that will reduce emissions

 ● we propose that a future environmental land 
management system should fund targeted 
action to protect habitats impacted by 
ammonia

 ● we will continue to work with the agriculture 
sector to ensure the ammonia inventory 
reflects existing farming practice and the 
latest evidence on emissions

 ● we will task a group of independent experts 
to make recommendations by November 
2019 on the maximum limits that should be 
applied for (organic and inorganic) fertiliser 
application, taking account of economic 
efficiency and commitments to reduce 
ammonia and greenhouse gas emissions from 
agriculture, and to protect sensitive habitats 
and water bodies



65

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Ammonia emissions from digestate can be 
reduced by covering stores and using low-
emission spreading equipment. Many AD facilities 
are subject to environmental permits requiring 
digestate stores to be covered which helps 
to reduce ammonia emissions. Digestate can 
give rise to more ammonia emissions than the 
fertilisers it is likely to replace. The spreading of 
digestate accounts for the majority of emissions 
from AD, and it is therefore important that it 
is spread in accordance with good practice 
guidance.

We are considering options for ensuring 
that, in future, digestate produced through 
AD incentivised by government is required 
to be spread using best practice techniques. 
Introducing rules requiring future AD plants to be 
certified by schemes to ensure best practice is 
followed is one way this could be done. 

 ● Q18. Should future anaerobic digestion 
(AD) supported by government schemes be 
required to use best practice low emissions 
spreading techniques through certification? If 
not, what other short-term strategies to reduce 
ammonia emissions from AD should be 
implemented? Please provide any evidence 
you have to support your suggestions.

 ● Q16. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the farming chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q17. What are your preferences in relation 
to the 3 regulatory approaches outlined and 
the timeframe for their implementation: (1) 
introduction of nitrogen (or fertiliser) limits; (2) 
extension of permitting to large dairy farms; 
(3) rules on specific emissions-reducing 
practices? Please provide evidence in support 
of your views if possible. 

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is an effective treatment 
for organic waste which produces renewable fuel, 
heat or energy and a nutrient rich by-product, 
digestate, which can be used as a fertiliser. AD 
also helps to avoid greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with manure storage and waste 
disposal to landfill. 

As well as these positive impacts on the 
environment, ammonia emissions released during 
the AD process and during the storage and 
spreading of digestate account for around 3% 
of UK ammonia emissions81. Over recent years 
the AD industry, and the ammonia emissions 
associated with it, have grown rapidly in response 
to incentives to encourage the use of renewable 
heat and energy. We expect the AD industry to 
continue to grow in scale while these incentives 
are offered. 

7.6 Ammonia emissions from anaerobic digestion  

7.7 Questions  



66

other sources, will have a direct impact on the 
concentration of air pollutants in those places 
where people live and work. 

Chapter 4 set out how businesses can increase 
productivity and achieve air quality improvements 
by harnessing the opportunities for innovation and 
investment in clean growth. The government’s 
Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain Fit for the 
Future82 and Clean Growth Strategy83, set out 
how we will maximise the advantages for UK 
industry of the global shift to clean growth. 

Industrial processes, including energy generation 
to power our businesses and homes, and the 
manufacture of goods and food can all create 
pollution. These processes are carefully managed 
to avoid potentially significant impacts on our 
health and environment and this has already 
made a significant contribution to reductions in 
air pollution. However, emissions from industrial 
sources still contribute to background levels 
of pollution throughout the UK. Reducing 
these emissions further, alongside action on 

8.1 Industry and air quality

8. Action to reduce
emissions from industry

A sectoral breakdown of the UK’s industrial emissions of air pollutants 

The following charts show the contribution of individual sectors to 
the UK’s total industrial emissions for 2016. Source: NAEI (2018)

NOX emissions
from industrial
sources (kt)

PM2.5 emissions
from industrial
sources (kt)

SO2 emissions
from industrial
sources (kt)

1.4 0.5

4.7

0.3

2.9

1.0

0.61.3
0.23.1

12.8

14.5 11.8

201.8

6.9
10.2

0.8
3.0

63.3

10.4 2.9

69.3

2.0

10.31.6

1.9

18.2

NMVOC emissions
from industrial
sources (kt)*

* Sectors with total
emissions of less than
2 kt are not labelled

90.0

132.197.9

2.1

106

2.4

Cement and lime production 

Food and drink  

Non-ferrous metal production

Pulp paper and wood production

Other industrial combustion

Solvent and other product use

Chemical industry

Iron and steel

Energy industry

Mining and quarrying

Glass production



67

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Best available techniques 

The Industrial Emissions Directive (IED) aims to prevent and reduce harmful industrial emissions 
across the EU, while promoting the use of techniques that reduce pollutant emissions and that are 
energy and resource efficient.

Larger industrial facilities undertaking specific types of activity are required to use Best Available 
Techniques (BAT) to reduce emissions to air, water and land. BAT means the available techniques 
which are the best for preventing or minimising emissions and impacts on the environment. 
‘Techniques’ include both the technology used and the way your installation is designed, built, 
maintained, operated and decommissioned.

The European Commission produces BAT reference documents (BREFs). For example, there’s 
a BREF for intensive agriculture which contains BAT for housing for pig rearing units and a BREF 
for the textiles industry which contains BAT for selecting materials for textile manufacture. BREFs 
include BAT conclusion documents that contain emission limits associated with BAT, which must be 
complied with.

The UK is committed to maintaining high standards and good practice and will continue to apply the 
existing successful model of integrated pollution control as we exit the EU. As a direct result of these 
actions, the level of pollution from industry has decreased significantly over recent decades.

The UK has been at the forefront of reducing industrial pollution, using a proportionate framework of 
regulation to require industry to improve their environmental performance, and industry has responded 
with investment and innovation to meet these standards. For example, we have set limits on the 
emission of NOX from power stations, reduced the amount of sulphur allowed in liquid fuels and 
redesigned fuel pumps to recover petrol vapour. Industry will need to continue to progressively drive 
down emissions of all pollutants, looking at more diffuse sources such as product use, as well as the 
larger point sources of emissions.

The UK introduced an integrated approach to controlling pollution to air, water and land as a result of the 
1990 Environment Act, as well as the concept of Best Available Techniques. These approaches have 
subsequently been adopted and applied across the EU through the Industrial Emissions Directive, which 
sets challenging industry standards for the most polluting industries.

8.2 A strong existing framework



68

The Industrial Emissions Directive is mainly focused on larger plants (those over 50MW thermal input). 
Emissions from smaller plants used by industry, as well as from offices, large buildings, schools and 
hospitals will also need to be controlled, if we are to make further progress in cutting air pollution. That 
is why we have recently introduced legislation to reduce emissions from a significant and previously 
unregulated source of air pollution: medium-sized combustion plants and generators85. 

Industrial emissions trends

Since 1990, industrial emissions of nitrogen oxides to air have reduced by 74%, emissions of sulphur 
dioxide have reduced by 97% and emissions of volatile organic compounds have reduced by 73%. 
However, industrial emissions are still responsible for a significant proportion of total UK emissions - 
35% of nitrogen oxides, 65% of sulphur dioxides, 27% of particulate matter and 53% of volatile organic 
compounds in 201684.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Em
is

si
on

s 
(k

t)

NOX

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

E
m

is
si

on
s 

(k
t)

PM2.5

0
500

1000
1500
2000
2500
3000
3500
4000

E
m

is
si

on
s 

(k
t)

SO2

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800

E
m

is
si

on
s 

(k
t)

NMVOCs

19
90

19
95

20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

19
90

19
95

20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

19
90

19
95

20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

19
90

19
95

20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

Cement and lime production 

Food and drink  

Non-ferrous metal production

Pulp paper and wood production

Other industrial combustion

Solvent and other product use

Chemical industry

Iron and steel

Energy industry

Mining and quarrying

Glass production



69

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

We will establish a series of workshops with 
the most significant polluting industrial sectors, 
including energy and refineries, iron and steel, 
manufacturing, solvents, chemicals, and other 
industrial sectors such as cement production. 
Through this, we will begin to explore the 
emissions reduction contributions from industry to 
date, the potential to make further commitments 
to improving air quality, and the technical and 
financial feasibility of doing so. As we leave 
the EU, we are provided with an opportunity to 
consider our longer-term framework for industrial 
emissions regulation, and the government 
is seeking views on how best to evolve this 
framework and whether to consider approaches 
such as market-based measures. We will also 
explore whether standards for smaller industrial 
sites could be improved and identify actions to 
reduce NMVOCs indoors and out.

With respect to smaller plants, we will assess 
the evidence and consider whether additional 
measures are required to further reduce 
emissions from medium combustion plants and 
generators in future. 

We also plan to continue to take a proportionate 
approach. That is why we are planning to amend 
the recently implemented generator controls 
to ensure generators used for research and 
development are exempt. This small change will 
ensure a consistent approach with the Medium 
Combustion Plant Directive and Industrial 
Emissions Directive without a significant impact 
on air pollution. We plan to make this amendment 
in autumn 2018 and welcome any views on this 
approach.  

We recognise the importance of maintaining 
policy stability for industry in order to send a 
clear, long-term signal, to provide the certainty 
they need to make investment decisions. Many 
of these businesses have long-term plans 
and investment cycles, so any changes to the 
regulatory framework need to be signalled well 
in advance. That is why we are making clear our 
commitment to the existing successful model of 
integrated pollution control as we leave the EU. In 
order to meet our challenging 2030 targets and to 
maintain our ambitious industrial emissions policy, 
we will look to all sectors to make appropriate 
contributions, recognising both their efforts to 
date and the potential to do more. And, while 
tackling big point sources of emissions remains a 
priority, we will also need to address increasingly 
diffuse sources of emissions in order to reduce 
background levels of pollution. 

As a part of our commitment to better regulation, 
we also want to explore potential opportunities to 
evolve this framework. We will develop a system 
for determining BAT that maintains a consistent 
approach with the Industrial Emissions Directive. 
We will ensure this helps deliver our overall 
commitment of improving the environment within 
a generation.

Working in close collaboration with industry 
we will also explore further opportunities for 
emissions reductions by developing a series of 
sector roadmaps to set ambitious, achievable 
standards aimed at making UK industry world 
leaders in clean technology. The roadmaps 
will identify where additional measures can be 
implemented within industrial sectors, focusing 
on the most polluting industries and those with 
the greatest potential to drive improvements in air 
quality. 

8.3 A commitment to continuous improvement

Diesel generators
Photo: John Henderson at Environment Agency



70

 ● We will develop a UK approach to 
determine Best Available Techniques for 
industrial sectors. We will review existing 
guidance, in conjunction with devolved 
administrations, regulators, industry and 
other interested stakeholders. 

 ● We will review existing guidance to support 
effective emission controls at smaller 
industrial sites and consider whether further 
action is needed to strengthen the current 
regulatory framework.

 ● As legislation on medium combustion 
plants and generators comes into force, we 
will consider the case for tighter emissions 
standards on this source of emissions.

 ● We will close the regulatory gap between 
the current ecodesign and medium 
combustion plant regulations to tackle 
emissions from plants in the 500kW to 
1MW thermal input range.

 ● We will maintain our longstanding policy 
of continuous improvement in relation to 
industrial emissions, building on existing good 
practice to deliver a stable and predictable 
regulatory environment for business as part 
of a world-leading clean green economy. 
This means that we will maintain the existing 
successful model of integrated pollution 
control as we leave the EU. But we also 
want to explore how to evolve this framework 
over time, for instance, by exploring the use 
of market-oriented approaches to further 
reducing industrial emissions. 

 ● We will consult on how to improve the current 
framework to make it work better for both the 
environment, the public and UK industry.

 ● We will work with industrial sectors to 
review improvements to date, and to 
explore opportunities to go further through 
a series of sector roadmaps that set 
ambitious standards – moving beyond a 
focus on minimum standards – to make UK 
industry world leaders in clean technology 
and to secure further emissions reductions 
from industry between 2018 and 2030. 

8.4 Action to tackle emissions from industry

8.5 Consultation Questions

 ● Q19. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the industry chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q20. We have committed to applying Best 
Available Techniques to drive continuous 
improvement in reducing emissions from 
industrial sites. What other actions would 
be effective in promoting industrial emission 
reductions?

 ● Q21. Is there scope to strengthen the current 
regulatory framework in a proportionate 
manner for smaller industrial sites to further 
reduce emissions? If so, how?

 ● Q22. What further action, if any, should 
Government take to tackle emissions from 
medium combustion plants and generators?  
Please provide evidence in support of your 
suggestions where possible.

 ● Q23. How should we tackle emissions from 
combustion plants in the 500kW-1MW thermal 
input range? Please provide evidence you 
might have to support your proposals if 
possible.

 ● Q24. Do you agree or disagree with the 
proposal to exempt generators used for 
research and development from emission 
controls? Please provide evidence where 
possible.



71

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

9.2.1 Securing a green Brexit

Leaving the EU means we will take back control 
of environmental legislation. This presents a 
unique opportunity to design policies to drive 
environmental improvement that are specifically 
tailored to the needs of our country. Our vision 
is for a green Brexit in which environmental 
standards are not only maintained, but enhanced. 
The EU Withdrawal Bill will ensure existing EU 
environmental law continues to have effect in UK 
law after we leave the EU, providing businesses 
and stakeholders with maximum certainty. 
Currently, emission reduction commitments 
in the UK are overseen by the European 
Commission, which has powers to take action 
to enforce compliance. They are also overseen 
by the UNECE Convention on Long-range 
Transboundary Air Pollution and will continue to 
be in future. 

as a model for a global response. As we work 
towards our 2020 and 2030 emission reduction 
commitments, the Convention will continue to 
be the cornerstone of the UK’s international 
engagement on air quality. It will be a key forum 
for cooperation on long term and cross-cutting 
challenges, for example action to tackle short-
lived climate pollutants. The UK will also continue 
to support bodies such as UN Environment and 
the World Health Organisation in raising the 
issue of transboundary air pollution up the global 
agenda.

The action we are taking to develop and 
implement policies to achieve our ambitious 2020 
and 2030 commitments sits alongside similar 
action in other countries. We will continue to 
actively engage with our neighbours, sharing 
experience and best practice. We will continue 
to be reliable partners, willing allies and close 
friends with countries in Europe and around the 
world, as we work to achieve cleaner air for all of 
our citizens.

This government is committed to be the first 
generation to leave the environment in a 
better state than we inherited it. One of our top 
environmental priorities is to drive down overall 
emissions of air pollutants and reduce human 
exposure to local concentrations of pollutants. 
This strategy sets out next steps to achieve our 
challenging national emissions reduction targets. 
These were transposed into UK legislation in 
February 2018. In April 2019, we will produce 
our National Air Pollution Control Programme as 
required under this legislation. This programme 
will set out a detailed pathway to achieving the 
required emissions reductions and show how 
these will impact on local concentrations and 
human exposure to pollution. We will continue to 
monitor and report on air quality across the UK 
within this internationally recognised framework.

Air pollution does not stop at national borders 
and we know that emissions produced across 
the country, the continent and the globe can all 
impact on air quality in the UK. Similarly, the 
emissions we produce in the UK can have health 
and environmental impacts on our neighbours. As 
one of the original signatories to the 1979 UNECE 
Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air 
Pollution, the UK has long been at the forefront 
of international action to tackle transboundary 
air pollution, and formal ratification of the three 
most recently amended Convention Protocols 
in the coming months will signal our ongoing 
commitment to its objectives. 

Under this UN Convention, the UK supports 
international programmes to drive forward 
scientific understanding of air pollution emissions 
and their impacts, and engages constructively 
to agree ambitious standards and emission 
reduction commitments that encourage action 
across the Northern Hemisphere and serve 

9. Leadership at all levels
9.1 International leadership on clean air

9.2 National leadership on clean air



72

In addition we will legislate to ensure that 
major sources of air pollution are subject 
to proportionate controls that reflect the 
risk they pose to public health and the 
environment. This will strengthen powers at both 
national and local level. We will take England-
wide action to:

 ● prohibit the sale of polluting fuels and 
inefficient stoves for domestic use

 ● limit emissions of ammonia from farming

 ● consider the case for setting tighter emission 
controls for biomass installations to reduce 
PM pollution from energy generation

 ● close regulatory gap to apply limits to medium 
combustion plants between 500kw - 1MW and 
consider the case for increasing stringency of 
limits for plants above 1MW

 ● drive-up emissions standards for diesel-
powered non-road mobile machinery before 
and after sale

9.2.3 Action to improve the legisla-
tive framework

 ● The UK government will bring forward primary 
legislation at the earliest opportunity in 
order to secure a more coherent legislative 
framework for action to tackle air pollution.

The government recognises that some of the 
scrutiny mechanisms currently provided by 
the European Commission will no longer exist 
once we leave the EU. In order to ensure that 
there is no governance gap, the government is 
consulting on a new, independent statutory body 
to hold government to account on environmental 
commitments following EU exit; backed up 
by a new policy statement on environmental 
principles. Ensuring that there is transparency 
and accountability in how we achieve our clean 
air ambitions will be a priority in this work.

9.2.2 The legislative framework

The UK government will bring forward legislation 
at the earliest opportunity in order to secure a 
more coherent legislative framework for action 
to tackle air pollution. This will be underpinned 
by new England-wide powers to control major 
sources of air pollution, in line with the risk they 
pose to public health and the environment, plus 
new local powers to take action in areas with an 
air pollution problem.

New clean air legislation will enable the Transport 
Secretary to compel manufacturers to recall 
vehicles and machinery for any failures in 
their emissions control system, and make 
tampering with an emissions control system a 
legal offence. It will also replace the existing 
patchwork with single coherent legislative 
framework for local authorities to tackle air 
quality and bring the law up to date with the 
evolution of structures at sub-national level so 
that accountability for air quality sits in the right 
place. It will update outmoded legislation on 
‘dark smoke’ from chimneys and underused 
provisions on Smoke Control Areas to bring 
them into the 21st century with more flexible, 
proportionate enforcement powers. Finally, it will 
create a new statutory framework for Clean 
Air Zones (CAZ) to simplify current overlapping 
frameworks of CAZ, AQMA and Smoke Control 
Areas to create a single approach covering all 
sources of air pollution.



73

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Defra is already encouraging sustainable travel 
of our employees by developing a Sustainable 
Travel Plan. The plan sets out to reduce air miles 
and private car miles, encourage active travel with 
bike schemes, provide incentives to cycle and 
walk to meetings, and remove the need to travel 
by encouraging remote working.

There are plans to go much further on 
incorporating air quality emissions into 
sustainable procurement across government. 
The Government Buying Standards for vehicle 
procurement published in December 2017 
demonstrated our ambition to accelerate a move 
to zero or ultra-low exhaust emission vehicles, 
thus improving our health and quality of life by 
making the air cleaner in our towns and cities. 

9.3.1 Action to improve coverage 
of air quality in the greening 
government commitments

 ● the government will be taking further robust 
action to reduce emissions across the 
government estate

 ● the Environment Agency are evaluating the 
use of more stringent emissions requirements 
from their suppliers under their Next 
Generation Supplier Arrangements (NGSA)

 ● while government departments already report 
greenhouse gas emissions from their estate 
and operations, we intend to extend this to 
reporting and achieving reductions of air 
pollutant emissions

Case study: PHE/NHS England 
Sustainable Development Unit 
(SDU)

Health related travel makes up over 3% 
of all road miles. In 2017, the Sustainable 
Development Unit (SDU) for Public Health 
England and NHS England published the 
Health Outcomes Transport Tool (HOTT). 
This tool helps NHS organisations measure 
the impact their travel has in environmental, 
financial and health terms, allowing valuation 
of improvements in these same terms. 
HOTT measures impacts (such as air and 
noise pollution, road traffic incidents and 
greenhouse gases) and sources (such as staff 
commute, patient and visitor travel, fleet and 
supply chain travel). Manchester University 
NHS Foundation Trust recently used HOTT to 
evidence that their work on sustainable travel 
had avoided over £870K in economic costs. 
This tool is designed to be used by a wide 
range of health organisations and their supply 
chains, and has the potential to be adopted on 
a much wider scale.   

Achieving our legally binding emissions targets 
at an international level will require action across 
society, and it is the UK government’s ambition 
to lead by example. With the wider environment 
in mind, our commitment to improving air quality 
extends to improving how we are running our 
buildings and estates, as well as the sustainable 
procurement of vehicles, services and cleaning 
products through our Government Buying 
Standards.  

9.3 Greening government commitments



74

9.4.1 Local government tackling NO2 
hotpots around roads

The most immediate and urgent air quality 
challenge faced by local authorities is to tackle 
the problem of NO2 concentrations around 
roads.  This is most acute in towns and cities 
which should be healthy places to live, work 
and relax. The Clean Air Zone (CAZ) framework 
sets out principles for local government to 
define an area where targeted action is taken to 
improve air quality, and resources are prioritised 
and coordinated in order to shape the urban 
environment in a way that delivers improved 
health benefits and supports economic growth. 
28 local authorities have been directed to produce 
local plans to reduce NO2 levels in the shortest 
time possible, which includes benchmarking 
proposals against the possible introduction of a 
Clean Air Zone, where this is appropriate. We are 
undertaking further work with another 33 local 
authorities which have shorter-term exceedances 
to assess whether there are actions they could 
take to meet NO2 concentration limits earlier.

CAZs are available to all local authorities and 
may address all sources of pollution, including 
particulate matter, to reduce public exposure 
using a range of measures appropriate to the 
particular location. The CAZ framework offers a 
creative, total emissions tool for local authorities 
to clean up local air, but awareness of its potential 
is low. We will look to the 28 local authorities 
taking accelerated action under the Air Quality 
Plan to help other local authorities learn 
from their activities. 

Local government has been the main agent for 
cleaning up local air since before the first Clean 
Air Act of 1956. This Clean Air Strategy sets out 
the case for tackling air pollution from activities 
which form an essential part of 21st century 
life. The impacts of air pollution and the action 
required to address it are highly relevant to local 
government priorities: health, housing, transport, 
education, local economies, greenspace and 
quality of life.  As air quality continues to improve, 
the focus on local hotspots will continue to 
increase and local action will remain essential. 

Local authorities have long had specific legal 
powers to tackle air pollution locally, where there 
is evidence from either the local or national 
assessment regimes that it exceeds legal limits.  
They also have long-standing powers to tackle 
emissions from domestic chimneys and industrial 
sources.  Alongside these specific obligations, 
strategic decisions on transport, planning and 
public health taken by local government all 
contribute to the quality of the air that people 
breathe in local communities. We will give local 
government new legal powers to take decisive 
action in the most polluted areas through local 
Clean Air Zones that can lower emissions 
from a wider range of sources than transport 
alone, including:

 ● new powers to control the use of diesel-
powered machinery where it is causing an 
air pollution problem

 ● new powers to ensure cleaner domestic 
burning especially where it is causing an air 
pollution problem

 ● new powers to control biomass and other 
forms of combustion for energy generation 
where it is causing an air pollution problem

9.4 Local action on clean air 



75

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

9.4.2 Local leadership to improve air 
quality

We know good work is taking place across the 
country at local level. For example: 

 ● the county-wide Surrey Air Alliance will deliver 
a programme to primary and secondary 
schools across Surrey to raise awareness 
about the impacts of air quality, encourage 
behaviour change and reduce idling outside 
schools

 ● City of Bradford Council has been leading 
work in collaboration with other West 
Yorkshire local authorities and Public Health 
England to develop a regional Low Emissions 
Strategy; it includes measures to tackle 
transport emissions to deliver significant and 
rapid improvements, encouraging update 
of ULEVs, including development of an air 
quality and planning technical guidance and a 
low emissions procurement guide 

 ● the Sussex Air Quality Partnership will deliver 
a targeted schools and businesses campaign 
to reduce idling, increase walking and cycling 
and reduce emissions from plant 

 ● London Boroughs of Hackney, Islington and 
Tower Hamlets have established a Zero 
Emissions Network, with over 1,100 residents 
and businesses committing to cleaner air

 ● Leicester City Council and London Borough 
of Islington are both making it easier for 
residents to understand and comply with 
Smoke Control Area rules by consolidating all 
their Smoke Control Areas

 ● Westminster City Council worked with a 
hard-to-reach group of businesses to provide 
concrete advice on what actions they can take 
to reduce their air quality impact, this resulted 
in being nominated for a Transport Award

We want these types of good practice to 
showcase what is possible and what can 
be achieved when local government shows 
commitment and leadership to tackle air pollution. 
We will continue to support local government to 
build on the good practice demonstrated by many 
local authorities and ensure that the long-standing 
framework for local action on air pollution remains 
robust and relevant.

Local action to tackle NO2 
exceedances

The UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen 
Dioxide Concentrations launched in July 2017 
announced £255m for 28 local authorities to 
accelerate their air quality plans to achieve 
legal compliance in the shortest possible 
time.  A further £220m was announced in the 
November 2017 Budget for a new Clean Air 
Fund (CAF) available to local authorities to 
support individuals and businesses impacted 
by local plans to improve air quality. Possible 
measures the CAF funding could be used 
to support the 28 local authorities were 
consulted on from 22nd November 2017 to 
5th January 2018. The summary of responses 
and guidance was published in March 2018. 
In total, the government has committed £3.5bn 
for tackling poor air quality and promoting 
cleaner transport. 

We are working with local authorities at all 
levels to tackle the challenge of roadside 
NO2. The Joint Air Quality Unit provides the 
28 local authorities with comprehensive 
technical support and guidance specifically 
for the development and implementation 
of local plans and measures to improve air 
quality.  Each local authority has a dedicated 
account manager who supports co-ordination 
and communication with the relevant local 
authorities, and keeps track of progress. 
We provide guidance and workshop style 
support, and signpost to funding streams 
across government. 

In addition, 33 local authorities that have 
NO2 exceedances (2018 to 2021) have 
been required by government to assess if 
there are measures they could take to bring 
forward the point when they comply with NO2 
concentration limits. These 33 local authorities 
will also have the support of JAQU workshops 
and access to funding, and can also access 
support from Defra as part of the Local Air 
Quality Management (LAQM) framework.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017


76

Furthermore, LAQM does not currently 
effectively encourage all local authorities to work 
collaboratively across departmental or structural 
boundaries, or to take a total emissions approach 
to tackling local air quality. Nor does it always 
focus attention on the most significant issues.  
For example, under the existing system few 
local authorities consider themselves to have a 
problem or need to take action on domestic wood 
and coal burning even though nationally this 
source accounts for 38% of PM2.5 emissions.

9.4.4 Action on local clean air

 ● We will give Local Government new legal 
powers to take decisive action in the most 
polluted areas through local Clean Air Zones 
that can lower emissions from a wider range 
of sources than transport alone.

 ● We will consult on transformative changes to 
the LAQM system to minimise bureaucracy 
and reporting burdens, shifting the focus to 
taking action to clean up local air through 
strong collaborative local partnerships, 
and driving stronger local action on 
reducing PM emissions. 

 ● We will encourage greater public transparency 
about local air quality to empower local 
citizens and the air quality decision-makers in 
their local communities, and provide stronger 
incentives for local authorities to use their 
tools and powers.

 ● We will develop a single, straightforward 
clean air designation covering Air Quality 
Management Areas, Clean Air Zones and 
Smoke Control Areas.

 ● We will strengthen statutory planning 
guidance on air quality and help share good 
practice where it is already happening. 

 ● We will facilitate the sharing of best practice 
and knowledge between local authorities 
through webinars and other digital media. 

9.4.3 Keeping the system under 
review

The current Local Air Quality Management 
framework (LAQM) was established over 20 years 
ago. Lifestyles have changed since then, with 
more private and public transport in everyday use, 
and an increase in the popularity of open fires 
and wood-burning stoves. Now is a good time to 
assess whether the LAQM framework continues 
to be an effective tool for delivering the scale or 
pace of change needed at the local level.

Local government structures have evolved in 
recent decades and vary across the country.  
Across the 353 local authorities in England, there 
are two-tier district and county authorities, as well 
as single-tier unitary authorities, plus metropolitan 
and London boroughs. In six regions’ combined 
authorities, mayors elected in 2017 have 
budgets, powers and responsibilities delegated 
by national government to enable groups of 
local councils to collaborate and make decisions 
across boundaries. Public health and transport 
decisions are made at upper or regional level, as 
are strategic decisions on investment, growth, job 
creation and home building.  These policies can 
drive real change in improving local air; however, 
policy responsibility for local air quality remains at 
district level in two-tier authorities.

242 local authorities in England have one or more 
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). These 
are designated where local air quality monitoring 
identifies a problem. Once an AQMA is in place, 
the local authority is expected to produce a plan 
to tackle the issue. Some AQMAs are for more 
than one pollutant, and many local authorities 
have more than one AQMA. There are 556 
AQMAs in England and some were declared 
as long ago as 2001. Only 166 AQMAs have 
been revoked86, suggesting that problems once 
identified may not be being resolved. Differences 
between the LAQM framework and national 
compliance assessment approaches required by 
the EU Ambient Air Quality Directive often create 
confusion for local authorities and citizens.  



77

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

 ● Q28. What are the benefits of making 
changes to the balance of responsibility for 
clean local air between lower and upper tier 
authorities?  What are the risks?

 ● Q29. What improvements should be made 
to the Local Air Quality Management 
(LAQM) system? How can we minimise 
the bureaucracy and reporting burdens 
associated with LAQM?

Our international emission reduction commitments, under the National Emission Ceilings Directive and 
Gothenburg Protocol under the Convention, have been agreed at a UK level. The UK Government 
annually prepares a national atmospheric emissions inventory in line with internationally recognised 
standards and is required to report on their achievement. Nevertheless, air quality is a devolved 
policy area: Scotland, Northern Ireland, and Wales lead on policy within their own territories. Given 
the transboundary nature of air pollution, close partnership-working between the nations of the UK 
is essential. The UK government and the devolved administrations are working together to manage 
transboundary air pollution and improve air quality right across the UK. 

Each administration faces different challenges in reducing emissions. Therefore different approaches 
are required across the UK to meet these challenges and address the specific sources of pollution and 
emission patterns. The chart below show the relative change of air pollutant emissions for England, 
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales as compared to the overall UK change, and the proportion of UK 
emissions that each nation produced in 2015.

-80% -70% -60% -50% -40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10%

Particulate matter (PM10)

Nitrogen oxides

Non-methane volatile
organic compounds

Sulphur dioxide

Ammonia

Percentage change in emissions 2005-2015

Northern Ireland Wales
Scotland England UK

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Particulate matter
(PM10)

Nitrogen
oxides

Non-methane volatile
organic compounds

Sulphur
dioxide

Ammonia

5102 ni snoissi
me latot fo noitroporP

England Scotland Wales Northern Ireland Unallocated

 ● Q25. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the leadership chapter?  
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q26. Do you feel that the England-wide 
legislative package set out in 9.2.2 is 
appropriate?  Why/why not?

 ● Q27. Are there gaps in the powers available 
to local government for tackling local air 
problems?  If so, what are they?

9.6 Action on clean air across the UK

9.5 Questions

Relative change of air pollutant emissions for England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales



78

Our international emission reduction commitments, under the National Emission Ceilings Directive and 
Gothenburg Protocol under the Convention, have been agreed at a UK level. The UK Government 
annually prepares a national atmospheric emissions inventory in line with internationally recognised 
standards and is required to report on their achievement. Nevertheless, air quality is a devolved 
policy area: Scotland, Northern Ireland, and Wales lead on policy within their own territories. Given 
the transboundary nature of air pollution, close partnership-working between the nations of the UK 
is essential. The UK government and the devolved administrations are working together to manage 
transboundary air pollution and improve air quality right across the UK. 

Each administration faces different challenges in reducing emissions. Therefore different approaches 
are required across the UK to meet these challenges and address the specific sources of pollution and 
emission patterns. The chart below show the relative change of air pollutant emissions for England, 
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales as compared to the overall UK change, and the proportion of UK 
emissions that each nation produced in 2015.

-80% -70% -60% -50% -40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10%

Particulate matter (PM10)

Nitrogen oxides

Non-methane volatile
organic compounds

Sulphur dioxide

Ammonia

Percentage change in emissions 2005-2015

Northern Ireland Wales
Scotland England UK

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Particulate matter
(PM10)

Nitrogen
oxides

Non-methane volatile
organic compounds

Sulphur
dioxide

Ammonia

5102 ni snoissi
me latot fo noitroporP

England Scotland Wales Northern Ireland Unallocated

The following sections set out a summary of air quality data for each country of the UK and showcase 
actions taken already, which have led to considerable improvements.

Proportion of UK emissions that each nation produced in 2015



79

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

Air pollution in Northern Ireland is dominated by three main sources: nitrogen oxides from road traffic 
emissions, in particular those from diesel vehicles; particulate matter from residential burning of solid 
fuels, in particular coal; and ammonia emissions from agricultural activities such as manure storage, 
handling and spreading.

Northern Ireland has largely seen reductions in emissions in recent years similar to those for the UK as 
a whole for nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and volatile organic compounds. Emissions of ammonia 
and particulate matter have reduced at a slower rate in Northern Ireland than for the UK as a whole and 
emissions of these pollutants in Northern Ireland represent a significant proportion of the UK total; this 
reflects the nature of land use in Northern Ireland, and the relative importance of the agricultural sector 
to the Northern Ireland economy. 

Northern Ireland’s geography and maritime position ensure it has a steady supply of good air; 
however, NO2 pollution from road traffic is a significant problem,whilst the proportion of journeys made 
by public transport and active travel is fairly stable over time. However, generally concentrations of 
nitrogen dioxide have been falling in recent years and except for Belfast, Northern Ireland is compliant 
with the limit values for nitrogen dioxide concentrations set out by the Air Quality Directive. Further 
action to reduce these concentrations was announced in the UK plan for tackling nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations. Since 1994, there has been a 36% drop in the annual mean concentration 
of nitrogen dioxide at the Belfast Centre station.

The Northern Ireland Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs (DAERA) recognises 
the contribution of emissions of nitrogen oxides from road transport to non-compliance in Belfast 
with the limit value and suggests a number of initiatives that have been taken forward to address this 
including investment in infrastructure and public transport. 

9.7 Action to tackle air pollution in Northern Ireland



80

The trend in ammonia emissions for Northern Ireland by sector is shown inthe figure below; which shows 
that a large proportion of ammonia emissions come from manure management and manure applied 
to soils. Emissions of ammonia in Northern Ireland have increased by 5% since 2005. An increase in 
the cattle population in the last few years (a 6% increase between June 2014 and June 2016, although 
cattle numbers are down compared with 2005), a large increase in the pig population over the last 
decade (48% increase between June 2005 and June 201687), along with spreading of animal manure 
to agricultural soils are responsible for the increase in ammonia emissions. The spatial distribution of 
emissions in Northern Ireland is determined by the distribution of farms across the administration.

Cattle manure management
Grazing animal excreta
Inorganic fertilizers

Manure applied to soils
Other manure management

19
95

19
90

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

0

10

20

30

kt

11%

34%

7%

10%38%

Disaggregation of agriculture
 emissions in 2015

Industrial Processes

Transport Sources

Other

Waste

Agriculture

Ammonia emissions in Northern Ireland by sector, 1990 - 2015

Ammonia emissions map for Northern 
Ireland, 2015



81

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY
The trend in particulate matter (PM10) emissions for Northern Ireland by sector is shown in the figure 
below; which shows that PM10 emissions have a number of sources, but residential combustion activity 
contributes a large proportion of emissions in Northern Ireland.

19
90

19
95

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

0

5

10

15

kt

Solvent Processes

Other
Agriculture

Energy Industries

Industrial Combustion
Industrial Processes

Transport Sources

Residential, Commercial & Public Sector Combustion

94%

Disaggregation of residential,
commercial & public sector
combustion emissions, 2015

Commerical &
public sector
Outdoor industries

Residential

Similar to the rest of the UK, the use of wood-
burning stoves and open fires in residential 
homes is on the rise in Northern Ireland. Domestic 
combustion is a particular issue for Northern 
Ireland due to the relatively high proportion of 
homes that do not have gas or electrical heating. 
At least 66% of households in the 2011 census 
did not have gas or electric central heating; the 
majority of these households have oil-based 
central heating. This represents a much larger 
proportion of the population dependent on solid 
fuels or oil for their heating needs compared to 
England (at least 9% of households), Scotland 
(at least 10% of households), and Wales (at least 
14% of households). The spatial distribution 
of emissions in Northern Ireland is determined 
by the distribution of the population (domestic 
combustion).

PM10 emissions in Northern Ireland by sector, 1990 - 2015

PM10 emissions map for Northern Ireland, 2015



82

9.7.1 Northern Ireland’s plans for 
cleaner air

A specific Air Quality Strategy for Northern Ireland 
is due for consultation in the first half of 2018. 
The strategy will look at air pollution on a sectoral 
basis, focusing on pollution from road traffic, 
household emissions and agricultural activities. It 
will put forward policy proposals for reducing air 
pollution from each of these sectors. It also looks 
at the existing Local Air Quality Management 
(LAQM) system to see how it should be improved, 
and makes recommendations regarding raising 
awareness of air pollution and its impacts, and 
how communication may be used to promote 
behaviour change.

The Northern Ireland Executive has a draft 
Programme for Government which contains 
an indicator on air quality (monitored levels of 
nitrogen dioxide). The indicator has a delivery 
plan that sets out a range of measures, including 
those focusing on transport, which are aimed at 
reducing congestion and promoting modal shift 
away from private car use. Following consultation 
on the draft Air Quality Strategy for Northern 
Ireland, a finalised strategy will be published in 
late 2018/early 2019. Measures contained in 
the Programme for Government Delivery Plan 
for the air quality indicator will also come on line 
in the future.

Northern Ireland is signed up to the UK Air 
Quality Strategy. The Department for Agriculture, 
Environment and Rural Affairs (DAERA) funds 
local authorities to enable them to monitor air 
quality, declare Air Quality Management Areas, 
and produce Action Plans to deal with air 
pollution. DAERA will revise Northern Ireland’s 
air quality policy and legislation and devise 
an Air Quality Action Plan. This will include a 
specific action plan for tackling emissions of 
ammonia, based on the findings by theExpert 
Working Group on Sustainable Agricultural Land 
Management.

The Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) (‘Glider’) project 
is a £90m investment, which will bring a new kind 
of high quality public transport system to Belfast 
and is due to become operational in September 
2018. BRT is a key element in the delivery of a 
step-change in the quality of public transport in 
Belfast and is one of the key supporting drivers 
for regeneration throughout the city, providing 
high quality access to, and linkages between, 
jobs, hospitals, schools and colleges across 

the city. It is hoped that BRT will contribute to a 
reduction in the number of short journeys made 
by car in the city and will lead to an improvement 
in air quality.

A Northern Ireland Expert Working Group on 
Sustainable Agricultural Land Management 
has examined the issue of ammonia in an 
annex to their original Strategy. This group 
had membership from across the spectrum of 
stakeholders with an interest in land, including 
farmers, the environment sector, the supply 
chain and government. Its report on ammonia 
is entitled Making Ammonia Visible. The report 
made a number of key recommendations to 
government and farmers: a partnership approach 
to address ammonia; improved communication 
and education on ammonia; scientific research 
to address significant evidence gaps; adoption of 
guiding principles for planning applications; the 
implementation of ammonia mitigation measures 
on farms, including an end to the use of both 
splashplates for slurry-spreading and non-
stablised urea fertiliser; and the establishment of 
an Agri Emissions Partnership.

DAERA has established a Project Board on 
Ammonia to develop and implement a DAERA 
Action Plan on Ammonia. This action plan will set 
out an approach which aims to:

 ● achieve tangible and sustained reductions 
in ammonia emissions from Northern Ireland 
farms 

 ● reduce the impact of ammonia via nitrogen 
deposition on nature and habitats, and in 
particular, designated sites

 ● respond to each of the recommendations of 
the Expert Working Group in their Ammonia 
Annex

 ● encourage uptake of on-farm ammonia 
mitigation measures

 ● highlight the impact of ammonia on human 
health, while noting the relevant uncertainties

DAERA has also commissioned research into 
pollution from solid fuel burning and is taking 
measures to reduce emissions from domestic 
combustion sources, particularly from wet wood 
and coal burning.

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/daera/Ammonia%20Annex-%20Expert%20Working%20Group%20%28final%29.pdf


83

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

and transport planning decisions made across 
local authority boundaries can have implications 
for local air quality. The regional approach is 
focused on the strategic development planning 
authority areas surrounding the four cities.

The outputs from the NMF will be used to inform 
the NLEF. This is designed to enable local 
authorities to appraise, justify the business case 
for, and implement a range of transport related 
policy interventions to improve local air quality. 

Since CAFS was published, the Scottish 
Government has announced plans to establish 
Scotland’s first Low Emission Zone (LEZ) by the 
end of 2018, in Glasgow.  This will be followed by 
further LEZs in Aberdeen, Dundee and Edinburgh 
by 2020, and in all remaining local Air Quality 
Management Areas by 2023, where appraisal 
suggests such an approach would be appropriate.

The first CAFS annual progress report89 was 
published in June 2017 and summarises progress 
on delivering the actions.

Scotland has largely seen reductions in emissions 
of the five NECD pollutants in recent years that 
are similar to those for the UK as a whole.

In November 2015, the Scottish Government 
published Cleaner Air for Scotland – The Road 
to a Healthier Future (CAFS)88, Scotland’s first 
separate air quality strategy. CAFS sets out in 
detail how Scotland intends to deliver further air 
quality improvements over the coming years.  

CAFS sets out a national approach to improving 
air quality. The strategy contains 40 key actions 
within six policy areas – transport, health, 
climate change, legislation, placemaking and 
communications. CAFS also introduces two 
important new policy initiatives, the National 
Modelling Framework (NMF) and the National 
Low Emission Framework (NLEF). 

The NMF promotes a standard approach to 
evaluating and assessing air quality, providing 
evidence to support the actions and decision 
making process around land use and traffic 
management to improve local air quality. The 
NMF consists of two elements, a local modelling 
approach and a regional modelling approach.  
The local approach involves building detailed 
air quality and traffic models for Scotland’s four 
largest cities – Aberdeen, Dundee, Edinburgh 
and Glasgow.  The regional approach draws on 
air quality modelling methodology adopted in the 
Netherlands and reflects the fact that land use 

9.8 Action to tackle air pollution in Scotland



84

Air pollution often originates from similar activities 
that contribute to climate change and there are 
many co-benefits that can be realised through 
actions such as promoting low-carbon vehicles, 
renewable sources of energy and planting trees. 
In delivering the Low Carbon Delivery Plan, the 
Welsh Government will look to maximise the 
opportunities from the transition to a low carbon 
economy, which not only brings opportunities 
around clean growth, quality jobs and global 
market advantages, but also has wider benefits of 
enhanced places to live and work, with clean air 
and water and improved health outcomes. 

The WFG Act has also established average 
population exposure to nitrogen dioxide as one of 
the Welsh Government national indicators which 
are used to measure progress towards well-being 
goals in Wales.

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 sets out the 
“sustainable management of natural resources” 
(SMNR). SMNR means using natural resources 
in a way and at a rate that promotes the 
achievement of the objective to maintain and 
enhance the resilience of ecosystems and the 
benefits they provide, and that, in doing so, 
meets the needs of present generations without 
compromising the ability of future generations 
to meet their needs. The definition of “natural 
resources” includes air. The Act sets out a 
framework for the delivery of SMNR, which 
includes a statutory evidence base: The State of 
Natural Resources Report published by Natural 
Resources Wales in 201693, and a statutory 
Natural Resources Policy which was published 
in August 201794. The Natural Resources Policy 
sets out the challenges and opportunities for 
managing Wales’ natural resources sustainably, 
which includes reducing pollution levels in air 
and enhancing air quality.  Actions for air quality 
include taking practical steps to improve air 
quality across Wales, not just in the most polluted 
hotspots but across Wales. This will require a 
mix of action to address pollution from traffic and 
other sources and to improve the ability of the 
natural environment to absorb pollutants through 
tree planting and green infrastructure.

The Welsh Government is committed to building 
healthier communities and better environments. 
Clean air has a central role in creating the right 
conditions for better health, well-being and 
greater physical activity in Wales. In September 
2017, the Welsh Government published 
their national strategy: ‘Prosperity for All’90. 
This document sets out a cross-Government 
commitment to reducing emissions and delivering 
vital improvements in air quality through 
planning, infrastructure, regulation, and health 
communication measures91.

The Welsh Government provides the strategic 
direction for air policy in Wales, which is framed 
within a complex set of regulatory and operational 
responsibilities.

The Welsh Government has recently 
strengthened their own legislative framework 
through the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 (WFG Act) and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 201692, which sets a legal target for 
reducing emissions by a minimum of 80% by 
2050 and places a duty on the Welsh Ministers to 
set a series of interim targets (for 2020, 2030 and 
2040) and carbon budgets. These budgets will set 
limits on the total amount of emissions emitted in 
Wales over a 5 year period and act as stepping 
stones to ensure regular progress is being made 
towards the long term target.

By the end of 2018, the Welsh Government 
will be setting their interim targets and first two 
carbon budgets in legislation, providing clarity 
and certainty to help drive investment. The Welsh 
Government will also set out how they are going 
to achieve their first carbon budget through 
policies and proposals by the end of March 
2019. This will inform their Low Carbon Delivery 
Plan. These actions will cover key sectors such 
as energy, buildings, agriculture and land use, 
industry and business, waste and transport. 

9.9 Clean air Wales



85

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

The Welsh Government is currently assessing 
how their existing Code of Good Agricultural 
Practice addresses these requirements and 
whether the Code, which is currently being 
reviewed, should be amended. 

The principles of Basic Measures were consulted 
upon as part of the Consultation on the SMNR, 
which ended in 2017. A Welsh Government 
working group has been established to consider 
the need for Basic Measures, including measures 
to address air pollution caused by agriculture, and 
whether powers are available or needed for their 
introduction. The outcome of this work will inform 
future Clean Air Wales Programme actions.

The Programme will build on existing cross-
Government work to reduce air pollution. For 
example, Planning Policy Wales (PPW), the 
Welsh Government’s main planning policy 
document, has been completely restructured and 
rewritten in the context of the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act. 

Air quality and soundscape are addressed in 
the new PPW as a key component of the natural 
and built environment, placing the issues on 
an equal footing with other objectives such as 
housing, transport and economic development. 
The revisions to PPW recognise the importance 
of air quality and appropriate soundscapes to 
the health and well-being of people and the 
environment. It is expected that the new PPW 
will ensure long-term approaches are taken to 
prevent creation of new problems or worsening 
of existing issues. It will also seek to encourage 
integrated solutions which aim to reduce average 
levels of airborne pollution. The revised PPW was 
published for public consultation on 12 February 
with responses required by 18 May95.

On 25 April, the Welsh Government published 
their consultation on a Clean Air Zone Framework 
for Wales. This provides guidance to local 
authorities96  who are considering options to 
address local air quality issues. It describes what 
a clean air zone is, under what circumstances it 
may be applied and the key considerations for 
local authorities who wish to establish one. The 
reasons for reducing airborne pollution, through 
a clean air zone, may be to address the need 
to reduce emissions to within legal limits, but 
most importantly, to bring about improvements 
in the environment and to deliver better health 
for all. The final version of the Framework will be 
published, and issued to local authorities, by 31 
July 2018.

Clean Air Wales Programme

In order to be effective in tackling air quality 
pollution, it is essential to take a cross-
Government approach. To achieve this, the Welsh 
Government is establishing a cross-Government 
Clean Air Wales Programme this summer to 
reduce the burden of poor air quality on human 
health and the natural environment. In the nearer 
term, it will support delivery of actions required 
to comply with our European and domestic 
legislative air quality obligations.

This programme will consider evidence and 
develop and implement actions required across 
Government Departments including environment, 
decarbonisation, transport, local government, 
planning, agriculture and industry to achieve 
Clean Air for Wales.

For example, in order to reduce atmospheric 
ammonia and fine particulate matter emissions, 
the Directive requires National Air Pollution 
Control Programmes to include measures 
applicable to the agricultural sector. Such 
measures should be cost-effective and based 
on specific information and data, taking account 
of scientific progress and previous measures 
undertaken by Member States. There is a 
requirement for a National Action Programme to 
be published by March 2019.

Draft guidance and reporting format for the 
National Air Pollution Control Programme 
required under the Directive is currently being 
assessed. Member States must take into account 
an Ammonia Guidance Document and make use 
of best available techniques. Member States 
must also establish a national advisory code of 
good agricultural practice to control ammonia 
emissions, taking into account the UNECE 
Framework Code for Good Agricultural Practice 
for Reducing Ammonia Emissions of 2014, which 
covers at least the following items: 

 ● nitrogen management, taking into account the 
whole nitrogen cycle

 ● livestock feeding strategies

 ● low-emission manure spreading techniques

 ● low-emission manure storage systems

 ● low-emission animal housing systems 

 ● possibilities for limiting ammonia emissions 
from the use of mineral fertilisers



86

On 25 April, the Welsh Government also 
published a consultation on the Welsh 
Government supplemental plan to the UK plan for 
tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations 
2017. The plan sets out how the Welsh 
Government will reduce concentrations of NO2 
around roads where levels are above legal limits 
in the shortest possible time. 

Welsh Ministers have accepted that the Welsh 
section of the 2017 plan did not satisfy the 
requirements of the Ambient Air Quality Directive 
and associated Welsh Regulations during a 
judicial review earlier this year. This consultation 
and the accompanying Plan have been published 
to meet legal obligations.  

The Welsh Government is committed to legal 
compliance. However, the focus of the plan 
is taking action to improve the air quality for 
everyone in Wales for the health improvements 
that this will deliver and because it’s the right 
thing to do. A final compliant plan will be 
published by 31 July 2018 in accordance with a 
court undertaking.

The Welsh Governments has committed £20 
million for an Air Quality Fund through to 2021 to 
help accelerate compliance with nitrogen dioxide 
limits and improve air quality in Wales.

This will be used to provide ongoing support, 
guidance and finance, enabling Councils to 
develop and implement plans and take action to 
achieve compliance in the soonest possible time.

In addition, the Welsh Government issued new 
statutory policy guidance to local authorities 
in Wales in June 2017, which ensures that the 
ways of working enshrined in the WFG Act 
are applied fully in local authorities’ air quality 
management work. The new guidance stresses 
the need for transport and planning departments 
in local authorities to work collaboratively with air 
quality teams if local air quality management is 
to succeed. This statutory guidance recognises 
schools and active travel routes, amongst others, 
as “sensitive receptor locations”.

Addressing air quality in Wales is an urgent issue 
and local authorities are crucial to achieving 
the development of a broad range of solutions. 
The Welsh Government has invited Welsh 
local authorities to apply for use of their Green 
Infrastructure funding97 to secure any monitoring 
equipment they need for assessing, mapping and 
targeting appropriate solutions which includes the 
development and/or enhancement of local green 
infrastructure.

A key future action for the programme is the 
development of a Clean Air Plan for Wales, 
which the Welsh Government intends to publish 
for consultation by the end of 2018 with a view 
to publishing in early 2019. The Clean Air Plan 
for Wales will include of range of measures to 
support our aspirations for clean air, including:

 ● identifying key pollutants and their affects on 
public health and the natural environment in 
Wales. These will include noise and legally 
binding targets to reduce emissions of the 
most damaging pollutants under the National 
Emissions Celling Directive (fine particulate 
matter, ammonia, nitrogen oxides, sulphur 
dioxide, non-methane volatile, ozone) by 2020 
and 2030

 ● measures to achieve compliance with 
the European and domestic legislative 
requirements

 ● actions across a range of Welsh Government 
departments and sectors to achieve clean 
air in Wales. For example, environment, 
transport, planning, agriculture and industry

 ● details about the establishment of a Air 
Quality Assessment and Monitoring Centre 
for Wales, to advise local and national 
government on the extent of poor air quality 
and the effectiveness of current and future 
actions

 ● proposed communications, engagement and 
education to encourage behavioural change 
to support air quality improvements

 ● proposed improvements to local authority 
reporting on air quality issues in their areas 
and their plans to deal with them



87

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

The UK has signed up to a number of high-profile international agreements to improve air quality. This 
is because we recognise that reducing air pollution not only benefits our own citizens, but emissions can 
travel long distances and impact human and environmental health around the world. Our commitments 
relate to total emissions98 and local concentrations99 of pollutants.

The UK is compliant with the concentration limit values set out in EU legislation, except for NO2 where 
we face a significant challenge along with many other EU countries. We have therefore produced an 
air quality plan for nitrogen dioxide100, which will ensure compliance with NO2 limit values as quickly as 
possible. We are currently compliant with our ceilings for total emissions for all pollutants. However, we 
need to ensure that we continue to reduce the total amount of air pollution we produce to both protect 
the health of the nation and remain compliant with our statutory commitments.

The table below, presents our 2005 baseline emissions of 5 key pollutants and our commitments to 
reductions by 2020 and 2030101. 

2005 baseline 
(kt)

Reduction 
required by 
2020

Reduction 
required by 
2030

2020 ceiling 
(kt)

2030 ceiling 
(kt)

NOX 1,714 55% 73% 771 463
SO2 773 59% 88% 317 93
NMVOCs 1,042 32% 39% 709 636
PM2.5 127 30% 46% 89 69
NH3 288 8% 16% 265 242

10. Progress towards
our clean air goals

10.1 Our commitments to improving air quality

10.2  How far will existing action get us?

Measuring our progress towards emission ceilings requires an understanding of future emissions of air 
pollution based on our best estimates about the likely impacts of our regulatory measures and other 
actions already in place. Emission projections are produced by Ricardo Energy & Environment on behalf 
of Defra and are published via the EIONET data repository102.

Projections are constructed by using our knowledge and some informed assumptions about how 
activities that produce air pollution are likely to change over time (for example, the levels and types of 
industrial production) and how much pollution each activity would produce (for example, the amount of 
pollution produced per unit of industrial production). These projections are consistent with projections for 
other government policy priorities, such as those developed for BEIS on future energy use103.



88

This figure shows that, without the new policies and commitments set out in this strategy, we would be 
likely to breach our emissions ceilings for PM2.5 and NH3 in 2020 and all five of our emissions ceilings 
in 2030. Following a path of no action will have a significant long-term impact on the health of our nation. 
Using the latest research commissioned by Public Health England, we have made an interim estimate 
of the population health impacts if we do not achieve our emissions ceilings. We estimate that the 
population health impacts would be over £1bn per annum by 2020 and nearly £2.5bn per annum 
by 2030. These costs will continue to be refined and we will publish a new set of impact appraisal 
tools this year.

The figure below, presents our actual emissions in 2016 and our projected 2020 and 2030 emissions 
before the new policies and commitments set out in this strategy are taken into account. It shows 
whether these projections are above or below our emissions ceilings. The total height of each bar (i.e., 
light blue plus dark blue areas) are current and projected total emissions for each pollutant. The dark 
blue segments of each bar represent emissions that are up to our ceilings and the light blue segments 
represent emissions above our ceilings. Where a bar has no light blue segment we are already on track 
to deliver emissions reductions that will meet a particular emissions ceiling.

886

735

463

179

126

93

701 686
636

108

89

69

289
265

242

95 4

83
14

31

33
54

Em
is

si
on

s 
(k

t)

Emissions below ceiling Emissions above ceiling

NO SO2 NMVOCs PM2.5 NH3

20
16

20
20

20
30

20
15

20
20

20
30

20
15

20
20

20
30

20
15

20
20

20
30

20
15

20
20

20
30

Current and projected emissions of 5 key pollutants
Total bar heights are BAU projections, light blue areas are distances above NECD ceilings



89

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

*(of which 55 already set out)

The table indicates that for NOX, PM2.5 and NH3 we need to deliver at the upper estimates of our policy 
impacts to meet our emissions ceilings in 2030. For NMVOCs, we will need to identify further reductions 
to close the gap to our 2030 emission ceiling. SO2 is less challenging, as actions to reduce NOX and 
PM2.5 have the co-benefits of reducing SO2.

We have also analysed the abatement potential at sector level. The chart below, presents our initial 
assessment of abatement by broad sector.

19%
3% 2%

28%

13%
1%

17%

6% 4%

5%

33%

8%

44%

31%

52%

83%

49%

Road transport
Shipping, rail & aviation

Non-road mobile machinery
Domestic burning

Energy, industry
& domestic solvent use

NOX SO2 NMVOCs PM2.5

3%

As discussed in previous chapters, air pollution is produced from a wide range of sources and we have 
identified a suite of policies across different sectors to reduce our overall emissions. These build on 
existing policies, such as eco design for domestic stoves and the Medium Combustion Plant Directive. 
The table below presents how our proposed suite of policies will go further to abate emissions to close 
the gap to our emissions ceilings.

Table showing the impact of Clean Air Strategy policies

2020 gap to ceiling (kt) 2030 gap to ceiling (kt) Policy impact (kt)
NOX 0 95 up to 110
SO2 0 4 up to 25
NMVOCs 0 83 up to 85*

PM2.5 14 31 up to 35
NH3 33 54 up to 55

10.3 Action to meet our emissions ceilings 

Contribution to abatement by broad sector



90

 ● Q30. What do you think of the package of 
actions in the strategy as a whole? 

 ● Q31. Do you have any specific suggestions 
for additional or alternative actions that you 
think should be considered to achieve our 
objectives?  Please outline briefly, providing 
evidence of potential effectiveness where 
possible.

 ● Q32. If you have any further comments not 
covered elsewhere, please provide them here. 

The chart indicates how our policies will look for emission reductions across all sectors. For NOX, there 
is significant potential for abatement in non-road transport. For NMVOCs, the largest opportunities are 
associated with industrial processes and domestic solvent use. For PM2.5 we need to look for reductions 
in the domestic burning and energy and industry sectors. Reductions in NH3 emissions are not presented 
as they are expected to be delivered exclusively in the agricultural sector.

In conclusion, we believe that the commitments set out in the preceding chapters will enable us to meet 
four of our emissions ceilings. Chapter 6 of this strategy sets out the action that is underway to identify 
further options to reduce NMVOC emissions in time to meet our 2030 emissions ceiling.

10.4 Questions



91

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

We are consulting on each of the main themes of 
the strategy document: our understanding of the 
problem; protecting the nation’s health; protecting 
the environment; securing clean growth and 
innovation; reducing emissions from transport; 
reducing emissions from farming; reducing 
emissions from industry; and leadership. We also 
ask for your views on the strategy as a whole in 
the last chapter on progress against targets.

We understand that many of those wishing to 
respond to this consultation may have interests 
pertaining to only some of these areas. We have 
designed the accompanying survey to enable you 
to concentrate on the areas that are most relevant 
to you, as well as providing an opportunity to 
comment on the strategy as a whole. Click on the 
link below to start.

If you choose to provide a response separate 
to the online survey, please outline whether you 
are an individual or responding on behalf of 
an organisation (and provide relevant details). 
Please also let us know whether you would like 
your response to be treated as confidential.

The responses we receive now are important and 
will inform the final UK Clean Air Strategy and 
detailed National Air Pollution Control Programme 
to be published in March 2019. We want to hear 
from all interested parties to help us shape our 
final strategy. 

If you have any questions on this consultation 
please email: 
cleanair.consultations@defra.gsi.gov.uk

Overview

Last summer, we published our plans for reducing 
roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations in the 
UK, setting out our approach to meeting the 
statutory limits for NO2.

This draft of our Clean Air Strategy outlines our 
ambitions relating to reducing air pollution in 
the round, making our air healthier to breathe, 
protecting nature and boosting the economy. 
In this draft strategy, we set a clear direction 
for future air quality policies and goals. The 
strategy sits alongside three other important UK 
government strategies: our Industrial Strategy, 
our Clean Growth Strategy and our 25 Year 
Environment Plan. 

We are consulting here on a draft strategy 
developed by the UK government, setting out how 
we will work towards meeting these ambitious 
reductions in England (and where relevant across 
the UK). However, air quality is a devolved 
matter with responsibility also resting with the 
Scottish Government, Welsh Government and 
the Northern Ireland Executive. Since air pollution 
does not respect national boundaries, securing 
the necessary improvements will require action in 
all parts of society and across the UK. 
The strategy, therefore, highlights the importance 
of effective co-operation with the devolved 
administrations and Chapter 9 briefly sets out 
actions already underway in Scotland, Wales 
and Northern Ireland to cut air pollution right 
across the UK. 

Why we are consulting

The Clean Air Strategy deals with action to 
improve air quality by addressing pollution from 
a wide range of sources. It cuts across a broad 
range of sectors and touches on the interests of 
many.

We would like your views on the actions being 
proposed to tackle air pollution and reduce its 
impacts, and to hear whether you have any 
further suggestions. 

Annex A: Clean air strategy 
consultation questions

mailto:cleanair.consultations%40defra.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017


92

5. Action to reduce emissions from 
transport

 ● Q11. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the transport chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q12. Do you feel that the approaches 
proposed for reducing emissions from Non-
Road Mobile Machinery are appropriate or 
not? Why?

6. Action to reduce emissions at 
home

 ● Q13. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward to reduce the impact 
of domestic combustion? Please provide 
evidence in support of your answer if possible.

 ● Q14. Which of the following measures to 
provide information on a product’s non-
methane volatile organic compound content 
would you find most helpful for informing 
your choice of household and personal care 
products, and please would you briefly explain 
your answer? 

 ● “A B C” label on product packaging (a 
categorised product rating for relevant 
domestic products, similar to other labels 
such as food traffic light labels)

 ● information on manufacturer website 

 ● leaflet at the point of sale

 ● inclusion in advertising campaigns

 ● other option 

 ● Q15. What further actions do you think can be 
taken to reduce human exposure from indoor 
air pollution?

1. Understanding the problem

 ● Q1. What do you think about the actions put 
forward in the understanding the problem 
chapter? Please provide evidence in support 
of your answer if possible.

 ● Q2. How can we improve the accessibility of 
evidence on air quality, so that it meets the 
wide-ranging needs of the public, the science 
community, and other interested parties?

2. Protecting the nation’s health

 ● Q3. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the health chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q4. How can we improve the way we 
communicate with the public about poor air 
quality and what people can do?

3. Protecting the environment

 ● Q5. What do you think of the actions put 
forward in the environment chapter? Please 
provide evidence in support of your answer if 
possible.

 ● Q6. What further action do you think can be 
taken to reduce the impact of air pollution on 
the natural environment?  Where possible, 
please include evidence of the potential 
effectiveness of suggestions.

4. Securing clean growth and 
innovation

 ● Q.7. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the clean growth and 
innovation chapter? Please provide evidence 
in support of your answer if possible.

 ● Q8. In what areas of the air quality industry is 
there potential for UK leadership?

 ● Q9. In your view, what are the barriers to 
the take-up of existing technologies which 
can help tackle air pollution? How can these 
barriers be overcome?

 ● Q10. In your view, are the priorities identified 
for innovation funding the right ones?



93

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

 ● Q24. Do you agree or disagree with the 
proposal to exempt generators used for 
research and development from emission 
controls? Please provide evidence where 
possible.

9. Leadership at all levels (local to 
international)

 ● Q25. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the leadership chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q26. What are your views on the England-
wide legislative package set out in section 
9.2.2? Please explain, with evidence where 
possible.

 ● Q27. Are there gaps in the powers available 
to local government for tackling local air 
problems?  If so, what are they?

 ● Q28. What are the benefits of making 
changes to the balance of responsibility for 
clean local air between lower and upper tier 
authorities?  What are the risks?

 ● Q29. What improvements should be made 
to the Local Air Quality Management 
(LAQM) system? How can we minimise 
the bureaucracy and reporting burdens 
associated with LAQM?

10. Progress against targets

 ● Q30. What do you think of the package of 
actions in the strategy as a whole? 

 ● Q31. Do you have any specific suggestions 
for additional or alternative actions that you 
think should be considered to achieve our 
objectives?  Please outline briefly, providing 
evidence of potential effectiveness where 
possible.

 ● Q32. If you have any further comments not 
covered elsewhere, please provide them here. 

Many thanks for sharing your views with 
us. We will ensure these have been properly 
considered before the strategy is published. 

7. Action to reduce emissions from 
farming

 ● Q16. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the farming chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q17. What are your preferences in relation 
to the 3 regulatory approaches outlined and 
the timeframe for their implementation: (1) 
introduction of nitrogen (or fertiliser) limits; (2) 
extension of permitting to large dairy farms; 
(3) rules on specific emissions-reducing 
practices? Please provide evidence in support 
of your views if possible. 

 ● Q18. Should future anaerobic digestion 
(AD) supported by government schemes be 
required to use best practice low emissions 
spreading techniques through certification? If 
not, what other short-term strategies to reduce 
ammonia emissions from AD should be 
implemented? Please provide any evidence 
you have to support your suggestions.

8. Action to reduce emissions from 
industry

 ● Q19. What do you think of the package of 
actions put forward in the industry chapter? 
Please provide evidence in support of your 
answer if possible.

 ● Q20. We have committed to applying Best 
Available Techniques to drive continuous 
improvement in reducing emissions from 
industrial sites. What other actions would 
be effective in promoting industrial emission 
reductions?

 ● Q21. Is there scope to strengthen the current 
regulatory framework in a proportionate 
manner for smaller industrial sites to further 
reduce emissions? If so, how?

 ● Q22. What further action, if any, should 
government take to tackle emissions from 
medium plants and generators?  Please 
provide evidence in support of your 
suggestions where possible.

 ● Q23. How should we tackle emissions from 
combustion plants in the 500kW-1MW thermal 
input range? Please provide evidence you 
might have to support your proposals if 
possible.



94

At the end of the consultation

When this consultation ends, we will keep copies 
securely. Members of the public may ask for a 
copy of responses under freedom 
of information legislation. 

If you do not want your response - including your 
name, contact details and any other personal 
information – to be publicly available, please say 
so clearly in writing when you send your response 
to the consultation. Please note, if your computer 
automatically includes a confidentiality disclaimer, 
that won’t count as a confidentiality request. 

Please explain why you need to keep details 
confidential. We will take your reasons into 
account if someone asks for this information 
under freedom of information legislation. 
But, because of the law, we cannot promise 
that we will always be able to keep 
those details confidential. 

We will summarise all responses and place this 
summary on our website at www.gov.uk/defra. 
This summary will include a list of names of 
organisations that responded but not people’s 
personal names, addresses or other contact 
details. 

Please give us 24 hours’ notice if you wish to see 
consultation responses and summaries. 
There is a charge for photocopying and postage. 

If you have any comments or complaints about 
the consultation process, please address them to: 

Defra Consultation Co-ordinator, 

Area 1C Nobel House 17 Smith Square London 
SW1P 3JR 

or email: 
consultation.coordinator@defra.gsi.gov.uk 

http://www.gov.uk/defra
mailto:consultation.coordinator%40defra.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


95

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

1 Defra analysis of 2016 PM2.5 emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

2 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

3  Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

4 Set by the Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC): http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.
do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF

5 European Environment Agency (EEA), ‘Air Quality in Europe 2017’ (2017), https://www.eea.europa.
eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2017

6 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

7 Exceeded ceilings once inventory adjustment applications were taken into account. Source: EEA, 
‘NEC Directive Reporting Status 2017 – The need to reduce air pollution in Europe’ (2017), https://
www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/national-emission-ceilings/nec-directive-reporting-status

8 COMEAP, ‘Mortality effects of long-term exposure to particulate air pollution in the UK’ (2010), 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/304641/COMEAP_mortality_effects_of_long_term_exposure.pdf

9 Defra analysis of 2016 PM2.5 emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

10 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

11 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

12 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

13 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

14 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

15 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_

References

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/


96

GB_v1.0.xls

16 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

17 Correct as at 25th April 2018. Source: UK-AIR, https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/

18 ibid

19 UK Informative Inventory Report 1990 to 2016 (2018), https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/
reports/cat07/1803161032_GB_IIR_2018_v1.2.pdf

20 UK National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, http://naei.beis.gov.uk/

21 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/

22 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/effects

23 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/

24 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/forecasting/

25 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/

26 Department of Health, ‘Public Health Outcomes Framework’ (2011), www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/485100/PHOF_IA_acc.pdf

27 Defra and Department for Transport, ‘UK Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations: 
Technical Report’ (Annex D; 2017): https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/632916/air-quality-plan-technical-report.pdf

28 Public Health England, ‘Local action on health inequalities: Improving access to green spaces’ 
(2014) https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355792/
Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf

29 F. de Leeuw et al., Assessment of personal exposure to particulate air pollution during commuting 
in European cities—Recommendations and policy implications, Science of the Total Environment, 
August 2014, pp.785-797

30 YouGov survey (of 1,823 adults in England) conducted on 15 February 2018 [is this published – can 
we use most recent work?]

31 NICE Guideline (NG70) Air Pollution: Outdoor Air Quality and Health (2017), https://nice.org.uk/
guidance/ng70

32 ‘Air Quality: A Briefing for Directors of Public Health’ (2017), https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/
assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf

33 World Health Organisation (WHO), Ambient air pollution: A global assessment of exposure and 
burden of disease (2016), http://www.who.int/phe/publications/air-pollution-global-assessment/en/

http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/effects
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/485100/PHOF_IA_acc.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/485100/PHOF_IA_acc.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf
http://www.who.int/phe/publications/air-pollution-global-assessment/en/


97

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY
34 Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/

uploads/attachment_data/file/690846/CMO_Annual_Report_2017_Health_Impacts_of_All_
Pollution_what_do_we_know.pdf

35 Öckinger E, et al. The relationship between local extinctions of grassland butterflies and increased 
soil nitrogen levels. Biol Conserv. 2006;128(4):564–73.

36 Ceulemans T, et al. Nutrient enrichment is associated with altered nectar and pollen chemical 
composition in Succisa pratensis Moench and increased larval mortality of its pollinator Bombus 
terrestris L. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):1–15.

37 Midpoint of three year averages quoted. Trends Report 2017: Trends in critical load and critical level 
exceedances in the UK. Defra, (2018), https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/library/reports?report_id=955

38 Report to Defra, (2017) Scoping Study for NECD Reporting for Effects of Ozone on Vegetation 
in the UK under contract AQ0833 (International Cooperative Programme on Effects of Air 
Pollution on Natural Vegetation and Crops 2014-2017) , Mills G., Vieno, M., Sharps, K. Hall, 
J. Harmens, H., Hayes, F., Report available at: http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.
aspx?Document=14177_NECDreportICPVegetationWP7_AQ0833_submitted.pdf

39 International Union for Conservation of Nature. ‘Primary Microplastics in the Oceans: a Global 
Evaluation of Sources’ (2017), page 9

40 Kole, et al. Wear and Tear of Tyres: A Stealthy Source of Microplastics in the Environment, Int J 
Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Oct; 14(10): 1265. Published online 2017 Oct 20.

41 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

42 Public Health England factsheet on PAH (2008) https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/341369/PAHs_General_Information_phe_v1.pdf

43 Defra, ‘Air Pollution the UK 2016’ (2017), https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/annualreport/
air_pollution_uk_2016_issue_2.pdf

44 Abdel-Shafy, H.I and Mansour, M.S.M, A review on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: Source, 
environmental impact, effect on human health and remediation. Egyptian Journal of Petroleum. 
Volume 25, Issue 1, March 2016, Pages 107-123

45 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

46 Defra analysis of 2016 BaP emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

47 https://icpvegetation.ceh.ac.uk/index.html

48 https://www.icpmapping.org/

49 HM Government, ‘ The Clean Growth Strategy: Leading the way to a low carbon future’ (2017), 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/651916/BEIS_The_
Clean_Growth_online_12.10.17.pdf

50 Ricardo-AEA, ‘Valuing the Impacts of Air Quality on Productivity’ (2014), https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/
assets/documents/reports/cat19/1511251135_140610_Valuing_the_impacts_of_air_quality_on_
productivity_Final_Report_3_0.pdf

http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/341369/PAHs_General_Information_phe_v1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/341369/PAHs_General_Information_phe_v1.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/annualreport/air_pollution_uk_2016_issue_2.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/annualreport/air_pollution_uk_2016_issue_2.pdf
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://www.icpmapping.org/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat19/1511251135_140610_Valuing_the_impacts_of_air_quality_on_productivity_Final_Report_3_0.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat19/1511251135_140610_Valuing_the_impacts_of_air_quality_on_productivity_Final_Report_3_0.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat19/1511251135_140610_Valuing_the_impacts_of_air_quality_on_productivity_Final_Report_3_0.pdf


98

51 Ricardo Energy and Environment for the Committee on Climate Change, ‘UK business opportunities 
of moving to a low carbon economy’ (2017), https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-energy-prices-
and-bills-2017-report-supporting-research/

52 ibid

53 HM Government, ‘ The Clean Growth Strategy: Leading the way to a low carbon future’ (2017), 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/651916/BEIS_The_
Clean_Growth_online_12.10.17.pdf

54 https://apply-for-innovation-funding.service.gov.uk/competition/search

55 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund-joint-research-and-
innovation

56 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/innovation-loans-what-they-are-and-how-to-apply

57 https://www.e3g.org/docs/Accelerating-Green-Finance-GFT-FINAL-report.pdf

58 Internal analysis of UK tax receipts relating to purchase of diesel fuels.

59 Defra analysis of 2016 NOx and PM2.5 emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions 
Inventory (NAEI) 2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

60 London Environment Strategy: Draft for Public Consultation (2017), https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/
default/files/london_environment_strategy-_draft_for_public_consultation.pdf

61 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

62 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

63 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

64 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

65 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-transport-delivers-more-grant-funding-
to-transport-freight-by-rail/mode-shift-revenue-support-and-waterborne-freight-grant-applications-
and-background-information

66 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11477521

67 Defra analysis of 2016 PM2.5 emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

68 Font, Fuller et al, ‘Airborne particles from wood-burning in UK cities’ (2017), https://uk-air.defra.gov.
uk/assets/documents/reports/cat05/1801301017_KCL_WoodBurningReport_2017_FINAL.pdf

69 The Ecodesign provision for local space heaters will come into effect in 2022 on a national basis 
replacing existing provisions under the Clean Air Act 1993 which apply only in smoke control areas.

70 Defra analysis of 2016 PM2.5 emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 
2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-energy-prices-and-bills-2017-report-supporting-research/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-energy-prices-and-bills-2017-report-supporting-research/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf
https://apply-for-innovation-funding.service.gov.uk/competition/search
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund-joint-research-and-innovation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund-joint-research-and-innovation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/innovation-loans-what-they-are-and-how-to-apply
https://www.e3g.org/docs/Accelerating-Green-Finance-GFT-FINAL-report.pdf 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund-joint-research-and-innovation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-strategy-challenge-fund-joint-research-and-innovation
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-transport-delivers-more-grant-funding-to-transport-freight-by-rail/mode-shift-revenue-support-and-waterborne-freight-grant-applications-and-background-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-transport-delivers-more-grant-funding-to-transport-freight-by-rail/mode-shift-revenue-support-and-waterborne-freight-grant-applications-and-background-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-transport-delivers-more-grant-funding-to-transport-freight-by-rail/mode-shift-revenue-support-and-waterborne-freight-grant-applications-and-background-information
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11477521
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat05/1801301017_KCL_WoodBurningReport_2017_FINAL.pdf 
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/cat05/1801301017_KCL_WoodBurningReport_2017_FINAL.pdf 


99

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY
71 HETAS is a not-for-profit organisation that approves biomass and solid fuel heating appliances, fuels 

and services, including the registration of competent installers and servicing businesses.

72 The SIA is an association of stove manufacturers and distributors, wood fuel suppliers, flue and 
glass manufacturers and industry supporters like HETAS and Kiwa.

73 Defra, ‘Emissions of air pollutants in the UK, 1970 to 2016’ (2018), https://assets.publishing.service.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_
pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf

74 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, ‘Final UK greenhouse gas emissions 
national statistics: 1990 to 2016’ (2018), https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/final-uk-
greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-1990-2016

75 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

76 Report to Defra, (2017) Scoping Study for NECD Reporting for Effects of Ozone on Vegetation 
in the UK under contract AQ0833, ICP Vegetation, Mills G., Vieno, M., Sharps, K. Hall, J. 
Harmens, H., Hayes, F. http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=14177_
NECDreportICPVegetationWP7_AQ0833_submitted.pdf

77 Netherlands Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/nl/eu/nec_revised/inventories/

78 Denmark Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/dk/eu/nec_revised/inventories

79 Rothamsted analysis of 2016 ammonia emissions from the National Atmospheric Emissions 
Inventory (NAEI) 2018, full inventory will be published in summer 2018.

80 Defra analysis of 2016 ammonia emissions and farm size statistics.

81 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

82 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-britain-fit-for-the-future

83 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy

84 Defra, ‘UK Emissions inventory submission under NECD and CLRTAP’ (2018), http://cdr.eionet.
europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/Annex_I_Emissions_reporting_template2018_
GB_v1.0.xls

85 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111163023/contents

86 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/

87 Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs, ‘Farm Animal Populations’ (2018), https://
www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/farm-animal-population-data

88 http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0048/00488493.pdf

89 http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0052/00521031.pdf

90 Welsh Government, ‘Prosperity for All: the national Strategy’ (2017), http://gov.wales/docs/
strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681445/Emissions_of_air_pollutants_statistical_release_FINALv4.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/final-uk-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-1990-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/final-uk-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-1990-2016
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=14177_NECDreportICPVegetationWP7_AQ0833_submitted.pdf
http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=14177_NECDreportICPVegetationWP7_AQ0833_submitted.pdf
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/nl/eu/nec_revised/inventories/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/nl/eu/nec_revised/inventories/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/dk/eu/nec_revised/inventories
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/dk/eu/nec_revised/inventories
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-britain-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/inventories/envwnwqzg/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111163023/contents
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/farm-animal-population-data
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/farm-animal-population-data
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0048/00488493.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0052/00521031.pdf 
Http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf
Http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf


100

91 Page 14 - Welsh Government - Prosperity for All: the national Strategy - http://gov.wales/docs/
strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf

92 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/3/contents/enacted

93 The State of Natural Resources Report published by Natural Resources Wales 2016 - https://
naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-of-natural-resources-
report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-resources/?lang=en

94 Welsh Government Natural Resources Policy August 2017 - http://gov.wales/docs/desh/
publications/170821-natural-resources-policy-en.PDF

95 Planning Policy Wales Consultation - https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/planning-policy-
wales-edition-10

96 Local air quality management in Wales – Policy guidance June 2017 - http://gov.wales/docs/desh/
publications/170614-policy-guidance-en.pdf

97 http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/environment-grants/green-infrastructure-capital-
grant/?lang=en

98 European Commission, National Emissions Ceiling Directive (2016), http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016L2284&from=EN

99 European Commission, Air Quality Directive (2008), http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.
do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF

100 UK Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations (2017), https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017

101 Note that agricultural emissions are excluded from NOx and NMVOC baselines and ceilings

102 http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/projected/

103 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/energy-and-emissions-projections

Http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf
Http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf
Http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/3/contents/enacted
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-of-natural-resources-report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-resources/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-of-natural-resources-report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-resources/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/the-state-of-natural-resources-report-assessment-of-the-sustainable-management-of-natural-resources/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170821-natural-resources-policy-en.PDF
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170821-natural-resources-policy-en.PDF
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/planning-policy-wales-edition-10
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/planning-policy-wales-edition-10
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170614-policy-guidance-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/170614-policy-guidance-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/environment-grants/green-infrastructure-capital-grant/?lang=en 
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/environment-grants/green-infrastructure-capital-grant/?lang=en 
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016L2284&from=EN
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016L2284&from=EN
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/gb/eu/nec_revised/projected/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/energy-and-emissions-projections


101

CLEAN AIR STRATEGY

© Crown copyright 2018

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 
the terms of the Open Government Licence v.3. To view this licence visit www.nationalarchives.gov.
uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ or email PSI@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk  

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications  

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at:

cleanair.consultations@defra.gsi.gov.uk

www.gov.uk/defra

mailto:PSI%40nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:cleanair.consultations%40defra.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs?subject=


                             
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

12 JUNE 2018

ILLEGAL DUMPING AND SPECIAL COLLECTIONS OF BULKY 
WASTE

1. Summary

1.1 To advise Members of the background and the current policies regarding the 
removal of illegal dumping, the collection of special/bulky waste and enforcement 
against offenders.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That Members consider and note the contents of this report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Council is a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) under s30 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. The act places a general duty on 
WCAs to collect domestic waste but also allows WCAs to decide for 
themselves the level of service they offer. The Controlled Waste 
Regulations give WCAs the power to charge directly for the collection of 
certain types of domestic waste, such as large or bulky items.

3.2. The Council is a Principal Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. The act places a duty on PLAs to 
keep the public highway and land under their control free from litter, 
refuse and dumping.

3.3. Kent County Council is a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) under s51 of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. The act places a duty on WDAs 
to make arrangements for waste collected by WCAs in its area and to 
provide Household Waste Recycling Sites (HWRCs) for residents in its 
area.

3.4. Special Collections are one-off ad-hoc collections of large or bulky items 
direct from domestic premises. Special collections are sometimes known 
as bulky waste collections.

3.5. Illegal dumping is the unauthorised deposit of any waste onto any land 
that is not subject to a waste management licence i.e. settees, white 
goods, mattresses, etc., that are left in country lanes, laybys and at 
recycling sites. Illegal dumping is sometimes known as fly-tipping. Illegal 
dumping is an offence for which Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) can be 
issued or prosecutions undertaken. Some waste that is illegally dumped 
is from commercial sources and would not be collected by the Council in 
any case.

3.6. The Council receives approx. 2,000 requests each year from residents 
requesting the special collection of bulky waste (usually settees, white 
goods, mattresses, carpet, etc.) direct from their houses.



                             
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

12 JUNE 2018

3.7. The Council receives approx. 2,500 reports each year from residents 
and others requesting the removal of illegally dumped items from various 
locations across the borough. It is likely that the actual level of dumping 
is higher than this as not all incidents will be reported and some may be 
on private land.

3.8. The Council employs Amey LG Ltd to carry out the clearance of illegally 
dumped items from across the borough. Amey provides one “hit squad” 
(one driver and one operative in a cage vehicle) to carry out most of this 
work. The current response time for such requests is 7 to 10 days.

3.9. The Council employs specialist contractors to clear hazardous waste 
such as tyres, dumped asbestos and chemicals. There are approx. 50 
incidents of the dumping of hazardous waste in the borough each year.

3.10. The Council also employs Amey LG Ltd to carry out special collections 
across the borough. The Council charges £30 for each special collection 
that takes less than 15 minutes of loading time to complete and an extra 
£15 for every extra 15 minutes that loading takes. This charge is very 
competitive when compared to a skip. The vast majority of WCAs charge 
for special collections.

3.11. Resident who do not wish to pay for a special collection may take their 
waste to a Kent County Council Household Waste Recycling Centre  
instead. The majority of domestic waste taken to a HWRC by residents 
will be accepted free of charge. KCC does place restrictions on the 
quantities of some types of waste that can be taken to a HWRC and also 
charges for some items, such as tyres. KCC does not permit commercial 
waste to be deposited at HWRC sites, or any waste transported in 
commercial vehicles.

3.12. Although it is often the same types of items that are dumped that could 
have been collected as a special collection, it is not known if the 
Council’s policy on charging for special collections has an adverse effect 
on the level of illegal dumping in the borough, but there is no evidence 
to support the view that it does.

3.13. It is also not known if Kent County Council’s HWRC policies have an 
adverse effect on the level of illegal dumping in the borough. KCC’s main 
policies relate to not accepting trade waste, not letting commercial or 
over height vehicles enter their sites, restricting trailer sizes, charging for 
certain types of waste and limited the quantities of some types of waste 
that can will be accepted at any one time.

3.14. The Council’s special collection service generates an income of approx. 
£60,000 per annum. Removing the charge might result in fewer incidents 
of illegal dumping, but the number of special collections would most likely 
increase leading to a large increase in the overall cost of operating the 
service, which would only be partially offset by a decrease in illegal 
dumping.



                             
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

12 JUNE 2018

3.15. The Council’s Enforcement and Regulatory Services (EaRS) team is 
very proactive in attempting to identify and fine or prosecute people who 
commit illegal dumping. Offenders may be given a £75 FPN for littering, 
a £450 FPN for dumping or be prosecuted through the courts. In 2017/18 
EaRS carried out 380 formal illegal dumping investigations and obtained 
226 successful results via FPNs or prosecutions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

There are two relevant Strategic Objectives stated in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan:

ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene
PS1 – Deliver high quality services

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None



                             
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

12 JUNE 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dave Thomas
(01322) 34273

Waste and 
Parks, 
Strategic 
(External)

N/A



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the fourth quarter of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and Corporate 
Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q4 2017/18
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q4 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Development has planning consent and S106 has been signed.  Awaiting submission 
of details for pre-commencement conditions on first phase of the scheme at the 
northern end.  A  Reserved Matters application has been submitted (April 2018) for 
the parcel of land towards the southern end of the site which is to provide the 
affordable housing.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site The development agreement has been finalised. Work is now progressing to satisfy 
the title conditions.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Cabinet considered a report 12/04/2018 and agreed delegated authority for project 
progression.

Full business case submitted for LEP's Accountability Board 27/04/2018 - awaiting 
outcome of £4.3m LGF bid.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Cabinet considered a report 12/04/2018 and agreed delegated authority for project 
progression.

Full business case submitted for LEP's Accountability Board 27/04/2018 - awaiting 
outcome of £4.3m LGF bid.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

675 homes delivered to date at the Ebbsfleet Garden City sites which have 
commenced in Dartford: Eastern Quarry (528) and Ebbsfleet Green (147). Delivery 
has been slower than expected but consents are in place for the 1st phase of 1,500 
homes at Eastern Quarry. An amended masterplan and revised S106 have been 
agreed for the remainder of the site, which comprises 4,750 units.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Ingress Park Fastrack secondary access route expected to be operational shortly. 
Fastrack route through the Millpond development and Northern Gateway East being 
constructed as part of the new development. Work started on Fastrack route through 
Eastern quarry.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Works out to tender and planning/ Listed Building Consent applied for; anticipated 
approvals June 2018; site start July/August, subject to planning.



2

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

A website has been developed which is currently used as a portal for the Dartford 
Business Awards. We are working with the Kent & Medway Growth Hub, and local 
businesses to make the site an active portal for business news and advice.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition The 2018 Dartford Business Awards was launched in April.
Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to support Town Centre improvements and events to improve viability 
and vitality.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q4 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Works out to tender and planning application made; anticipated planning approval 
late May 2018 with a site start June/July, subject to planning.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 4, 21 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 174. 
Attendees were 78.

There are currently 6 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 4, 67 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 600. Attendees were 273. There were 
26 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough.  In quarter 4, 20 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 232. 
Attendees were 95.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 4, 70 people were engaged with the 
programme. 42 of these completed the course of which 9 achieved a weight loss of 
>5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. 29 families 
have been booked to start. 21 families completed the programme.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. The healthy 
business award scheme has no longer been available to promote or use since 
December 2017. Despite this, 4 of the 5 businesses engaged are happy to continue 



3

to work on the Healthy Workplace programme. Two further companies have been 
signed to the programme.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

6 Salute to Youth grants were awarded to organisations during this period totalling 
£10,762 including funding towards starting a new Parkrun on Dartford Heath. One 
grant payment was carried over to the next quarter due to a late delivery of goods 
purchased. The Community Grant was fully allocated in quarter 3.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer

Despite facing increased issues with the parking and gym space, Fairfield has 
completed the busiest quarter of the year, which has shown in club growth and club 
live members reaching 3,470 at the end of March 2018. This is the highest the site 
has achieved since re-opening. The site swim lessons have again reached a club 
high of 2,022 swimmers and shows that there is still growth in the local area and an 
appetite for local residents to join a great leisure centre.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The Council is working with local arts organisations to curate a series of exhibitions in 
the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. There is currently an exhibition of poetry written by local 
residents and preparations are under way for the Summer Exhibition and the 
Children’s Summer Exhibition.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year A number of events are being planned for 2018, including the Steam Fair, St Georges 
Day and Dartford Festival.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Green space and play areas have been provided as part of development on Castle 
Hill and St Clements Lakes.  Design of green spaces and waterside areas is being 
progressed at Northern Gateway and Millpond.  Work is commencing on sports field 
provision at The Bridge, with proposals for an informal kickabout area at the western 
end of the site also being progressed.  Masterplanning work is being undertaken on 
the green space provision as part of the Stone Lodge development. Further green 
space provision will be planned as new planning applications come forward.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

One Public Estate have now come back with an offer of funding by way of a non-
repayable grant. This funding has been accepted. A meeting has been arranged 
between the Council, Muse and the CCG to discuss plans for the hub and funding 
options.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q4 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards detecting and thereby reducing anti-social behaviour. 

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

100% of high risk food premises inspections were achieved. 89% of all lower risk 
premises were achieved, despite staff shortages. 97% of food businesses in Dartford 
are compliant with food law.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with the Council licensing officers and Kent Police 
continues to flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint 
advice and enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been 
very innovative training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi and private hire 
drivers.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

Council licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke 
training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety 
measures. The scheme is proving very successful.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce anti-social 
behaviour particularly excess drinking in public places. 



5

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q4 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Work is on schedule.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

The Council have led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN (£250 early 
payment fee) and remain one of very few local authorities within Kent to have made 
best use of this, although others are coming on board gradually. The Council has also 
supported the DEFRA consultation ‘Waste Duty of Care’ which seeks to introduce a 
new FPN for household duty of care offences for fly tipping at a cost of £400 reduced 
to £250 if paid within 10 days. 

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

Volunteer scheme is up and running, equipment to facilitate volunteer litter picking 
has been purchased. A number of groups have been established.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

Design of scheme being progressed by Highways England.  Submission of 
application due late 2018, with decision in 2020.  If private finance route is followed, 
construction to start 2023 with completion in 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

The air quality levels continue to be monitored and all actions within our available 
powers are taken to minimise pollution levels.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q4 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. The 
Council’s new build programme is progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 
2 of the Council new build programme is close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017/18

Delivery target achieved. 173 affordable homes were delivered in 2017/18 against a 
target of 140.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school at Eastern Quarry has been opened. A primary school at 
Ebbsfleet Green is being progressed.  Land has been acquired for primary school at 
Northern Gateway, a Trust has been selected and the school is expected to open in 
2019.  A secondary school is to be provided as part of the Stone Lodge development, 
expected to open in 2020.  Plans for a health hub as part of the development of the 
former Co-op site in Dartford Town Centre are being progressed.  Management 
arrangements for the community centre at Ingress Park are being put in place.

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

6 Salute to Youth grants were awarded to organisations during this period totalling 
£10,762 including funding towards starting a new Parkrun on Dartford Heath. One 
grant payment was carried over to the next quarter due to a late delivery of goods 
purchased. The Community Grant was fully allocated in quarter 3.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Programme has been drawn up, and budget approved.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

The Council is working with HLF to bring the Museum to the point where a realistic 
bid could be made, however the funding arrangements have now been considerably 
changed by HLF and officers are looking at the effect this could have on any bid. 
Work on bringing the catalogues up to date continues.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote The number of electors being added to the Register of Electors is increasing. Active 
canvassing chasing outstanding applications has seen return rates increase.



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q4 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Continuing.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working continues to be trialled in two departments within the Council for a 
period of six months (one in Internal Services and one in External Services).  
Feedback on successes and concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling 
out further.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget

Budget approved in February. Next cycle to start in July with review of Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

 
Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Kent pilot agreed by government and starts April 2018. Work continues with other 
local authorities on agreeing exact mechanisms for how gains are distributed.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The Council’s response to the LGBCE’s draft recommendations goes to GAC on 5 
April. Once agreed, this will be submitted to the LGBCE. The LGBCE’s final 
recommendations will be published in June 2018 and will come into effect from the 
May 2019 elections. Work is progressing on the Community Governance Review. A 
briefing session was held with the parishes on 28 March. The parishes and other 
interested parties have until 27 April to make their submissions. Draft 
recommendations will be published in June and will also come into effect from the 
May 2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q4 2017/18
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £392,687 £150,085 £794,057  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to 
eligible development since April 2014. During quarter 4 of 
2017/18, one payment has been made, which is one part of 
three instalment payments associated with a large 
development. Payments can rise or fall from quarter to 
quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement of 
consented development. 15% of the revenue generated from 
CIL liable developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied to projects in local 
neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of the total CIL 
revenue will be used for administrative costs. In December 
2017 Cabinet resolved that no CIL allocations would be made 
during the financial year 2018/19, due to identified potential 
infrastructure project plans not being sufficiently advanced. 
However, this situation will be kept under review.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18 Note

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target

Overall business birth rate 740
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business 
registrations as business births. Latest available figures show 
there were 740 business births in 2016 which is up 0.68% from 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target
Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business 
birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an annual indicator and 
2017 data is due at the end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that 
have ceased to trade (identified through de-registration of the 
administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) as business 
deaths. Latest available figures show there were 495 business 
deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% from the previous year. In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the business death rate in 2016 was 
7,325. This is an annual indicator and 2017 data is due at the 
end of November 2018.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.1% 1.3% 1.3%  

There were 865 unemployed people in the Borough in March 
2018, which represents an unemployment rate of 1.3%. This 
has increased since the previous month (40 more unemployed 
people in March than in February). In Kent overall (KCC area), 
the unemployment rate in March 2018 was 1.9%.

Total monthly Town Centre footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 1,455,695 329,370
(Jan)

5,594,932
(Apr – Jan)  The contract has not currently been renewed and hence we 

are no longer receiving footfall data.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
1,031  Housing delivery continues to be strong.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 133,341 130,179 110,826 130,570 504,916  

Despite facing increased issues with the parking and gym 
space, Fairfield has completed the busiest quarter of the year, 
which has shown in club growth and club live members 
reaching 3,470 at the end of March 2018. This is the highest 
the site has achieved since re-opening. The site swim lessons 
again reach a club high of 2,022 swimmers and shows that 
there is still growth in the local area and an appetite for local 
residents to join a great leisure centre.  

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run Users 146 157 161 162 165 161  This event continues to be well supported.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 37 35 36 35 35 35  This event continues to be well supported.



3

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 45 37 56 53 191  

Usage for this quarter is slightly down compared to this 
quarter last year due to the weather in February and March 
(snow) and the Easter weekend being at the end of March

Number of local groups supported 
through Community Grant and 
other grant schemes

34 4 5 22 7 38  

In quarter 4 there was 1 grant awarded under the DBC 
Community Fund and 6 organisations were awarded a grant 
under the Salute to Youth Scheme. The annual Community 
Grant for 2017/18 has been distributed.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 72.67% 61.33% 59.42%  Audience attendances remain consistent and higher than the 
same quarter in 2017.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that life expectancy 
is 9.4 years lower for men in the most deprived areas of 
Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC 
area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that life expectancy 
is 4.5 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 
Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC 
area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6 21.9%

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese 
in the Borough. This is higher than the previous year where 
21.1% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2016/17, the figure is 18.5%. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due in 2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015/16 show that 63.1% of adults 
were physically active in the Borough. This indicator is defined 
as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week). 



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 16 19 18 25 78  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last 

year.

Total number of arrests supported 
by CCTV this month 59 9 15 25 9 58  Lower than average, but other indicators suggest that this is 

within tolerance.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

209 97 108 115 116 436  Performance remains consistent.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 2 4 5 3 14  
Performance remains within tolerance levels. The introduction 
of GDPR underlines the advantage of using primary 
legislation over exclusion notices.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 104 84 110 81 379  This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling anti-

social behaviour across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 26 10 10 0 46  The low numbers of Community Protection Notices reflects 

the effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A 0 0  The performance reflects the vulnerability of the enforcement 

principally laying with another agency.

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 4 10 4 9 27  The replacement of the JFMP PCSO (post has been vacant) 

is reinvigorating this process.

Percentage of High risk (categories 
A & B) food hygiene inspections 
due and completed (cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 96.43% 100% 100% 100% All high risk premises were inspected in time and in 
accordance with Food Standards Agency Guidelines.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the Borough 
by the Police

2,982 666 575 506 242
(Jan – Feb)

1,989
(Apr – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet. 

Total number of crimes reported in 
the Borough 10,098 2,923 2,980 3,196 1,874

(Jan – Feb)
10,973
(Apr – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet.



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Number of criminal damage 
offences reported in the Borough 1,652 399 345 397 207

(Jan – Feb)
1,348
(Jan – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations in the 
Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 38.6 37.5 51.4 45 43.1  Value has increased slightly due to weather conditions and 

increased road use.

Number of households taking part 
in energy efficiency initiatives in 
the Borough

571 39 31 100 71 241  Numbers likely to remain high. Awaiting final numbers from 
external agencies.

Number of households taking part 
in green bin service 6,141 5,640 5,804 5,830 5,687 5,740 6,000 The number of customers has settled at around 5,750.

Number of fly tipping incidents 159 591 745 557 667 2,560 120 Incidents of small dumping (mattresses, fridges, settees, etc) 
remain high.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 15 17 58 120 The level of graffiti in the Borough remains low.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 0.6%

(Jan)
0.6%
Apr – Jan)  

Very little waste is now sent to landfill. The data for this 
performance indicator is collected by Kent County Council 
and February and March data is waiting to be received.  

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,114 1,134 1,134  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 99 108 108  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17 but the 

number is consistently around 100 throughout the year.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 21 19 19 19 78  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17 which is 

positive.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 64 55 59 56 234 250 Slightly below target when report run but some requests are 
still in the system awaiting action.

Percentage of repairs completed in 
time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 90.37% 89.56% 87.62% 98.00%

End of year outturn has not recovered due to poor 
performance in early 2017/18. Management action has 
improved the situation considerably and things have 
continued to improve giving the performance indicator the 
opportunity to achieve target in 2018/19. Management action 
continues as reported to Scrutiny Committee in February 
2018.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works).

20.41 21.56 24.04 19.31 19.05 21.02 20

Performance dipped in the summer due to a high number of 
supported housing voids that were difficult to let and 
properties that required extensive works. Performance has 
recovered in the winter but regrettably did not achieve target 
by the end of the financial year. When benchmarking, 
however, this performance level would achieve top quartile for 
peer local authorities in terms of key to key dates for void 
turnaround.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 44 31 30 68 173 140 Target achieved for 2017/18.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
1,031  Housing delivery continues to be strong.

Number of service requests raised 
for Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 62 63 61 86 272  As expected - high levels of enquiries.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 16 47 22 15 100 100 The 2017/18 outturn is on target which is positive.



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 31.2% 56.2% 83.9% 98.9% 98.9% 98.8%

Having exceeded the in-year collection target by 0.1%, this 
level of performance will again ensure that Dartford will be in 
the top quartile of performing authorities in respect of in-year 
business rates collection.

Number of phone calls received by 
the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 118,545 138,268 518,358  

There has been a similar decline in telephone contact, 
compared to the same quarter of last year, of just under 7%, 
from 148,612 to 138,268. This again is likely to be due, in 
part, to the increase in issues that can be resolved through 
the Council’s website.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 29.4% 56.7% 84% 97% 97% 97.3%

Despite being 0.3% down against target, the amount of 
Council Tax collected compared to last year has increased by 
£3.8million. The drop in the in-year collection rate correlates 
with the ever increasing rise in the tax base and the 
subsequent rise in the amount of collectable debit due. Over 
the last 12 months, the tax base has risen from 44,227 (March 
2017) to 45,390 (March 2018). These figures represent the 
number of Band D equivalent dwellings in the Borough.

Factors that will have contributed to a detrimental impact on 
collection will be the changes made to the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme (raising the minimum contribution for 
working-age claimants from 18.5% to 20% and introducing the 
Minimum Income Floor for the self-employed) and the 
combined impact of other welfare reforms.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.06 0.81
(Jan – Feb)

3.16
(Apr – Feb) 4.12

Short term absence figures for March 2018 are not yet 
available due to a change-over in the HR and Payroll System. 
On track to be under target for 2017/18.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 0.7 1.11 3.15 3.0

Majority of long term sickness absence due to non-work 
related stress/depression/anxiety or critical illnesses requiring 
hospitalisation and recovery. Outturn for 2017/18 shows 
average number of days per employee of 3.15 compared to 
target of 3.00, therefore slightly higher than target.

Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 99.92% 99.8% 99.35% 99% A good quarter with only a few late invoices paid.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 22 22 22 23

Compared to 2016/17, the time taken to process a new 
Housing Benefit claim has improved from an average of 30 
days to an average of 22 days. A reduction of 8 days 
represents a significant improvement and this correlates with 
more efficient working practices and the introduction of Risk 
Based Verification software.

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 97.66% 97.8% 97.8% 98.1% 2017/18 outturn slightly higher than 2016/17 which is positive.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 214,590 210,431 184,543 220,113 829,677  
A growth in the number of visits particularly in respect of 
rubbish collections around Easter and the problems due to 
snow.

 



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

12 JUNE 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017 - 2018

1. Summary

To consider the work carried out by the Policy Overview Committee during the 
2017 – 2018 municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the annual report of the Committee, as amended by comments made at 
the meeting (if any), be submitted to Cabinet.

3. Background and Discussion

The Policy Overview Committee’s Protocol states that the Committee will 
receive an annual report on its workings. A draft copy of the Annual Report for 
the 2017 – 2018 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for Members’ 
consideration.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A - Draft Policy Overview Annual Report 2017 - 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

A Stoneham
01322 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW

COMMITTEE

Annual Report 2017 - 2018



2

1. INTRODUCTION
 
The Policy Overview Committee’s protocol states that the Committee will 
receive an Annual Report on its workings. This document reports the activities 
of the Policy Overview Committee during the 2017 - 2018 municipal year.

The Policy Overview Committee’s Terms of Reference for the 2017 – 2018 
municipal year, as summarised in its Protocol, were:

To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the 
ultimate aim of improving the delivery of services to local people.

To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as 
a whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough.

To review the impact of decisions and policy.

Work carried out by the Policy Overview Committee compliments that carried 
out by the Scrutiny Committee and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee, whose Terms of Reference for the 2017 – 2018 
municipal year were summarised in their respective Protocols as:

Scrutiny Committee:

To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers 
to account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of 
Dartford.

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee:

To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, 
regarding the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise 
the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP):

Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Gravesham Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Police [a responsible authority]
Kent County Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority]
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a 
responsible body]
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group [a responsible authority]



3

2. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

The Policy Overview Committee is established at the Annual Meeting. The 
emphasis of the Policy Overview Committee’s work ensures that it focuses its 
attention at a policy level, rather than focusing on individual service related 
indicators.

The Policy Overview Committee has ‘overview’ responsibility in respect of the 
Council’s policies and strategies, including corporate performance 
assessment, service review and improvement. The Committee reports directly 
to the Cabinet on its findings.

One of the key areas of work for the Committee has been to review aspects of 
the Council’s main policies and the ways of working with Partners, to ensure 
that residents are receiving efficient and effective services.  This has been 
particularly relevant with the ongoing remodelling of the delivery of Health 
Services, and changes that are being progressed as a result of other 
legislative changes.

The Committee’s Work Plan is driven by the Corporate Plan and can also 
include the review of other areas identified by Cabinet, together with items 
suggested by the Committee itself. A new version of the Corporate Plan 
spanning the years 2017 to 2020 was agreed during this municipal year and 
identified key actions and sets of performance indicators for each defined 
theme. Regular monitoring of those actions and indicators continued during 
this municipal year and enabled the progress being made towards meeting 
the strategic aims and objectives of each theme to be tracked. For areas of 
joint working the Committee looks to ensure that the best possible service is 
being delivered to the Dartford community and that if there are thought to be 
any issues then any associated policies should undergo review.

The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 make provision for local authorities to review and 
scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of the 
health service in their area. Under this system of health scrutiny, local 
authorities have greater flexibilities in how they discharge their health scrutiny 
functions. Certain elements of the previous regulations have been preserved 
but there are new obligations on NHS bodies, relevant health service 
providers and local authorities relating to consultations on substantial 
developments, or variations to services, to aid transparency and local 
agreement on proposals.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference also makes provision for the Committee 
to review the Regulation 9 Notice, which lists the key decisions to be taken by 
Cabinet in the forthcoming 4 months, with a view to deciding which, if any, the 
Committee wishes to enquire into. Accordingly, the Committee has reviewed 
the Regulation 9 Notice at each of its meetings.

The Policy Overview Committee reports the minutes from each of its meetings 
to the Cabinet, for consideration and noting.



4

The detailed Terms of Reference under which the Committee performed its 
function during 2017 – 2018 are shown below:

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. The Overview Function

(1) Without prejudice to the role and responsibilities of other Committees, 
Boards etc. to review general policies of the Council and to recommend 
accordingly to the Cabinet on future policy options.

(2) To seek views from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a 
balanced view of the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

(3) To hold policy reviews and make recommendations to the Cabinet 
and/or the GAC in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.

(4) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to assist the Cabinet and/or 
the GAC in the development of future policies and strategies.

(5) Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, 
to seek input from Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, 
Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum, other interested stakeholders and 
organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

(6) To gather information and make recommendations in accordance with 
the Committee’s Protocol to the Cabinet and/or the GAC before policy is 
implemented as part of the framework for accountable, transparent 
decision-making.

(7) To carry out reviews of non-Council matters and as part of the 
community planning process, consult with partner organisations where 
appropriate and make recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to 
matters which are not the direct responsibility of the GAC, but which 
nevertheless affect the economic, environmental and social well-being of 
the Borough.

(8) To consider and investigate broad policy issues and make reports and 
recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in accordance with the 
Committee’s Protocol.

(9) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to provide advice to the 
Cabinet and/or the GAC on major issues before final decisions are 
made.

(10) To receive the views and recommendations of area/joint committees or 
forums as part of any review which impacts on the Borough.

(11) To be consulted/receive referrals by the GAC and/or the Cabinet about 
issues falling within the remit of the Committee, example Cabinet 
requesting an enquiry into a particular issue.



5

(12) To approve an annual overview work programme in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(8) including the programme of any subcommittee 
appointed by the Committee to ensure that there is efficient use of the 
Committee’s (sub-committee’s) time and that potential for duplication of 
effort is minimised.

(13) To review the Cabinet’s forward plans with a view to deciding which, if 
any, forthcoming Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to review.

(14) To carry out reviews of how certain decisions have affected a particular 
community or area by taking advice from area committees or forums and 
other community groups and representatives.

2. Service Delivery

To consider new approaches to service delivery and recommend to the 
Cabinet demanding performance targets for services, so as to deliver 
continuous improvements which reflect both national and local 
considerations including;

(a) Challenging why and how a service is being provided;

(b) Securing comparison with the performance of others across a 
range of relevant indicators, taking into account the views of both 
service users and potential suppliers;

(c) Consulting local taxpayers, service users, partners and the wider 
business community in the setting up of new performance targets;

(d) Considering fair competition as a means of securing efficient and 
effective services

(e) To make recommendation(s) to the Cabinet on suitable 
performance information/indicators.

3. Overview of Health Functions

To review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.

4. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters 
connected/associated with the functions of the Committee in accordance 
with the consultation procedure.



6

3. WORK CARRIED OUT BY THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE - 
2017/2018

 Performance Monitoring

During this municipal year a revised Corporate Plan (2017 – 2020) was 
prepared, and was agreed by the Cabinet at their 29 June 2017 meeting and 
the General Assembly of the Council at their 17 July 2017 meeting. The Policy 
Overview Committee had been given a chance to comment on a draft version 
of the Plan at their 13 June 2017 meeting. The Policy Overview Committee 
had continued to monitor the key actions and performance indicators that had 
been defined for each Corporate Plan theme throughout the year. These 
indicators, which were also presented to Cabinet and the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel for consideration, allowed the progress being made towards meeting 
the strategic aims and objectives of each theme to be tracked.

Corporate Plan 2017 – 2020

At the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017 (minute 9) Members had 
been asked to comment on the 2017 – 2020 draft Corporate Plan.

The Policy and Corporate Support Manager had explained how the themes 
and strategic aims and objectives in the Plan were the same as in the 
previous version but had said that it now also included a set of values which 
underpinned the defined themes. He had also noted how key actions had 
been defined for each theme to show how each aim and objective would be 
delivered over the following 3 years and had advised that each action had 
been, or would be, budgeted for and would therefore be delivered. He had 
then noted how the associated performance indicators included Borough 
specific indicators and targets, which gave an indication of the health of 
services being delivered by the Council, together with indicators in areas 
where the Council had no direct control because they rely on the performance 
of partner agencies.

Members had noted this to be a new Plan which would take the town forward 
and, having discussed the path that had been followed during its preparation, 
had commented on the scope of the review process during its development. In 
response the Policy and Corporate Support Manager had advised that the 
document was also due to be considered by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and 
Cabinet in June and the General Assembly of the Council in July.

Reference had also been made to the development at Ebbsfleet and parking 
space provision and it had been suggested that the associated policy needed 
to be reviewed given the parking issues that were being experienced in other 
areas of recent development. The Policy and Corporate Support Manager had 
advised that the parking space provision policy for new developments was set 
out in the Local Plan and had confirmed that this was an area that could be, 
and later was, considered by the Committee at its meeting on 20 March 2018.

Members had noted the reference that had been made in the Plan to 
improvements to the public realm in the Town Centre and had referred to 
particular areas which require attention. The need for all Members to report 



7

issues as they are identified had also been stressed so that the ambiance of 
the Town Centre may continue to be improved. Members had also noted the 
plan to ask local communities to take a role in helping to maintain a clean 
environment.

Members had considered whether the proposed development of an 
Entertainment Resort should have been highlighted as a specific major 
development but had decided that it should not be included as its delivery was 
yet to be confirmed.

Reference had been made to the introductory section and it had been 
suggested that it should highlight any deficiencies and identify more of the 
challenges that will be faced, e.g. the need to provide additional medical 
facilities, as the major developments planned for the area are delivered. 
During further discussion it had also been noted how some of the key actions 
recognised, and looked to address, these challenges and it was therefore 
thought that the introduction should not be made longer as reference was 
being made to these additional challenges later in the document.

Members had then referred to the statements in the introduction which 
referred to those travelling to jobs in the Borough and the success of the 
Fairfield Leisure Centre and had discussed whether supporting statistics 
should be included to support the statements being made. Members had also 
noted how some of the statements were considered to be vague and had 
suggested that generalities should be avoided and quantified. Members had 
also remarked how, for new facilities, it can be difficult to set realistic targets 
until a first year benchmark figure has been established. The Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager had confirmed that supporting data was available 
and could be included if required. He had also noted how the operators of 
Fairfield Leisure Centre were experts in their field and were therefore best 
placed to set their own targets. The Strategic Director (Internal Services) had 
noted how the inclusion of specific statistics could result in the document soon 
becoming out of date as circumstances change. Members had therefore 
suggested that references to where the associated information could be found 
could be included, rather than the figures themselves, and officers had agreed 
to consider this suggestion.

In response to a question relating to the need to ensure that jobs, growth and 
housing delivery are balanced the Policy and Corporate Support Manager had 
advised that the Local Development Framework explained this in more detail 
and said that jobs provision must be seen to grow in line with population 
growth in order to avoid Dartford becoming a dormitory town.

In relation to the first key action relating to Economic Development and 
Regeneration Members had suggested that it be amended to say ‘Work with 
land-owners and developers to bring forward the next phases of development 
on Lowfield Street, which includes community space and housing’.

During discussion of the proposed Business Advice website the Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager had explained how the project was being run by 
the Town Centre Manager and was looking to provide information, advice and 
useful links to those businesses looking to set up, or relocate, in Dartford. 



8

Members had suggested that the scope of the website be added to the action 
point.

Members had discussed the ‘Town Centre offer’ expression used in the last 
Economic Development and Regeneration key action point and had felt that 
this could be better described. The Policy and Corporate Support Manager 
had said that it referred to work which would make the town more attractive to 
visitors and would involve the Council working with traders and making public 
realm improvements. He had also noted how its success would be measured 
by the Town Centre footfall statistics that are already being gathered. 
Members had suggested that ‘appeal, attractiveness and ambiance’ be used 
instead of the word ‘offer’.

In response to a question the Policy and Corporate Support Manager had 
confirmed that indicator BI4 (number of new homes built annually) referred to 
the number of new homes completed.

Members had then referred to all the indicators contained within the Plan and 
were advised that they had been selected and agreed by service managers 
but that Members were welcome to suggest alternatives or additions if they 
wished. It had then been explained that the Committee would continue to 
receive the quarterly performance indicator monitoring report which would 
enable them to monitor the progress being made for each Corporate Plan 
objective.

It had been noted that there was no indicator defined for objective ED4 
(Ensure delivery of timely transport infrastructure). In response the Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager had explained that this was linked to the 
provision of an improved Fastrack service which would either be delivered or 
not. The Chairman had also noted how Fastrack issues are considered by the 
Joint Transportation Board and that concerns relating to its extension can be 
referred on if considered necessary.

Members had noted how the number of criminal incidents being recorded 
appeared to be rising and it had been suggested that extended night club 
opening hours may be contributing towards this. The Chairman had advised 
that the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee were 
responsible for the monitoring of crime and disorder related statistics and 
associated actions.

In relation to the seventh key action relating to Health and Wellbeing Members 
had suggested that it be amended to say ‘Continue to deliver green space as 
part of residential and business developments’ to provide more options for 
those who wish to walk or cycle.

Members had discussed whether the Orchard Theatre should be included as 
part of the action which specifies increased usage of the Outdoor Theatre by 
commercial and community groups. The Policy and Corporate Support 
Manager had noted how the Council controlled the Outdoor Theatre whereas 
the Orchard Theatre was being operated commercially by a management 
company and therefore could not be directly influenced by the Council. 



9

Members had suggested that the scope of this action be expanded to include 
the widening of resident access to culture and arts in the Town Centre.

Members had considered the objective that related to health inequality 
reduction and it had been suggested that specific reference be made to each 
identified inequality with associated indicators defined for each. The Policy 
and Corporate Support Manager had replied that the main area of inequality 
related to childhood obesity and had said that the monitoring of this had been 
included. It had also been noted that the monitoring of air quality, which was 
felt to have a direct impact on health and wellbeing, had been included as an 
action under ‘Environment and Sustainability’. The Policy and Corporate 
Support Manager had confirmed that further KCC Public Health defined 
indicators could be added if thought appropriate. Members had noted how the 
addition of further indicators would expand the size of the plan and had 
referred to the fact that the Health and Wellbeing Boards also receive and 
review health inequality related statistics. The Chairman had also noted how 
the Committee received regular updates from those health related 
professionals who have responsibility for addressing the inequalities identified.

In relation to the indicator relating to the number of local groups supported 
through the Community Grant and other grant schemes the Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager had confirmed that bidders are asked to identify 
how the grant will be used and describe how that relates back to the Council’s 
objectives. It had also been noted how Members decide how grant funding is 
distributed, and how the fact that grants can be distributed to different groups 
each year made the tracking of the benefits being delivered difficult.

Members had agreed that the last action point relating to ‘Safer Communities’ 
should be expanded to include economic hubs throughout the Borough and 
not just the Town Centre.

It had been noted how the indicator that had been included in the previous 
version of the Plan, which related to the percentage of household waste being 
recycled or composted, had been replaced with a figure for the percentage of 
waste going to landfill. A number of Members had thought that the original 
indicator shouldn’t have been dropped as they had felt that it was the 
Council’s responsibility to provide a collection strategy that would encourage 
recycling, which the previous indicator had measured. Other Members had felt 
that waste that is burned to produce energy is being ‘recycled’ and therefore 
had supported the changed focus of the indicator. It had also been suggested 
during discussion that the Council’s aim should be to reduce the overall waste 
being produced by each household. The Policy and Corporate Support 
Manager had advised that the previous indicator could be re-added, but had 
noted that the manager responsible for the service had felt that it had been 
wrong to focus solely on recycling and had advised that the percentage of 
waste going to landfill gave an improved overall view of the Council’s waste 
operation.

Reference had been made to air quality improvement and the lack of a 
specific indicator for this action. The Policy and Corporate Support Manager 
had replied that air quality statistics were being gathered and had said that he 
would ask Environmental Health how this information could be best presented 



10

but added that pollution produced by traffic levels on the M25 approaching the 
Dartford Crossing would continue to be an issue. It had also been noted that 
the Joint Transportation Board considers air pollution related statistics.

In response to questions the Policy and Corporate Support Manager had 
advised that energy bill reductions would indicate whether energy efficiency 
improvements to the Civic Centre had been successful and had anticipated 
that replacement of the 30 to 40 year old boiler would have a large impact on 
its own. He had also explained how communities that come together as a 
group to address problems themselves are classed as being self-reliant.

Members had then considered the Council’s use of temporary accommodation 
and whether additional actions were required to help reduce the costs 
associated with temporary accommodation. The Policy and Corporate Support 
Manager had noted how the need for temporary accommodation was 
impossible to predict given the increased pressures associated with rising 
house prices and rents. He had said that it was therefore pointless to set an 
associated target but had noted the Council’s commitment to deliver more 
affordable homes, and progress with its own build programme. He had also 
advised that there was an indicator which tracked the number of homeless 
applicants being placed in temporary accommodation. The Chairman had also 
noted that a group to discuss the issue of homelessness had already been 
established.

The Chairman had referred to the indicators that had been proposed for ‘A 
Council Performing Strongly’ and had questioned the removal of the indicator 
associated with the answering of telephone calls within 20 seconds. He had 
said that, although the Council was encouraging people to make more use of 
the Internet when communicating with the Council, he still felt that it was 
important to track the service being provided to those who do not have 
Internet access, or do not wish to use it when contacting the Council. He had 
therefore suggested that tracking of the ‘number of calls dropped’, or an 
officer re-assessment and reinstatement of the indicator related to the time 
taken to answer a call, be considered.

Reference had then been made to resident and stakeholder consultations on 
the services being provided by the Council and the Policy and Corporate 
Support Manager had confirmed that these are carried out and that the 
inclusion of an associated indicator could be considered.

Members had noted the Channel Shift work that was being planned and the 
improved levels of service that should be delivered. The Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) had advised that the aim of Channel Shift was to provide a 
24/7 self-service communications interface for residents. The Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager had confirmed that it should be possible to track 
and compare the number of transactions taking place as residents are 
presented with different ways to contact the Council.

Corporate Plan – Performance Indicators – Quarter 4 2016/17

At the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017 (minute 10) Members had 
considered and noted the set of Corporate Plan performance indicators for 



11

quarter 4 of 2016-17 (which were the last to be presented for the Corporate 
Plan 2014 – 2017).

Corporate Plan – Key Actions and Performance Indicators – Quarters 1 
and 2 2017/18

At the Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017 (minute 34) Members 
had been asked to consider and note the set of Corporate Plan key actions 
and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

The Chairman had referred to the food hygiene related indicator and had 
asked how the inspection shortfall was being addressed. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) had replied that duties had been reallocated 
across the team so that the staff vacancy could be re-focussed. She had also 
noted how the original vacancy had been ‘health and safety’ related and that, 
as this role is well remunerated in the private sector, it had been difficult to fill. 
She had also advised that, as at the end of November, the inspections due 
and completed indicator had improved to 92%.

Reference had then been made to the fly-tipping incident indicator and the 
Strategic Director (External Services) had said that this parameter should not 
have a related target because the Council has no control over the number of 
incidents that occur and can only act in a responsive way when required. She 
had also then highlighted an associated pilot project that had been started 
with Stone Parish Council, who had purchased a CCTV system which enabled 
them to monitor areas where fly-tipping was known to take place and had said 
that any evidence gathered would be analysed by the Council’s enforcement 
team who would progress prosecution if the offender could be identified. She 
had also advised that the pilot would run for 6 months and said that, if 
successful, it would be suggested as a way of discouraging fly-tipping to other 
Parish Councils.

In response to a question on the percentage of repairs being completed on 
time the Strategic Director (External Services) had advised that the monitoring 
of urgent and non-urgent repairs had been combined into a single indicator 
because they had both previously been monitored against the same target 
percentage. She had also referred to the high number of repairs that were 
being carried out and had said that urgent repairs would always take priority 
over non-urgent repairs.

Reference had been made to the ‘boy racer’ problems that were being 
experienced at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe and it was suggested that, 
as similar problems exist along Princes Road, a Public Space Protection 
Order (PSPO) should be considered for this area too. The Strategic Director 
(External Services) had agreed to take this forward for consideration. 

Members had questioned the ‘December 2017’ date quoted in the report for 
the publishing of the OJEU notice for the new waste collection contract as the 
associated exercise to ascertain residents’ preferred service option was still 
taking place. The Strategic Director (External Services) had replied that the 
report had been prepared before the scope of the consultation had been 



12

agreed and had said that the date for the publishing of the OJUE notice had 
since been moved to the new year.

In response to a question relating to the ongoing repairs to the Civic Centre 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) had advised that the planned works 
for this year had been included in a report that had been considered by 
Cabinet on the 29 June 2017, and that further works would be scheduled for 
the next financial year.

Corporate Plan – Key Actions and Performance Indicators – Quarter 3 
2017/18

At the Committee meeting held on 20 March 2017 (minute 34) Members had 
been asked to consider and note the set of Corporate Plan key actions and 
performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18.

The Chairman had referred to the two indicators that were showing an ‘alert’ 
status and had noted that the target for the ‘number of fly-tipping incidents’ 
needed to be revised following a change to the way that incidents are 
counted. He had also noted how the figure that had been reported for the 
‘percentage of repairs completed in time’ was continuing to improve.

 Service Reviews

Air Quality Review

At the Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017 (minute 21) Members 
received a report which had provided an update on air quality and its 
implications for health, both locally, and set against the national context. 
James Fox, Scientific Officer, and Nick Chapman, Assistant Environmental 
Health Manager – Environmental Protection, had been present at the meeting 
to respond to any issues raised.

The Scientific Officer had begun by describing how Environmental Health 
continued to maintain a large network of air quality monitoring sites across the 
Borough and that, although monitoring data from 2016 suggested that 
pollution levels had generally improved from those in the preceding year, 
levels remained high and above action levels at most monitored roadside 
sites. He had then referred to an air quality health review that had been 
carried out in 2015 to try to identify any correlation between high levels of 
traffic congestion and poor health outcomes but had said that the research 
had proved inconclusive. He had said that whilst there was an indicator that 
measures the fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution, this 
data was only available for the district as a whole and that the only health 
based data available at ward level was for respiratory conditions including 
asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

The Scientific Officer had then noted how air pollution was just one of many 
triggers that can worsen symptoms of asthma and COPD and that cigarette 
smoking, house dust, pollen etc. can have the same effect and, given that the 
health data doesn’t make distinctions between the triggers, it would not be 
advisable to suggest that a high prevalence of these conditions would be due 



13

to one overall single factor. He had also advised that the data cannot account 
for the actual pollution that an individual would be exposed to as they may 
spend large amounts of the time working in areas with much higher or lower 
levels of pollution when compared to pollution levels where they live.

The Scientific Officer had then said that, in July 2017, Defra had published a 
new national UK Air Quality Plan for the reduction of nitrogen dioxide and had 
only identified one road in Dartford (the A206 close to the border with Bexley) 
that was predicted to exceed the NO2 limit in 2017, and no roads by 2018 and 
noted how this seemed highly optimistic when compared to monitored data. 
He had also confirmed that the A282 (Dartford Crossing approach road) had 
now been included and modelled for the baseline but was not predicted to 
exceed the defined NO2 limits.

The Scientific Officer had then advised that the principle action that had been 
proposed in the draft action plan was to mandate local authorities to 
implement Clean Air Zones (CAZ), which essentially handed down 
responsibility for compliance with EU limit values to local authorities, and that 
as the UK Action Plan predicted that NO2 levels within Dartford would be 
reduced to a level below the actionable threshold by 2020, the Council is not 
required to undertaken additional assessments and is not compelled to 
consider the implementation of a CAZ.

The Scientific Officer had then said that he was concerned that the modelling 
used for the production of the UK Action Plan significantly underestimated 
pollution levels across the Borough and had contacted Defra to establish 
whether the Council would be required to establish a CAZ should the 
predictions within the plan not come to fruition. He had added that officers had 
also made representations to Government/Defra regarding the discrepancy 
between the modelled data used in the UK Action Plan and the monitored 
readings measured by the Council and that discussions were ongoing.

The Scientific Officer had then described how, in 2017, Dartford contracted 
out the data management of its air quality monitors to Kings College 
Environmental Research Group (Kings ERG) and that, as part of the London 
Air Quality Network, Dartford now benefited from being part of the largest 
urban monitoring network in Europe. He had noted how this partnership 
allowed the possibility for the Council to deliver an air quality messaging 
service known as airAlert, which is a service that sends free messages direct 
to vulnerable people informing them about air pollution levels in their area 
allowing them to manage their conditions. He had said that airAlert was 
currently provided by Sevenoaks District Council and that Environmental 
Health was exploring funding options to expand the service to cover Dartford.

Members had discussed the discrepancies between the A282 NO2 levels that 
had been predicted by Defra and those that had been measured by the 
Council’s own monitoring network and the Scientific Officer said that Defra’s 
figure of 35 µg/m3, which had been predicted for the middle of the dual 
carriageway, did not compare well with the actual value of 55 µg/m3, which 
had been measured 8m from the carriageway. The Assistant Environmental 
Health Manager had also explained how Defra’s figures are based on data 
gathered from their own nationwide network of monitoring stations, none of 



14

which are in the Dartford area, and said that the results are extrapolated to 
create values for other non-monitored areas such as Dartford. He had also 
noted how, throughout the borough, Defra’s reported NO2 level predictions 
were consistently below those being actually measured. Members had 
expressed concern at the discrepancies that were being found and the 
Chairman offered the Committee’s support, if required, to help resolve them.

Members had noted how the use of airAlert in Sevenoaks had been raised at 
the Elders Forum and asked what the cost of implementing it in Dartford 
would be. The Scientific Officer had advised that there was a £2k set up cost 
and an annual cost of £3k plus text message fees to keep it running. Members 
had discussed how this could be financed and were advised that officers were 
investigating whether Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding could be 
used to deliver the service.

Members had expressed concern at the fact that it was not possible to 
attribute worsening symptoms of asthma and COPD to poor air quality and 
asked if action would still be taken to address the high readings that were 
being measured. The Strategic Director (External Services) had replied that 
officers were still working through the Action Plan data and looking to 
understand Defra’s methodology. She had said that, although it is known that 
poor air quality causes health problems, there is no empirical health data to 
prove this because of the number of other contributory factors which act to 
multiply and increase the likelihood of a person developing a respiratory 
condition. She had also noted how historical exposure to papermaking and 
cement production in the area could also be having a detrimental impact on 
the health of older people. She had also referred to the lead roles that had 
been carried out by the Leader and the Cabinet Portfolio Member for 
Transport and Infrastructure when the decision was being made on where 
best to locate the Lower Thames Crossing and the fact that this would lead to 
improved air quality at the Dartford Crossing.

In response to a question the Scientific Officer had confirmed that, following 
media reporting, the A282, which had previously been classed as a rural road 
and had therefore been excluded from Defra’s baseline model, had now been 
included. 

In response to a question on the health related statistical data that had been 
included in the report the Scientific Officer had confirmed that this was the 
most up to date data available.

Members had then asked what was currently being done to address poor air 
quality and were advised by the Scientific Officer that action was being taken 
to reduce the air pollution being generated by school buses, whose emissions 
are not restricted by the rules that exist for buses used on normal bus routes. 
He had also noted how he and his colleagues provide input when road 
junctions are being redesigned to reduce traffic congestion and work to 
ensure that roads are routed away from populated areas.



15

Fairfield

At the Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017 (minute 22) Members 
received a report which had provided an update on proposed developments at 
the Fairfield site and outlined how future performance is to be measured. 
Adrian Gowan, Policy and Corporate Support Manager, had been present at 
the meeting to respond to any issues raised.

The Policy and Corporate Support Manager had described the actions being 
taken to address the issues that had arisen following the, greater than 
anticipated, success of the refurbished facility. He had noted how Cabinet had 
agreed enhancements to the gym and car parking area, and would also be 
addressing concerns that had been raised in relation to the changing facilities. 
He had said that the associated funding requirements had been agreed and 
that work was underway, although he had noted that changes to the car 
parking arrangements would need planning approval before being 
progressed. He had then referred to the detailed set of performance indicators 
that had been agreed with the operators of the facility and had said that 
progress made against those indicators would be reported annually. He had 
also highlighted how the facility was generating £40k worth of income for the 
Council per month.

Reference had then been made to performance indicator monitoring and it 
had been asked whether they would show that the Council’s aims of 
promoting increased activity, improving residents’ health and wellbeing, and 
providing economic benefits for the Council, were being delivered. The 
Cabinet portfolio holder for leisure, who had been present at the meeting, had 
noted how the indicators enabled the increasing number of people who were 
making use of the facility to be tracked and had welcomed the action that was 
being taken to address the capacity and privacy issues that had been raised. 
She had also welcomed the income that was now being generated from the 
facility. The Policy and Corporate Support Manager had noted how the health 
and wellbeing related indicators defined in the Corporate Plan would continue 
to be reported to the Policy Overview Committee quarterly. He had then 
described how the Cabinet portfolio holder for leisure met with officers on a 
monthly basis to review the performance of this leisure facility and others 
across the borough.

In response to a further question relating to figures that had been included in 
the scorecard and the way that the targets and timescales had been 
presented the Policy and Corporate Support Manager had confirmed that the 
figures covered the facility’s first full financial year of operation and had shown 
an overall 60% increase in usage with the gym currently running at full 
capacity and the pool running at 95% of capacity.

The Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum representative had also noted how 
the pulmonary rehabilitation programme being run at Fairfield was improving 
the health and wellbeing of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
sufferers that she personally knew and had said that she herself uses the pool 
twice a week.



16

Update on Housing and Planning Act 2016

At the Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017 (minute 23) Members 
received a report which had provided information on the range of measures 
that had been proposed in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and, where 
relevant, the impact this may have on housing need in the borough. The Act 
would enable the Government to implement the sale of high value council 
homes, provide starter homes, implement pay to stay and a number of other 
measures designed to promote home ownership, increase housebuilding and 
provide a ‘fairer’ system for the allocation and maintenance of social housing.

Members had noted how a number of the proposals that had originally been 
included in the Act had either been removed or amended to have a less 
significant impact. They had also highlighted the potential negative impact that 
the sale of high value homes, and the extension of the ‘Right to Buy’ to 
Housing Associations, could have on the number of available homes for rent 
in the Borough.

Update on the Benefit Cap, Universal Credit and Welfare Reforms 
Affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction 

At the Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017 (minute 32) Members 
had received an update on Universal Credit (UC) and other welfare reform 
changes, having previously considered Universal Credit at a number of 
meetings between 2011 and 2016. Nick Scott, the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits, had been present at the meeting to respond to any issues raised.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits had noted how Dartford was currently in 
the ‘live service’ phase of UC implementation and had said that this would be 
followed by the ‘full service’ phase, and then a migration phase where existing 
housing benefit claimants would be transferred to UC. He had then noted 
how, following the Government’s 2017 Budget announcements, from 31 
December 2017 the ‘live service’ was to be suspended pending the 
introduction of the ‘full service’ and that new applicants would be assessed for 
housing benefit in the meantime. He had also noted how ‘full service’ 
commencement for Dartford had been rescheduled from May 2018 to July 
2018 and had drawn Members’ attention to the national status and associated 
impacts documented in the report.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits had then referred to adjustments that 
had been made during the Government’s 2017 Budget announcement and 
had referred to the intention to ease the financial pressures being placed on 
new claimants by giving them the ability to receive 1 months’ worth of UC 
within 5 days of an application, which then has to be repaid over 12 months 
rather than 6. He had also noted the two week overlap of housing benefit and 
UC payments and the fact that it will be easier for claimants to have the 
housing element of their UC paid directly to their landlord, which will help 
those Councils with housing stock as it reduces the likelihood of rent arrears.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits had then highlighted the issues that had 
been raised by East Kent Services, where the full UC service had already 
gone live, and had drawn Members’ attention to the ‘digital by default’ 



17

concerns that had been raised and had said that claimants are expected to 
manage their UC account online and use this interface to report rent increases 
and other changes which may impact the amount of UC that they are due to 
receive. He had said that this could cause problems for those who have little 
or no online experience. He had also referred to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 
claims and the impact that the need for it to be recalculated every time a 
claimant’s UC entitlement is changed was having on Council Tax recovery. He 
had also noted the other issues that had been listed and said that Dartford 
was part of a UC Working Group which met regularly to discuss and share 
concerns and propose solutions.

The Chairman had been heartened to hear that a Working Group had been 
established and had welcomed the ability for UC claimants to have the 
housing element of their award paid directly to their landlord, an issue that had 
previously been raised and pursued by the Committee. He had then asked 
what help was available to those who might find it difficult to manage their 
claim online. The Head of Revenues and Benefits had replied that this service 
would not be provided by the Revenues and Benefits team but said that the 
Council’s Housing, Energy and Retraining Options (HERO) team would be 
able to provide support if required.

In response to a question related to staffing levels the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits had replied that UC was placing no additional pressure on staff at the 
moment, but had anticipated that this might change as the number of 
claimants being transferred to UC ramps up. He had noted how the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) provided some funding, but was 
unsure whether this would be adequate to also provide the additional local UC 
related support that would be required.

Members had further discussed the additional support that may be required as 
the ‘full service’ is rolled out and had asked whether there was a view on how 
this support was to be delivered and co-ordinated as it was important that 
those experiencing difficulties do not get lost in the system and end up being 
made homeless and thus becoming a responsibility of the Council. The 
Strategic Director (External Services) had replied that the Council’s own 
tenants could ask for support from the HERO team but had said that others 
would be signposted to agencies such as the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB). 
The Chairman had noted the various forums that exist for landlords and 
tenants and had hoped that these forums would be used to disseminate UC 
related information and advice. The Strategic Director (External Services) had 
advised that the Council had no overarching responsibility but, if approached, 
would signpost those requiring help with UC or debt management to agencies 
that can provide assistance. The Head of Revenues and Benefits had referred 
to a Revenues and Benefits Forum and had said that it included 
representatives from Housing, the CAB and other associated agencies and 
had received presentations from Jobcentre managers.

In response to a question on the time taken to reactivate the UC account of a 
claimant who has failed to maintain their account correctly the Head of 
Revenues and Benefits had replied that this information would only be known 
by the DWP and said that he was unaware of any associated figures having 



18

been released. He had also commented that the closing of an account under 
any circumstances would be a cause for concern.

Having noted the intention to suspend the ‘live service’ at the end of the year 
Members had asked whether the Council would know how many of the claims 
received after 1 January 2018 may have been previous UC claimants. The 
Head of Revenues and Benefits had replied that because the Council would 
receive each as a new claim it would not be possible to ascertain how many 
fell into this category.

It had then been asked whether there was any information available on the 
length of time it takes for a claimant to complete the steps that are required 
prior to formally submitting a UC claim (at which point the maximum 6 weeks 
to payment starts). Reference had also been made to the process that has to 
be followed when making a claim and the fact that it can be very confusing for 
someone when they are faced with the various forms that have to be filled in 
and conditions that have to be met. It had been suggested that there was a 
need for an overall explanation of the process that has to be followed in order 
for a claim to be successful. The Head of Revenues and Benefits had replied 
that statistics relating to the time it takes to prepare a claim were unavailable 
and said that it was DWP’s responsibility to provide UC guidance. He had also 
noted that there was always a risk that some of those who are eligible for UC 
may drop out of the process before an award is made.

The relationship between UC and the Council Tax Reduction scheme was 
also discussed and the Head of Revenues and Benefits had advised that as 
the number of people in the area on UC at the moment was minimal the 
potential impact on the recovery of Council Tax could not be predicted.

Reference had then been made to one of the issues highlighted by East Kent 
Services which related to the increasing cost of temporary accommodation 
and homelessness support, and it had been suggested that, following the 
introduction of the Government’s Homelessness Reduction Act, the Council 
should be looking to put further measures in place to prevent homelessness. It 
had also been asked whether any modelling had been done to assess the 
impact that UC may have on the numbers of people presenting themselves to 
the Council as homeless. The Head of Revenues and Benefits had noted how 
homelessness was managed by another department and had confirmed that 
no homelessness related modelling had been carried out. He had also noted 
that the extent of the issue that had been raised by East Kent Services had 
not been quantified.

In response to a question the Head of Revenues and Benefits had confirmed 
that the support provided by the HERO team included help for those 
experiencing problems with online access. Members had referred to the 
number of people that had engaged with the HERO service during the past 
year and had anticipated that this would increase as the full UC service is 
rolled out. The Strategic Director (External Services) had said that they would 
be looking to increase the HERO resource and had confirmed that funding for 
the service came from various sources.



19

Members had noted the issues and responsibilities that UC claimants who are 
in work, or are looking for work, may face and had said that this category of 
person may also require additional support. It had then been noted how 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) were being used to help those who 
find themselves in financial difficulty and it was questioned whether this 
funding stream could be guaranteed in the future and whether it would be 
maintained at the current level. The Head of Revenues and Benefits had 
replied that DHP funding had been increased over a number of years to help 
Local Authorities assist those claimants affected by welfare reform but he 
could not predict whether funding levels were likely to rise or fall in the future.

Dartford Borough Parking Overview

At the Committee meeting held on 20 March 2018 (minute 44) Members 
received a report which had outlined the current situation with regards to 
parking requirements and standards in the Borough, as defined in the Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). It had also considered how these 
standards are applied throughout the Borough across recent developments. 
Mark Aplin, Planning Policy Manager, and Andrew Simpson, Policy Planner 
had been present at the meeting to respond to any issues raised.

The Policy Planner had introduced the report and had noted that, in addition 
to the areas covered by the SPD, a large range of non-planning related 
circumstances could also influence parking demand and supply. He had then 
described how the SPD had been adopted as a planning guidance document 
in April 2012 and was being used to help inform decisions where planning 
proposals had been put to the Council. He had said that the SPD outlined the 
amount of parking to be provided, as well as addressing associated design 
and management issues, and was used when determining planning 
applications.

The Policy Planner had then advised that, as the SPD had only been adopted 
in 2012, and due to the recession causing a low number of applications 
around this time, the impact of the standards on new developments had been 
delayed but was now being seen in those that had been granted planning 
permission post April 2012. He had also confirmed that he expected that the 
Council’s parking standards would continue to be implemented in the Borough 
by the Council and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC).

The Policy Planner had then noted how recent developments had addressed 
parking needs in a more sensitive way and had said that there was a need to 
provide higher levels of parking in developments outside of the Town Centre. 
He had also noted how personal behaviours and preferences, available public 
transport links, available public parking provision, and the existing built 
environment could influence parking patterns.

The Policy Planner had then described how development monitoring and 
consultation would take place, which would consider the key transport, social 
and environmental priorities for the future, as work towards a new version of 
the Local Plan is progressed. He had said that this could bring to light both 
local issues, such as continued implementation of standards across the whole 
Borough, and new wider trends, such as the potential decline in car 



20

ownership, and the impact of the rise of electric vehicles and driverless cars, 
which could influence parking requirements in the future.

Members had made reference to a presentation that had been given by 
representatives from EDC some time ago, which, it was said, had implied that 
a parking space ratio of 0.5 per house was to be used and that this had been 
based on a Dartford Borough Council policy. The Planning Policy Manager 
and Policy Planner had both said that they were unsure where the figure of 
0.5 had come from and confirmed that EDC had been following the policies 
specified in the SPD and had already delivered 1.61 parking spaces per 
house at Eastern Quarry and 1.95 parking spaces per house at Ebbsfleet 
Green. Members had been reassured by this and had said that they did not 
wish to see Ebbsfleet development residents raising parking issues similar to 
those that that had been raised by residents living in Ingress Park and The 
Bridge.

Reference had then been made to levels of car ownership and the evidence 
base that had been used when deciding how many parking places should be 
allocated for each dwelling. In response the Planning Policy Manager had 
replied that relevant information is gathered from various sources, and had 
given Census data as an example, but had said that information that used to 
be made available by the Highways Agency and Kent County Council had 
diminished over time which was making it more difficult to assess parking 
requirements. He had also noted how broad changes in lifestyle and the 
introduction of new technologies can influence parking space demand and 
had said that their impact would continue to be monitored. In response to a 
further question he had noted how the Principal Transport Planner role had 
been transferred to the planning team and confirmed that his knowledge of 
local parking issues and concerns were also being used when parking 
requirements were being assessed.

In response to a question on whether by-laws could be used as a way of 
controlling the anti-social parking of campervans, caravans and boats the 
Planning Policy Manager had replied that this was not an area he was familiar 
with, but had added that, although the SPD didn’t include requirements for the 
parking of campervans, caravans and boats it did include specific 
requirements relating to the parking of vans.

Members had then asked if parking availability is considered when existing 
buildings (e.g. public houses) are redeveloped for residential use. The 
Planning Policy Manager had replied that some conversions were allowed to 
take place without full planning control, which can cause parking related 
problems as many old pubs are found in built up areas with existing parking 
pressures. He had said the SPD would be applied and had hoped that any 
surplus garden space, or existing parking areas, would be retained and used 
to provide parking for those moving into the converted building.



21

 Health Functions

As in previous years the Policy Overview Committee continued to monitor 
health related issues throughout 2017/18.

Pharmacy Services

At the Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017 (minute 20) Members 
had welcomed Cheryl Clennett, Consultant Pharmacist for Kent Public Health, 
and John O’Sullivan, Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee member, who 
were present to provide Members with a briefing on the forthcoming 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and the services that are provided by 
pharmacies.

Ms Clennett had begun by explaining how a Kent Health and Wellbeing Board 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is carried out every three years to 
review the pharmaceutical services that are being provided and assess 
whether more are required. She had then noted how one was being carried 
out this year and, having anticipated that its findings would be published for 
consultation in October or November, had said that Members were welcome 
to submit views on its content.

Ms Clennett had then shown how the age range of the population in the 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) 
was distributed, and how it compared to the rest of Kent, and had noted that 
the DGS area had a larger percentage of people in the 25 to 35 age range, 
and children under 10. She had then shown how the population density was 
distributed in the DGS area but had noted that none were above the highest 
recorded densities nationally. She had then referred to population growth and 
had noted how the greatest future growth would be seen in the 65 years and 
over category. She had then shown the DGS area’s ethnic minority profile 
and, whilst noting how this can differ within an area, had said that this needed 
to be taken into consideration because of the differing pharmaceutical needs 
of different cultures. She had then noted how the PNA also took an area’s 
index of multiple deprivation into account and had shown, at a ward level, the 
relative levels of deprivation that had been measured throughout the DGS 
area.

Ms Clennett had then displayed maps showing how existing community 
pharmacies that provide 40 and 100 hours of service per week, together with 
those practices that are able to dispense, are currently distributed across the 
DGS area and in Dartford town centre. Members had noted the low number of 
100 hour community pharmacies shown, and that Dartford town centre only 
had one. Ms Clennett had replied that some supermarkets also provide a 100 
hour service and explained that it was up to each pharmacy to decide whether 
to apply to provide a 100 hour service since they could not be directed to do 
so. Members had also noted that there were no dispensing practices in 
Dartford town centre. Ms Clennett had said that there were historic reasons 
for this and had noted how Darent Valley Hospital was able to dispense.

Members had then referred to the development that had taken place at The 
Bridge and the fact that attempts to establish a pharmacy in the area had so 



22

far failed which had caused problems for those in the area who require access 
to the services that community pharmacies provide. Ms Clennett had 
explained how NHS England decide whether a new pharmacy outlet is to be 
allowed and had said that a figure of 1000 homes is used when assessing 
whether a new pharmacy would be viable. She had also noted how the impact 
of a new pharmacy on others in the locality is also assessed to ensure that 
they are not made non-viable.

Ms Clennett had then displayed a series of maps that included a 1.6km 
distance ring around each existing community pharmacy, which, together with 
the locations of dispensing practices, had shown the dispensing coverage 
being provided to DGS residents.

Ms Clennett had then referred to areas of new development and had said that 
the pharmaceutical needs of the Ebbsfleet Garden City (EGC) area had not 
yet been assessed because, following its slow start, the current rate of new 
build delivery in the area was not known. The Chairman had noted this and, 
following the meeting, the existing new build figures, together with forecasts 
for the next 3 years, for both The Bridge and the EGC areas were provided to 
Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan so that their pharmaceutical requirements 
could be fully assessed in the PNA.

Ms Clennett had then displayed maps which showed those locations where 
stoma customisation and appliance use reviews were available, and also 
those that have achieved Healthy Living Pharmacy status. She had also 
described how they were working with the Environmental Promotions Officer 
to give community pharmacies the information that they require to redirect 
those who are seeking advice in other health related areas, for example, if 
they need help to keep their house warm.

Ms Clennett had then highlighted the flu vaccination service and had said that 
it was being provided in addition to the service being offered by GPs. She had 
also noted how there were no pharmacies in DGS CCG that could offer the 
NHS Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service (NUMSAS).

Members had thanked Ms Clennett for her presentation and, having referred 
to the data that had been provided, it was suggested that further assessment 
and analysis should be carried out to highlight trends and gaps so that areas 
where service improvement is required can be identified. Reference had also 
been made to the forecast population growth in the area over the next three 
years and the need to ensure that there are enough pharmacies available to 
meet the increased demand. Ms Clennett had explained how the data 
associated with the PNA consultation exercise was still being prepared and 
had said that this was an early draft of the information that was to be 
presented. She had said that comments and feedback received during the 
consultation exercise would also help to identify areas where improvements 
and enhancements were required and had noted how the PNA would not be 
recommending the closure of any pharmacies.

Mr O’Sullivan had then described how community pharmacies provide a wide 
range of pharmaceutical services to the community and are fully regulated by 
the General Pharmaceutical Council (GPhC). He had noted how they must 



23

have a pharmacist on the premises whilst open and had said that pharmacists 
are trained to a Masters degree level (5 years) and are required to undertake 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD) training. He had also noted how 
they must be registered, and comply fully, with the GPhC in order to practice, 
and how some pharmacists can be accredited Independent Prescribers. He 
had then referred to Pharmacy Technicians (dispensers) and had said that 
they were trained to NVQ3 minimum standard and are also registered with 
GPhC. He had then advised that 1.2 million patients and customers visit a 
community pharmacy every day in the UK for healthcare related reasons and 
that the aim of a community pharmacy is to be accessible, functional and 
professional.

Mr O’Sullivan had then explained how there are 26 providers of 
pharmaceutical services in the Dartford area for a population of 93,600 (and 
growing), which equates to approximately 27 pharmacies per 100,000 
population and compared favourably to the average for Kent, which is 22, and 
for England, which is 23. He had said that there were 19 core hour 
pharmacies, which operate for a minimum of 40 hours a week, and one 100 
hour pharmacy. He had also noted that the area had one mail order appliance 
contractor as well as a number of dispensing surgeries, which provided a 
more limited range of services.

Mr O’Sullivan had then referred to the various types of community pharmacy 
and had described how they can range from large corporate national 
companies, such as Boots, Lloyds and supermarket pharmacies, through to 
independent multiples, such as Paydens and Ackers, which can be family 
owned, and down to small independent contractors who usually own one or 
two shops but often work in partnership with other independents. He had also 
noted how people also have access to an Internet pharmacy called 
Pharmacy2u.

Mr O’Sullivan had then described how community pharmacies deliver 
essential NHS pharmaceutical services such as the dispensing of medicines/ 
appliances, repeat dispensing, signposting, public health, disposal of 
unwanted medicines, and support for self-care, together with advanced 
services such as medicine usage reviews (MURs), new medicine services 
(NMS), appliance usage reviews/stoma appliance customisation (AUR/SAC), 
Flu Vaccination and NUMSAS. He had also noted how they provide Public 
Health related services such as ‘Stop Smoking’, NHS health-checks, 
substance misuse support (alcohol and drugs), sexual health services 
(education health and care, Chlamydia) and healthy living support (weight 
management, children etc.). He had then referred to private pharmaceutical 
services that are available such as home delivery, monitored dosage systems 
(MDS), vaccinations, and over the counter medicines. He had then noted how 
community pharmacies in the DGS CCG area delivered no NHS England 
enhanced pharmaceutical services and no CCG pharmaceutical services.

In response to a question on the absence of CCG supported pharmaceutical 
services Mr O’Sullivan had explained how DGS CCG had withdrawn support 
for the minor ailments scheme and palliative care and that, because other 
CCGs in Kent (e.g. West Kent and Medway) were still looking to provide 
support for these services, this was leading to health inequalities within Kent. 



24

He had explained that the services had originally been provided by NHS 
England but that responsibility for their support had been passed to CCGs and 
that DGS CCG had decided not to carry on with its support. He had said that 
the minor ailments scheme was used to enable conditions such as head lice, 
fungal infections and threadworm to be treated and was often used by families 
on low income. He had said that the cost of providing the scheme was not 
great and that those CCGs that were continuing to operate the scheme had 
concluded that it was financially advantageous to do so. Ms Clennett had also 
noted how the scheme would save GPs time because, without it, people 
would be visiting their doctor for treatment and advice instead.

Mr O’Sullivan had again noted how flu vaccinations were now being provided 
by community pharmacies (in addition to GP practices) and had referred to a 
survey that had been conducted in 2016/17 which had shown that the 
community pharmacy service was highly valued by patients, with 64% of 
those who had previously had a flu vaccination in another setting having 
swapped to a pharmacy. He had noted how patients preferred the 
convenience and the fact that they could receive a vaccination at any time 
without an appointment. The Chairman had noted how in a recent visit to a 
pharmacy the availability of flu vaccinations had been displayed in a clear and 
informative way. Ms Clennett had noted how 2017/18 was expected to be 
particularly challenging following the high number of flu related cases that had 
been treated in Australia and New Zealand this year and said that those at 
risk should be encouraged to have a flu vaccination.

Mr O’Sullivan had then referred to NUMSAS and had said that this was a 
service that was good where it worked (i.e. London and West Midlands) but 
was virtually non-existent in Kent. He had explained how the service allowed a 
patient to receive a repeat prescription out of hours without having to go 
through a GP. He had said that pharmacies were having to wait for the 
required authorisation, and the necessary email connectivity, to enable them 
to deliver the service. He had then noted how they were committed to 
progressing its introduction because it would take pressure off those GPs 
operating out of hours who are currently required to issue a prescription for 
those patients who find that they require repeat medication at the weekend.

Mr O’Sullivan had then described the Prescription Ordering Direct (POD) 
service, which allows patients to request their repeat medication via an email 
or telephone call rather than at a pharmacy and had said that a trial had 
highlighted issues with consistency, equality, engagement and the IT systems 
required to deliver the service. He had said that it had been introduced as a 
cost saving measure and that they were awaiting feedback on the benefits 
that had been delivered. Ms Clennett had also noted how those answering 
POD calls are required to verify that the repeat medication is actually needed 
in order to avoid waste. One Member who had used the service 4 times had 
said that in his experience his request for repeat medication had never been 
queried.

Mr O’Sullivan had then referred to local prescribing practice changes in the 
area and had noted how some medicines (e.g. herbal, homeopathic and travel 
vaccinations) would no longer be eligible to be supplied through NHS 
prescriptions. He had noted how this could cause problems if people go 



25

abroad without having been vaccinated and return with a disease that requires 
medical attention. He had also noted the move towards the removal of 
paracetamol from prescriptions and the impact this may have on low income 
families who cannot afford to buy the medication themselves. He had then 
noted how branded generics are recommended to GPs as a way of reducing 
the costs associated with the dispensing of medicines but had said that 
continual change meant that the recommended option did not always remain 
as the cheapest.

Mr O’Sullvan had then referred to the funding cuts that were being imposed by 
Government and had said that the two year funding package for community 
pharmacy would result in a £113 million reduction in funding in 2016/17, which 
is a reduction of 4% compared with 2015/16, but would mean that contractors 
would see their funding for December 2016 to March 2017 fall by an average 
of 12% when compared with 2015/16 levels. He had also noted that this would 
be followed by a reduction in 2017/18 which would see funding levels from 
April 2017 drop by around 7.5% when compared with 2015/16 levels. In reality 
he had noted that this meant that in the months of February and March 2017 
there was a reduction of 20% in remuneration because all of the reductions 
were loaded into the last three months of the last financial year. He had also 
added that a clawback of money had also been instigated in addition to the 
planned reductions which had meant that a further 17% reduction was still 
being faced. He had said that these levels of funding reduction could be the 
difference between a pharmacy remaining viable or becoming non-viable and 
that some smaller independent outlets were being put up for sale. He had 
then expressed concern at the fact that pharmacies were seen to be 
struggling to remain viable at a time when Government wanted to encourage 
people to use pharmacies to alleviate pressure on GP surgeries. He had also 
again referred to the preventative health benefits that are delivered by 
pharmacies and had asked that Members communicate and use their position 
to influence CCG related decisions and the commissioning of Public Health 
related services.

In response to a question relating to changes that are made which impact the 
services being provided by pharmacies Mr O’Sullivan had replied that they 
often find out just before a change is implemented and, as an example, had 
noted how changes to the type of branded drug to be used can cause 
problems if a pharmacy already has stocks of a previous version, which can 
no longer be used. He had said that a longer lead time into the changes such 
as these would allow pharmacies to manage their stocks more efficiently.

During further discussion, having noted how the Committee had expressed 
concern at the proposed community pharmacy related funding changes when 
they had first been proposed, the Committee’s continued concern over the 
ability for community pharmacies to keep delivering the services that they 
currently provide, and the impact that this may be having on those considered 
to be most vulnerable, had been endorsed.

Dartford Preventative Health Projects - Annual Report 2016/17

At the Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017 (minute 33) Members 
had received an update from Kashmir Powar, Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator, 



26

on the results being achieved through the running of Preventative Health 
Projects in the Borough. It had also been noted how these projects were 
addressing the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2016/17.

Curing the report’s consideration Members had referred to the funding risk 
identified in the report and had asked how the delivery of project outcomes 
was being monitored. The Healthy Living Co-ordinator had replied that 
quarterly reports are submitted to Kent Public Health and that Key 
Performance Indicators and targets are defined for areas such as family or 
adult weight management. She had then added that current performance 
monitoring showed that services were meeting the targets that had been set. 
The Strategic Director (External Services) had also noted how project delivery 
was a collaborative venture and had said that any concerns that are identified 
are discussed together in order that they may be addressed.

In response to a further question relating to the budgetary pressures being 
faced by Kent County Council and the potential for reduced Public Health 
funding the Strategic Director (External Services) had said that the Council 
had received confirmation that the grant for the Healthy Living Co-ordinator 
post was to continue at least until 31 March 2019, which was for a longer 
period of time than had been specified in previous years. She had said that it 
was good to receive this confirmation and would enable existing preventative 
health related initiatives to continue.

The Chairman had then referred to the ‘Dartford Today’ notification system 
and had said that he hadn’t received any associated emails recently and had 
noted how useful the service was to those Councillors who liked to involve 
themselves in activities that take place in Dartford. Subsequent investigation 
had revealed that the service was being transferred to the @welovedartford 
twitter account where daily announcements of events would be made.

Reference had then been made to the recorded number of attendances at 
different events and it had been suggested that it would also be useful to 
know the number of unique attendees, as some people may attend more than 
once. This would enable the reach of a particular initiative to be gauged more 
accurately. The Healthy Living Co-ordinator had agreed to add this to future 
Annual Reports.

Members had then asked whether it would be possible to gauge the impact 
that preventative health work has on health inequality. In response the 
Strategic Director (External Services) had noted how the Council had a 
Service Level Agreement with Kent Public Health and had said that it defined 
how initiatives were to be delivered and took account of the Health Inequality 
Action Plan. With respect to monitoring she had said that the impact of 
preventative health work on health inequality would be difficult to measure but 
had added that the annual levels of project engagement, and the results being 
achieved in areas where health inequality was known to exist, could be used 
to indicate whether the projects being carried out were likely to address health 
inequality in the long term.

Reference had also been made to the Health and Wellness classes that are 



27

held at the Fairfield Leisure Centre and the fact that some surgeries charge 
for the GP referral letter that is required in order for someone to take part. In 
response the Healthy Living Co-ordinator had confirmed that some surgeries 
charge for this service whereas others do not and said that Public Health had 
been asked to investigate this further. The Chairman had asked to be kept 
informed and offered the Committee’s support if further pressure was required 
to resolve this discrepancy.

In response to a question relating to ‘social gradients’ the Healthy Living Co-
ordinator had explained that it referred to areas of deprivation and the fact that 
projects are run in those areas in order to try and reduce the health 
inequalities that have been shown to exist when compared with less deprived 
areas of the Borough.

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust and Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

At the Committee meeting held on 20 March 2018 (minute 43) Members had 
welcomed Gerard Sammon, Interim Chief Executive Dartford & Gravesham 
NHS Trust, and Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant Accountable 
Officer for NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group (DGS CCG) to the meeting. Mr Gerard and Mr Gilbert had been 
present to provide updates on the progress being made within the Trust and 
DSG CCG. Following their introduction the Chairman, with the Committees 
agreement, had asked that a letter expressing the Committee’s continued 
concern with the inadequate level of funding being provided to Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group be prepared and sent 
to the Secretary of State for Health.

Mr Gilbert had begun by giving a presentation and had noted how it had been 
a challenging year for the CCG and that the £13.5 million 2016/17 year end 
deficit, which was less than the deficit that he had forecast when he had last 
visited in March 2017, had resulted in the CCG being put under Directions and 
Special Measures. He had then noted how a robust Financial Recovery Plan 
had been put in place in order to reduce future deficits and had said that the 
deficit for 2017/18 was predicted to be in the region of £11 million. He had 
then referred to improvements that had been made to the delivery of 
constitutional standards of care and clinical services and had highlighted the 
progress that had been made in relation to the treatment of cancer and the 
diagnosis of dementia as examples. He had also noted the pressures that had 
been faced both in Kent and throughout the country during the difficult winter 
and the fact that the delivery of health related services had continued. He had 
then referred to the good progress that had been made on new models of 
care that were linked to the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and 
had noted the work that was being carried out with Dartford Borough Council 
to establish a new Health and Wellbeing hub in the Town Centre and a Health 
Education and Innovation Quarter at Ebbsfleet. He also spoke about CCG 
related changes in Kent and had said that he was not aware of any plans to 
merge CCGs together.

Mr Gilbert had then referred to growth and had said that the population for the 
DGS area had grown to 265,000, which was 5,000 more than last year, and 



28

that this was expected to rise by a further 57,000 (or 60,000 if planned 
development in Swanley is included) over the next 15 years. He had said that 
although the population had grown by 2% per annum since 2014/15 the 
funding that the CCG received had only grown by 1% per annum, which had 
led to the deficits that had been experienced since 2014/15, which was when 
the CCG had last been in surplus. He had said that options to address the 
deficit and develop new local models of care were being discussed with 
partners and social care providers and had noted that the CCG continued to 
lobby for an increase in funding. He had also noted that, although savings had 
already been made by implementing efficiency improvements, there had been 
no impact on patient care, or a need to close any services. He had said there 
were still many difficult decisions that needed to be made but hoped that the 
CCG would be taken out of Special Measures at the end of the current 
financial year, although he had noted that this would require the CCG to show 
to NHS England that it had tightened up its processes and management 
strategy, and had plans in place to make further savings.

Mr Gilbert had then focused on performance and referred to the waiting time 
standards for diagnostic, elective, cancer and psychological therapy and the 
good results that were begin achieved by Darent Valley Hospital when 
compared with hospitals being managed by other Trusts. He had also noted 
the improvements that had been made in relation to diabetes detection and 
management following the move to involve local GPs in the process, and the 
continued progress that was being made to diagnose cancer at an earlier 
stage and reduce smoking levels in the area. He had then referred to the 
pressures that were being placed on those that provide A&E and ambulance 
services and had noted how hospital occupancy levels due to delayed 
discharge had improved, but had said that there were still issues that needed 
addressing. He had referred explicitly to difficulties relating to the provision of 
domiciliary care and the associated problem of staff recruitment and retention, 
and had also highlighted the closure of care homes as cause for further 
concern. He had then again referred to the cover that had been provided 
during the recent bad weather and the outstanding service that clinicians and 
ambulance workers had delivered during this difficult time.

Mr Gilbert had then highlighted the problems associated with GP recruitment 
and had noted how 20 out of the 140 in the DGS area had retired or resigned 
in the last year. He had also noted how there tended to be only one 
application received for each advertised vacancy, whereas in the past 20 to 
30 applications had been received. He had said that GPs continued to be 
attracted to London and now prefer to be in a salaried position rather than 
operate their own partnership. He had also noted how health staff liked to 
work at the best hospitals and had said that the intention to establish a new 
health hub in Dartford Town Centre and a Health Education and Innovation 
Quarter at Ebbsfleet, which would provide diagnostic and research 
opportunities, may help to attract more health professionals into the area. The 
good relationship that the CCG has with their stakeholders was highlighted as 
a success, as was the intention to provide specialist stroke care facilities at 
three locations across Kent and Medway.

Mr Gilbert had then referred to the STP and had noted the need for the CCG 
to continue to work with partners on an integration agenda and had said that 



29

the future commissioning and delivery model focused on provider alliances 
(including GPs) at a local level, with a single strategic commissioner covering 
the county. He had also again confirmed that there were no plans to merge 
CCGs in Kent but had said that 6 of the 8 CCGs had agreed to work under a 
single Chief Executive which would enable them to share services such as HR 
support and communications, but maintain their management of areas such 
as GP and district nurse provision locally. He had then noted how the number 
of GPs within the CCG needed to increase in order to cope with patient 
demand and had explained how GP Federations were being established 
between practices which allowed them to align their services and support 
each other. It would also allow them to provide wider access to specialised 
services, such as wound care, and extend their opening hours. He had said 
that they were aiming to provide 8am to 8pm opening in the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley area, and also encourage Saturday surgeries, to 
assist those who were finding it difficult to make an appointment.
 
Mr Sammon had then provided an update from Darent Valley Hospital’s 
perspective and had noted how this winter had been particularly difficult for 
the hospital. He had then referred to the STP and had said that the hospital 
continued to strengthen its core services and worked to ensure that the high 
volume of patients that make use of the 24x7 emergency care service 
continue to be treated in a timely way. As part of this he had noted how GPs 
and Advanced Nurse Practitioners were being used to treat those with less 
serious injuries and conditions and had said that they had also established an 
Ambulatory Emergency Care Unit, which operated for 14 hours a day 7 days a 
week and allowed patients to receive streamlined diagnosis and treatment on 
the same day before being sent home with ongoing clinical care, and requiring 
no hospital admission. He had also noted how the number of A&E treatment 
cubicles and inpatient bed capacity had both had been increased to help 
ensure that there are enough resources available to treat those with the most 
serious conditions.

Mr Sammon had then referred to elective care, where day cases are seen for 
routine planned operations, and had said that emergency care had impacted 
their ability to carry out elective procedures and that they were running very 
near to the 18 week waiting threshold that had been specified for the 
maximum waiting time between GP referral and treatment. He had noted how 
they were continuing to focus on ways to address this as it was recognised 
how important it was for patients to receive treatment in a timely manner.

Mr Sammon had then highlighted the success of the hospital’s maternity unit 
which was delivering, on average, 15 new lives into the world each day. He 
had also noted how they worked in partnership with other organisations to 
ensure that core services are delivered in the most efficient way and gave as 
an example the integration of the pathology department with the service that is 
provided by Medway Foundation Trust.

Mr Sammon had then described how, by working with hospitals such as Guy’s 
and St Thomas’, they were able to bring world class expertise into the hospital 
to enable patients to be treated locally, and gave radiology and vascular 
surgery as examples. He had also noted how partnership working with 
Moorfields Eye Hospital meant that it was now possible to provide cataract 



30

surgery at Darent Valley. He had then described the concept of a ‘hospital 
with no walls’, and the ability to provide a service that would deliver hospital 
care locally, which resulted in there being no need for a patient to attend the 
hospital.

With respect to population growth and the resulting pressure on hospital 
services Mr Sammon had said that bids for capital funding which would 
enable the hospital to be expanded had been made to the Department of 
Health and that different models were being explored to cope with the 
increasing demand. He had also said that, with respect to the maternity 
service, more space would definitely be required unless a way of increasing 
the number of home births could be found. He had also specifically referred to 
the hospital’s A&E department and had said that any expansion in this area 
would require capital funding and had welcomed the support that was being 
provided by Dartford Borough Council.

Mr Sammon had then referred to the consultation that was taking place to 
decide where three new 24/7 hyper acute stroke units that had been proposed 
for Kent and Medway should be located and said that Darent Valley had been 
included in three of the five options being considered. He had hoped that an 
option that included Darent Valley would be chosen so that the hospital could 
work with other hospitals to deliver the new service in a strategically sound 
way.

Mr Sammon had then referred to the collapse of Carillion and had said that 
the hospital’s operation had initially been put at risk because Carillion used to 
supply the hospital’s cleaning, portering and catering service. He had said 
that, following confirmation that staff would continue to be paid, the situation 
was stabilised and staff had been happy to continue working in the hospital. 
He had said that a commercial offer had been made for the contract and that it 
was anticipated that the new provider would be in place by the 1st May.

The Chairman had then asked whether more detail could be provided on the 
impact that the collapse of Carillion would have on the hospital’s PFI 
arrangement. In response Mr Sammon had reassured Members that the Trust 
would not be required to pay any more for their cleaning, portering and 
catering services but had noted that the collapse of Carillion, who had built the 
hospital, meant that the PFI provider would no longer be able call on Carillion 
to address any building faults that are found. He had noted how the risks 
associated with this situation would be borne by The Hospital Company and 
had said that the Trust would continue to make PFI payments as before. He 
had then commented on how the hospital had been well maintained and said 
that its good condition, as well as providing a good environment for patients 
and staff, made it attractive to those service providers who were willing to pay 
in order that their services may be delivered locally (e.g. Moorfields hospital). 
He had also noted that, due to the PFI arrangement, the hospital would 
remain as a fixed asset in Dartford for many years to come.

The Chairman had also asked whether the facilities at Elm Court were still 
being used as a rehabilitation resource by the hospital. In reply Mr Sammon 
had confirmed that, even though the whole facility had been sold to another 
operator, the hospital’s leasing arrangement remained in place and the facility 



31

was still being used to provide rehabilitation services. Mr Gilbert had then 
added that use of this facility was being kept under review as it was felt that 
more benefit may be delivered if the facility were used in a different way.

In response to a question on the impact that the difficult winter had had on 
patient care and waiting times Mr Sammon had replied that the national target 
for emergency care defined that a minimum of 95% of patients attending an 
A&E department should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours 
of their arrival, and that between April 2017 and February 2018 the hospital 
had achieved 90.2%. He had then referred specifically to January and 
February 2018 where the figure had dropped to between 80% and 85% and 
noted how it had  dropped to as low as 75% during the worst of the snowy 
weather and during the following week. He had also referred to the impact that 
the bad weather had had on the hospital’s ability to transfer patients and had 
said that, whereas the number of people occupying a bed in the hospital when 
they didn’t need to had been in single figures before Christmas, this had risen 
to 30 during the period of snowy weather because the whole system had 
slowed down and those providing community services had been struggling to 
cope. He had also noted how the ‘111’ and ambulance services had also 
been stretched during this period. Mr Gilbert had then described his 
experiences and had said that although GP surgeries were fairly quiet during 
the week of the snow, the week after had been particularly busy to make up 
for it. He had also noted how most health services had declared a ‘black alert’ 
during the week of the snow, which is the highest that can be declared, 
because of the operational pressures and challenges being faced.

Members had noted and welcomed the appointment of a Roald Dahl 
paediatric epilepsy/neurology specialist nurse at Darent Valley Hospital and 
had also congratulated the hospital on the appointment of two Darzi Fellows. 
Mr Sammon had said that the Darzi Fellows would bring valuable clinical skills 
and knowledge into the hospital and were allowing new approaches to 
advanced care planning to be explored. He had also explained how the 
appointment of the Roald Dahl charity funded nurse had come about through 
work that was being carried out with the Evelina London Children's Hospital 
and had said that they were also about to agree a case with Guy's and St 
Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust to employ a specialist doctor for epilepsy to 
work in the local community.

In response to a question on the working terms and conditions that would be 
put in place for those who had previously been employed by Carillion Mr 
Sammon had replied that, as TUPE wouldn’t apply in this situation, it would be 
up to the PFI company to define any new terms and conditions, and that he 
would be strongly recommending that they remain the same.

Members had then referred to the hospital staffing issues that had been raised 
and discussed at previous meetings and had asked whether recruitment 
continued to be an area of concern. In response Mr Sammon had advised that 
the impact of Brexit had not been significant and that staffing levels were 
being maintained. He had also noted how staff surveys had shown high levels 
of satisfaction from those working at Darent Valley. He had said that the 
hospital would continue to work hard to engage staff and would continue to 
carry out recruitment exercises both in this country and overseas. He had also 



32

noted how the establishment of a new medical learning facility at Ebbsfleet 
would help staffing in the future as many of those who train locally tend to stay 
and work locally once they have completed their training.

In response to questions relating to the CCG’s deficit Mr Gilbert had confirmed 
that, as their funding was only currently being increased by 1% a year, the 2% 
year on year population growth would result in a deficit increase of £3.4m 
each year, and that if additional funding is not made available, or further 
efficiency savings found, it could continue to grow towards the previously 
predicted figure of £42m over the next few years.

Mr Gilbert had then described the impact that being placed under Special 
Measures had had on the CCG and had said that it meant that no senior 
staffing appointments or strategic decisions could be made without the 
involvement and agreement of NHS England. He had said management of the 
CCG was being kept under tight control and that the restrictions would remain 
in place until confidence in the management team had been restored. With 
respect to the appointment of a single Chief Executive, who would assume 
responsibility for a number of Kent CCGs, Mr Gilbert had said that this was 
just the first stage of a larger transition which would lead to more integration 
and help build trust between the individual agencies.

Members had made reference to the large developments that were taking 
place in and around the Borough and had asked whether plans were being 
put in place to provide the additional GP, pharmacy and hospital capacity that 
would be required to support the increasing population. Mr Gilbert had replied 
that the local population was already growing, with a predicted increase of 
57,000 over the next 15 years, and had confirmed that, although models of 
care could be changed to address some of the increase, additional GPs, 
community service workers and hospital capacity would be required. He had 
then noted the intention to develop health and wellbeing hubs in the area and 
had said that the increased use of Gravesend Community Hospital to address 
clinical needs was being proposed. He had also said that additional capital 
funding would be required to allow the hospital at Darent Valley to be 
expanded in order that patient demand may be met.

In relation to the deficit levels that were being experienced by the CCG Mr 
Gilbert had said that firstly they had resulted from the failure to provide 
sufficient increased funding to address the 2% year on year population 
growth, and secondly that more people were making use of the services that 
were being made available. He had then referred to efficiency savings that 
were being made relating to the management of medication and had said that 
patients were being asked to review their repeat prescriptions and only collect 
those that were actually needed. He had also said they were making savings 
by reviewing the medicine brands being used and discouraging GPs from 
prescribing paracetamol, emollients and aspirin when they are cheaply 
available in supermarkets. He had also noted how savings were being made 
by referring those patients with orthopaedic needs to someone who can help 
them manage their condition, such as a physiotherapist, rather than making 
use of the specialised service that is provided by Darent Valley hospital. He 
had then confirmed that the deficit will continue to be difficult to reduce as long 
as insufficient funding is being made available to address the needs of an 



33

increasing population.

In response to a question relating to the discharge of hospital patients at 
weekends Mr Sammon had advised that the hospital provides the same level 
of service 7 days a week and that discharges continue throughout the 
weekend.





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The proposed Work Plan for the Policy Overview Committee is 
attached at Appendix A.

3.2. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 19 September 2017 
representatives from those who help to provide Pharmaceutical 
Services to the Borough will be attending this meeting to update 
Members on the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment that was carried 
out, and highlight any issues that are having an impact on the services 
that pharmacies provide.

3.3. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on the 19 September 2017 
an item on bulk waste collection and fly-tipping has been included on 
this meeting’s agenda.

3.4. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on the 19 September 2017 
an update report on air quality has been included on this meeting’s 
agenda.

3.5. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 20 March 2018, the 
planned further update on welfare reform has been re-scheduled for 
September 2018.

3.6. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 20 March 2018, a further 
visit by representatives from Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust and 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, to 
update Members on future health service provision, has been 
scheduled for March 2019.

3.7. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 20 March 2018 a visit 
from a representative from Virgin Care has been scheduled for 
September 2018.

3.8. Consideration of the following additional areas, which were put forward 
at the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017, have yet to be 
scheduled:

 Channel shift policy



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

 Communication and engagement strategy
 Business Advice website

3.9. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN

June 2018 September 2018 December 2018 March 2019

Pharmacy Services Virgin Care Kent Public Health Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust

Fly-Tipping and Bulk Waste 
Collection Review Welfare Reform Update

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2017/18

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Air Quality Review Update Performance Monitoring Dartford Health Inequality 
Review Performance Monitoring

Policy Overview Annual 
Report 2017 - 2018 Performance Monitoring

Performance Monitoring




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 20 March 2018
	5 Policy Overview Committee Terms of Reference and Protocol
	ToR Protocol APPENDIX A
	ToR Protocol APPENDIX B

	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 20 March 2018
	9 Pharmacy Services
	Pharmacy Services APPENDIX A
	Kent-PNA-2018-DGS-Area
	NHS-DGS-CCG-PNA-Appendix-A
	DGS-Community-Pharmacies - Appendix-B
	Kent-PNA-2018-DGS-area-Dispensing-practices-Appendix-C

	Pharmacy Services APPENDIX B

	10 Update on Government Consultation on the draft Clean Air Strategy 2018
	Item 10 Appendix A.Clean Air Strategy 2018 Consultation
	Clean Air Strategy 2018
	Foreword from
the Secretary of State
	Executive summary
	1. Understanding the problem
	2.	Protecting the nation’s health
	3. Protecting the environment 
	4. Securing clean growth and
	driving innovation
	5.	Action to reduce emissions
	from transport
	6. Action to reduce
	emissions at home
	7.	Action to reduce
	emissions from farming
	8.	Action to reduce
	emissions from industry
	9.	Leadership at all levels
	10. Progress towards
	our clean air goals
	Annex A: Clean air strategy consultation questions


	11 Illegal Dumping and Special Collections of Bulky Waste
	12 Corporate Plan 2017- 20:  Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Reports
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX B

	13 Policy Overview Committee Annual Report 2017 - 2018
	Policy Overview Annual Report APPENDIX A

	14 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A




